Materials Horizons: From Nature to Nanomaterials

Shashanka Rajendrachari Editor

Practical Implementations of Additive Manufacturing Technologies



Materials Horizons: From Nature to Nanomaterials

Series Editor

Vijay Kumar Thakur, School of Aerospace, Transport and Manufacturing, Cranfield University, Cranfield, UK

Materials are an indispensable part of human civilization since the inception of life on earth. With the passage of time, innumerable new materials have been explored as well as developed and the search for new innovative materials continues briskly. Keeping in mind the immense perspectives of various classes of materials, this series aims at providing a comprehensive collection of works across the breadth of materials research at cutting-edge interface of materials science with physics, chemistry, biology and engineering.

This series covers a galaxy of materials ranging from natural materials to nanomaterials. Some of the topics include but not limited to: biological materials, biomimetic materials, ceramics, composites, coatings, functional materials, glasses, inorganic materials, inorganic-organic hybrids, metals, membranes, magnetic materials, manufacturing of materials, nanomaterials, organic materials and pigments to name a few. The series provides most timely and comprehensive information on advanced synthesis, processing, characterization, manufacturing and applications in a broad range of interdisciplinary fields in science, engineering and technology.

This series accepts both authored and edited works, including textbooks, monographs, reference works, and professional books. The books in this series will provide a deep insight into the state-of-art of Materials Horizons and serve students, academic, government and industrial scientists involved in all aspects of materials research.

Review Process

The proposal for each volume is reviewed by the following:

- 1. Responsible (in-house) editor
- 2. One external subject expert
- 3. One of the editorial board members.

The chapters in each volume are individually reviewed single blind by expert reviewers and the volume editor.

Shashanka Rajendrachari Editor

Practical Implementations of Additive Manufacturing Technologies



Editor Shashanka Rajendrachari Department of Metallurgical and Materials Engineering Bartin University Bartin, Türkiye

 ISSN 2524-5384
 ISSN 2524-5392 (electronic)

 Materials Horizons: From Nature to Nanomaterials
 ISBN 978-981-99-5948-8
 ISBN 978-981-99-5949-5 (eBook)

 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-5949-5
 ISBN 978-981-99-5949-5
 ISBN 978-981-99-5949-5

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2024

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. The registered company address is: 152 Beach Road, #21-01/04 Gateway East, Singapore 189721, Singapore

Paper in this product is recyclable.

Foreword

Dear Readers,

The present book entitled *Recent Advancements in Additive Manufacturing: Synthesis, Properties and Applications* is very informative and one of the simple, best books on additive manufacturing I have come across. This edited book includes the fundamentals of additive manufacturing to synthesise and applications of various alloys. All the authors of this edited book are well experienced in additive manufacturing, and I congratulate all the authors of the book for their excellent contribution.

This book is comprised of a total of 16 chapters. Chapters 1 and 2 of this book provide basic details of additive manufacturing such as the history, recent developments, challenges, design and materials selection for the processes. Chapter 3 discusses the synthesis of nano-structured materials by additive manufacturing techniques followed by a discussion of their properties and applications. The next chapters from 4 to 7 discuss metal, biomaterial, composites and smart materials-based additive manufacturing, respectively. Chapters 8 and 9 focus on electrical and electrochemical properties like 3D printed batteries, supercapacitors, and electrochemical and biosensor applications of additively manufactured materials. Chapters 10–13 explain the applications of additively manufactured materials in the automobile, medical, sports and construction sectors. The remaining chapters are unique and rare and may not be available in most of the additive manufacturing books. These chapters discuss the environmental impact, future perspectives, economic impact and the kind of jobs available in additive manufacturing industries.

Prof. Dr. Yusuf Usta Department of Mechanical Engineering Gazi University Ankara, Türkiye

Preface

The field of metallurgy is evolving every year with newer technology and improvement in the grades of alloys. One such modern technology is additive manufacturing. The idea of drawing something on computers and bringing the same structure to physical form with perfect dimensions was a joke in the last few decades, but now it is possible to manufacture complex structures using a 3D printer, Thanks to the additive manufacturing technique. The field of additive manufacturing has witnessed extraordinary growth both industrially and academically due to its wide range of benefits. But still, researchers are improving the technological lacunae and preparing complex structures with different grades of alloys. Our main aim is to throw light on the recent development in additive manufacturing technology.

This book comprises 16 chapters authored by various pioneers of additive manufacturing from different countries. This book gives in-depth information about the evolution of additive manufacturing from a few decades to the present. It also explains how the technology has been improved with time: the different types of additive manufacturing methods used to prepare materials and their advantages, followed by the limitations. The synthesis of nano-structured materials using additive manufacturing techniques and the detailed discussion of their properties and general applications are included in this book. The fabrication of metal, biomaterial, composites and smart materials using additive manufacturing methods are also explained along with their special properties. This book also comprises additively manufactured 3D printed batteries, supercapacitors, electrochemical sensors, biosensors, automobile components and medical implants. The advanced applications of additive manufacturing materials in the construction, biomedical and sports industries are also included. The environmental impact, the future and the economic contribution of additive manufacturing industries are discussed in this book. This book also contains a chapter on the general type of job opportunities for engineering graduates and research scholars in additive manufacturing companies. This book is mainly channelized for research scholars and engineering students to understand the basic concepts of additive manufacturing. This book also motivates students to choose additive manufacturing as their career because it provides sound knowledge about the job opportunities offered by various additive manufacturing companies. Ph.D. students who are working in the different areas of additive manufacturing could be more beneficial from this book. Engineering students (bachelors and masters) studying in departments like mechanical engineering, metallurgical and materials engineering are the targeted audience of this book. All the powder metallurgy companies especially their R&D sections could be benefitted by the proposed book. Nowadays, many universities are teaching powder metallurgy, additive manufacturing as one of the subjects in mechanical, ceramic engineering and metallurgical and materials engineering branches. This book can be used as a reference book for these courses all over the world. This book covers most of the basic additive manufacturing topics along with recent advancement and the general job opportunities for students. This book also gives information about the contribution of additive manufacturing companies to the economy of the country.

Bartin, Türkiye

Dr. Shashanka Rajendrachari

Contents

1	Recent Developments in Additive Manufacturing Dervis Ozkan, Gulfem Binal, Garip Erdogan, Ahmet Gulec, Yasin Ozgurluk, Sefa Erdem Yilmaz, and Abdullah Cahit Karaoglanli	1
2	Challenges in Additive Manufacturing Technology: PostProcessing, Design and Material's SelectionHamaid Mahmood Khan and Saad Waqar	23
3	Nano-structured Materials in Additive Manufacturing:Synthesis, Properties, and ApplicationsAnshuman Patra	41
4	Metal Based Additive Manufacturing Umit Dasdemir and Emre Altas	63
5	Biomaterial Based Additive Manufacturing Chen Jiao, Lida Shen, and Changjiang Wang	89
6	Composite Based Additive Manufacturing Sk Md Alimuzzaman and Muhammad P. Jahan	117
7	Smart Materials Based Additive Manufacturing	153
8	Additively Manufactured/3D Printed Batteries and Supercapacitors S. Raghavendra, B. E. Rangaswamy, N. B. Pradeep, M. P. Kavya, and M. P. Pavan Kumar	177
9	Additively Manufactured Electrochemical and Biosensors Vinayak Adimule, Nidhi Manhas, and Santosh Nandi	191

Contents

10	Additive Manufacturing in Automotive Industries D. T. Arunkumar, K. G. Basavakumar, P. C. Sharath, and Ashutosh Pattanaik	205
11	Additively Manufactured Medical Implants Ilker Emin Dağ and Baris Avar	219
12	Applications of Additive Manufacturing in Constructionand Building IndustriesB. Mallikarjuna, M. N. S. Hareeswar, and P. C. Sharath	251
13	Applications of Additive Manufacturing in Biomedicaland Sports IndustryShrishail B. Sollapur, P. C. Sharath, and Pratik Waghmare	273
14	Additive Manufacturing: Environmental Impact, and FuturePerspectiveD. Narsimhachary and M. Kalyan Phani	295
15	The Economic Impact of Additive Manufacturing Industries Krutika L. Routray and Sunirmal Saha	309
16	General Job Opportunities for the Graduates, Post Graduates and PhD Graduates in Additive Manufacturing Industries Rajashree Samantray, Manisha Priyadarshinee, and Shashanka Rajendrachari	325

х

Editor and Contributors

About the Editor

Dr. Shashanka Rajendrachari is currently working as an assistant professor in the Department of Metallurgical and Materials Engineering at Bartin University, Türkiye. He has completed post-graduation M.Sc. (Industrial Chemistry) and M.Tech. (Nanoscience and Technology) from Kuvempu University, Shimoga, India. Later, he obtained Ph.D. from the Department of Metallurgical and Materials Engineering at NIT Rourkela, Odisha, India, and possesses excellent interdisciplinary academic and research background; his area of interest includes mainly powder metallurgy, additive manufacturing, electrochemical sensors, nanomaterials, corrosion, etc. He has contributed 10 book chapters, eight books, and 60 International research publications. He is the reviewer and editor for many international journals published by Springer, Elsevier, MDPI, etc. He was awarded as the best powder metallurgy student of the year 2015 from powder metallurgy association of India at IIT Bombay and also awarded many international awards for research and teaching.

Contributors

Vinayak Adimule Department of Chemistry, Angadi Institute of Technology and Management (AITM), Belagavi, Karnataka, India

Sk Md Alimuzzaman Department of Mechanical and Manufacturing Engineering, Miami University, Oxford, OH, USA

Emre Altas Department of Mechanical Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, Architecture and Design, Bartın University, Bartın, Turkey

D. T. Arunkumar Department of Mechanical Engineering, FET, Jain University, Bengaluru, Karnataka, India

Baris Avar Department of Metallurgical and Materials Engineering, Zonguldak Bülent Ecevit University, Incivez, Zonguldak, Turkey;

Department of Nanotechnology Engineering, Zonguldak Bülent Ecevit University, Zonguldak, Turkey

K. G. Basavakumar Department of Mechanical Engineering, CBIT, Kolar, Karnataka, India

Ajit Behera Department of Metallurgical & Materials Engineering, National Institute of Technology, Rourkela, India

Gulfem Binal Faculty of Engineering, Architecture and Design, Department of Metallurgical and Materials Engineering, Bartin University, Bartin, Turkey

Umit Dasdemir Department of Mechanical Engineering, Graduate School, Istanbul Technical University, Istanbul, Turkey

Ilker Emin Dağ Department of Metallurgical and Materials Engineering, Zonguldak Bülent Ecevit University, Incivez, Zonguldak, Turkey;

Department of Nanotechnology Engineering, Zonguldak Bülent Ecevit University, Zonguldak, Turkey

Garip Erdogan Faculty of Engineering, Department of Metallurgical and Materials Engineering, Sakarya University, Serdivan, Sakarya, Turkey

Ahmet Gulec Program of Machine and Welding Technology, Karasu Vocational School, Sakarya University of Applied Sciences, Serdivan, Sakarya, Turkey

M. N. S. Hareeswar Department of Mechanical Engineering, Amrita School of Engineering, Amrita Vishwa Vidyapeetham, Coimbatore, India

Muhammad P. Jahan Department of Mechanical and Manufacturing Engineering, Miami University, Oxford, OH, USA

Chen Jiao College of Mechanical and Electrical Engineering, Nanjing University of Aeronautics and Astronautics, Nanjing, China

M. Kalyan Phani Department of Metallurgical Engineering, O P Jindal University Raigarh, Chhattisgarh, India

Abdullah Cahit Karaoglanli Faculty of Engineering, Architecture and Design, Department of Metallurgical and Materials Engineering, Bartin University, Bartin, Turkey

M. P. Kavya Department of Electronics & Communication Engineering, PES Institute of Technology and Management, Shivamogga, Affiliated to Visvesvaraya Technological University, Belagavi, India

Hamaid Mahmood Khan Fatih Sultan Mehmet Vakif University, Aluminum Test Training and Research Center (ALUTEAM), TR, Istanbul, Turkey

M. P. Pavan Kumar Department of Information Science & Engineering, JNN College of Engineering, Shivamogga, Affiliated to Visvesvaraya Technological University, Belagavi, India

B. Mallikarjuna Department of Production Engineering, National Institute of Technology, Tiruchirappalli, Tamil Nadu, India

Nidhi Manhas School of Sciences, Indira Gandhi National Open University (IGNOU), New-Delhi, India

Santosh Nandi Chemistry Section, Department of Engineering Science and Humanities, KLE Technological University, Dr. M. S. Sheshgiri College of Engineering and Technology, Udyambag, Belagavi, Karnataka, India

D. Narsimhachary School of Engineering and Technology, G H Rasoni University Saikedha, Borgaon, MP, India

Yasin Ozgurluk Program of Medical Services and Techniques, Vocational School of Health Services, Bartin University, Bartin, Turkey

Dervis Ozkan Faculty of Engineering, Architecture and Design, Department of Mechanical Engineering, Bartin University, Bartin, Turkey

Anshuman Patra Department of Metallurgical and Materials Engineering, National Institute of Technology Rourkela, Rourkela, Odisha, India

Ashutosh Pattanaik Department of Mechanical Engineering, FET, Jain University, Bengaluru, Karnataka, India

N. B. Pradeep Department of Mechanical Engineering, JNN College of Engineering, Shivamogga, Affiliated to Visvesvaraya Technological University, Belagavi, India

Manisha Priyadarshinee Department of Materials Engineering, Indian Institute of Science Bengaluru, Bengaluru, India;

Department of Mechanical Engineering, Lovely Professional University, Phagwara, Punjab, India

S. Raghavendra Aakruthi 3D Pvt. Ltd., Mangalore, India

Shashanka Rajendrachari Department of Metallurgical and Materials Engineering, Bartin University, Bartin, Turkey

B. E. Rangaswamy Registrar, Visvesvaraya Technological University, Belagavi, India

Krutika L. Routray C.V. Raman Polytechnic, C V Raman Global University, Bhubaneswar, India

Sunirmal Saha C.V. Global University, Bhubaneswar, India

Rajashree Samantray New Materials Development, Amara Raja Batteries Limited, Tirupati, Andhra Pradesh, India

P. C. Sharath Department of Mechanical Engineering, FET, Jain University, Bengaluru, Karnataka, India;

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, FET, Jain University, Bengaluru, Karnataka, India;

Department of Metallurgical and Materials Engineering, JAIN Deemed to Be University, Bengaluru, India;

Electronics and Communication Engineering, Jain Deemed to be University, Bengaluru, India;

Mechanical Engineering, Jain Deemed to be University, Bengaluru, India

Lida Shen College of Mechanical and Electrical Engineering, Nanjing University of Aeronautics and Astronautics, Nanjing, China

Shrishail B. Sollapur Mechanical Engineering, Jain Deemed to be University, Bengaluru, India;

IIAEM, Jain Deemed to be University, Bengaluru, India

Pratik Waghmare Mechanical Engineering, Savitribai Phule Pune University, Maharashtra, India

Changjiang Wang Department of Engineering and Design, University of Sussex, Sussex House, Brighton, UK

Saad Waqar Postdoctoral Fellow, Department of Industrial and Systems Engineering, Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hong Kong SAR, China

Sefa Erdem Yilmaz Faculty of Engineering, Architecture and Design, Department of Mechanical Engineering, Bartin University, Bartin, Turkey

Chapter 1 Recent Developments in Additive Manufacturing



Dervis Ozkan, Gulfem Binal, Garip Erdogan, Ahmet Gulec, Yasin Ozgurluk, Sefa Erdem Yilmaz, and Abdullah Cahit Karaoglanli

Abstract Additive manufacturing (AM), which emerged as an alternative method to traditional manufacturing methods such as casting and forging, holds many advantages, from 3D design to material selection to production. Researchers and industrial users have recently used the method in numerous application fields due to its outstanding properties in industrial use. Additive manufacturing technology is mainly used in many different industrial areas, such as aerospace, defines, biomedical, automotive, and energy. This study is divided into six sections, which include a literature review of Recent Advancements in Additive Manufacturing. The sections

D. Ozkan (🖂) · S. E. Yilmaz

S. E. Yilmaz e-mail: sefaerdemylmaz@gmail.com

G. Binal · A. C. Karaoglanli Faculty of Engineering, Architecture and Design, Department of Metallurgical and Materials Engineering, Bartin University, 74110 Bartin, Turkey e-mail: gbinal@bartin.edu.tr

A. C. Karaoglanli e-mail: karaoglanli@bartin.edu.tr

G. Erdogan

Faculty of Engineering, Department of Metallurgical and Materials Engineering, Sakarya University, 54100 Serdivan, Sakarya, Turkey e-mail: gerdogan@sakarya.edu.tr

A. Gulec

Program of Machine and Welding Technology, Karasu Vocational School, Sakarya University of Applied Sciences, 54050 Serdivan, Sakarya, Turkey e-mail: ahmetgulec@subu.edu.tr

Y. Ozgurluk Program of Medical Services and Techniques, Vocational School of Health Services, Bartin University, 74100 Bartin, Turkey e-mail: yozgurluk@bartin.edu.tr

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2024 S. Rajendrachari (ed.), *Practical Implementations of Additive Manufacturing Technologies*, Materials Horizons: From Nature to Nanomaterials, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-5949-5_1

Faculty of Engineering, Architecture and Design, Department of Mechanical Engineering, Bartin University, 74110 Bartin, Turkey e-mail: dervisozkan@bartin.edu.tr

of the study consist of the history of additive manufacturing technology from the past to the present, additive manufacturing methods, used materials, general process workflow, industrial usage areas, and recent developments in additive manufacturing technology. The current study presents a roadmap for future research in additive manufacturing technology specific to synthesis, properties, and applications.

Keywords Additive manufacturing (AM) \cdot 3D printing \cdot Materials \cdot Industrial applications \cdot Recent developments

1 Introduction

The production of new materials in many industries globally increases the need for raw materials. The increase in the need for raw materials also brings about the production of new materials by using many underground and surface resources. For this reason, engineering applications are looking for new material production using alternative and innovative technologies [1-3]. The technology that has developed in recent years is the 3D production method. The 3D production method, which emerged towards the end of the 1900s, is known by the other name of additive manufacturing (AM) technology. Additive manufacturing, which remained only a research subject until the 2000s, has started to be used, especially in engineering fields, thanks to the widespread use of CAD, SolidWorks, and AutoCAD drawing programs and the decrease in printer prices, along with the developing technology [4-6]. The physical shape of a drawn object, thanks to the use of drawing programs directly, has aroused great interest in the field of production and left traditional manufacturing technologies behind. Moreover, one of the other advantages of the 3D production method is that it is inexpensive and fast [7, 8]. Additive manufacturing technology, which has been a groundbreaking innovation since its use in production, is a technique that provides layer-by-layer production, especially in the production of complexshaped parts. This production technique is commonly characterized by low energy use and high design characteristics. Due to its advantageous production features, additive manufacturing is widely used in construction, dentistry, and other health sectors, especially in the aviation industry [9-12]. Another advantage of AM is that there is no need for molding tools as in other plastic forming methods, such as the casting method. This saves both time and money. Production of special parts can be done easily thanks to computer-aided design programs. This production method is bottom-up or top-down layer-by-layer production, unlike injection molding or casting production techniques [13, 14]. All polymer, metal, composite, and ceramic materials can be used easily in this production technique. The reason for the increase in interest in this technology is that all the manufactured products are of high quality and durable. The advanced computer software used determines the production of products with complex shapes by the 3D method as a research subject. In addition, thanks to this method, which is also evaluated in waste products, it is also a source of ideas for the production of new-generation composite materials. Thanks to the use

3

of waste products that are harmful to the environment, materials that have not been lost in nature for centuries are re-evaluated in various industries [15, 16]. The new generation of complex-shaped parts is in high demand in the fields of packaging, automotive, aerospace, tissue engineering, and medicine [1, 17]. Synthetic plastic, a non-biodegradable waste, has begun to endanger the environment and ecosystem. The increasing number of problems in the environment arising from manufacturing techniques has led scientists to seek sustainable materials rather than synthetic polymers [2, 18]. The production of sustainable materials has also started to necessitate the transition to additive manufacturing, which is a layered production technique, by reducing the traditional production techniques of casting, injection molding, and compression molding [1, 19–22]. In line with this scope, it has been seen that it is possible to produce many bio-containing polymer-based materials from sustainable sources, but it has been understood that they do not decompose in nature. It has been seen that the AM production technique is the best method for collecting and evaluating polymer-based waste products and solving waste problems [1, 23-25]. 3D technology is an area where waste plastics with complex shapes can be evaluated, and synthetic plastic materials are mixed with materials such as biocarbon and cellulose to create a filler material [26–29]. In addition, AM is not only a production technique but also combines several technologies that have been developed in recent years. The material produced in traditional production methods is considered as a manufacturing methodology, which is removed from the mold [1, 30-32]. In AM technology, the materials are produced by adding them on top of each other. An aesthetic structure is created by adding the materials layer by layer. In terms of usage, the use of a material produced this way is very efficient. There are several different 3D technologies depending on where the materials will be used [1, 33]. The market size of 3D manufacturing technology is increasing day by day. These increases in market share are due to the researchers' efforts to integrate this technology into the automotive, aerospace, defense, and energy industries. In this study, the development process of additive manufacturing technology, which is constantly increasing worldwide interest, has been examined and evaluated within the scope of the literature.

2 History of AM

2.1 Start of 3D Printing

The simplest version of 3D prints, called Sterolithography (SLA), was first discovered by Charles "Chuck" Hull in 1980. Another element that triggered this development has been the development of laser technology. The SLA is a system where a light source of ultraviolet (UV) light focuses on the UV photo-curable polymer to harden it. It could be drawn several patterns using UV source to the semi-cured polymer pool. The semi-cured polymer remains in the bathroom, providing material support for the creation of the part produced. After a layer is completed during production, the hardened polymer moves down from the bath onto the building plate and forms the next layer that will be on top. This system is machining based on CAD design and continues until the production of the designed part is complete. In many cases, after the operation is completed, the part needs additional drying to be held by hand. Chuck Hull discovered this method in 1983 and founded 3D System companies that developed and produced 3D printers in 1986. This development can be expressed as the initial step in the emergence of the RP machine. And with this development, Chuck was the person who made it possible to create CAD files that were computerized by connecting them to the machine. This initiative was an important development for the development of 3D printers at the time. After developing this technology, Chuck Hull applied for a patent in August 1984, which was confirmed by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office in 1986.

2.2 Development of Other RP Technologies

With this development, other inventors have started developing new AM machines that can use different materials and methods. Carl Deckard is a graduate student at the University of Texas at Austin and a professor at the same school. Joe Beaman started working on selective laser sintering, a new technology for that period. The SLS system works dependent on selective sintering of the production plate within certain areas of the production plate, forming the material to produce dust. When a layer of dust creates a layer of the part, the next layer of dust that follows creates another layer of dust, which continues until the part is finished producing. In this way, a 3-D-printed part is produced as a result of the accumulation of dust and sintering. Deckard and Beaman commenced constructing the machine in 1984 and discovered the first SLS device in 1986. Then they established Nova Automation, a company that later evolved into DTM Corp. In this way, they commercialized the SLS technology, making their first machines in 1989 called Mode A and Mode B. The company continued to manufacture SLS machines until it was purchased from 3D Systems in 2001.

Another AM technology was developed by Scott and his wife, Lisa Crump, who graduated from Washington State University. Scott, who had come out to make his daughter a toy, developed this technology by referring to the "molten deposit model". This technology consists of heating the thermoplastic to a semi-liquid state that will accumulate on the surface of the pad and reveal the layer. After Scott and Lisa developed this technology, Stratasys, Inc., started selling it by starting a forensic company. Stratasts, Inc. It has continued to grow from that day to today, and currently has several patented machines with a cost of between \$2,000 and \$600,000. Only some of the technologies listed above are being developed, and when 3D systems patented 3D printing technology, researchers from other parts of the world began to improve this technology. In 1988 and 1989, respectively, the NTT Data CMET and Sony/D-MEC firms in Japan began developing SLA systems. In Europe, companies

like Quadrax and Electro Optical Systems (EOS) began to develop their 3D printing devices. This technology began to develop rapidly, with great interest worldwide [7].

2.3 From Rapid Production to Additive Manufacturing

Many technologies that have come to this stage are capable of making polymeric parts, but they are not capable of processing metal or ceramic materials. And these technologies were RP machines and were not appropriate for an AM in which finished items were obtained. A bit of development was needed for RP technology, which would also be used for metals and ceramics. Many companies were continuing their work on this issue. The first of these works was a Dr. from the EOS Company in 1989. Hans J. Langer and Dr. Hans Steinbichler were the pioneers in using SLA systems and, later, the SLA system to print plastic items. After that, they started to develop these studies to print metal parts in early 1990 and developed the first model of the direct metal laser sintering (DMLS) machine in 1994. They released the first DMLS system commercially in 1995. Operating in the same way as the SLS system, this system can only test for metal dust. This system contains numerous common engineering materials, including titanium alloys, aluminum, stainless steel, nickel, and cobalt. In 1997, EOS patented the existing line of products with laser sintering technology and sold it to 3D Systems. After this process, EOS has significantly improved SLS and DMLS systems, making EOS many successful and reactive AM firms in the world.

Another AM technologist developed the AM system in Sandia National Lab, located in Albuquerque, Mexico, that can produce metal components called "laser engineering and network shaping" (LENS®). This AM system was developed in 1997, and it was first sold by Optomec in 1998. The LENS® system works on the principle of the accumulation of metallic dust in a very strong laser latex, and the dust that melts solidifies on the previous lower plate. Optomec continued to develop LENS® and introduced to more than 150 customers since 2012. Another AM technique that is currently very popular was developed during the same period in which electron beam melting (EBM) is being developed. A company named Arcam AB developed this technology in 1997. EBM is based on the principle of teleporting an electron beam from a dust bed to selected areas. When a layer of dust is melted in the selected areas, it continues until the part is finished, which is the accumulation of another layer of dust on top of the previous one. Arcam AB, together with Chalmers University of Technology, first made it commercial and sold it to two customers in 2022. In 2007, the manufacturer of orthopedic implants produced a CE-approved Fixa Ti-Por hip implant using EBM technology. Since then, more implants have been produced by the EBM. Many critical items are able to be produced by EBM technology in the aerospace industry.

2.4 AM: Growing Technology

The AM industry is constantly growing, depending on all these developments. The curiosity about AM technology is so high that we can hear a new development every day. Many industries see the capability and cost benefits of AM and use AM technologies within them. In this way, the market is growing significantly. Many new RP and AM methods are used today, following the first applications and technologies mentioned above. This development has ensured the integration of many new features into the system and the diversity of materials that can be used. Starting as RP, LM, and SFF methodologies, these technologists have switched to AM technologies, where functional prototypes and parts can be produced to work in a variety of environments and conditions. In this way, AM's global market share has risen since the first 3D printers appeared. In 2012, the market share of 1850 million dollars reached 3475 million dollars in 2017. As technology and availability continue to increase, it is clear that this market share will increase further.

2.5 AM: New Manufacturing Paradigm

2.5.1 Current State of AM and How It Generally Works

AM technology has reached a ready point for industrial use today. It has advantages that create appeal in many industries compared to traditional methods. The most important advantage is that building layers by layer allows the production of parts with complex geometry. Although there are many different models and technologies, they all use the same principle and technique. First, a CAD model of the part to be manufactured is made, and this CAD model is converted to an STL file. Since Chuck Hill, the inventor of this business, the STL file has been a standard file for AM machines. The system then layers the model part to be manufactured. Then, various feeding and melting methods and materials to be used as raw materials are collected and connected in layers, and this process continues until the part is produced. In this way, the system enables the creation of incredibly complex geometries that are not able to be produced by other production methods. The manufacturing of complex geometric items needed in fields such as art, aerospace, and medicine can be done through AM technology.

2.5.2 Advantages of AM: No Limit on Design

It is estimated that AM technology will have a significant impact on many different industries, thanks to the ability to make components that were previously not possible through traditional manufacturing methods. The AM is able to produce the part with that complex geometry on its own, without the need for more than one operation. This

capability of AM also gives designers great freedom. Because the design that is often needed can be complex and does not allow it to be produced by other manufacturing methods. There is no size limitation in the use of AM technology, but there are no restrictions that must fit in the machine. This uses only one machine, the AM machine. No additional processing costs are required. This results in a more cost-effective operation. The only cost other than raw material is the maintenance of the AM machine. No post-production processing is also required. Therefore, the addition of the material instead of processing is a manufacturing process, which also saves material. By reducing the manufacturing method, the milling process begins with a block that is larger than the product to be manufactured. Material is removed from the surface until the desired shape and dimensions are achieved, after which it is discarded or recycled. This creates additional costs. As there is no material loss in parts that are added to AM technology, up to 75% material savings can be achieved, and production costs can be reduced by 50%.

2.5.3 Advantages of AM: Versatility in Manufacturing

Another important and attractive aspect of AM is its versatility in production. It can be corrected by immediate intervention after detection of any defects in a manufactured part or design. AM technology can give manufacturers this opportunity. This can be difficult with other traditional manufacturing methods. For example, if you want to make a change to the design after an expensive mold is made in a casting process, you have to make another expensive mold. You may also not have a chance to quickly uncover the new mold. By using AM technology with significant production, ready-to-use parts can be quickly produced at a lower cost. With this advantage of AM technology, it's easier for a designer to try new designs and to make the changes that a customer demands.

2.5.4 Advantages of AM: Altering Materials for Enhanced Performance

In AM technology, many engineering materials such as plastics, metals, composites, and ceramics are available. Depending on the part and technology that are intended to be completely produced, the material can be selected. Plastics are the most widely used, studied, and applied material in this material. Advances in AM technology are not only about the use of different materials but also about the development of hybrid production by creating new processes where different materials can be used. This is an example of the methods used by ceramics and metals to produce special abrasion-resistant composite parts. AM technology is also available for repairing critical parts and structures. In this respect, AM technology can be used not only for producing items with complex geometry but also for repairing damaged parts.

2.5.5 AM is in Modern Manufacturing

Today, AM is a standard manufacturing part for companies. The aviation industry has started using AM technologies to reduce the production cost of parts to be used in the engine. GE Aviation opened a facility with 60 EBM and direct laser sintering systems in December 2013. AM technology also allows for lighter engine parts to be produced. As a result, AM technology can optimize components, reduce weight, and minimize material loss. This brings an important financial advantage. Many other aeronautical companies, including GE, have begun to use AM.

2.5.6 Evolution of CAD to AM and Its Influence on Manufacturing

This incredible talent that AM technology provides has imposed a significant constraint on part design. One of the most important things that makes AM so attractive is that it allows a CAD file to produce a ready-to-use part. Thanks to developments in Chad, almost anything can be designed The CAD design converted into an STL file can be produced on an AM machine. This property gives engineers and designers the ability and flexibility to design more complex and efficient prototypes [34].

3 Additive Manufacturing Processes

Through the sequential addition of layers of material, AM enables the manufacture of models from three-dimensional computer-aided designs (CAD) [35]. The ISO/ ASTM 52900:2021(E) standard categorizes AM processes into seven groups:

- 1. Binder jetting (BJ);
- 2. Directed energy deposition (DED);
- 3. Material extrusion (ME);
- 4. Material jetting (MJ);
- 5. Powder bed fusion (PBF);
- 6. Sheet lamination (SL); and
- 7. Vat photopolymerization (VP).

These categories are distinctive from one another in terms of how the layers are formed and how they are bonded to one another. *Binder jetting* is a method that selectively joins powder particles by depositing liquid binder droplets, allowing for the production of parts with near-net shapes [36]. The printed green parts frequently necessitate thermal post-processing, such as infiltration and sintering, to densify them and achieve the appropriate part properties [37]. This method can be used to manufacture large products and can work with a large materials range, including polymers, metals, ceramics, sands, and hybrid materials [38]. In the *Directed energy deposition* technique, a feedstock material (wire or powder) is fed to a substrate while an energy source is concurrently focused on it. This creates a small melt pool and provides for

the layer-by-layer deposition of material [39]. DED systems are available in a variety of forms, for example: melt-based DED and kinetic energy-based DED according to the energy source; wire-feed and powder-feed-based DED according to the feedstock type. Melt-based DED can also be divided into subcategories such as electric arc, electron-beam, laser, and plasma-based [40]. Fully dense metallic pieces can be produced using the DED method for a variety of industrial applications [39]. Material extrusion is a method in which a feedstock is extruded and deposited in beads via a nozzle and substrate motion in relation to one another. The material is semi-solid throughout extrusion and solidifies once it is in its ultimate position and form [41]. The Fused Deposition Modeling (FDM) method is the most well-known ME technique [35]. The other techniques are Fused Layer Modeling (FLM) and Fused Filament Fabrication (FFF) [7]. ME techniques typically involve the use of viscoplastic materials like concrete, ceramic pastes, thermosets, and hydrogels [42]. Utilizing specialized nozzles, the Material jetting procedure deposits liquid material droplets across a building platform. This technology is sometimes referred to as Inkjet 3D Printing or Poly-jet Printing [35]. Typically, the droplets are made up of a mixture of the structural material and molten thermoplastic suspension or wax [43]. The newly formed layer is then typically solidified with UV light and transferred downward. Many times, multiple jetting heads are utilized, allowing for the simultaneous deposition of support material and other component materials. Support structures can be eliminated using a water jet or a chemical agent like sodium hydroxide solution [35]. Polymers, ceramics, composites, hybrid, and biological materials can be used in this method [7]. One of the earliest and still most adaptable AM techniques is Powder bed fusion, which works with metals, polymers, composites, and ceramics [44]. The PBF method operates under the fundamental tenet of layer-by-layer production and fusion of the product. The determined cross-sectional area of a powder-based material is heated by directing a heat source. As a heating tool, electron, laser, and infrared beam sources are utilized. The powder is able to assume the shape of the desired object by heating process. This method is extensively utilized in a variety of industrial fields, including the energy industry, aerospace, biomedical, and transportation [45]. The sub-categories of PBF techniques are Electron Beam Melting (EBM), Selective Laser Sintering (SLS), and Selective Laser Melting (SLM) [46]. To create quick, low-cost paper prototypes, Sheet lamination has been widely utilized. Then the utilization extended to polymers, metals, ceramics, and textiles, necessitating the development of procedures and equipment (3-D printers) [47]. According to ASTM, sheet lamination is a 3D printing process in which sheets of materials are bonded together to produce components of an object. Ultrasound Additive Manufacturing (UAM) and Laminated Object Manufacturing (LOM) are examples of 3D printing technology that utilize this procedure [48]. In Vat photopolymerization, liquid photocurable polymers that react to UV light undergo a chemical reaction and become solid [35]. VP techniques can be further divided into Stereolithography (SLA), Two-photon Polymerization (2PP), Volumetric 3D Printing, and Digital Light Processing (DLP) based on the variance in the curing source [49]. Polymer and ceramic materials can be used in this process [7].

4 Materials for AM

A variety of materials, including high-temperature alloys, shape memory alloys, highentropy alloys, polymers, ceramics, biomaterials, composite materials, structural materials, hydrogels, biological tissues, food, and sand, are used in AM. AM uses powders, sheets, wires, inks, tissues, and other feedstock to build a net shape that is either fused or added together to manufacture a palpable 3D-designed product [50].

Metals and Alloys: AM of metals and alloys are mostly used in prototyping, investigation, and small-scale manufacturing in the aviation, aerospace, biomedical, automotive, and defense industries. Compared to traditional production techniques, AM of metals and alloys makes it easier to produce complex geometries [51]. Metal printing usually comprises PBF techniques that are activated with DED principles. Recently, additional metal printing methods such as BJ, Direct Metal Writing, Direct Metal Laser Sintering (DMLS), and Cold spraying have also been utilized to attain faster printing speeds and more precision [52]. Various metallic materials, including nickelbased alloys, titanium and its alloys, tool and stainless steels, sterling silver, aluminum alloys, brass, magnesium alloys, platinum, copper, bronze, and gold, among others, can be utilized in AM processes [51].

High entropy alloys: High entropy alloys (HEAs) have outstanding characteristics, including high temperature strength, good wear and corrosion resistance [53]. However, it is difficult to produce homogeneous alloys with the conventional casting method. AM may be a viable way for the fabrication of HEAs by facilitating process control, constituting fast solidification cooling rates, and enabling the fabrication of complex shapes [54].

Ceramics: AM is used in the production of 3D-printed ceramics and concrete without large pores or cracks. Ceramics are strong, durable, and fire-resistant materials. They are usable in the dental, construction, and aerospace fields. Examples of ceramic materials include bioactive glasses, zirconia, and alumina [55]. Ceramics are utilized in the AM process as powder, slurry, and bulk solid based feedstock [51]. In slurrybased methods, ceramic particles are dispersed in a semi-liquid system and used as feedstock in paste or ink form, depending on the system's viscosity. SLA, 2PP, DLP, Direct Ink Writing (DIW), and Inkjet Printing (IJP) are the technology kinds utilized to print slurry-based materials. Powder-based techniques utilize a powder bed format with loose ceramic particles as a feedstock. SLM, SLS, and Three-dimensional Printing (3DP) are the techniques utilized to print powder-based materials [56]. Sheets or filaments of the material are utilized as feedstock in bulk solid-based processes. In filament form, feeding is accomplished through deposition or extrusion. When using sheets as the feed material, the output is created by adhering the sheets together one at a time. LOM and FDM are technologies utilized in bulk solid-based 3D printing. In bulk solid-based ceramic AM materials such as lead zirconate titanate (PZT), glass-ceramic composite, Si-SiC composite, tape-cast Al₂O₃, ZrO₂ green sheets, and SiC are used [56].

Polymers: Due to their easy processing, lightweight, low cost, simple attainability, corrosion resistance properties, electrical and thermal properties and biocompatibility, polymers and polymeric composites are commonly utilized in AM [57]. SLA, SLS, FDM, LOM, 3D Bioprinting, 3D Plotting/Direct-Write, and Powder Bed and Inkjet Head 3D Printing are the most utilized polymer AM processes [56, 58]. Viscous polymer inks, photopolymers, polymer blends, thermoplastic filaments and powders, thermosets, hydrogels, elastomers, biological compounds, and polymer composites are the most widely used polymer materials for several AM processes. They have numerous implementations in different fields, such as automotive, biomedical engineering, soft robotics, aerospace, electronics, environment, and energy [55, 57]. Polymers, the majority of which are photopolymers, are the materials in the AM market that provide the most revenue. The photopolymerization method primarily utilizes the SLA technique. In this process, the molecular orientation of the printed item relies on the layer thickness, which is identified by the intensity of the UV radiation. Polyamides, thermoplastic elastomers, and polystyrene are typically utilized in SLS, the second most widely used technology. Liquid polymers, polymer filament, polymeric powders, and polymer films are the four types of polymer feedstocks most commonly utilized in AM processes. Photopolymers are utilized in the liquid state, thermoplastic polyurethane and Nylon 11 and 12 are utilized in the powder state, and a wide variety of thermoplastics are utilized in both the filament and powder states [55].

Composite Materials: By carefully choosing the fabrication process and the constituent materials, it is possible to regulate the mechanical properties and microstructure of composite materials. Free-form and multi-directional fabrication are both possible with AM. As a result, AM may be a useful production technique for multidirectional preforms made of composite materials [59]. AM applications of composite materials have long been researched in a range of industrial fields such as aerospace, medical, and architecture [55]. There are several applications for polymers and lightweight composites [59]. The two prominent examples are reinforced polymer composites with glass and carbon fiber [59, 60]. MMCs (metal matrix composites) are preferred over other traditional materials because of their superior mechanical characteristics. Research is being conducted on the production of complex 3D MMC parts with AM techniques. Mg, Al, Ti, Fe, Ag, and Ni are the widely utilized matrix materials, and the reinforcement materials are BC, graphite, Al_2O_3 , SiC, BeO, Mo, TiC, NbC, TiB, W, TaC, and WC [52].

Smart Materials: Shape memory alloys (SMA), shape memory polymers (SMP), and smart nanocomposites like piezoelectric material are the main kinds of 3D printable smart materials. Also, there are certain multi-materials used to print actuators for soft robotics, anti-counterfeiting systems, and self-evolving structures. A highly effective way to print intelligent materials is with polyjet printing [56, 61].

Biomaterials: For use in organ transplantation and regenerative medicine, 3D-printed synthetic and natural biopolymers are being developed. Acrylate-based polymers, sodium alginate, and chitosan are examples of materials used. Furthermore, 3D

functional living tissues can be generated. Dielectric elastomers, hydrogels, and shape-memory polymers are used to create biomedical equipment, artificial muscles, wearable gadgets, and other smart objects. Because of their processing challenges, such as high melting temperatures and complex phase formations, bioceramics are relatively new materials for AM. Bioceramics such as ceramic composites, bioglass, and calcium phosphates can be manufactured utilizing a variety of AM processes [62]. Metallic materials must be biocompatible in order to be used in the human body. Surgical-grade stainless steel, Ti and its alloys, and cobalt-chromium alloys are AM-machinable biocompatible metals [63].

Other Materials: Research on the use of AM technologies in the production of concrete and other building materials is increasing. With the development of textile printing, AM has found a place in the clothing and jewelry industries. In the food industry, food items can be produced through 3D printing using suitable food materials. Apart from these, studies on the use of AM technology in space exploration are ongoing. 3D printing of moon dust focuses on studies of colony infrastructures on the moon [55, 64].

5 Additive Manufacturing Technology General Workflow

AM technology has gained importance by virtue of the freedom of design it provides, the potential to produce complex shapes, and its time-saving features, unlike traditional manufacturing methods. Parts produced with AM generally have good mechanical properties such as low density, high strength, and high impact resistance [36]. In AM, feedstock materials, in powder or wire form, are selectively melted by a focused heat source to form a part and undergo simultaneous bonding and solidification processes. For some materials, including steel, aluminum, and titanium, it is possible to manufacture reliable and dense parts by the AM method with the developing technology. Most of the metal powders used in the AM process are generally produced using well-known technologies for metal powder production. These methods include water, gas, and plasma atomization. Generally, in the AM process, good flow properties are needed to ensure uniform spreading of the powder, and good packing properties are needed to form a high relative density powder layer. In addition, known as rapid prototyping and 3D printing, AM is a modern manufacturing method that enables devices with complex geometries. In the first step of the process, the part to be produced is modeled by means of computer-aided design programs (CAD/CAM). The 3D model is then sliced, converted to STL format, and printed. During printing, a layered structure is created by adding the next layer on top of each layer. After the process, finishing operations such as heat treatment and surface treatments can be applied, depending on the method and material used.

5.1 Industrial Application Areas of Additive Manufacturing Technology

The foundations of 3D printing, which is called an AM technique in the industry, were laid with the concept of Industry 4.0. Under the influence of the developing technology, a wide variety of AM examples are seen in the medical, aerospace, automotive, ordnance, architecture, personal equipment, fashion, education, and food sectors. The AM technique, which eliminates human resources in production, lowers costs and increases productivity by removing mold and prototype issues, which cause significant costs and time loss in the design process [65].

The first use of the AM technique in the industry was on prototypes developed for visual verification. For this reason, the AM technique is called "rapid prototyping" in the industry. AM is frequently preferred in the production of prototype parts, especially in the automotive industry. For example, after the Urbee vehicle was produced with a 3D printer, the final product parts used in the automotive industry were printed with this technique [66]. The need for a production line has been eliminated thanks to the use of 3D printers in the automotive industry. The AM technique alone can fulfill the task of many pieces of equipment that will occupy a large area. The reduction of production costs, the comparatively shorter manufacturing procedures, and the lighter weight of the created parts are some of the innovations that the AM method has provided to the aviation industry. The AM method has made it possible for nations without the necessary technology to make some parts for the aviation industry. The first professional use of AM in the construction industry started in 2007 with a 3D printer called D-shape [67]. The system, which can be used in the printing of building elements or the entire structure, works on the same principle as the laser sintering method (SLS). The use of structures produced with the 3D printing technique in war and disaster zones is among the future targets of the construction sector.

The AM technique, which allows the production of highly functional, professional, and customizable parts in the medical and dental sectors, enables the production of parts that are very difficult and costly to produce with traditional techniques at lower costs in a short time. Examples of AM use are dentures, orthoses, implants, dental products, surgical instruments, and the manufacture of tablets and capsules in the pharmaceutical industry. One of the most serious studies in the field of medicine is 3D bioprinting. In general, bioprinting is a technique used to produce living tissues. Materials such as hydrogel, silicone, and protein solutions are used in these printers. The main aim of the researchers who continue their studies in the field of bioprinting is to produce human organs with functional properties. 3D printing devices, which offer people the opportunity to learn through practice and develop their design-oriented thinking skills, are found in universities and schools. 3D printers play a very active role in academic studies and prototype development processes. The use of 3D AM technologies is also very popular in the food industry. AM enables the production of healthy products with rich nutritional values. Considering these situations, the use of AM in the food industry is becoming more common day by day. In the fashion sector, AM has a large share of the global market. The AM process, which is comparatively

popular in the fashion industry, is gradually increasing its market share. Because the sector consumes a lot of natural resources, 3D printing provides a relatively easy way to reduce this.

6 Recent Developments in Additive Manufacturing Technology

Biomedical Application

One of the main disadvantages of AM technologies is that their manufacturing capacity is limited. While this limitation could be a disadvantage for many industries, in medicine or healthcare, patient-specific devices or implant designs do not need mass production. Hence, AM is progressively used in many applications in healthcare as new biomaterials are developed [68]. Tappa et al. [69] and Pradeep et al. [70] reviewed the biomaterials used for additive manufacturing. Deposition technology heavily depends on the materials that need to be adjusted to the place where implants or prosthetics are placed. The fused deposition or free-form fabrication method is the most common method of AM technology. A thermoplastic filament is passed through a heated plate and scuffed on the support plate layer by layer until the model structure forms. The most common materials used in the FDM process are polylactic acid (PLA), polyamide, polycarbonate, and polyvinyl alcohol. PLA is a well-known biocompatible polymer with a melting temperature of around 175 °C, thus making it easy to load drugs. AM has tremendous advantages in biomedical applications. Patient-specific production and prototyping could be applied by using a scanner and modeling the following device to be developed by any technology. For example, spinal cages used to replace spinal disks are made from PEEK [71, 72], which needs relatively high melting temperatures compared to other polymeric materials. A cranial implant, which is a highly patient-specific implant used to treat face-related problems, is successfully manufactured via additive manufacturing [73]. Polymeric-based materials and metallic-based materials are used to replace some of the organs, primarily bone tissues. Metallic materials often exceed bone tissue elastic modulus, resulting in a stress-shielding effect and aseptic loosening [74]. Titanium cages have internal pores that make their elastic modulus similar to that of natural bone, and the pore radius and percentage can be controlled using AM technology. Pores also play a different role as a placeholder filled with drugs or agents to heal bones that could be easily produced by additive manufacturing technologies, especially laser melting or electron beam melting technologies. Zhang et al. [75] have reported that titanium cages produced by electron beam melting and filled with simvastatin hydrogel promote bone ingrowth and spinal fusion in rhesus macaques. Another comparative study [76] revealed that additively manufactured titanium cages outperformed conventional PEEK cages without using a bone graft. AM technology is not limited to engineering biomaterials; even living cells could

produce various materials with varying viscosities, and high cell density aggregates can be 3D printed. The first "bioprinted living tissue implant" went to a 20-yearold woman born with a small, misshapen ear [77, 78]. This technology involves obtaining chondrocyte cells from patient-impacted ear following cells mixed with bio-ink and 3d printed by a protective biodegradable material. The implanted ear matures with time and develops the characteristics of a native ear. Additive manufacturing for biomedical applications requires innovative biomaterials with specific characteristics of biocompatibility and formability. Efforts are being made to improve multi-functional biomaterials and bio-inks for this purpose.

Aerospace Applications

Metal additive manufacturing (MAM) is a crucial type of AM used in the aerospace industry due to the need for complex parts that cannot be easily made using conventional methods. This technology allows for metals and metal alloys that cannot be used in traditional manufacturing methods. The earliest application of AM in aerospace applications was for product prototyping and tooling. However, nowadays, AM is effectively used to produce complex-shaped parts.

In the past decade, research into metal additive manufacturing (MAM) has focused on developing various alloys to suit qualified aerospace/gas turbine applications. Alloys such as AlSi10Mg, Al7Si0.5Mg (F357), AlMgSc, Ti6Al4V, γ -TiAl, CoCrMo, Stellite12, IN718, IN625, CM247LC, HastelloyX, SS316L, CuCrNb, and CuCrZr fall into this category. The aim is to create materials with isotropic microstructures and high defect tolerance that can be adopted in the aerospace industry. The development of difficult-to-weld chemistries, alloys prone to cracking, and alloys with improved high temperatures are also being researched [79].

Ceramic materials, known as high-temperature, corrosion, wear and abrasion resistant, efforts are being made to develop ceramic materials in additive manufacturing technologies. SLM can achieve some solid-state or liquid-phase sintering of ceramics, but during the process, excessive thermal differences often result in crack formation that limits the usage of ceramics [80]. Lakhtar et al. [81] summarized their findings after reviewing Engineering Ceramic and several applications using AM methods. As MAM and alloy development significantly impact aerospace applications, another aspect of additive manufacturing technology is emerging. While SLM, EBM, and DED methods are well-known applications for manufacturing metal-based products, the high melting temperature of ceramic materials limits the usage of those methods. Ultra-high temperature materials (>3000 °C) such as HfC and ZrC are used in rocket combustion chambers, thrusters, and solar energy applications [82, 83]. Processing refractory ceramics into complex geometries is challenging, even with advanced ceramic processing techniques.

A recent application [84] that provided a first material in powder form and a second material as a consumable electrode successfully produced several ceramicbased materials using additive manufacturing methodology. In this process, applying electrical energy to initiate a chemical reaction between the materials helps form a reaction product. This process, named "reactive additive manufacturing," showed that a variety of materials, such as TiC, TiB₂, B₄C, SiC₂, Al₂O₃ + $_3$ TiC, could be manufactured layer by layer. Given a showcased example, an exothermically reactive mixture containing 76% aluminum and 16% titanium and boron carbide powders produced a product with an aluminum matrix and TiB_2 and TiC-reinforced composite under argon-purged vacuum conditions using a direct metal laser sintering (DMLS) machine, available from EOS of North America, Inc. of Novi, MI (US). It is now obvious that metal additive manufacturing is anticipated to have a significant long-term influence on the aerospace sector, opening the way for the next generation of product design based on the recent success stories of industrial adoption and implementation.

7 Conclusion

Industrial interest in additive manufacturing (AM) technology is growing day by day. Significant technological gains have been achieved by using different production techniques and by using a single process to manufacture complex or high-precision parts that are specifically determined in the industrial area to which they are applied. The use of AM technology has extended to a wide variety of industries, from the aerospace industry to the biomedical industry, owing to the advantages of the process, including originality in design, use of advanced technologies and materials, precise tolerances and complex geometries in production, long-lasting use, and low material consumption. In the future, advances in AM technology will make it possible to repair damaged materials and material groups as well as produce a variety of precision parts that are widely utilized in critical sectors. This study examines and presents AM technology, industrial application areas, and the most recent developments in the process based on several industries.

References

- Wang X, Zhao L, Fuh JYH, Lee HP (2019) Effect of porosity on mechanical properties of 3D printed polymers: experiments and micromechanical modeling based on X-ray computed tomography analysis. Polymers 11(7):1154–1174. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym11071154
- Huang SH, Liu P, Mokasdar A, Hou L (2013) Additive manufacturing and its societal impact: a literature review. Int J Adv Manuf Technol 67(5):1191–1203. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00170-012-4558-5
- Ford S, Despeisse M (2016) Additive manufacturing and sustainability: an exploratory study of the advantages and challenges. J Clean Prod 137:1573–1587. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcl epro.2016.04.150
- Daminabo SC, Goel S, Grammatikos SA, Nezhad HY, Thakur VK (2020) Fused deposition modeling-based additive manufacturing (3D printing): techniques for polymer material systems. Mater Today Chem 16:100248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mtchem.2020.100248
- Zhou Y, Xia X, Liu X, Huang B, Xiao L, Qian Q, Chen Q (2019) Preparation and rheological and mechanical properties of poly(butylene succinate)/talc composites for material extrusion additive manufacturing. Macromol Mater Eng 304:1900021. https://doi.org/10.1002/mame. 201900021

- 1 Recent Developments in Additive Manufacturing
- Melenka GW, Cheung BK, Schofield JS, Dawson MR, Carey JP (2016) Evaluation and prediction of the tensile properties of continuous fiber-reinforced 3D printed structures. Compos Struct 153:866–875. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compstruct.2016.07.018
- Tofail SA, Koumoulos EP, Bandyopadhyay A, Bose S, O'Donoghue L, Charitidis C (2018) Additive manufacturing: scientific and technological challenges, market uptake and opportunities. Mater Today 21(1):22–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mattod.2017.07.001
- Lille M, Nurmela A, Nordlund E, Metsä-Kortelainen S, Sozer N (2018) Applicability of protein and fiber-rich food materials in extrusion-based 3D printing. J Food Eng 220:20–27. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2017.04.034
- Liu J, Sun L, Xu W, Wang Q, Yu S, Sun J (2019) Current advances and future perspectives of 3D printing natural-derived biopolymers. Carbohyd Polym 207:297–316. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.carbpol.2018.11.077
- Somireddy M, Czekanski A, Singh CV (2018) Development of constitutive material model of 3D printed structure via FDM. Mater Today Commun 15:143–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. mtcomm.2018.03.004
- Anderson I (2017) Mechanical properties of specimens 3D printed with virgin and recycled polylactic acid. 3D Print Addit Manuf 4(2):110–115. https://doi.org/10.1089/3dp.2016.0054
- Jorfi M, Foster EJ (2015) Recent advances in nanocellulose for biomedical applications. J Appl Polym Sci 132(14). https://doi.org/10.1002/app.41719
- Ligon SC, Liska R, Stampfl J, Gurr M, Mülhaupt R (2017) Polymers for 3D printing and customized additive manufacturing. Chem Rev 117(15):10212–10290. https://doi.org/10.1021/ acs.chemrev.7b00074
- Wang X, Jiang M, Zhou Z, Gou J, Hui D (2017) 3D printing of polymer matrix composites: a review and prospective. Compos B Eng 110:442–458. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compositesb. 2016.11.034
- Bishop ES, Mostafa S, Pakvasa M, Luu HH, Lee MJ, Wolf JM, Reid RR (2017) 3D bioprinting technologies in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine: Current and future trends. Genes Dis 4(4):185–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gendis.2017.10.002
- Valino AD, Dizon JRC, Espera AH Jr, Chen Q, Messman J, Advincula RC (2019) Advances in 3D printing of thermoplastic polymer composites and nanocomposites. Prog Polym Sci 98:101162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.progpolymsci.2019.101162
- Wu H, Fahy WP, Kim S, Kim H, Zhao N, Pilato L, Koo JH (2020) Recent developments in polymers/polymer nanocomposites for additive manufacturing. Prog Mater Sci 111:100638. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmatsci.2020.100638
- Huda MS, Drzal LT, Mohanty AK, Misra M (2008) Effect of fiber surface-treatments on the properties of laminated biocomposites from poly (lactic acid)(PLA) and kenaf fibers. Compos Sci Technol 68(2):424–432. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compscitech.2007.06.022
- Song JH, Murphy RJ, Narayan R, Davies GBH (2009) Biodegradable and compostable alternatives to conventional plastics. Phil Trans R Soc B 364(1526):2127–2139. https://doi.org/10. 1098/rstb.2008.0289
- Zander NE, Park JH, Boelter ZR, Gillan MA (2019) Recycled cellulose polypropylene composite feedstocks for material extrusion additive manufacturing. ACS Omega 4(9):13879– 13888. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsomega.9b01564
- Singh R, Kumar R, Ranjan N (2019) Sustainability of recycled ABS and PA6 by banana fiber reinforcement: thermal, mechanical and morphological properties. J Inst Eng India Ser C 100(2):351–360. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40032-017-0435-1
- Pal AK, Mohanty AK, Misra M (2021) Additive manufacturing technology of polymeric materials for customized products: recent developments and future prospective. RSC Adv 11(58):36398–36438. https://doi.org/10.1039/D1RA04060J
- Zeidler H, Klemm D, Böttger-Hiller F, Fritsch S, Le Guen MJ, Singamneni S (2018) 3D printing of biodegradable parts using renewable biobased materials. Procedia Manuf 21:117– 124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.promfg.2018.02.101
- 24. Laurén P (2018) Biomedical applications of nanofibrillar cellulose, doctoral thesis

- Sheikh Z, Najeeb S, Khurshid Z, Verma V, Rashid H, Glogauer M (2015) Biodegradable materials for bone repair and tissue engineering applications. Materials 8(9):5744–5794. https:// doi.org/10.3390/ma8095273
- Reddy MSB, Ponnamma D, Choudhary R, Sadasivuni KK (2021) A comparative review of natural and synthetic biopolymer composite scaffolds. Polymers 13(7):1105. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/polym13071105
- Ho CMB, Ng SH, Yoon YJ (2015) A review on 3D printed bioimplants. Int J Precis Eng Manuf 16(5):1035–1046. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12541-015-0134-x
- Gross BC, Erkal JL, Lockwood SY, Chen C, Spence DM (2014) Evaluation of 3D printing and its potential impact on biotechnology and the chemical sciences. Anal Chem 86(7):3240–3253. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac403397r
- Sames WJ, List FA, Pannala S, Dehoff RR, Babu SS (2016) The metallurgy and processing science of metal additive manufacturing. Int Mater Rev 61(5):315–360. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 09506608.2015.1116649
- Chen Z, Li Z, Li J, Liu C, Lao C, Fu Y, He Y (2019) 3D printing of ceramics: a review. J Eur Ceram Soc 39(4):661–687. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jeurceramsoc.2018.11.013
- Liu Y, Zhang F, Leng J, Wang L, Cotton C, Sun B, Chou TW (2019) Synergistic effect enhanced shape recovery behavior of metal-4D printed shape memory polymer hybrid composites. Compos B Eng 179:107536. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compositesb.2019.107536
- Liu S, Qin S, He M, Zhou D, Qin Q, Wang H (2020) Current applications of poly (lactic acid) composites in tissue engineering and drug delivery. Compos B Eng 199:108238. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.compositesb.2020.108238
- Ghilan A, Chiriac AP, Nita LE, Rusu AG, Neamtu I, Chiriac VM (2020) Trends in 3D printing processes for biomedical field: opportunities and challenges. J Polym Environ 28(5):1345– 1367. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10924-020-01722-x
- 34. Srivatsan TS, Sudarshan TS (2015) Additive manufacturing innovation, advances, and applications. Taylor and Francis Group
- 35. Cuellar JS, Smit G, Plettenburg D, Zadpoor A (2018) Additive manufacturing of non-assembly mechanisms. Addit Manuf 21:150–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addma.2018.02.004
- Lores A, Azurmendi N, Agote I, Zuza E (2019) A review on recent developments in binder jetting metal additive manufacturing: materials and process characteristics. Powder Metall 62(5):267–296. https://doi.org/10.1080/00325899.2019.1669299
- Miyanaji H, Rahman KM, Da M, Williams CB (2020) Effect of fine powder particles on quality of binder jetting parts. Addit Manuf 36:101587. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addma.2020.101587
- Alfattni R (2022) Comprehensive study on materials used in different types of additive manufacturing and their applications. Int J Math Eng Manag Sci 7(1):92. https://doi.org/10.33889/ IJMEMS.2022.7.1.007
- Svetlizky D, Das M, Zheng B, Vyatskikh AL, Bose S, Bandyopadhyay A, Eliaz N (2021) Directed energy deposition (DED) additive manufacturing: physical characteristics, defects, challenges and applications. Mater Today 49:271–295. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mattod.2021. 03.020
- 40. Dass A, Moridi A (2019) State of the art in directed energy deposition: from additive manufacturing to materials design. Coatings 9(7):418. https://doi.org/10.3390/coatings9 070418
- Oleff A, Küster B, Stonis M, Overmeyer L (2021) Process monitoring for material extrusion additive manufacturing: a state-of-the-art review. Prog Addit Manuf 6:705–730. https://doi. org/10.1007/s40964-021-00192-4
- Mollah MT, Comminal R, Serdeczny MP, Pedersen DB, Spangenberg J (2021) Stability and deformations of deposited layers in material extrusion additive manufacturing. Addit Manuf 46:102193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addma.2021.102193
- Wang JC, Dommati H, Hsieh SJ (2019) Review of additive manufacturing methods for highperformance ceramic materials. Int J Adv Manuf Technol 103(5):2627–2647. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00170-019-03669-3

- 1 Recent Developments in Additive Manufacturing
- Gibson I, Rosen D, Stucker B, Khorasani M (2021) Powder bed fusion. In: Additive manufacturing technologies. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-56127-7_5
- Singh R, Gupta A, Tripathi O, Srivastava S, Singh B, Awasthi A, Saxena KK (2020) Powder bed fusion process in additive manufacturing: an overview. Mater Today Proc 26:3058–3070. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matpr.2020.02.635
- 46. Yuan L, Ding S, Wen C (2019) Additive manufacturing technology for porous metal implant applications and triple minimal surface structures: a review. Bioact Mater 4:56–70. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bioactmat.2018.12.003
- Pilipović A (2022) Sheet lamination. In: Polymers for 3D printing. William Andrew Publishing, pp 127–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-818311-3.00008-2
- Shahrubudin N, Lee TC, Ramlan R (2019) An overview on 3D printing technology: technological, materials, and applications. Procedia Manuf 35:1286–1296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.promfg.2019.06.089
- Al Rashid A, Ahmed W, Khalid MY, Koc M (2021) Vat photopolymerization of polymers and polymer composites: processes and applications. Addit Manuf 47:102279. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.addma.2021.102279
- Mostafaei A, Elliott AM, Barnes JE, Li F, Tan W, Cramer CL, Nandwana P, Chmielus M (2021) Binder jet 3D printing-process parameters, materials, properties, modeling, and challenges. Prog Mater Sci 119:100707. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmatsci.2020.100707
- 51. Bhatia A, Sehgal AK (2021) Additive manufacturing materials, methods and applications: a review. Mater Today Proc (2021)https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matpr.2021.04.379
- Kumar MB, Sathiya P (2021) Methods and materials for additive manufacturing: a critical review on advancements and challenges. Thin-Walled Struct 159:107228. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.tws.2020.107228
- Ozkan D, Karaoglanli AC (2021) High entropy alloys: production, properties and utilization areas. ECJSE 8(1):164–181. https://doi.org/10.31202/ecjse.800968
- Li N, Huang S, Zhang G, Qin R, Liu W, Xiong H, Blackburn J (2019) Progress in additive manufacturing on new materials: a review. J Mater Sci Technol 35(2):242–269. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jmst.2018.09.002
- Kumar R, Kumar M, Chohan JS (2021) Material-specific properties and applications of additive manufacturing techniques: a comprehensive review. Bull Mater Sci 44(3):1–19. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s12034-021-02364-y
- 56. Sangeetha N, Monish P, Brathikan VM (Mar 2022) Review on various materials used in additive manufacturing. In: IOP conference series: materials science and engineering, vol 1228, no 1. IOP Publishing, p 012015.https://doi.org/10.1088/1757-899X/1228/1/012015
- Tan LJ, Zhu W, Zhou K (2020) Recent progress on polymer materials for additive manufacturing. Adv Funct Mater 30(43):2003062. https://doi.org/10.1002/adfm.202003062
- Aversa A, Fino P (2020) Special issue on materials development by additive manufacturing techniques. Appl Sci 10(15):5119. https://doi.org/10.3390/app10155119
- Yakout M, Elbestawi MA (2017) Additive manufacturing of composite materials: an overview. In: Proceedings of the 6th international conference on virtual machining process technology (VMPT), vol 29, Montréal, QC, Canada
- 60. Ozkan D, Gok MS, Karaoglanli AC (2020) Carbon fiber reinforced polymer (CFRP) composite materials, their characteristic properties, industrial application areas and their machinability. In: Öchsner A, Altenbach H (eds) Engineering design applications III. advanced structured materials, vol 124. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-39062-4_20
- 61. Lee JY, An J, Chua CK (2017) Fundamentals and applications of 3D printing for novel materials. Appl Mater Today 7:120–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmt.2017.02.004
- 62. Bose S, Ke D, Sahasrabudhe H, Bandyopadhyay A (2018) Additive manufacturing of biomaterials. Prog Mater Sci 93:45–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmatsci.2017.08.003
- Harun WSW, Kamariah MSIN, Muhamad N, Ghani SAC, Ahmad F, Mohamed Z (2018) A review of powder additive manufacturing processes for metallic biomaterials. Powder Technol 327:128–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.powtec.2017.12.058

- Yadav A, Srivastav A, Singh A, Mushtaque MD, Khan SA, Kumar H, Arora PK (2021) Investigation on the materials used in additive manufacturing: a study. Mater Today Proc 43:154–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matpr.2020.10.975
- 65. Campbell I, Diegel O, Kowen J, Wohlers T (2018) Wohlers report 2018: 3D printing and additive manufacturing state of the industry: annual worldwide progress report
- 66. Attaran M (2017) The rise of 3D printing: The advantages of additive manufacturing over traditional manufacturing. Bus Horiz 60(5):677–688. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2017. 05.011
- 67. Wu P, Wang J, Wang X (2016) A critical review of the use of 3-D printing in the construction industry. Autom Constr 68:21–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.autcon.2016.04.005
- Da Silva LRR, Sales WF, Campos FDAR, de Sousa JAG, Davis R, Singh A, Borgohain B (2021) A comprehensive review on additive manufacturing of medical devices. Prog Addit Manuf 6(3):517–553. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40964-021-00188-0
- 69. Jammalamadaka U, Tappa K (2018) Recent advances in biomaterials for 3D printing and tissue engineering. J Funct Biomater 9(1):22. https://doi.org/10.3390/jfb9010022
- Pradeep PV, Paul L (2022) Review on novel biomaterials and innovative 3D printing techniques in biomedical applications. Mater Today Proc 58:96–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matpr.2022. 01.072
- Heimann RB (2010) Bioceramic materials, in classic and advanced ceramics. Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH Co. KGaA, pp 347–419.https://doi.org/10.1002/9783527630172.ch10/sum mary. Accessed 20 Oct 2014
- Kurtz SM, Devine JN (2007) PEEK biomaterials in trauma, orthopedic, and spinal implants. Biomaterials 28(32):4845–4869. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2007.07.013
- Stijger N (17 Aug 2020) 'PEEK 3D Printed Parts for the medical industry Bond3D', Bond3Dhigh performance 3D technology. https://www.bond3d.com/market/peek-medical/. Accessed 06 Dec 2022
- Chua K, Khan I, Malhotra R, Zhu D (2021) Additive manufacturing and 3D printing of metallic biomaterials. Eng Regen 2:288–299. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.engreg.2021.11.002
- 75. Zhang W, Sun C, Zhu J, Zhang W, Leng H, Song C (2020) 3D printed porous titanium cages filled with simvastatin hydrogel promotes bone ingrowth and spinal fusion in rhesus macaques. Biomater Sci 8(15):4147–4156. https://doi.org/10.1039/D0BM00361A
- Laratta JL, Vivace BJ, López-Peña M, Muñoz Guzón F, Gonzalez-Cantalpeidra A, Jorge-Mora A, Villar-Liste RM, Pino-Lopez L, Lukyanchuk A, Taghizadeh EA, Pino-Minguez J (2022) 3D-printed titanium cages without bone graft outperform PEEK cages with autograft in an animal model. Spine J 22(6):1016–1027. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spinee.2021.12.004
- 77. Rabin RC (2 Jun 2022) Doctors transplant ear of human cells, made by 3-D printer. The New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2022/06/02/health/ear-transplant-3d-printer.html. Accessed: 6 Dec 2022
- 3DBio Therapeutics (Oct 2021) A multicenter, single arm, prospective, open-label, staged study of the safety and efficacy of the AuriNovo construct for auricular reconstruction in subjects with unilateral microtia, clinicaltrials.gov, Clinical trial registration NCT04399239. https://cli nicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04399239. Accessed 5 Dec 2022
- 79. Dhinakaran V, Varsha Shree M, Jagadeesha T, Swapna Sai M (2022) Additive manufacturing: technology, materials and applications in aerospace, light weight mater. Process Charact, 1–22
- Cramer CL, Ionescu E, Graczyk-Zajac M, Nelson AT, Katoh Y, Haslam JJ, Wondraczek L, Aguirre TG, LeBlanc S, Wang H, Masoudi M, Tegeler E, Riedel R, Colombo P, Minary-Jolandan M (2022) Additive manufacturing of ceramic materials for energy applications: road map and opportunities. J Eur Ceram Soc 42(7):3049–3088. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jeurceram soc.2022.01.058
- Lakhdar Y, Tuck C, Binner J, Terry A, Goodridge R (2021) Additive manufacturing of advanced ceramic materials. Prog Mater Sci 116:100736. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmatsci.2020.100736
- Corral EL, Loehman RE (2008) Ultra-high-temperature ceramic coatings for oxidation protection of carbon-carbon composites. J Am Ceram Soc 91(5):1495–1502. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1551-2916.2008.02331.x

- 1 Recent Developments in Additive Manufacturing
- 83. Fahrenholtz WG, Wuchina EJ, Lee WE, Zhou Y (2014) Ultra-high temperature ceramics: materials for extreme environment applications. Wiley
- 84. Iten JJ, Nuechterlein JS (18 Aug 2022) Reactive additive manufacturing', AU2022203556B2. https://patents.google.com/patent/AU2022203556B2/en?q=additive+manufacturing&oq=add itive+manufacturing+&sort=new. Accessed 7 Dec 2022

Chapter 2 Challenges in Additive Manufacturing Technology: Post Processing, Design and Material's Selection



23

Hamaid Mahmood Khan D and Saad Waqar D

Abstract It is important to bear in mind that additive manufacturing (AM) did not emerge in isolation but rather built upon earlier technologies. The rapid adoption of 3D printing technology across industries serves as a testament to its effective evolution from a specialized method primarily used for prototyping to a viable industrial production technique. As the trend continues to gain momentum, an increasing number of companies will inevitably embrace AM techniques to manufacture components using diverse materials. This chapter explores significant milestones in the history of additive manufacturing, illustrating the advancements 3D printing has made over the past decade while considering the widespread growth of applications and technology in the mainstream. The transformative journey of 3D printing is examined, shedding light on its profound impact on various industries and its potential for further development and innovation in the future. By examining the historical context and current landscape, this chapter aims to provide a comprehensive understanding of the progressive nature of additive manufacturing and its continued role in shaping the manufacturing industry. In Sect. 1, a brief introduction is given regarding the historical and future trends in additive manufacturing. Sections 2-6 discuss different additive manufacturing techniques, their working principles, and the suitable materials for each of these techniques. In Sect. 7, the concept of 4D printing is briefly discussed, including its applicability and future trends.

Keywords 3D printing · Additive manufacturing · Stereolithography · Photopolymerization · Powder bed fusion

H. M. Khan (🖂)

S. Waqar

Fatih Sultan Mehmet Vakif University, Aluminum Test Training and Research Center (ALUTEAM), TR, Halic Campus, 34445 Istanbul, Turkey e-mail: hamaid.khan@gmail.com

Postdoctoral Fellow, Department of Industrial and Systems Engineering, Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hong Kong SAR, China

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2024

S. Rajendrachari (ed.), Practical Implementations of Additive Manufacturing

Technologies, Materials Horizons: From Nature to Nanomaterials, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-5949-5_2
1 Introduction

Over the past few decades, the use of 3D printing techniques has significantly expanded across various industries. This expansion has resulted in increased productivity and the development of cost-effective and sustainable methods of fabrication. In particular, numerous biomedical and aerospace companies have already begun utilizing 3D printing operations to create intricate metal parts that are lightweight [1, 2]. Instead of the earlier research-focused 3D printers, several prominent manufacturers of 3D printing machines are now optimizing their devices to cater to industrial applications and large-scale production. Figure 1 depicts some well-known manufacturers of 3D printing machines, many of which have experienced commercial growth in the last ten years.

Currently, the majority of commercially available additive manufacturing (AM) systems are designed for producing polymeric materials, which make up approximately 72% of the market. However, despite their large market share, the commonly used polymeric materials like polylactic acid (PLA) and acrylonitrile butadiene styrene (ABS) are not suitable for high-end applications due to their limited resistance to extreme environmental conditions. In order to meet the demands of such applications, there is an increasing focus on exploring other materials with high resistance to extreme conditions, such as carbon-reinforced composites, polycarbonate, polyether ester ketone, polyetherimide, and nylon. These materials are being investigated for their potential applications and fabrication using AM techniques [3].



Fig. 1 Main 3D printing vendors in the market

Furthermore, polymer-based 3D printers are expanding their manufacturing capabilities beyond prototypes and models to functional parts, including tooling, spares, and end-use components. Similarly, the composite 3D printing industry offers significant opportunities for fabricating lightweight and high-strength components. 3Dprinted parts with continuous fiber reinforcement can be exceptionally lightweight while maintaining strength comparable to metal. Additionally, discontinuous fiberbased composite materials like metal matrix composites find extensive applications in the medical and aerospace industries [4].

While the ceramic 3D printing industry is not currently prominent, it is expected to experience significant growth in the coming decade. Advanced ceramic materials such as alumina and zirconia exhibit exceptional mechanical strength, temperature resistance, and chemical resistance, making them viable options for the aerospace and electronics sectors. The application and fabrication of these materials with exceptional properties using AM techniques will greatly increase the utilization of AM printers across various industries.

The following section will provide a detailed discussion on various 3D printing techniques, their working principles, and their application areas in terms of materials and industries. This will help to enhance understanding of the future of additive manufacturing (AM).

2 Vat Photopolymerization

In Vat Photopolymerization, the process involves the use of ultraviolet (UV) radiation or other light sources to cure or solidify photo-curable resins [5, 6]. Different light sources are used depending on the specific application and requirements. UV radiation and electron beams are commonly used light sources for photopolymers in general applications. UV light has a shorter wavelength and higher energy, making it effective in initiating the polymerization process and achieving fast curing times. Electron beams, on the other hand, can provide precise control over the curing process and are often used in industrial settings.

In the case of dental products, visible light is predominantly used as the light source. Visible light has a longer wavelength compared to UV light and is less harmful to the human body. Dental photopolymer resins are formulated to be sensitive to visible light, allowing for safe and efficient curing during dental procedures [7]. The choice of light source depends on factors such as the desired curing speed, material properties, safety considerations, and specific application requirements. UV and electron beams are more versatile and commonly used in various industries, while visible light is preferred in dental applications for its safety and compatibility with dental materials.



Fig. 2 SLA process description and SLA 3D printer (Source FormLab)

Stereolithography (SLA) is one of the most popular photopolymerization technique to fabricate solid 3D geometries from a pre-defined CAD model. Figure 2 shows the schematic diagram of the SLA process and the desktop model of the SLA 3D printer. Digital light processing (DLP) technique is another Photopolymerization technique that utilizes a digital light projector for the curing of polymers. The advantage of DLP technique is that a single layer can be processed at once, thus increasing the productivity of the whole process [5, 8]. Given the earliest versions of photopolymerization technique, the maturity and popularity of SLA is well developed than other photopolymerization processes. Given the extensive research in SLA technology, considerable progress in structural features, like dimensional accuracy, surface quality, ease of fabrication of complex models, material waste reduction, and rapid process automation, has been achieved successfully. However, the necessity for a support structure, the instability of cured resin, the high cost of machines, and the need for ongoing maintenance are some of SLA challenges that requires more attention [9].

Photopolymer resign materials have been deeply researched and tested in different techniques to produce models for various industrial applications. Standard or structural resins account for most of the photopolymer material in SLA techniques, attaining high accuracy, high rigidity, and low creep under high temperature conditions. Resins like polypropylene (PP), polyethylene (PE), ABS, and elastomeric polyurethane (EPU) are commonly adopted materials for SLA and other Photopolymers, metal and ceramic components are also reported to be manufactured with SLA and other light based 3D printers [6, 10, 11] (see Table 1).

Process parameter	Effect	
Resin type	Different resins have varying mechanical properties, such as flexibility or rigidity, and can affect the final object's strength and durability	
Photo-initiator concentration	The concentration of the photo-initiator affects the curing time and the depth of cure, which determines how deep the layers can be solidified	
Exposure time	Longer exposure times result in more complete curing, leading to stronger parts but may increase printing time. Shorter exposure times may result in insufficient curing and weaker parts	
Layer thickness	Thinner layers allow for higher resolution but increase the total number of layers and thus printing time. Thicker layers reduce printing time but may sacrifice surface quality and detail	
Light source power	Higher light source power can reduce curing time but may also increase the risk of overheating or warping the object. Lower power can result in longer curing times	
Scanning speed	Faster scanning speeds reduce the printing time but may sacrifice accuracy and resolution. Slower speeds enhance detail but increase the total printing time	
Build platform temperature	Temperature can affect the resin's viscosity, curing speed, and shrinkage. Different resins have specific temperature requirements for optimal performance	
Supports	Supports are used to stabilize overhanging structures during printing. Their placement and design affect the surface quality and the need for post-processing	
Cleaning and post-processing	Proper cleaning and post-processing steps, such as rinsing with solvents or UV curing, can affect the final surface finish and mechanical properties of the printed object	

Table 1 Outlining the process parameters and their effects in vat photopolymerization

3 Material Extrusion

Extrusion-based 3D printers have gained a significant market share due to their simplified processing method. These printers work by pushing a semisolid material (known as extrudate) from a reservoir through a nozzle, depositing it layer by layer onto a platform to create a solid structure. One crucial aspect of the extrusion process is ensuring that the extruding material flows at a consistent and uniform rate. This is necessary for proper layer consolidation, ensuring that each newly extruded layer bonds well with the preceding layer. The material can be supplied to the reservoir in either discrete, separate unit (such as pellets or filaments) or in a continuous form (such as a granular feedstock) [12].

The extrusion process is depicted in Fig. 3, which showcases a schematic model of the Material Extrusion (MEX) process. This process is widely used in various applications and industries, including prototyping, product development, and even in some production-grade applications. It offers advantages such as relatively low cost, compatibility with a wide range of materials, and the ability to create objects of different sizes and complexities. By leveraging the extrusion-based 3D printing



Fig. 3 Schematic model of Material Extrusion system

method, manufacturers and creators can produce solid structures by depositing layers of extrudate, enabling them to bring their designs to life.

In the Material Extrusion (MEX) system, there are two widely used approaches for achieving material bonding. The first approach involves regulating the temperature of the extruding material, while the second approach involves adding chemical agents such as curing agents (UV-sensitive and heat-activated curing agents) or residual solvents (acetone). In the temperature regulation method, it is important to provide sufficient input energy to activate bonding. Insufficient energy may result in cracks between layers, while excessive energy can cause the extrudate to flow, leading to reduced component accuracy.

Controlling the flow rate and pattern of the extruded material in the MEX system relies on critical parameters such as pressure drop, nozzle shape, and material viscosity. Using a larger nozzle allows for extruding more material, but at the expense of accuracy. On the other hand, smaller nozzles can provide better accuracy and minimum feature size but increase build times significantly [3]. Moreover, compared to line-wise or layer-wise scanning techniques, the point-wise plotting technique used in MEX systems requires frequent changes in direction, making the operation slower. Low-cost MEX machines with simple designs are capable of processing a range of

materials to produce parts with acceptable mechanical properties. Some commonly processed materials in MEX machines include PLA, ABS, ASA, a PC-ABS blend, and TPU.

4 Binder Jetting

Binder jetting technology (BJT) is another prominent AM technique which utilizes an array of parallel nozzles for quick patterning and colored component manufacturing. In the BJT system, a liquid from the nozzle droplet applied to a layer of powder bed is used to bind the powder particles inside powder layer together as well as with the previously printed layer. Following the layer printing, the printed layer is lowered by one-layer depth to allow for the deposition of fresh layer of powder particles through the recoating procedure. Similar procedure is repeated multiple times unless the complete part has been fabricated. At the end of the process, parts are left in the powder bed for a long period to set the binder or reinforce the green part [13]. However despite the simple nature of the process, BJT components are often require post-processing operations like sintering or hot isostatic pressing, to achieve desired mechanical properties and to fuse the powder particles together for longer component life [14]. Figure 4 shows the line diagram of the BJT system. Table 2 presents a concise overview of the history and progress of Binder Jetting technology:

For component fabrication, BJT can process a broad range of materials, such as plaster-based powder or a water-based binder. Some machines also have a color print head to create aesthetically appealing components. In terms of metals, BJT can



Year	Milestone
1988	Conceptualization of Binder Jetting technology by researchers at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT)
1990	Development of the first prototype Binder Jetting machine at MIT
1996	Formation of Z Corporation (now 3D Systems) and introduction of the first commercially available Binder Jetting 3D printer, the Z402
Early 2000s	Advancements in Binder Jetting technology, including improvements in print speed, resolution, and material options. Introduction of color printing capabilities
2010	ExOne introduces the M-Flex, an industrial Binder Jetting system, expanding the technology's capabilities for large-scale production
2015	HP enters the Binder Jetting market with the introduction of the HP Jet Fusion 3D Printing Solution, targeting both prototyping and production applications
2017	Desktop Metal unveils the Studio System, a Binder Jetting system designed for office-friendly metal 3D printing
Present	Continued advancements in Binder Jetting technology, with improvements in print speed, accuracy, material options, and integration with post-processing techniques. Growing adoption in industries such as automotive, aerospace, and healthcare

Table 2 Outlining the brief history and progress of Binder Jetting technology

handle a wide range of stainless steel alloys, including 316L, 17-4PH, 304L, and 420 steels, and ceramics, like alumina, silica, and titanium dioxide [15]. Binders are typically removed from metals via heating, although in some situations, low-melting point metals can be utilized to infill pores to boost component strength [16]. Other metals, such as Inconel, tool steels, cobalt chrome, and tungsten alloys, are also now being tested in the BJT method. Multiple heat-treatment cycles can be performed to achieve the desired strength in fabricated parts through furnace heating [17].

5 Direct Energy Deposition

Directed Energy Deposition (DED) methods are highly advanced and commercially successful additive manufacturing (AM) processes. These methods involve depositing molten metal onto a heated platform or previously deposited layers to create solid components. The metal deposition process is guided by the relative motion of the substrate and the deposition head, which can include laser optics, powder nozzles, and inert gas tubing. Both powder and wire can serve as feedstock in DED machines, but laser deposition of metal powder is the most commercially viable approach [18, 19]. Figure 5 illustrates the key components of a basic DED model.

Powder feeding mechanisms in DED systems can employ co-axial feeding, 4nozzle feeding, or single nozzle feeding. Co-axial feeding utilizes an integrated nozzle to deliver the laser beam, powder particle stream, and shielding gas. The powder stream surrounds the laser beam, while the shielding gas directs the powder



stream towards the melt pool, providing protection against oxidation. Co-axial feeding allows for increased introduction of powder particles into the melt pool. Single nozzle feeding, on the other hand, employs a separate nozzle for powder and the laser beam. This approach offers cost-effectiveness, simplicity, and improved powder capture compared to the 4-nozzle feeding system. The 4-nozzle feeding system features four separate nozzle heads evenly spaced at 90 degrees, facilitating the fabrication of complex 3D structures with varying thicknesses.

While DED machines predominantly utilize 3-axis systems, 4- or 5-axis systems incorporating rotary tables, robotic arms, or DED machines integrated with multi-tool CNC milling systems are being developed to enable multi-functionality. Wire feeding systems in DED have minimal material loss, making them ideal for fabricating simple geometries or coating surfaces. However, achieving pore-free and dimensionally accurate structures in a single pass is challenging with wire feeding technology. As a result, DED systems are typically adjusted to produce dense components, with integrated milling systems used to add dimensional precision [20, 21].

DED machines can be categorized further based on the heat source, including laser, friction stir, electron beam, and arc-powered DED devices. Some modern DED machines incorporate electron beam sources and wire feeders [22].

Laser cladding is a similar process used to join similar or dissimilar metals using roll bonding, explosive welding, or laser bonding processes. Laser cladding offers improved tribological behavior and resistance to liquid or gas flow, highimpact situations, wear, and abrasion resistance [23, 24]. Dense layer deposition and high layer thickness in 3D laser cladding enable faster build rates and longer component life with reduced maintenance and part replacement. Laser cladding is often employed for repairing large-scale metal components. Electron beam DED machines are commonly used in space applications due to their high deposition speeds, vacuum processability, efficient energy consumption, and rapid operation [25]. Wire feeders are well-suited for low-gravity environments, offering ease of manufacturing, effective material handling, and reduced material waste.

Friction Stir Additive Manufacturing (FSAM) is a process similar to DED that utilizes friction stir welding technology in an open-air environment. FSAM enables alloying, component repair, metal joining, and other applications by boosting the temperature of metal feedstock through plastic deformation, facilitating layer fusion via solid-state bonding. FSAM can process non-weldable materials with significantly lower residual stresses and thermally-induced porosity [26]. The key aspects of the DED process is given in Table 3.

Aspect	Description	Effect	
Process parameters	Parameters that affect the DED process		
Laser Power	The power of the laser beam used for melting the material. Higher power results in faster melting and deposition	Higher power can increase material melting and deposition rates, but excessive power may cause overheating and distortion	
Powder/Wire Feed Rate	The rate at which the powder or wire feedstock is delivered to the deposition zone. Controls the deposition rate and material build-up	Higher feed rates result in faster material deposition, but excessive rates may lead to incomplete melting and poor bonding	
Scanning Speed	The speed at which the laser or deposition head moves across the workpiece. Affects the layer thickness and overall printing time	Faster scanning speeds reduce overall printing time, but slower speeds can improve accuracy and surface finish	
Layer Thickness	The thickness of each deposited layer. Determines the resolution and strength of the printed part	Thinner layers provide higher resolution, while thicker layers decrease printing time but may sacrifice detail	
Powder Flow Rate	The rate at which powdered material is delivered to the deposition zone. Controls the material distribution and density	Proper flow rate ensures uniform deposition, while inconsistent flow can lead to irregularities in material distribution	
Atmosphere Control	The control of the gas environment in the deposition chamber to prevent oxidation or other undesirable reactions	Maintaining a controlled atmosphere prevents oxidation and improves material properties	
Materials used	Commonly used materials in DED		

 Table 3
 Summarizing the key aspects of Directed Energy Deposition (DED)

(continued)

Aspect	Description	Effect
Metals	Stainless steel, titanium, aluminum, nickel alloys, etc.	
Alloys	Tool steel, bronze, copper-nickel, Inconel, etc.	
Ceramics	Alumina, zirconia, silicon carbide, etc.	
Composites	Metal matrix composites, ceramic matrix composites, etc.	
Famous brands	Prominent brands offering DED systems	
DMG Mori	Offers LASERTEC systems for DED	
Trumpf	Provides TruLaser Cell systems for DED	
SLM Solutions	Known for its Selective Laser Melting (SLM) technology, which is a form of DED	
Sciaky	Offers Electron Beam Additive Manufacturing (EBAM) systems, a variant of DED	
Optomec	Specializes in Aerosol Jet systems for DED	

Table 3 (continued)

6 Powder Bed Fusion

Powder Bed Fusion (PBF) remains one of the most commercially successful and widely applied AM processes, being well-suited for polymers and metals and, to a lesser extent, ceramics and composites [27]. The Selective laser sintering (SLS) method, which was originally designed to create polymeric prototypes, was one of the first commercialized PBF techniques. Later, after modification to the working principle of SLS, selective laser melting (SLM), direct metal laser sintering (DMLS), and electron beam melting (EBM) processes came into existence. A numerically controlled heat source is used in the PBF system to fuse discrete powder particles dispersed in a micron level thin layer to recreate a 2D contour of a 3D CAD model [27, 28]. Although PBF techniques are more suitable for metallic materials, yet with certain limitations they can be considered for other materials as well. While thermoset polymers are unsuitable for the PBF system due to their high-temperature degradability, thermoplastics are easily curable. Polyamide (nylon), notably polyamide 11 and 12, are the most commonly used thermoplastic polymer for the PBF system [29, 30].

Selective laser Melting (SLM): In SLM machines, powder particles heating is achieved by absorbing a photon from a laser beam. As a result, the temperature of a powder rises above its melting point, forming a liquid melt pool that solidifies to



Fig. 6 Schematic representation of SLM system

form a solid structure after returning to the ambient temperature. In the SLM process, the laser source melts the powder region as well as some layers beneath it completely, allowing for strong consolidation between layers [31]. Beside creating dense components, SLM is also well suited to manufacture complex 3D components, such as nature-inspired lattice materials and topologically optimized lightweight fuel- and cost-efficient structures. Auxetic metamaterials, cellular lattice structures like TPMS, or strut-based designs can provide applications having high energy as well as shock absorptivity, and high heat dissipation [32]. Figure 6 shows the schematic model of the SLM system.

As of now, SLM can process several alloys, such as Al, Ti, Ni, Co–Cr, stainless steels, high entropy alloys, and more. Any weldable metal is considered to be a good candidate for the SLM system. Along with metallic materials, Ceramic materials are also widely investigated using the SLM technology. Metal oxides (aluminum oxide and titanium oxide), carbides, nitrides, and their mixtures can be used in a variety of applications [33]. Biocompatible materials with ceramics are now frequently used in bio-industries. In comparison to polymers, metal processing in AM systems is rather challenging due to the metals' high thermal conductivity, laser reflectivity, oxidation, and high surface tension. The parts during solidification can exhibit 3–4% shrinkage, which can lead to part distortion. Thus, materials with low thermal conductivity can provide better accuracy as melt pool and solidification will be more controllable due to the limited part growth [2, 34]. Regardless of the material type, optimizing process parameters is essential to obtain desired microstructural and mechanical

features for SLM components. Although interdependent, these process parameters can be categorized into four types [28]:

- i. Laser parameters—power, spot size, pulse duration, pulse frequency, etc.
- ii. Scanning parameters—scan speed, scan spacing, scanning patterns, etc.
- iii. Powder parameters—powder material, size, shape, distribution, and packing density, layer thickness, etc.
- iv. Temperature-related parameters—powder-bed and powder-feeder temperatures, temperature uniformity, etc.

Electron beam melting (EBM): Powder heating in an electron beam powder bed fusion process, which is also known as EBM, is achieved by the transfer of kinetic energy from incoming electrons. In contrast to lasers that can process any laser absorbing materials (metals, ceramics, or polymers), electron beam source is suitable for only conductive materials like metals. Moreover, electron beam source is cost-effective and highly efficient, which is not the case with the laser beam. In case of lasers, only 10-20% of the total electrical energy is converted into beam energy, with the remaining energy lost in the form of heat. However, fiber lasers are cost effective, as they are capable of providing conversion efficiencies of about 70-80%. EBM, on the other hand, can provide approximately 100% conversion efficiency. Depending on the feedstock material and heat source parameters, SLM/EBM process can be optimized to attain desired densification and structural accuracy [35]. Another advantage of EBM machines over SLM machines is that due to the considerably high penetration depth of electron beam, the layer thickness in EBM can be quite large, thus resulting in high productivity of EBM. Large components are therefore often preferred to be produced with EBM. Platform bed in the EBM system are maintained at high temperatures for better charge connectivity. This results in the induction of high incident energy from the electron beam source, causing the microstructure of EBM parts to be significantly different from the SLM part. As a result, the grain size in EBM parts are coarser like cast microstructure, and melt pools are wider than the SLM part. Moreover, residual stress in EBM part is lower than the SLM part due to the elevated bed temperature. Like the SLM system, support structures are also necessary for the EBM process for part stability and electrical conductivity. However, support volume in EBM can be significantly lighter, making their removal much easier. This enables the EBM system to have a clear advantage when it comes to minimizing residual stress and supports [36].

7 4D Printing

While 3D printing is often compared to assembly line production, its slow speed and limited volume capabilities hinder its widespread use for mass production. Additionally, 3D printing is limited in terms of its applicability to only a fraction of available resources. However, 4D printing, an extension of 3D printing that incorporates time

as the fourth dimension, addresses these limitations by significantly reducing manufacturing time, typically by 70 to 90%. The materials used in 4D printing, such as programmable shape memory alloys, polymers, metal alloys, and ceramics, possess self-sensing, self-repairing, self-assembling, and multifunctional properties when exposed to environmental factors like temperature, humidity, magnetic fields, pH, water, air, and light [37].

Compared to 3D printing, 4D printing enables the rapid development of intelligent, flexible, and deformable structures with multiple materials, offering potential for novel applications [38]. Five essential components are required for successful 4D printing: a reliable 3D printing process, responsive smart materials and their unique stimuli, interaction mechanisms, and mathematical modeling. Mathematical models describe the material's behavior and duration during shape changes, while the interaction mechanism, such as mechanical loading, determines the desired shape change in response to a stimulus [39].

4D printing finds broad applications, particularly in the biomedical field, including orthodontics, endodontics, prosthodontics, oral surgery, and implantology. Although not yet commercialized, 4D printed dental implants have the ability to mimic natural teeth by undergoing shape changes in response to variations in oral temperature and humidity [40]. Similarly, in space applications, low-cost materials capable of withstanding extreme conditions are highly desirable. The compact storage space on spaceships makes 4D printing an excellent solution for creating self-adapting components that can change shape and size upon deployment. The potential for repairing satellite components without relying on supplies from Earth has been demonstrated through 3D printing using ABS and Nitinol (a nickel and titanium shape memory alloy) in space. Additionally, the production of low-cost, lightweight smart sensors using 4D printing holds promise for providing intelligence to vehicles, drones, and other objects. The use of intelligent, self-healing materials could be a significant advancement in manufacturing, as these materials can be repeatedly utilized, resulting in reduced material consumption [41].

While 4D printing holds great potential, there are several restrictions and challenges that need to be addressed before it can be widely adopted. Currently, 4D printing is primarily limited to research institutes due to the constraints in available materials, designs, and technology. Technological advancements are necessary to develop new printing methods that can enable the 4D printing of a broader range of smart materials. Additionally, the modification of existing additive manufacturing (AM) techniques or the development of new sustainable techniques is a complex task, as only a few AM technologies are capable of printing smart materials in 4D.

Another limitation of 4D printing is the potential for undesired characteristics to manifest over time. For instance, polymer materials may experience degradation from repeated wetting and drying, while metal structures like nickel-titanium (NiTi) can undergo continuous deformation. These challenges call for the development of more robust materials and improved durability in order to ensure the long-term performance of 4D printed objects.

Furthermore, 4D printing currently faces limitations in achieving high resolution when printing complex structures. To overcome this, the concept of 5D printing has

emerged. By incorporating nozzle and printing bed rotation, 5D printing enables multi-axis object printing, facilitating the rapid and precise fabrication of curved surfaces. Notably, 5D printed objects utilize less material and exhibit increased stiffness compared to 4D and 3D printing techniques [42, 43]. Addressing these challenges and advancing the technologies associated with 4D printing and its extension to 5D printing will pave the way for wider adoption and unlock further opportunities in the field.

8 Conclusion and Future Work

Industrial and large-scale manufacturing processes are undergoing significant transformation with the emergence of new industrial alliances, substantial investments, and rapid advancements in materials and technology. Modern 3D printers have the capability to produce components that are larger than the printers themselves, making them highly versatile for various industries including aerospace, defense, automotive, healthcare, food, electronics, and more [44].

Over the past decade, 3D printing has gained increasing attention from governments, educational institutions, and businesses, leading to its growing popularity. According to a report by Mordor Intelligence, the 3D printing market, which was valued at \$13.7 billion in 2020, is projected to reach \$63.46 billion by 2026, with a compound annual growth rate of approximately 30%. 3D printing enables the rapid, efficient, and cost-effective production of customized parts. The advancements in modeling and slicing software have made the 3D printing process easily accessible, allowing seamless interaction between computer-aided design (CAD) models and 3D printers.

In contrast to conventional manufacturing techniques that require expensive tools and dies, 3D printing offers greater flexibility in managing small inventories, reviving outdated designs, constructing intricate lattice structures, and repairing or manufacturing damaged goods. This limitless potential of additive manufacturing (AM) has been a driving force behind numerous innovations. Designers now have unparalleled freedom for prototyping, design iterations, and product personalization. Furthermore, the development of new materials has expanded the possibilities of 3D printing, with a wide range of options including thermoplastics, composite filaments, photosensitive resins, metal alloys, and ceramic materials. Selecting the appropriate material for a specific product's physical and chemical requirements has become much easier with 3D printing technologies.

The impact of 3D printing extends to various fields. For example, affordable, lightweight, and electrically powered prostheses can be 3D printed, allowing amputees to regain full control of their arm movement. Patient-specific surgical models, antimicrobial dental implants, dentures, and impression trays can all be easily created using various 3D printing technologies. Additionally, topological optimization techniques enable the production of lightweight aviation components, reproduction of obsolete parts for classic cars, and customization of automotive seats, resulting in 3D printed parts with improved structural integrity and fuel efficiency.

In traditional industries, complex molds created using 3D printing technology significantly reduce fabrication costs and labor-intensive production steps, enabling faster and cost-effective production of components in large quantities. Combining conventional manufacturing methods with AM can help address significant production challenges. On-site process monitoring instruments allow for real-time adjustment of component quality by modifying process parameters, environment conditions, and temperature without the need to stop the machine mid-operation. AI-driven generative designs further enhance the capabilities of 3D printing by reducing the number of iterations required to achieve optimal designs. Generative design engines provide a range of organic shapes that fulfill specific design requirements based on given constraints such as dimensions, materials, manufacturing processes, and service loading conditions. These capabilities empower 3D printing to revolutionize the way items are manufactured. Overall, 3D printing is driving transformative changes in the manufacturing landscape, enabling the creation of new designs and products that were previously unimaginable.

References

- 1. Majeed A, Zhang Y, Ren S, Lv J, Peng T, Waqar S, Yin E (2021) A big data-driven framework for sustainable and smart additive manufacturing. Robot Comput-Integr Manuf 67:102026
- Khan HM, Waqar S, Koç E (2022) Evolution of temperature and residual stress behavior in selective laser melting of 316L stainless steel across a cooling channel. Rapid Prototyp J 28(7):1272–1283. https://doi.org/10.1108/RPJ-09-2021-0237
- Sunpreet Singh SRRS, Singh S, Ramakrishna S, Singh R (2017) Material issues in additive manufacturing: a review. J Manuf Process 25:185–200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmapro.2016. 11.006
- Szemkus S, Kempf B, Jahn S, Wiehl G, Heringhaus F, Rettenmayr M (2018) Laser additive manufacturing of contact materials. J Mater Process Technol 252:612–617. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jmatprotec.2017.09.023
- Camargo IL de, Morais MM, Fortulan CA, Branciforti MC (2021) A review on the rheological behavior and formulations of ceramic suspensions for vat photopolymerization. Ceram Int 47(9):11906–11921. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceramint.2021.01.031
- 6. Layani M, Wang X, Magdassi S (2018) Novel materials for 3D printing by photopolymerization. Adv Mater 30(41):1706344. https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.201706344
- Gibson I, Rosen DW, Stucker B (2010) Photopolymerization processes. In: Additive manufacturing technologies. Springer, pp 78–119
- 8. Wang M, Li W, Mille LS, Ching T, Luo Z, Tang G, Zhang YS et al (2022) Digital light processing based bioprinting with composable gradients. Adv Mater 34(1):2107038
- Guerra Silva R, Torres MJ, Zahr Viñuela J (2021) A comparison of miniature lattice structures produced by material extrusion and vat photopolymerization additive manufacturing. Polymers 13(13):2163
- Salmoria GV, Leite JL, Ahrens CH, Lago A, Pires ATN (2007) Rapid manufacturing of PA/ HDPE blend specimens by selective laser sintering: microstructural characterization. Polym Test 26(3):361–368. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymertesting.2006.12.002

- 2 Challenges in Additive Manufacturing Technology: Post Processing ...
- Berretta S, Ghita O, Evans KE (2014) Morphology of polymeric powders in Laser Sintering (LS): from Polyamide to new PEEK powders. Eur Polymer J 59:218–229. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.eurpolymj.2014.08.004
- 12. Betancourt N, Chen X (2022) Review of extrusion-based multi-material bioprinting processes. Bioprinting, e00189
- Gokuldoss PK, Kolla S, Eckert J (2017) Additive manufacturing processes: selective laser melting, electron beam melting and binder jetting—selection guidelines. Materials 10(6):672
- 14. Balogun HA, Sulaiman R, Marzouk SS, Giwa A, Hasan SW (2019) 3D printing and surface imprinting technologies for water treatment: a review. J Water Process Eng 31:100786
- Mirzababaei S, Pasebani S (2019) A review on binder jet additive manufacturing of 316L stainless steel. J Manuf Mater Process 3(3):82
- Lv X, Ye F, Cheng L, Fan S, Liu Y (2019) Binder jetting of ceramics: powders, binders, printing parameters, equipment, and post-treatment. Ceram Int 45(10):12609–12624
- 17. Li M, Du W, Elwany A, Pei Z, Ma C (2020) Metal binder jetting additive manufacturing: a literature review. J Manuf Sci Eng 142(9)
- DebRoy T, Wei HL, Zuback JS, Mukherjee T, Elmer JW, Milewski JO, Zhang W et al (2018) Additive manufacturing of metallic components–process, structure and properties. Prog Mater Sci 92:112–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmatsci.2017.10.001
- Melia MA, Carroll JD, Whetten SR, Esmaeely SN, Locke J, White E, Kustas AB (2019) Mechanical and corrosion properties of additively manufactured CoCrFeMnNi high entropy alloy. Addit Manuf 29:100833. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addma.2019.100833
- Saboori A, Gallo D, Biamino S, Fino P, Lombardi M (2017) An overview of additive manufacturing of titanium components by directed energy deposition: microstructure and mechanical properties. Appl Sci 7(9):883
- 21. Dass A, Moridi A (2019) State of the art in directed energy deposition: from additive manufacturing to materials design. Coatings 9(7):418
- Gibson I, Rosen D, Stucker B (2015) Powder bed fusion processes. In: Additive manufacturing technologies. Springer New York, pp 107–145. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-2113-3_5
- Tamanna N, Crouch R, Naher S (2019) Progress in numerical simulation of the laser cladding process. Opt Lasers Eng 122:151–163
- Luo X, Cao J, Meng G, Chuan Y, Yao Z, Xie H (2020) Systematical investigation on the microstructures and tribological properties of Fe–Al laser cladding coatings. Appl Surf Sci 516:146121
- Svetlizky D, Das M, Zheng B, Vyatskikh AL, Bose S, Bandyopadhyay A, Eliaz N et al (2021) Directed energy deposition (DED) additive manufacturing: physical characteristics, defects, challenges and applications. Mater Today 49:271–295
- 26. Srivastava M, Rathee S, Maheshwari S, Noor Siddiquee A, Kundra TK (2019) A review on recent progress in solid state friction based metal additive manufacturing: friction stir additive techniques. Crit Rev Solid State Mater Sci 44(5):345–377
- Khan HM, Karabulut Y, Kitay O, Kaynak Y, Jawahir IS (2021) Influence of the post-processing operations on surface integrity of metal components produced by laser powder bed fusion additive manufacturing: a review. Mach Sci Technol 25(1):118–176. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 10910344.2020.1855649
- Khan HM, Özer G, Yilmaz MS, Koc E (2022) Corrosion of additively manufactured metallic components: a review. Arab J Sci Eng 47(1):5465–5490. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13369-021-06481-y
- Diegel O, Nordin A, Motte D (2019) Additive manufacturing technologies, pp 19–39. https:// doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-8281-9_2
- Parandoush P, Lin D (2017) A review on additive manufacturing of polymer-fiber composites. Compos Struct 182:36–53
- Tascioglu E, Khan HM, Kaynak Y, Coşkun M, Tarakci G, Koç E (2021) Effect of aging and finish machining on the surface integrity of selective laser melted maraging steel. Rapid Prototyp J 27(10):1900–1909. https://doi.org/10.1108/RPJ-11-2020-0269

- Plocher J, Panesar A (2019) Review on design and structural optimisation in additive manufacturing: towards next-generation lightweight structures. Mater Des. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matdes.2019.108164. Elsevier Ltd.
- Gibson I, Rosen D, Stucker B (2015) Applications for additive manufacture. In: Additive manufacturing technologies. Springer New York, pp 451–474. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-2113-3_19
- Kempen K, Thijs L, Yasa E, Badrossamay M, Verheecke W, Kruth JP (2011) Process optimization and micostructural analysis for selective laser melting of AlSi10Mg. In: Solid freeform fabrication, pp 484–495
- Sing SL, An J, Yeong WY, Wiria FE (2016) Laser and electron-beam powder-bed additive manufacturing of metallic implants: a review on processes, materials and designs. J Orthop Res 34(3):369–385. https://doi.org/10.1002/jor.23075
- Yuan L, Ding S, Wen C (2019) Additive manufacturing technology for porous metal implant applications and triple minimal surface structures: a review. Bioact Mater 4(1):56–70. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.bioactmat.2018.12.003
- Sun W, Starly B, Daly AC, Burdick JA, Groll J, Skeldon G, Nishikawa M et al (2020) The bioprinting roadmap. Biofabrication 12(2):22002
- Jacobsen M (2016) Clearing the way for pivotal 21st-century innovation. In: Giftedness and talent in the 21st century. Springer, pp 163–179
- Ahmed A, Arya S, Gupta V, Furukawa H, Khosla A (2021) 4D printing: fundamentals, materials, applications and challenges. Polymer 228:123926. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymer. 2021.123926
- 40. Bruni A, Serra FG, Deregibus A, Castroflorio T (2019) Shape-memory polymers in dentistry: systematic review and patent landscape report. Materials 12(14):2216
- Yu K, Ritchie A, Mao Y, Dunn ML, Qi HJ (2015) Controlled sequential shape changing components by 3D printing of shape memory polymer multimaterials. Procedia IUTAM 12:193–203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.piutam.2014.12.021
- 42. Anas S, Khan MY, Rafey M, Faheem K (2022) Concept of 5D printing technology and its applicability in the healthcare industry. Mater Today Proc 56:1726–1732
- Palmero EM, Bollero A (2021) 3D and 4D printing of functional and smart composite materials. In: DBT-E. of Brabazon MC (Ed) Encyclopedia of materials: composites. Elsevier, Oxford, pp 402–419. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-819724-0.00008-2
- 44. Ashima R, Haleem A, Bahl S, Javaid M, Mahla SK, Singh S (2021) Automation and manufacturing of smart materials in additive manufacturing technologies using internet of things towards the adoption of Industry 4.0. Mater Today Proc 45:5081–5088

Chapter 3 Nano-structured Materials in Additive Manufacturing: Synthesis, Properties, and Applications



Anshuman Patra

Abstract Nano-structured materials have extensive applications in electronics, defence, automotive, aerospace, space. Some of the distinct properties of nanomaterials such as excellent strength, ductility, wear resistance encourages the application in structural domain. Additive manufacturing, also interpreted as 3D printing is a cost-effective fabrication route through layer-by-layer deposition of metal. The method can produce the final product with little or no machining requirement, and the process can be tailored to achieve the bulk product with desired properties. Several nanomaterials synthesis routes used in additive manufacturing processes, major advantages and challenges of introduction of nanomaterials, properties of fabricated component and applications will be discussed in the chapter.

Keywords Nanostructured materials · Additive manufacturing · Synthesis techniques · Properties · Applications

1 Introduction

Nanomaterials possess a dimension of less than 100 nm and exhibit exciting properties compared to micron size materials. With increasing demand of cost effective, near net shape products with desired final properties for structural applications, several synthesis routes of nanomaterials such as mechanical alloying, sol–gel technique, chemical and physical vapor deposition, temperature-assisted decomposition, laser ablation etc. have been developed [1]. The nanomaterials are further consolidated to produce the final product. The properties of the nanomaterials need to be retained in the consolidated product with the objective of sustainable applications. In the present

A. Patra (🖂)

S. Rajendrachari (ed.), Practical Implementations of Additive Manufacturing

Technologies, Materials Horizons: From Nature to Nanomaterials, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-5949-5_3

Department of Metallurgical and Materials Engineering, National Institute of Technology Rourkela, Rourkela, Odisha 769008, India e-mail: anspat.met@gmail.com; patraa@nitrkl.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2024

time researchers have fabricated complex products comprising nanostructured materials for cutting-edge applications. The requirement of microstructure, properties, and complexity varies based on applications. Therefore, additive manufacturing (AM) has evolved as an exciting fabrication technique. The final product quality depends on the initial powder characteristics such as powder size, shape, flowability. Strondl et al. have studied the impact of different AM methods, such as selective laser melting (SLM) and electron beam melting (EBM), on powder characteristics [2]. The study reports that recycled powder (powder exterior of consolidation zone) exhibits improved flowability due to the presence of less fine particles compared to the powder subjected to consolidation by SLM [2]. It is also indicated in the literature that oxygen content and porosity significantly impact the mechanical properties of the component fabricated from SLM [2]. A variety of products such as sensors, robotic arm, heat insulation, flexible electronics are fabricated by AM, and addition of nanomaterial adds further progress to advancement [3-5]. Nanomaterials addition during 3D printing process can be done at the beginning or at the intermediate stage [6]. Though homogenous nanoparticles can be achieved, however agglomeration of nanoparticles still needs to be addressed for property enhancement [6, 7]. The book chapter includes a review of the involvement of nanomaterials in additive manufacturing processes. Different fabrication routes, and interesting properties of nanomaterials for improved AM product quality are also discussed.

2 Categories of Nanomaterials

Nanomaterials can be classified based on dimensions such as zero-dimensional (0D), one dimensional (1D), two dimensional (2D), and three dimensional (3 D). The 0D nanomaterials such as quantum dots facilitates stability during AM, sensitive to sensor and therefore used for biosensors, optoelectronics etc. [8]. The 1D nanomaterials (perovskite nanowires, carbon nanotube) also offer exciting optical, electrical, and magnetic properties [8, 9]. 2D nanomaterials are sheet based with thickness less than 5 nm [10], possess extensive surface area, and chemical, physical properties are anisotropic [11]. Graphene as 2D nanomaterial has become the focus of research due to its outstanding electrical, thermal and mechanical properties [12]. Due to several exceptional properties, the 2D nanomaterials find applications in energy storage [13], batteries [14], biomedicine [15], catalysis [16] etc. 3D nanomaterials include nanoballs, nanopillers, ordered nanowires arrays [17–19]. Literature reports that 3D carbon nanomaterials can be used for solar energy conversion by combining graphene (2D) and carbon nanotube (CNT) (vertical, 1D) [19]. The 3D nanostructure possesses a high surface area which is effective for more charge accumulation and is therefore used in supercapacitors [20] and as a catalyst in fuel cell [21]. The nanomaterials comprised of crystallites can exhibit similar or variations in composition among the crystallites, different compositions between crystallites and interfacial area, and dispersed crystallites in matrix with varied composition [22].



Fig. 1 Categories of nanostructured materials based on shape and chemical composition, Reprinted from Nanostructured Materials. 6, Gleiter, H., Nanostructured materials: state of the art and perspectives, pp. 3–14. Copyright (1995), with permission from Elsevier [22]

The nanomaterials can be of several types based on their final dimension and shape, as presented in Fig. 1.

Nanomaterials can contain different metals such as Ag, Au and finds application in medical industry due to significant biocompatibility [23–25]. The nanomaterials in metal oxides form can be used as below:

Fe₂O₃: therapeutic [25], CeO₂: antiinflamation [26], TiO₂: drug delivery, bone regeneration, vascular stents [23, 24, 27], ZnO: drug delivery, bioimaging, biosensing [28, 29]. Additionally ceramic centred nanomaterials for tissue engineering [30] and polymer-based nanomaterials for bone-fixing device, dental applications are also important [31].

2.1 Nanomaterials for Additive Manufacturing

The synthesis can be divided into several categories according to the literature evidence [22] such as:

(a) Physical vapor deposition, chemical vapor deposition, atmospheric interaction with oxygen.

- (b) Extensive deformation (mechanical alloying/milling, shear extrusion, irradiation driven).
- (c) Rapid solidification.

The properties of the nanomaterials can be enhanced by functionalization techniques. Molecules such as surfactants, polymers, inorganic constituents can be combined on the surface of nanoparticles by physisorption, chemisorption, electrostatic interaction [32, 33]. The involvement of functionalized nanomaterials in AM technique can facilitates cost-effective devices for medical industry [34]. For AM process, the final size can be either in millimeter or in microns $(20-50 \,\mu\text{m})$ [35, 36]. Recent trend in electronic, automotive, medical industries is to reduce the size [37], and therefore the development of AM methods with nanoscale size limit is essential. However, the AM technologies have to be judiciously selected to achieve minuscule product. The nano-size product by AM has commercial significance, such as 3D microbattery electrodes [38], microrobots for medical industry [39]. Other literatures also indicates the use of nano thermites in ammunition, pyrotechnics [40] due to significant surface area (around 10–50 m²/g), reduced temperature and time of ignition, elevated energy density (50 MJ/kg) and rate of burning [41, 42]. The safety related to the synthesis and transport of thermites due to hazardous nature imposes challenges. The addition of several nanoparticles (Fe, Ag) in the sintered parts produced by 3D printing shows significant value addition related to reduced shrinkage and shape deformation [43, 44]. The reported challenges of integrating namomaterials with AM are as following [45]:

- (a) Cost of nanomaterials
- (b) Stability in environmental conditions
- (c) Agglomeration.

Therefore, it is necessary to use functional nanomaterials for AM use. The nanoparticles can be separated by using organic molecules. Lao et al. have reported that suitable nanoparticle distribution can be achieved by adding carbon nanofibers to laser-sintered powders using screw extrusion method [46].

3 Synthesis Techniques

3.1 Screw Extrusion

Several methods are used to mix nanomaterials with the matrix. Mixing of nanomaterials with polymer matrix is possible by screw extrusion (single/twin). In the screw extrusion process as presented in Fig. 2, viscous materials is added through the inlet [47] and pressure effect restrict the backward movement of the injected material [48]. Screw having lowest thickness should possess adequate strength for enduring shear and friction forces. Literature evidences that extrusion rate and temperature need to be precisely regulated to improve the product quality [48]. The 3D printer is attached



Fig. 2 Schematic of Screw type extrusion with 3D printer, Reprinted from Ceram. Int. **45**, Kim, N. P., Cho, D., Zielewski, M., Optimization of 3D printing parameters of Screw Type Extrusion (STE) for ceramics using the Taguchi method, pp. 2351–2360. Copyright (2019), with permission from Elsevier [47]

to the screw extruder to hold the deposition for developing 3D products [49]. The velocity of deposition is controlled by adjusting the speed of rotation of the screw [49].

3.2 Sol-Gel

Sol–gel has been reported as potential preparation method of nanocomposites. The major advantages of sol–gel method are [50]:

- (a) The method can be carried out at usual temperature, pressure.
- (b) Chemical constituents can be regulated effortlessly.

The schematic representation of sol–gel technique is provided in Fig. 3 [51]. The objective of these methods is uniform dispersion of nanoparticles in polymer. Nanoparticles as colloidal suspension are subjected to evaporation for removing the solvent and finally solidification followed by different consolidations to achieve bulk products [52]. Kumar et al. have prepared Tb and Li co-doped ZnO nanoparticles by sol–gel method [25]. Silica nanoparticles are dispersed in polyurethane by sol–gel method and improvement in biocompatibility which illustrates the application of the nanocomposites in biomedical sector [52].

3.3 Electrospinning

Electrospinning technique is utilized for the production of nanofibers. The method is found to be of great interest in tissue engineering applications. In this technique, electrostatic forces are applied to a polymer solution to stretch it in the form of fibers. The high voltage is used in the process causes jet formation of the polymer solution



Fig. 3 Schematic of sol–gel method, Reprinted from Micro and Nano Technologies, Additive Manufacturing with Functionalized Nanomaterials. Kumar, P., Kumar, R., Synthesis process of functionalized ZnO nanostructure for additive manufacturing: a state-of-the-art review. Singh, S., Hussain, C. M. (eds.), pp. 135–153. Copyright (2021), with permission from Elsevier [51]

drop followed by evaporation of solvent and production of fibers in the collector zone as described in Fig. 4. Several factors, such as applied voltage, solution flow rate, distance between tip and collector, viscosity of solution impact the fiber development process [53]. Polyvinyl alcohol/collagen with nano-hydroxyapatite [54], fibrous scaffolds from elastomers [55] have been prepared by electrospinning method.

3.4 Coprecipitation

Material's synthesis through coprecipitation technique produces homogeneous composition with reduced size. In this method aqueous salts are combined with a suitable basic constituent and during precipitation phase oxalates/hydroxides nucleate in the solution [56, 57]. The solution is further heated to achieve the required product. The coprecipitation has the following major advantages [58, 59]:

- (a) Increased output
- (b) Reproduction is effortless
- (c) Cost-effective synthesis.

However, there are certain disadvantages of the process such as [60–64]:

(a) Precipitation of impurities



Fig. 4 Schematic of Electrospinning set-up, Reprinted from Nanotechnology Applications for Tissue Engineering, Unnithan, A. R., Arathyram, R.S., Kim, C. S., Electrospinning of Polymers for Tissue Engineering. Thomas, S., Grohens, Y., Ninan, N., (eds.), pp. 45–55. Copyright (2015), with permission from Elsevier [53]

- (b) To control the final purity several treatments of the nanoparticles are required.
- (c) Generation of hazardous waste material.

Figure 5 shows the steps for the production of NiO nanoparticles using Ni (II) nitrate hexahydrate precursor [63]. Literature suggests that the morphology of the nanoparticles can be controlled by the application of surfactants, sonochemical techniques, reactive precipitation using high gravity. Several researches have been performed to obtain nanomaterials through coprecipitation such as NiFe₂O₄ (particle size: 28 nm) [65], ZnO nanoparticles (140 nm) [66], CoFe₂O₄ (particle size: 19 nm) [67], Fe₃O₄ (15 nm) [68].



Fig. 5 Preparation method of NiO nanoparticles by co-precipitation method, Reprinted from Micro and Nano Technologies, Synthesis of Inorganic Nanomaterials. Ashik, U. P. M., Kudo, S., Hayashi, J., An Overview of Metal Oxide Nanostructures. Bhagyaraj, S. M., Oluwafemi, O. S., Kalarikkal, N., Thomas S., (eds.), Woodhead Publishing, pp. 19–57. Copyright (2018), with permission from Elsevier [63]

3.5 Mechanical Alloying

Mechanical alloying includes the reduction of particle size and formation of solid solution, amorphous alloys, intermetallic phases through deformation of powders [69]. In the process vial containing grinding balls, with or without process control agent, elemental powder(s) is rotated at a certain speed and time to achieve the required size, degree of alloving. However, the required size depends on several parameters such as ball to powder weight ratio, diameter of grinding ball, temperature of milling [69]. Contamination from vial, grinding ball can also generate during milling. Therefore, the application of process controls agents, milling in inert atmosphere, and judicious selection of grinding ball can be options to minimize the contamination [69]. Solid-state deformation, mixing of elements with poor solubility in each other, cost effectiveness, product homogeneity are the significant benefits of the process [69]. Mechanical alloying is effective for synthesis of alloy containing constituents with wide variations in melting temperature, specific weight and vapor pressure. Alloy such as Ta-Ti is therefore difficult to process through melting-casting route due to poor homogeneity and mechanical properties [70]. Khimich et al. have reported the synthesis of Ti-Nb alloys by mechanical alloying followed by laser powder bed fusion and indicate non cytotoxic nature and appreciable porosity required for biomedical applications [71]. It is also indicated that mechanical alloying is a successful synthesis method of nanomaterials as a substitute for spheroidization process [71]. Literature shows that a number of steps in traditional processing (Mechanical alloying + consolidation) involve additional post-processing of the final product [72]. Combining mechanical alloying and AM route reduces the processing steps as presented in Fig. 6.

3.6 Electric Explosion of Wires

In this technique, a metallic wire is subjected to significant pulse of electric current for production of nanoparticles. The method utilizes elevated current density $(10^{11}-10^{12} \text{ A/m}^2)$, short time duration $(10^{-8}-10^{-5} \text{ s})$ resulting in melting, evaporation and plasma formation [74–76]. Nanoparticles are formed from the condensation of atoms in aqueous, gaseous, or organic medium [77–79]. Various metals [80], oxides [81], nitrides [82], carbides [83], alloys [84] can be synthesized by the process. Electrical explosion of W wire in liquid paraffin for production of metastable WC powder is displayed in Fig. 7 [83]. Process parameters such as wire mass, gas pressure, applied energy regulate the final particle size [85]. Sato et al. have reported that the particle size of palladium is smaller when pulsed wire discharge is carried out in Ar medium compared to N₂, He due to less necessary energy for ionization in the process [85]. Tanaka et al. have indicated that a higher diameter of wire produces fine particles due to higher vapor content and rate of nucleation, and the particles are of spherical shape at all studied wire diameter [83, 86]. 3 Nano-structured Materials in Additive Manufacturing: Synthesis ...



Fig. 6 Comparison of conventional processing [73] with additive manufacturing processing route of ODS alloys, Reprinted from Prog. Mater. Sci., **133**, Wilms, M. B., Rittinghaus, S. K., Goßling, M., Gökce, B., Additive manufacturing of oxide-dispersion strengthened alloys: Materials, synthesis and manufacturing. 101049. Copyright (2022), with permission from Elsevier [72]

4 Effect of Nanomaterial During Additive Manufacturing

Products fabricated by additive manufacturing show enhanced properties with the addition of nanoparticles. Lin et al. reported that dispersing 35 vol.% TiC in Al matrix considerably refines the grains $(331 \pm 95 \text{ nm})$ from $2.7 \pm 1.4 \mu\text{m}$ (in pure Al) [84] by fabrication through Laser additive manufacturing. The process improves the laser absorption capacity, substantial yield strength (till 1000 MPa), and thermal stability (till 400 °C) [87]. The mechanism of melting of nanoparticles during melt-assisted additive manufacturing can provide comprehensive idea about the advantages and challenges of using nanomaterials. The surface roughness associated with laser metal additive manufacturing is counteracted by addition of nanoparticles. Qu et al. have indicated significant improvement of viscosity in 4.4 vol.% TiC nanoparticle added Al6061 compared to Al6061 alloy [88]. The paper also reports that complete damping of surface waves has been achieved by nanoparticle addition in Al6061 alloy resulting



Fig. 7 Schematic of electric explosion of wire technique, Reprinted from Adv. Powder Technol., 29, Tanaka, S., Bataev, I., Oda, H., Hokamoto, K., Synthesis of metastable cubic tungsten carbides by electrical explosion of tungsten wire in liquid paraffin, pp. 2447–2455. Copyright (2018), with permission from Elsevier [83]

in enhanced surface quality [88]. It is also reported that addition of Al₂O₃ nanoparticles in Ni reduces the heat transfer, heat-affected zone, and increases the melting zone as presented in Fig. 8 [89].

The effect of nanoparticles addition on melting and solidification behavior is reported in several literatures [90–92]. The TiN nanoparticle rearrangement is contributed by the developed Marangoni flow in the AlSi10Mg–TiN composite melt



Fig. 8 Schematic of melting and solidification by laser melting of pure Ni and Ni with Al_2O_3 nanoparticles addition, Reprinted from Nat. Commun., **8**, Ma, C., Chen, L., Cao, C., Li, X., Nanoparticle-induced unusual melting and solidification behaviours of metals. 14178. Copyright (2017), with permission from Springer Nature [89]



Fig. 9 Schematic of the progression of melting and solidification in AlSi10Mg–TiN composites fabricated by SLM technique, Reprinted from Addit. Manuf. 34, Gao, C., Wu, W., Shi, J., Xiao, Z., Akbarzadeh, A.H., Simultaneous enhancement of strength, ductility, and hardness of TiN/ AlSi10Mg nanocomposites via selective laser melting. 101378, Copyright (2020) with permission from Elsevier [90]

(Fig. 9) [90]. The nano particles provide heterogeneous nucleating spots and therefore, grain refinement can be achieved. Intergranular TiN nanoparticles are highly populated (control the grain growth) compared to intragranular regions [90].

The concentration of nanoparticle addition is also crucial to restrict agglomeration during melting. To minimize the agglomeration effect of nanoparticles, one of the strategies is the engineering of the surface with some surface modifiers. Literature suggests that the application of acetylacetone hinders the agglomeration of aluminium nanoparticles [40]. During the synthesis of powder for additive manufacturing, by introducing solvent and polymer the stirring speed and time need to be accurately controlled to minimize agglomeration. In another study, friction stir additive manufacturing has been used to control the nanoparticle accumulation, and homogeneous distribution by re-stirring and reheating phenomenon evolved during the process [93]. Kaldre et al. have successfully disperse SiC nanoparticles inside the grain of Al-Mg alloy, however agglomeration is reported in Sn sample even through the application of acoustic cavitation introduced by electromagnetic method [94]. Dispersion of Y_2O_3 and $Y_3Fe_5O_{12}$ nanoparticles has also been obtained by pulsed laser irradiation technique [95]. In laser power bed fusion (LPBF) method, the major focus is to enhance the efficiency of laser power. Report indicates that TiC nanoparticles addition in Al6061 alloy fabricated by LPBF enriches the mean energy efficiency by 114% owing to vapor depression [96]. The major reasons for such enhancement of energy efficiency related with material's properties are: (a) increase in absorptivity, (b) reduction in thermal conductivity [97]. One of the key methods to improve product quality in additive manufacturing is electropulsing treatment (EPT). The methods include several advantages, as listed below:

- (a) Homogenization of microstructure [97, 98].
- (b) Decrease in residual stress [99]
- (c) Formation of equiaxed grains [100].

Additionally, EPT has been applied for improvement of superelasticity with a controlled time period [101], and enhancement of mechanical properties in NiTi shape memory alloy compared to conventional heat treatment methods [102]. It is also reported that the dissolution temperature of Ti_3Ni_4 in the matrix is less (around 300 °C) by application of EPT compared to traditional annealing (in excess of 600 °C) [103]. Moreover, the current applied in EPT process needs to be controlled to achieve finer precipitate size and enrichment in mechanical properties [103].

As discussed in the preceding sections, the addition of nanoparticles improves the properties of products fabricated by AM. However, the characterization of required properties depends on final application area. Using nanoparticles (ZnO) in biomedical field requires careful attention as higher concentration (500 mg/kg) (such can also result in variation in blood parameters and negatively influence several body parts [28, 104]. Literature shows that the addition of 4 wt.% TiN nanoparticles in AlSi10Mg is adequate to attain enriched densification (porosity: 0.01%), hardness (156.9 ± 4.9 HV), ultimate tensile strength (491.8 ± 5.5 MPa), ductility (7.5% ± 0.29) of the composite fabricated by selected laser melting [90]. Tan et al. have reported that the addition of Ti nanoparticles in 2024 aluminium alloy contributes to the following attributes [92]:

- (a) Improvement in mechanical properties in both transverse and longitudinal direction.
- (b) Remove the anisotropy in properties.
- (c) Enhancement in resistance against hot tearing.

The effect of nano SiC addition in AlSi7Mg alloy developed by SLM is displayed in nanoindentation study (Fig. 10a, b). It is evident that 2 wt.% nano SiC addition reduces the average displacement of the indentation, which supports reduction in deformation [91]. Corresponding improvement in average Young's modulus and nanohardness is presented in Fig. 10b [91]. To achieve the required properties, and dimensional tolerance few attributes at different stages of processing are of significant importance. The stages and the corresponding attributes are as following [105]:

- (i) Feedstock (solid, liquid): Surface composition, surface energy (corresponding to wettability), texture (related with anisotropy), roughness.
- (ii) Component fabrication: Dimension of component, droplet size, grain size, defects, extent of heat dispersal, dispersion.
- (iii) Post processing: Internal stress, grain size, defects, roughness.

The wettability of ink on the substrate in inkjet printing needs to be considered for uninterrupted distribution. Therefore, the contact angle between ink and substrate has to be less than equals to 90°. Additionally, the surface tension of the ink should be lower than the substrate [106]. High particle wettability is beneficial to enhance the heat transfer from the melt to the particle, and therefore, the particle melts easily [107]. Literature shows decreasing particle size (decrease in mass) is energetically efficient as less requirement of heat for melting [107]. Factors such as method of powder production, oxygen concentration in powder effect the powder deposition during laser processing. It is reported that water-atomized 316L stainless steel powder



Fig. 10 a Indentation load and displacement plot, **b** average Young's modulus and nanohardness of without (S_0) and 2 wt.% nano SiC (S_2) added AlSi7Mg alloy, Reprinted from J. Alloys Compd., **810**, Wang, M., Song, B., Wei, Q., Shi, Y., Improved mechanical properties of AlSi7Mg/nano–SiCp composites fabricated by selective laser melting. 151926, Copyright (2019) with permission from Elsevier [91]

provides enhanced surface quality, homogeneity, layer bonding, however with higher deposition time than gas-atomized powder [108].

5 Applications and Prospects of AM Products with Introduction of Nanomaterials

AM products produced by the addition of nanomaterials is already illustrated in brief. The commercial application domain of AM is quite extensive. However, technological requirements and challenges for each application need to be addressed to become potential manufacturer in AM industry in view of Industry 4.0 [105]. The complexity of product design, economical perspectives are also major points to concentrate for long-range sustainability. The attributes contributing to the cost in AM of the overall production cost can be ranked as [105, 109]:

- (a) AM machine cost (50-75%)
- (b) Materials cost (20–40%)
- (c) Labour cost (5-30%).

The viability of AM depends on the product cost and complex shape fabrication in the competitive market. Some of the applications of nanomaterials induced AMbased products are listed in Table 1.

As presented in Table 1, nanomaterials are extensive utilized in additive manufacturing process. Process parameters of AM (during synthesis) can be tailored to minimize product defects and enrichment of properties. Liu et al. have showed the application of SiO_2 and Metal–organic frameworks (MOF) nanoparticles for development of stratified porous ceramics by direct ink writing (DIW) method for waste

Type of nanomaterials	AM method	Applications	References
Cu nanoparticle ink	Microscale selective laser sintering	Microelectronics packaging	[110]
Au nanoparticles	Inkjet printing	Evaluating water quality	[111]
Ag nanoparticles, styrene-b-butadiene-b-styrene (SBS) film	3D printing	Electrochemiluminescence (ECL) device	[112]
Calcium phosphate (Ca–P), carbonated hydroxyapatite (chap) nanoparticles	Selective laser sintering	Bone tissue engineering scaffolds	[113]
Thermoplastic polyurethane, multiwalled carbon nanotube	3D printing (Fused deposition modelling)	Strain sensing	[114]
Ag nanoparticles	3D printing	Electrodes (for Li ion batteries), Electrochemical energy storage	[115]
MnO ₂ nanosheet	Hydrothermal growth of MnO ₂ on 3D printed graphene aerogel	Supercapacitor electrodes	[116]
Bi2Te3 nanowires	Inkjet printing	Thermoelectric generators	[117]
SiO ₂ nanoparticle ink	3D printing	Tissue engineering, nanomedicine	[118]

Table 1 Nanomaterials used in different AM technique and final applications

water treatment (Fig. 11) [119]. Development of MOF on the ceramic structure has been carried out by hydrothermal process [119].

6 Conclusions

Additive manufacturing is a state-of-the-art technique to produce components and intricate designs. The chapter summarises that the addition of nanomaterials in different additive manufacturing methods with controlled size, shape, surface roughness, flowability, wettability can improve the uniformity during deposition and bulk product properties. However, the achievement of the above properties depends on the appropriate selection of nanomaterial synthesis route, 3D printing method, and process control parameters. From the above discussion, it is also realized that reduction of agglomerates of nanomaterials is a necessary condition for successful product fabrication. It is also directed that functionalization of nanomaterials is a major requirement for extension of commercial application of AM products. Functional ink of nanomaterial provides a cost effective strategy of mass scale sensor production by AM [8]. Even, engineered nanomaterials can be utilized to decrease water



Fig. 11 Stratified porous ceramics developed by direct ink writing, Reprinted from Chem. Eng. J., 397, Liu, D., Jiang, P., Li, X., Liu, J., Zhou, L., Wang, X., Zhou, F., 3D printing of metal–organic frameworks decorated hierarchical porous ceramics for high-efficiency catalytic degradation. 125392, Copyright (2020) with permission from Elsevier [119]

contamination, wastage and energy [120]. Therefore, finally, it can be concluded that functional nanomaterials incorporated in AM can be a strong candidate for sustainable product development.

References

- 1. Patra A (2022) Oxide dispersion strengthened refractory alloys. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL and Abingdon, Oxon
- Strondl A, Lyckfeldt O, Brodin H, Ackelid U (2015) Characterization and control of powder properties for additive manufacturing. JOM 67:549–554
- Antoni D, Burckel H, Josset E, Noel G (2015) Three-dimensional cell culture: a breakthrough in Vivo. Int J Mol Sci 16:5517–5527
- Bishop GW, Warden JES, Kadimisetty K, Rusling JF (2016) 3D-printed bioanalytical devices. Nanotechnology 27:284002
- Gu BK, Choi DJ, Park SJ, Kim YJ, Kim CH (2018) 3D bioprinting technologies for tissue engineering applications. Adv Exp Med Biol 1078:15–28
- Ngo TD, Kashani A, Imbalzano G, Nguyen KTQ, Hui D (2018) Additive manufacturing (3D printing): a review of materials, methods, applications and challenges. Compos Part B: Eng 143:172–196

- 7. Han Y, Wang F, Wang H, Jiao X, Chen D (2018) High-strength boehmite-acrylate composites for 3D printing: reinforced filler-matrix interactions. Compos Sci Technol 154:104–109
- Sui X, Downing JR, Hersam MC, Chen J (2021) Additive manufacturing and applications of nanomaterial-based sensors. Mater Today 48:135–154
- Li BL, Setyawati MI, Chen L, Xie J, Ariga K, Lim CT, Garaj S, Leong DT (2017) Directing assembly and disassembly of 2D MoS₂ nanosheets with DNA for Drug delivery. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 9(18):15286–15296
- Tan CT, Cao XH, Wu XJ, He Q, Yang J, Zhang X, Chen J, Zhao W, Han S, Nam GH, Sindoro M, Zhang H (2017) Recent advances in ultrathin two-dimensional nanomaterials. Chem Rev 117:6225–6331
- Chimene D, Alge DL, Gaharwar AK (2015) Two-dimensional nanomaterials for biomedical applications: emerging trends and future prospects. Adv Mater 27:7261–7284
- 12. Lui CH, Liu L, Mak KF, Flynn GW, Heinz TF (2009) Ultraflat graphene. Nature 462:339-341
- Dong Y, Wu ZS, Ren W, Cheng HM, Bao X (2017) Graphene: a promising 2D material for electrochemical energy storage. Sci Bull 62(10):724–740
- Wang X, Weng Q, Yang Y, Bando Y, Golberg D (2016) Hybrid two-dimensional materials in rechargeable battery applications and their microscopic mechanisms. Chem Soc Rev 45:4042– 4073
- Shen S, Liu M, Li T, Lin S, Mo R (2017) Recent progress in nanomedicine-based combination cancer therapy using a site-specific co-delivery strategy. Biomater Sci 5:1367–1381
- Liu J, Wang H, Antonietti M (2016) Graphitic carbon nitride "reloaded": emerging applications beyond (photo) catalysis. Chem Soc Rev 45:2308–2326
- Wang L, Yamauchi Y (2009) Facile synthesis of three-dimensional dendritic platinum nanoelectrocatalyst. Chem Mater 21(15):3562–3569
- Liu J, Essner J, Li J (2010) Hybrid supercapacitor based on coaxially coated manganese oxide on vertically aligned carbon nanofiber arrays. Chem Mater 22:5022–5030
- Liu S, Tang ZR, Sun Y, Colmenares JC, Xu YJ (2015) One-dimension-based spatially ordered architectures for solar energy conversion. Chem Soc Rev 44:5053
- Zhao H, Lei Y (2020) 3D Nanostructures for the next generation of high-performance nanodevices for electrochemical energy conversion and storage. Adv Energy Mater 10(28):2001460
- Tiwari JN, Tiwari RN, Lin KL (2010) Synthesis of Pt nanopetals on highly ordered silicon nanocones for enhanced methanol electrooxidation activity. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2(8):2231–2237
- 22. Gleiter H (1995) Nanostructured materials: state of the art and perspectives. Nanostruct Mater 6(1-4):3–14
- McNamara K, Tofail SAM (2017) Nanoparticles in biomedical applications. Adv Phys X 2(1):54–88
- 24. Ramos AP (2017) Biomedical applications of nanotechnology. Biophys Rev 9(2):79-89
- 25. Velu R, Calais T, Jayakumar A, Raspall FA (2020) Comprehensive review on bionanomaterials for medical implants and feasibility studies on fabrication of such implants by additive manufacturing technique. Materials (Basel) 13(1):92
- Eriksson P, Tal AA, Skallberg A, Brommesson C, Hu Z, Boyd RD, Olovsson W, Fairley N, Abrikosov IA, Zhang X, Uvdal K (2018) Cerium oxide nanoparticles with antioxidant capabilities and gadolinium integration for MRI contrast enhancement. Sci Rep 8(1):6999
- 27. Wu S, Weng Z, Liu X, Yeung KWK, Chu PK (2014) Functionalized TiO₂ based nanomaterials for biomedical applications. Adv Funct Mater 24(35):5464–5481
- Mishra PK, Mishra H, Ekielski A, Talegaonkar S, Vaidya B (2017) Zinc oxide nanoparticles: a promising nanomaterial for biomedical applications. Drug Discovery Today 22(12):1825– 1834
- 29. Zhang YT, Nayak R, Hong H, Cai W (2013) Biomedical applications of zinc oxide nanomaterials. Curr Mol Med 13(10):1633–1645
- Singh D, Singh S, Sahu J, Srivastava S, Singh MR (2016) Ceramic nanoparticles: recompense, cellular uptake and toxicity concerns. Artif Cells Nanomed Biotechnol 44(1):401–409

- 3 Nano-structured Materials in Additive Manufacturing: Synthesis ...
 - 31. Han J, Zhao D, Li D, Wang X, Jin Z, Zhao K (2018) Polymer-based nanomaterials and applications for vaccines and drugs. Polymers (Basel) 10(1):31
- 32. Singh J, Singh G, Pandey PM (2021) Additive manufacturing of functionalized nanomaterials for the modern health care industry. In: Singh S, Hussain CM (eds) Micro and nano technologies. Additive manufacturing with functionalized nanomaterials. Elsevier, pp 55–85
- Kumar N, Ray SS (2018) Synthesis and functionalization of nanomaterials, vol 277. Springer International Publishing, pp 15–55
- Hales S, Tokita E, Neupane R, Ghosh U, Elder B, Wirthlin D, Kong YL (2020) 3D printed nanomaterial-based electronic, biomedical, and bioelectronic devices. Nanotechnology 31(17):172001
- Martina F, Mehnen J, Williams SW, Colegrove P, Wang F (2012) Investigation of the benefits of plasma deposition for the additive layer manufacture of Ti–6Al–4V. J Mater Process Technol 212:1377–1386
- Vaezi M, Seitz H, Yang S (2013) A review on 3D micro-additive manufacturing technologies. Int J Adv Manuf Technol 67:1721–1754
- Alting L, Kimura F, Hansen HN, Bissacco G (2003) Micro engineering. CIRP Ann Manuf Technol 52:635–657
- Pikul JH, Zhang HG, Cho J, Braun PV, King WP (2013) High-power lithium ion microbatteries from interdigitated three-dimensional bicontinuous nanoporous electrodes. Nat Commun 4:1732
- Nelson BJ, Kaliakatsos IK, Abbott JJ (2010) Microrobots for minimally invasive medicine. Annu Rev Biomed Eng 12:55–85
- Kudryashova O, Lerner M, Vorozhtsov A, Sokolov S, Promakhov V (2021) Review of the problems of additive manufacturing of nanostructured high-energy materials. Materials 14(23):7394
- 41. Comet M, Martin C, Schnell F, Spitzer D (2019) Nanothermites: a short review. Factsheet for experimenters, present and future challenges. Prop Explos Pyrotech 44:18–36
- Muravyev N, Frolov Y, Pivkina A, Monogarov K, Ordzhonikidze O, Bushmarinov I, Korlyukov A (2010) Influence of particle size and mixing technology on combustion of HMX/Al compositions. Propellants Explos Pyrotech 35:226–232
- Crane NB, Wilkes J, Sachs E, Allen SM (2006) Improving accuracy of powder-based SFF processes by metal deposition from a nanoparticle dispersion. Rapid Prototyp J 12(5):266–274
- 44. Bai JG, Creehan KD, Kuhn HA (2007) Inkjet printable nanosilver suspensions for enhanced sintering quality in rapid manufacturing. Nanotechnology 18:185701–185705
- Ivanova O, Williams C, Campbell T (2013) Additive manufacturing (AM) and nanotechnology: promises and challenges. Rapid Prototyp J 19(5):353–364
- 46. Lao SC, Kan MF, Lam CK, Chen DZ, Koo JH, Moon T, Londa M, Takatsuka T, Kuramoto E, Wissler G, Pilato L, Luo ZP (2010) Polyamide 11-carbon nanotubes nanocomposites: processing, morphological, and property characterization. In: Twenty-first international SFF symposium–an additive manufacturing conference. Austin, TX, USA, pp 451–467
- Kim NP, Cho D, Zielewski M (2019) Optimization of 3D printing parameters of Screw Type Extrusion (STE) for ceramics using the Taguchi method. Ceram Int 45(2):2351–2360
- Tseng JW, Liu CY, Yen YK, Belkner J, Bremicker T, Liu BH, Sun TJ, Wang AB (2018) Screw extrusion-based additive manufacturing of PEEK. Mater Des 140:209–221
- Zhou Z, Salaoru I, Morris P, Gibbons GJ (2018) Additive manufacturing of heat-sensitive polymer melt using a pellet-fed material extrusion. Addit Manuf 24:552–559
- Kumar P, Yadav AK, Joshi AG, Bhattacharyya D, Jha SN, Pandey PC (2018) Influence of Li co-doping on structural property of sol-gel derived terbium doped zinc oxide nanoparticles. Mater Charact 142:593–601
- 51. Kumar P, Kumar R (2021) Synthesis process of functionalized ZnO nanostructure for additive manufacturing: a state-of-the-art review. In: Singh S, Hussain CM (eds) Micro and nano technologies, additive manufacturing with functionalized nanomaterials. Elsevier, pp 135–153
- Rashti A, Yahyaei H, Firoozi S, Ramezani S, Rahiminejad A, Karimi R, Farzaneh K, Mohseni M, Ghanbari H (2016) Development of novel biocompatible hybrid nanocomposites based on polyurethane-silica prepared by sol gel process. Mater Sci Eng C 69:1248–1255

- Unnithan AR, Arathyram RS, Kim CS (2015) Electrospinning of polymers for tissue engineering. In: Thomas S, Grohens Y, Ninan N (eds) Nanotechnology applications for tissue engineering, pp 45–55
- 54. Asran AS, Henning S, Michler GH (2010) Polyvinyl alcohol–collagen–hydroxyapatite biocomposite nanofibrous scaffold: mimicking the key features of natural bone at the nanoscale level. Polymer 51(4):868–876
- Xue Y, Ravishankar P, Zeballos MA, Sant V, Balachandran K, Sant S (2020) Valve leafletinspired elastomeric scaffolds with tunable and anisotropic mechanical properties. Polym Adv Technol 31:94–106
- 56. Bajaj NS, Joshi RA (2021) Energy materials: synthesis and characterization techniques. In: Dhoble SJ, Kalyani NT, Vengadaesvaran B, Arof AK (eds) Energy materials, pp 61–82
- Romao CP, Miller KJ, Whitman CA, White MA, Marinkovic BA (2013) Negative thermal expansion (Thermomiotic) materials. In: Reedijk J, Poeppelmeier K (eds) Comprehensive inorganic chemistry II, 2nd ed, pp 127–151
- Lima Tenório MK, Gómez Pineda EA, Ahmad NM, Fessi H, Elaissari A (2015) Magnetic nanoparticles: in vivo cancer diagnosis and therapy. Int J Pharm 493:313–327
- Wu W, Jiang CZ, Roy VAL (2016) Designed synthesis and surface engineering strategies of magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles for biomedical applications. Nanoscale 8:19421–19474
- Vaseghi Z, Nematollahzadeh A (2020) Nanomaterials types, synthesis, and characterization. In: Srivastava N, Srivastava M, Mishra PK, Gupta VK (eds) Green synthesis of nanomaterials for bioenergy applications, pp 23–82 (2020).
- 61. Rane AV, Kanny K, Abitha VK, Thomas S (2018) Methods for synthesis of nanoparticles and fabrication of nanocomposites. In: Bhagyaraj SM, Oluwafemi OS, Kalarikkal N, Thomas S (eds) Micro and nano technologies, synthesis of inorganic nanomaterials. Woodhead Publishing, pp 121–139
- 62. Su SS, Chang I (2018) Review of production routes of nanomaterials. In: Brabazon D, Pellicer E, Zivic F, Sort J, Baró MD, Grujovic NK, Choy L (eds) Commercialization of nanotechnologies–a case study approach. Springer, Cham, pp 15–29
- 63. Ashik UPM, Kudo S, Hayashi J (2018) An overview of metal oxide nanostructures. In: Bhagyaraj SM, Oluwafemi OS, Kalarikkal N, Thomas S (eds) Micro and nano technologies, synthesis of inorganic nanomaterials. Woodhead Publishing, pp 19–57
- Li H, Yang BS (2019) Model evaluation of particle breakage facilitated process intensification for Mixed-Suspension-Mixed-Product-Removal (MSMPR) crystallization. Chem Eng Sci 207:1175–1186
- 65. Sagadevan S, Chowdhury ZZ, Rafique RF (2018) Preparation and characterization of nickel ferrite nanoparticles via co-precipitation method. Mat. Res. 21(2):e20160533
- 66. Adam RE,Pozina G, Willander M, Nur O (2018) Photonics and nanostructures-fundamentals and applications, synthesis of ZnO nanoparticles by co-precipitation method for solar driven photodegradation of Congo red dye at different pH 32:11–18
- Vinosha PA, Mely LA, Jeronsia JE, Raja K, Tamilarsi DQS, Fernandez AC, Krishnan S, Das SJ (2016) Investigation of optical, electrical and magnetic properties of cobalt ferrite nanoparticles by naive co-precipitation technique. Optik 127(20):9917–9925
- Wu S, Sun A, Zhai F, Wang J, Xu W, Zhang Q, Volinsky AA (2011) Fe₃O₄ magnetic nanoparticles synthesis from tailings by ultrasonic chemical co-precipitation. Mater Lett 65(12):1882–1884
- 69. Suryanarayana C (2001) Mechanical alloying and milling. Prog Mater Sci 46(1-2):1-184
- Barzilai S, Hayun S (2015) Mechanical alloying and thermal analysis of Ta–Ti alloys. J Mater Sci 50:6833–6838
- Khimich MA, Prosolov KA, Mishurova T, Evsevleev S, Monforte X, Teuschl AH, Slezak P, Ibragimov EA, Saprykin AA, Kovalevskaya ZG, Dmitriev AI, Bruno G, Sharkeev YP (2021) Advances in laser additive manufacturing of Ti–Nb alloys: from nanostructured powders to bulk objects. Nanomaterials 11:1159
- Wilms MB, Rittinghaus SK, Goßling M, Gökce B (2023) Additive manufacturing of oxidedispersion strengthened alloys: materials, synthesis and manufacturing. Prog Mater Sci 133:101049

- 3 Nano-structured Materials in Additive Manufacturing: Synthesis ...
- Ukai S, Harada M, Okada H, Inoue M, Nomura S, Shikakura S, Nishida T, Fujiwara M, Asabe K (1993) Tube manufacturing and mechanical properties of oxide dispersion strengthened ferritic steel. J Nucl Mater 204:74–80
- Lázár K, Varga LK, Kis VK, Fekete T, Klencsár Z, Stichleutner S, Szabó L, Harsányi I (2018) Electric explosion of steel wires for production of nanoparticles: reactions with the liquid media. J Alloys Compd 763:759–770
- 75. Gurovich VT, Grinenko A, Krasik YE, Felsteiner J (2004) Simplified model of underwater electrical discharge. Phys Rev 69:036402
- Kotov YA (2009) The electrical explosion of wire: a method for the synthesis of weakly aggregated nanopowders. Nanotechnol Russ 4(7–8):415–424
- Peng C, Wang J, Zhou N, Sun G (2016) Fabrication of nanopowders by electrical explosion of a copper wire in water. Curr Appl Phys 16(3):284–287
- Kotov YA, Azarkevich EI, Medvedev AI, Murzakaev AM, Kuznetsov VL, Samatov OM, Demina TM, Timoshenkova OR, Shtoltz AK (2007) Iron oxide nanopowders prepared by the electroexplosion of wire. Inorg Mater 43:633–637.
- Abdelkader EM, Jelliss PA, Buckner SW (2015) Metal and metal carbide nanoparticle synthesis using electrical explosion of wires coupled with epoxide polymerization capping. Inorg Chem 54(12):5897–5906
- Gromov AA, Barth UF, Teipel U (2006) Aluminum nanopowders produced by electrical explosion of wires and passivated by non-inert coatings: characterisation and reactivity with air and water. Powder Technol 164(2):111–115
- Kinemuchi Y, Ishizaka K, Suematsu H, Jiang W, Yatsui K (2002) Magnetic properties of nanosize NiFe₂O₄ particles synthesized by pulsed wire discharge. Thin Solid Films 407(1– 2):109–113
- Hokamoto K, Wada N, Tomoshige R, Kai S, Ujimoto Y (2009) Synthesis of TiN powders through electrical wire explosion in liquid nitrogen. J Alloys Compd 485(1–2):573–576
- Tanaka S, Bataev I, Oda H, Hokamoto K (2018) Synthesis of metastable cubic tungsten carbides by electrical explosion of tungsten wire in liquid paraffin. Adv Powder Technol 29(10):2447–2455
- 84. Kumar LS, Chakravarthy SR, Verma R, Jayaganthan R, Sarathi R, Srinivasan A (2020) Synthesis of multiphase binary eutectic Al–Mg alloy-nanoparticles by electrical wire explosion technique for high-energy applications, its characterisation and size-dependent thermodynamic and kinetic study. J Alloys Compd 838:155630
- 85. Sato Y, Suematsu H, Sarathi R, Kikuchi T, Sasaki T, Tokoi Y, Suzuki T, Nakayama T, Niihara K (2015) Preparation of palladium nanoparticles and a grain-size determining equation of pulsed wire discharge in N₂, Ar, and He ambient gasses. Jpn J Appl Phys 54:045002
- Sarathi R, Sindhu TK, Chakravarthy SR, Sharma A, Nagesh KV (2009) Generation and characterization of nano-tungsten particles formed by wire explosion process. J Alloys Compd 475:658–663
- Lin TC, Cao C, Sokoluk M, Jiang L, Wang X, Schoenung JM, Lavernia EJ, Li X (2019) Aluminum with dispersed nanoparticles by laser additive manufacturing. Nat Commun 10:4124
- Qu M, Guo Q, Escano LI, Yuan J, Hojjatzadeh SMH, Clark SJ, Fezzaa K, Sun T, Chen L (2022) Controlling melt flow by nanoparticles to eliminate surface wave induced surface fluctuation. Addit Manuf 59(Part A):103081
- Ma C, Chen L, Cao C, Li X (2017) Nanoparticle-induced unusual melting and solidification behaviours of metals. Nat Commun 8:14178
- Gao C, Wu W, Shi J, Xiao Z, Akbarzadeh AH (2020) Simultaneous enhancement of strength, ductility, and hardness of TiN/AlSi10Mg nanocomposites via selective laser melting. Addit Manuf 34:101378
- 91. Wang M, Song B, Wei Q, Shi Y (2019) Improved mechanical properties of AlSi7Mg/nano– SiCp composites fabricated by selective laser melting. J Alloys Compd 810:151926
- Tan Q, Zhang J, Sun Q, Fan Z, Li G, Yin Y, Liu Y, Zhang MX (2020) Inoculation treatment of an additively manufactured 2024 aluminium alloy with titanium nanoparticles. Acta Mater 196:1–16
- Tan Z, Li J, Zhang Z (2021) Experimental and numerical studies on fabrication of nanoparticle reinforced aluminum matrix composites by friction stir additive manufacturing. J Mater Res Technol 12:1898–1912
- Kaldre I, Bojarevičs A, Grants I, Beinerts T, Kalvāns M, Milgrāvis M, Gerbeth G (2016) Nanoparticle dispersion in liquid metals by electromagnetically induced acoustic cavitation. Acta Mater 118:253–259
- 95. Buendía CD, Frömel F, Wilms MB, Streubel R, Tenkamp J, Hupfeld T, Nachev M, Gökce E, Weisheit A, Barcikowski S, Walther F, Schleifenbaum JH, Gökce B (2018) Oxide dispersionstrengthened alloys generated by laser metal deposition of laser-generated nanoparticle-metal powder composites. Mater Des 154:360–369
- Qu M, Guo Q, Escano LI, Nabaa A, Fezzaa K, Chen L (2022) Nanoparticle-enabled increase of energy efficiency during laser metal additive manufacturing. Addit Manuf 60(Part A):103242
- 97. Ben D, Yang H, Gao J, Yang B, Dong Y, Liu X, Wang X, Duan Q, Zhang P, Zhang Z (2022) Rapid microstructure homogenization of a laser melting deposition additive manufactured Ti-6.5Al-3.5Mo-1.5Zr-0.3Si alloy by electropulsing. Materials 15(20):7103
- Noell PJ, Rodelas JM, Ghanbari ZN, Laursen CM (2020) Microstructural modification of additively manufactured metals by electropulsing. Addit Manuf 33:101128
- 99. Waryoba D, Islam Z, Reutzel T, Haque A (2020) Electro-strengthening of the additively manufactured Ti–6Al–4V alloy. Mater Sci Eng A 798:140062
- 100. Gao JB, Ben DD, Yang HJ, Meng LX, Ji HB, Lian DL, Chen J, Yi JL, Wang L, Li P, Zhang ZF (2021) Effects of electropulsing on the microstructure and microhardness of a selective laser melted Ti6Al4V alloy. J Alloys Compd 875:160044
- 101. Zhu RF, Liu JN, Tang GY, Shi SQ, Fu MW, Tse ZTH (2014) The improved superelasticity of NiTi alloy via electropulsing treatment for minutes. J Alloys Compd 584:225–231
- Delobelle V, Chagnon G, Favier D, Alonso T (2016) Study of electropulse heat treatment of cold worked NiTi wire: from uniform to localised tensile behavior. J Alloys Compd 227:244– 250
- 103. Li GY, Chen D, Wang S, Tong YX, Jiang YB, Jiang FC (2022) Tailoring microstructure and martensitic transformation of selective laser melted Ti49.1Ni50.9 alloy through electropulsing treatment. Mater Today Commun 31:103437
- 104. Kim YR, Park JI, Lee EJ, Park SH, Seong NW, Kim JH, Kim GY, Meang EH, Hong JS, Kim SH, Koh SB, Kim MS, Kim CS, Kim SK, Son SW, Seo YR, Kang BH, Han BS, An SSA, Yun HI, Kim MK (2014) Toxicity of 100 nm zinc oxide nanoparticles: a report of 90-day repeated oral administration in Sprague Dawley rats. Int J Nanomedicine 15(9)(Suppl 2):109–26
- 105. Tofail SAM, Koumoulos EP, Bandyopadhyay A, Bose S, O'Donoghue L, Charitidis C (2018) Additive manufacturing: scientific and technological challenges, market uptake and opportunities. Mater Today 21(1):22–37
- 106. Hu G, Kang J, Ng LWT, Zhu X, Howe RCT, Jones CG, Hersam MC, Hasan T (2018) Functional inks and printing of two-dimensional materials. Chem Soc Rev 47:3265–3300
- 107. Haley JC, Schoenung JM, Lavernia EJ (2019) Modelling particle impact on the melt pool and wettability effects in laser directed energy deposition additive manufacturing. Mater Sci Eng A 761:138052
- Pinkerton AJ, Li L, Lau WS (2003) Effects of powder geometry and composition in coaxial laser deposition of 316L steel for rapid prototyping. CIRP Ann 52(1):181–184
- 109. Hopkinson N (2006) Production economics of rapid manufacture. In: Hopkinson N, Hague R, Dickens P (eds) Rapid manufacturing: an industrial revolution for the digital age. Wiley, Hoboken, NJ
- 110. Roy NK, Foong CS, Cullinan MA (2018) Effect of size, morphology, and synthesis method on the thermal and sintering properties of copper nanoparticles for use in microscale additive manufacturing processes. Addit Manuf 21:17–29
- 111. Creran B, Li X, Duncan B, Kim CS, Moyano DF, Rotello VM (2014) Detection of bacteria using inkjet-printed enzymatic test strips. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 6:19525–19530
- 112. Song JH, Kim YT, Cho S, Song WJ, Moon S, Park CG, Park S, Myoung JM, Jeong U (2017) Surface-embedded stretchable electrodes by direct printing and their uses to fabricate ultrathin vibration sensors and circuits for 3D structures. Adv Mater 29:1702625

- 113. Duan B, Wang M, Zhou WY, Cheung WL, Li ZY, Lu WW (2010) Three-dimensional nanocomposite scaffolds fabricated via selective laser sintering for bone tissue engineering. Acta Biomater 6(12):4495–4505
- Christ JF, Aliheidari N, Ameli A, Pötschke P (2017) 3D printed highly elastic strain sensors of multiwalled carbon nanotube/thermoplastic polyurethane nanocomposites. Mater Des 131:394–401
- 115. Saleh MS, Li J, Park J, Panat R (2018) 3D printed hierarchically-porous microlattice electrode materials for exceptionally high specific capacity and areal capacity lithium ion batteries. Addit Manuf 23:70–78
- 116. Ma C, Wang R, Tetik H, Gao S, Wu M, Tang Z, Lin D, Ding D, Wu W (2019) Hybrid nanomanufacturing of mixed-dimensional manganese oxide/graphene aerogel macroporous hierarchy for ultralight efficient supercapacitor electrodes in self-powered ubiquitous nanosystems. Nano Energy 66:104124
- 117. Chen B, Das SR, Zheng W, Zhu B, Xu B, Hong S, Sun C, Wang X, Wu Y, Claussen JC (2017) Inkjet printing of single-crystalline Bi₂Te₃ thermoelectric nanowire networks. Adv Electron Mater 3(4):1600524
- 118. Roopavath UK, Soni R, Mahanta U, Deshpande AS, Rath SN (2019) 3D printable SiO₂ nanoparticle ink for patient specific bone regeneration. RSC Adv 9:23832–23842
- 119. Liu D, Jiang P, Li X, Liu J, Zhou L, Wang X, Zhou F (2020) 3D printing of metal-organic frameworks decorated hierarchical porous ceramics for high-efficiency catalytic degradation. Chem Eng J 397:125392
- Alvarez PJJ, Chan CK, Elimelech M, Halas NJ, Villagrán D (2018) Emerging opportunities for nanotechnology to enhance water security. Nature Nanotech 13:634–641

Chapter 4 Metal Based Additive Manufacturing



63

Umit Dasdemir and Emre Altas

Abstract Additive Manufacturing is a common name used for manufacturing methods that fabricate the desired part by layer-upon-layer. There is a variety of materials that can be processed by AM technologies such as polymer, metal, ceramic, biomaterial, and even concrete. Due to their superiorities, AM applications in many industries are becoming widespread. AM technologies are classified into seven groups and four of them are well suited for metal feedstock material processing. Powder Bed Fusion (PBF) uses either a laser or an electron beam as an energy source to fuse powder particles. Selective Laser Melting and Electron Beam Melting are common PBF technologies. Direct Energy Deposition is another process where the energy source generates a melt pool, and the feedstock material is deposited inside the melt pool simultaneously. In Binder Jetting, a printhead deposits a binding agent to bind powder particles together, and post-processing is required to strengthen the fabricated part. This chapter provides the working principle, main machine parts, general process parameters, materials used, and advantages and disadvantages of each technology.

Keywords Additive manufacturing \cdot Selective laser \cdot Electron beam \cdot Melting \cdot Direct energy deposition \cdot Binder jetting

Abbreviations

AM Additive Manufacturing

BJ Binder Jetting

U. Dasdemir

E. Altas (🖂)

Department of Mechanical Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, Architecture and Design, Bartın University, Bartın, Turkey e-mail: emrealtas@bartin.edu.tr

Department of Mechanical Engineering, Graduate School, Istanbul Technical University, Istanbul, Turkey

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2024 S. Rajendrachari (ed.), *Practical Implementations of Additive Manufacturing Technologies*, Materials Horizons: From Nature to Nanomaterials, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-5949-5_4

cturing
ation
ng
g

1 Introduction

Today, the manufacturing industry is in motion to adopt a smart and dynamic production that is one of the basic elements of the industrial revolution. Additive manufacturing is a general name of a group of nonconventional manufacturing methods that are based on producing the desired 3D part layer by layer and enable the production of complex geometries that cannot be produced by conventional methods. AM is prone to minimize the waste of raw materials, and eliminate the cost of mold, equipment, and stock. According to the American Society for Testing and Materials standards, additive manufacturing methods are categorized into seven main technologies given in Fig. 1 [1, 2].

While primitive additive manufacturing technologies were able to process generally polymer-based materials due to technological limitations, metallic materials can be widely used in current technologies thanks to recent developments. Powder Bed Fusion (PBF), Binder Jetting (BJ), Direct Energy Deposition (DED) and Sheet Lamination are well suited for metal feedstock material processing. PBF is the most common AM process used with metal materials and is based on fusing powder particles selectively by an energy source to fabricate 3D components. DED uses an energy source to generate a melt pool and melting feedstock material that is being deposited. The feedstock material can be in a form of powder or wire. BJ is another process in which a printhead selectively deposits a binding agent over a powder bed to bind





them together and then the post-processing is needed to improve the final part properties. Sheet lamination bonds thin metal sheets together and the bonded metal stack is cut by subtractive manufacturing technologies to give the final form [3, 4].

Metal AM enables the production of very detailed components accurately. Lighter and stronger parts can be fabricated due to the layer upon layer manufacturing phenomenon. Reducing or eliminating the need for tools and assembly offers more flexible, faster, customized, and cost-effective manufacturing with greater efficiency. The aerospace industry is one of the first to adopt metal AM and the adoption by many industries shows a growing trend through these superiorities. Some of these industries are shown in Fig. 2 [5, 6].

Metal additive manufacturing technologies are divided into two different categories: fusion-based where the feedstock material is fully fused to create the sliced layer and non-fusion-based. Fused-based technologies can also be grouped into two

Fig. 2 Industries that currently use metal AM technologies





Fig. 3 The classification of metal additive manufacturing technologies

categories that are powder bed fusion and feedstock fed fusion. Figure 3 shows metal additive manufacturing classification [4].

2 Powder Bed Fusion Technologies

Powder Bed Fusion (PBF) is one of the earliest additive manufacturing processes based on selectively fusion of the feedstock material in a form of powder by energy source such as laser or electron beam. Selective Laser Sintering (SLS), Selective Laser Melting (SLM), and Electron Beam Melting (EBM) are powder bed fusion processes. Metal powder bed fusion systems currently tend to melt the powder particles instead of sintering to build nearly full density part [7].

2.1 Laser Powder Bed Fusion (SLM)

Laser powder bed fusion is one of the first commercialized, most common, and extended additive manufacturing technology that places its origin back to the research made by researchers at the University of Texas at Austin in the 1980s. Carl Deckard filed a patent in 1989 and it was commercialized by 3D Systems. Since then, the process has had exponential growth in terms of the machines provided, the materials used, and the industries applied. Laser Powder Bed Fusion is alternatively known as Selective Laser Melting (SLM), Direct Metal Laser Melting (DMLM), and

Direct Metal Printing (DMP). EOS (Germany), SLM Solutions (Germany), Concept Laser (Germany), Renishaw (UK), and 3D Systems (France/USA) are the major shareholders of the LPBF market.

The energy source system (beam generation and manipulation), powder feeding system, enclosed chamber, build platform, and controlling system are the main parts of the SLM machine. The energy system is made up of a laser that is currently a fiber laser and scanning optics that enable to focus of the laser beam over the build platform. Most of the LPBF commercially available in the market come with fiber laser that works in a wavelength of 1064 nm and increases absorption rate. The gas laser was used as an energy source in an early version of the machine and the conversion rate of the input power to useful power has increased from around 20% up to 80% by switching gas lasers to fiber lasers. Single mode Ytterbium-Doped Yttrium Aluminum Garnet (Yb:YAG) or Neodymium-Doped Yttrium Aluminum Garnet (Nd:YAG) are common fiber lasers used with Gaussian power distribution [8–10].

The powder feeding system creates the powder layer and holds the fabricated part. Two different powder-feeding systems are available. One of them consists of a powder chamber with a piston where the piston goes up to provide a sufficient amount of powder and the other one is having a hopper over the powder bed. A certain amount of powders fall in front of the rake/roller. The enclosed build chamber ensures that the powder layer is not disturbed during the process by providing a non-oxidation and heated environment. The build platform moves in the z direction to let spreading powder layers and holds the part while it is being fabricated. A controlling system that has a high-speed camera or temperature sensor can be placed into the build chamber to image the melt pool for in-situ process monitoring. Laser power, number of lasers, powder handling system, scanning strategies, and build volume are differentiated over the years [11–13].

The build bed leveling must be primarily carried out to ensure anchoring the very first fabricated layer to the build bed. The LPBF process starts with spreading a predefined thickness of the powder layer by a rake/roller over the built plate. Then the laser is focused by a controlled scanning mirror to selectively melt the powder. When the resolidification of the first molten layer is done, the build platform goes down in the z direction and the fresh powder layer is overspread. These steps are repeated over again till the final part is fully fabricated.

A melt pool is the molten metal area that occurs from the interaction between the energy source and the feedstock material. The level of the energy density defines these variables that affect the temperature gradient and the solidification rate. The temperature gradient and the solidification rate determine the microstructure, thereby affecting the mechanical properties of the final part. Laser exposure is generally adjusted to provide a certain depth into the previous layer that is also melted and hence the full fusion of each layer into the previous is procured. As a result, the properties of the completely fabricated part are less directional [14–16].

The enclosed chamber and the build platform are heated to minimize the temperature differences between the pre-laid powder layer and the high-energy laser beam. Preheating minimizes the required laser power for the process, and the formation of residual stress, shrinkage, and distortion. Lower preheat up to 400 °C is beneficial for easily removing unmolten powder surrounding the fabricated part and reusing that powder. To have efficient preheating for large parts, some machines are equipped with radiators above the build platform. Excessive preheating may cause over-sintering of surrounding powder and oxidation. Surrounding gasses such as oxygen can cause several gas defects and oxidation of the melt pool. The whole process is performed under a protected atmosphere. A flow gas such as nitrogen(N) or argon (Ar) is pumped into the build chamber to prevent oxidation and to clear the spatter that occurs from the laser path.

Powder particle size distribution $(15-63 \,\mu\text{m})$ is finer than Electron Beam Melting (EBM) herewith the thinner layer thickness $(15-150 \,\mu\text{m})$ can be attained which is better for surface integrity (Ra 10–20 μ m), and higher precision but also results in longer production time and higher cost. The desired properties of the powders are good spherical, fine particle size distribution, homogeneous composition, non-contaminated, and low intraparticle porosity. Before modern metal LPBF machines adopted fully fused metal powders, metal powder coated with binder polymer is used by liquid phase sintering. Stainless steel (316L, 17-4PH), titanium alloys (TiAl6V4), nickel-based alloys (Inconel 625/718), Al alloys (AlSi10Mg), and CoCrMo are common materials for SLM technology. Precious metals such as silver and gold can also be processed by SLM for jewelry industry applications [11, 17].

The usage of multi-lasers that enable scanning different regions simultaneously becomes evident. Thanks to these developments, the production rate is improved by reducing lead time and cost. Working at low temperatures provides easier powder removal, especially from the inner geometries and recycling of non-sintered powder surrounding the fabricated part. Very complex inner geometries can be manufactured. It can produce a denser product than conventional powder metallurgy. SLM is the best-suited method for producing titanium alloys since it is hard to produce by conventional manufacturing systems [9, 18].

High thermal conductivity, high surface tension, high laser reflectivity, and propensity to oxidize the metal materials made them difficult to process. Development in laser technologies and presenting fiber lasers with wavelength increased the absorptivity of metal powders and enabled metal PBF processing. Unlike SLS, SLM needs a support structure and the support structure needed in LPBF is denser than in EBM due to lower process temperature conditions and very fast cooling rates [2, 19].

Scanning strategies affect the properties of the fabricated part including density, residual stress, and then mechanical properties. Some different scanning technologies are adopted by SLM machine vendors, such as line-wise scanning throughout the x-axis or the y-axis or area-wise island scanning where the layers are divided into small squares and randomly melted afterward to avoid accumulating the energy in specific areas of the sliced geometry. Island scanning is a better choice to reduce the effect of the swelling phenomenon [20, 21].

The cost efficiency, near-net-shaped part production, increased functionality, and wide range of materials that can be used are the main advantages of the SLM process. SLM is a relatively slow process due to scan speed, and parameter optimization is

also time-consuming. Printable size limitation, high power usage, and difficulties in powder handling are some other drawbacks of SLM. Fabricated parts may have rough surface roughness depending on powder size, layer thickness, and process parameters. Build direction may cause anisotropy in the microstructure. High process temperature increases the possibility of residual stress and crack formation. SLM is one of the best methods for metal feedstock processing and in getting more accessible to manufacturers [3, 13, 22].

2.2 Electron Beam Powder Bed Fusion (EBM)

Electron beam-based powder bed fusion was developed at Chalmers University of Technology and was commercialized by a Swedish company named ARCAM which is currently owned by GE in 2002. Until quite recently, ARCAM was the only stake-holder in the EBM market and there are some other companies started to develop their technologies these days. However, 90% of the machines are still provided by ARCAM. EBM is extensively used in the manufacturing of turbine blades, engine components, and biomedical implants. Parts are fabricated by fusing metal powder with a high-energy electron beam in a high vacuum environment [3, 18].

An EBM machine generally consists of four different sections that are beam generation system, beam manipulation system, vacuum chamber, and powder bed system [13].

Beam Generation System: A high-energy electron beam is used as a thermal source to induce fusion between metal powder particles. Thus, the lack of fusion is almost eliminated by using a high-energy electron beam instead of a laser beam and it has the highest efficiency that electron beam power to the input power is around 95%. This efficiency is 10-20% with CO₂ laser, around 80% with fiber laser in SLM, and the remaining energy is lost in form of heat. Electrons are emitted by heating a cathode filament and are subjected to an accelerated voltage to generate a high-energy electron beam generation and a low work function that ensures electron detaching at a low voltage state. An early version of the machines had Tungsten cathode filament but these days Lanthanum Hexaboride (LaB6) or Cerium Hexaboride (CeB6) are used due to their higher melting point, and lower work function properties [3, 4, 23].

Beam Manipulation System: The generated beam passes through different electromagnetic coils to correct astigmatism, deflect the beam to generate trajectories, and then focus the beam on a build platform [3, 23].

Vacuum System: During the process; the vacuum is needed to prevent interaction between the electrons, and air molecules which cause ionization of molecules and hence loss in energy, process speed, and the direction of the electrons. Reducing the oxidation of the reactive materials caused by reactive gases such as oxygen during

the process is another advantage of the vacuum since the presence of an oxide layer on the surface decreases electrical conductivity [4, 23].

Interaction between electrons and pre-layered powders causes electron transfer through the powder particles and charging them. Negative charge accumulation in the powder bed may destabilize particles' positions. To avoid damaging the layer formation caused by destabilized powder position, a low atomic numbered gas such as Helium (He) is used to discharge the charged powder particles. He is introduced into the chamber to maintain constant pressure to limit this electrostatic phenomenon. The vacuum should be carefully carried out during the process. Unsuitable vacuuming may decrease the melting point of metals. During the metal alloy processing, the metal that has a lower melting point will have a higher rate of evaporation which means higher loss and results in the change of final alloy composition. It also takes time to create a vacuum which affects the production rate. That is the reason why the vacuum should be sufficiently determined. In ARCAM approximately a vacuum of 10^{-5} mbar is pulled around 30 min [4, 9, 18].

Optical cameras and infrared thermography can be used for in-situ process monitoring. The heat energy that is needed for the fusion of powders is produced on account of the high kinetic energy of the electrons. (in SLM, regarded as to the process of photon absorption.) During the EBM process, each layer undergoes a period of preheating to provide the same average temperature at each layer and to achieve a slight sintering between powder particles. This sintering provided by preheating assists to increase the electrical conductivity, discharging the electrical charges, and avoiding smoke formation. A flow of negative charges can be concentrated in the powder particles and the particles will be negatively charged if the electrical conduction is insufficient. When the repulsive electrostatic forces become greater than gravitational and Van der Waals forces, a powder cloud formation takes part inside the build chamber that causes a sudden stop of the process [9, 18, 24].

Preheating is required after the layer formation to provide attachment of powder to the build plate or previously deposited layer. Attachment may be provided by sintering (joined by forming a neck through the diffusion of atoms). Thus, electron accumulation in the powders can be prevented. Neck formation during sintering increases the electrical conductivity and contact between the powder and build plate enhanced by neck formation results in the dissipation of electrical charges to the ground. A defocused beam sweeps across the pre-laid powder layer a few times at high power and speed to heat the build platform uniformly up to preset temperature according to material properties. Preheating temperature depends on the feedstock material and characteristics of the powders such as density, size, and electrical and thermal conductivity. Significantly different microstructure from the other metal AM is attained in EBM by means of preheating. The obtained microstructure is coarser than the one obtained by SLM and similar to the cast microstructure with less porosity [18, 25–27].

The inability to process non-conductive materials is the main drawback of EBM technology. There will not be any interaction between the powder and the electron beam. In such circumstances, negative charge accumulation in a certain area increases electrostatic forces. When the electrostatic forces overcome the gravitational force,

rapid expulsion and deflection occur. As a result of that, the fabrication is failed [9, 26].

Powders need to have spherical morphology, isolated particles, and similar size distribution for homogeneous powder spreading to obtain a stable process. The lower particle diameter causes smoke phenomena and the higher one results in poor surface finishing. Size distribution of 40–100 μ m is common. Typical layer thickness is from 50 to 200 μ m. surface roughness obtained is between 20 and 40 μ m. production rate is between 70 and 100 cm³ h⁻¹. The fabricated part has an excellent density of 99.9%. The feedstock cost of EBM is slightly lower than SLM technology since the particle size distribution is higher. Stainless steel, titanium alloys, tantalum, cobalt alloys, nickel alloys, and copper alloys can be processed by EBM [11, 17, 18].

ARCAM claims that EBM fabricated part properties are better than cast and comparable to wrought. The slow cooling rate provides more time for grain growth and relaxation of the microstructure that both reduce shrinkage, distortion and residual stress. The residual stresses that occurred in the EBM process are much lower than SLM. On the other hand, a long cooling cycle may cause oxidation and interstitial contaminant diffusion on highly reactive materials. Multiple melt pools can be generated simultaneously, and more than one part can be fabricated at a build cycle. The production rate of EBM is much higher than SLM due to high electron beam speed and higher layer thickness due to larger particle size distribution [16, 28].

Dimensional accuracy and surface integrity are influenced negatively due to the larger particle size and focal conditions. Preheating causes sintering of the surrounding powder of the fabricated part which increases the cleaning process time and therefore the cost. Slightly sintering of the surrounding powder by preheating provides support to the fabricated part and reduces the need for a rigid support structure. This sintered support structure is more easily removed and recycled during postprocessing. To provide electrical conduction and eliminate electron charging, support between the powder bed and base plate is used. This needed support is much smaller than the one needed in SLM. The general comparison of SLM and EBM methods is given in Table 1 [16].

2.3 Main Process Parameters of Powder Bed Fusion

There are several process parameters that are illustrated influence the production rate, cost, and the properties of the fabricated part such as surface roughness, density, mechanical properties and residual stress. The main parameters can be grouped into four: energy source-related, scan-related, powder-related, and temperature-related [3, 29].

Scan speed and beam energy are related as Eq. 1,

$$E = \frac{(P)}{(S)(V)(L)} \tag{1}$$

	SLM	EBM		
Source of energy	Laser beam	Electron beam		
Process atmosphere	Inert gas	Vacuum		
Absorption limiting	Absorptivity	Conductivity		
Process limiting	Spreadibility	Smoking effect		
Preheat temperature	Up to 400 °C	Up to 800 °C		
Powder particle size (µm)	15-63	15–104		
Layer thickness (µm)	15-150	20–60		
Scan speed	Moderate	High		
Build rate	1	1.5–2 times higher than SLM		
Surface integrity	High	Moderate		
Precision	High	Moderate		

Table 1 Comparison of SLM and EBM

where E is beam energy density, P is beam power, S is spot size, V is scan speed, and L is layer thickness. Increasing *beam power* decreases the possibility of porosity formation but exceeded beam power may cause the previously printed layers. Lower beam power causes insufficient melting of powder particles. Increasing scan speed or spot size will decrease the energy density that may not be sufficient to fuse the powder particle. Increasing the power may look like a solution for that problem but increasing scan speed and the beam power will decrease the exposure time that causes insufficient melting. Scan speed determines melt pool length, higher scan speed means a longer and thinner melt pool that cause balling effect and delamination between the layers [4, 30].

Hatch spacing is the distance between the centers of two adjacent laser scans and is directly proportional to the production rate. If the hatch spacing is high, a smaller number of scanning along the whole layer is needed which means less time to scan the whole layer. If the sufficient laser *spot size* which is the focal diameter of the beam is not provided for a large hatch spacing, the gap between two consecutive scans will be remained causing porosity inside the fabricated part. To avoid this defect, there should be an overlap between scans. Due to the Gaussian beam, power at the center of the scan will be higher than the boundaries. The overlap will also compensate for this less heat generation at the boundaries [31].

Scanning strategy is the moving pattern of the energy source during the process and varies by direction, sequence, vector length, and rotation angle. Scanning strategy has a considerable influence on the thermal gradient and hence residual stress, balling effect, and the properties of the final part. Particle size, shape, and distribution affect the spreadability of powder material and the surface integrity of the completely fabricated part. The final part density is directly proportional to the powder bed density and a high density of powder bed is preferred to have near full density part [3, 4, 32].

Layer thickness is a preliminary parameter that directly affects the production rate. Increasing the layer thickness increases the production rate. However, higher precision can be obtained with a low layer thickness. Even though processing the thicker layer requires higher laser energy, the level of practicable laser energy is limited. High laser energy may cause distortion on the fabricated part and can be avoided by scanning the same surface more than once with lower energy. Besides the thin layer thickness allowing more dense parts and better surface integrity, it requires lower energy density to be fully fused. Lower shrinkage and hence dimensional accuracy may be obtained by lower layer thickness. For the lower layer thickness, small particle size distribution is needed, which increases fabrication time and the cost of the part [4, 30, 31].

3 Direct Energy Deposition

The general process of Direct Energy Deposition (DED) also known as Direct Metal Deposition (DMD), Laser Engineered Net Shape (LENS), and Electron Beam Freeform Fabrication (EBF3) consists of focusing direct energy into a narrow region over a build plate or pre-built part to generate a melt pool and simultaneously melting feedstock material that is being deposited into the melt pool. The main difference between DED and PBF is not melting a pre-laid powder layer but melting the feedstock material as it is being deposited it has similar process characteristics with laser cladding and the 5-axis laser welding. The DED process is predominantly used for metal materials and can be performed to add a feature to a pre-built component, for repairs, or occasionally to fabricate a new part [9, 12].

Different types of DED technologies are commercially available depending on the heat source and the material feeding mechanism used and users can pick the optimal configuration for their application (Fig. 4). The feedstock material can be in a form of powder or wire. A laser beam, electron beam, and electric arc are the energy sources that are used in commercially available machines [13].

The laser beam that has a smaller beam diameter enables finer feature production. The electron beam has a relatively large beam diameter to avoid charge accumulation and provide a larger production rate. Laser beam-based DED has the fastest cooling



rate resulting in fine microstructure and hence improved strength. The cooling stage is longer in electron beam-based systems and the larger heat that is generated by the electric arc contributes even longer cooling cycle that increases the residual stress [9, 13].

A eposition head consists of laser optics, a feedstock nozzle, inert gas tubing and sometimes controlling sensors. The deposition process can be controlled by the motion between the deposition head and the substrate. This motion can be obtained by moving only the deposition head, moving only the substrate, or movement of both. There are a few companies that provide deposition heads as a CNC milling tool that enables additive and subtractive manufacturing consecutively which is beneficial for repairing and better dimensional tolerances. A nonvertical deposition is as effective as a vertical one due to the kinetic energy of powder particles fed into the melt pool is greater than the gravitational force of the powder particles. This feature makes multi-axis deposition possible [3, 33].

The building part process involves deposition, melting, and solidification of the feedstock material. The energy source generates a melt pool on the desired area of the substrate that can be either built plate to fabricate e new part or a pre-built component to add an additional section or to overhaul and repair. The feedstock material is fed into the melt pool when it is fully melted and then solidified as the energy source passes. When a layer is completed, the nozzle and/or substrate moves by the thickness of one layer to enable the deposition of the next layer. These steps consecutively repeat until the desired part is fully completed [3, 4, 26].

The feedstock can be used in a powder or wire form in DED. A powder-based feedstock is used for laser or arc-based energy source systems and wire-based feedstock can be used for all energy sources. The wire form of many alloys is available and is suitable for many applications where the lower dimensional accuracy is not an issue or full density is the main requirement. The feedstock capture efficiency is almost 100% in the wire-based feedstock. It is mostly suitable for less detailed geometries and surface coating. To provide uniform beads during the deposition, the wire diameter that varies between 0.9 and 4 mm stability is significant. 316 stainless steel, Inconel 625, and Ti6Al4V are commonly used in DED technologies [33]. Powder form material is more flexible and it can be mixed while depositing which provides composition changing and multi-material part fabrication. The main drawbacks of powder are a transition between the materials and the deposition rate of powder into the melt pool (around 50–90% of powder is deposited into the melt pool). In wirebased feedstock material, the material feeding rate (MFR) is well defined. On the other hand, depositing more than one wire simultaneously is not easy [13, 18].

DED is a very complex manufacturing process that depends on many process parameters given in Fig. 5. Geometry-related process parameters should be controlled for complex geometry [13, 34].

DED is the most suitable additive manufacturing process for repairing and feature adding due to the 5 or more axis systems. Nearly full-density parts with a minimum level of porosity can be fabricated by the DED method. DED machines have a larger build envelope than PBF and directing material by a nozzle instead of requiring a powder bed allows building larger parts and are suitable for automotive and aerospace



Fig. 5 The main DED process properties

industry applications. Build envelope can be expanded by taking advantage of robotic systems. DED offers one of the highest deposition rates among AM technologies. The deposition rate can be in the range of 500 to 4000 cm³/h depending on the energy source type. Due to directly infusing the material into the melt pool, particle size distribution and morphology of the powder material is not a requirement. Compared to PBF, DED can be processed wider range of materials. It is easier to introduce second material by adding a second nozzle to the printhead [13, 18, 34].

Complex geometries and internal features may not be achievable with DED due to a lower level of resolution compared to PBF. A support structure or a multiaxis deposition head is required for geometry complexity. The material delivery nozzle and the energy source move together causing slower beam scanning and overdeposition at corners may occur that negatively affects the dimensional accuracy. The completed part requires machining to obtain desired tolerances/surface integrity and heat treatment to compensate for the residual stress caused by a large melt pool. However, it is an unsuitable process for temperature-sensitive materials such as aluminum, and magnesium due to high process temperature [3, 9, 13].

Laser Engineered Net Shaping (LENS) is one of the first commercialized DED processes. It was developed at Sandia National Laboratories and commercialized by Optomec, USA in 1997. In this DED type of manufacturing method, the feed-stock material is in powder form and the energy source is a high-power laser beam. The process takes place under an inert gas environment to avoid melt pool oxidation [35, 36].

Electron Beam Additive Manufacturing (EBAM) consists of fabricating desired parts by feeding the feedstock material into a melt pool generated by an electron beam.

Skiacky, the USA is the only vendor that offers wire based EBAM. NASA has similar technology known as Electron Beam Freeform Fabrication (EBF3). Interaction between wire, electron beam, and build plate/part takes place in a vacuum environment to ensure the focusing of an electron beam. EBAM is a highly efficient process due to the maximum material fed and 95% conversion rate of the electron beam [16].

Wire Arc Additive Manufacturing (WAAM) uses metal wire as feedstock material and electric arc as an energy source. An electric arc melts the metal wire as it is deposited, and inert gas is used to prevent oxidation and control the metal's properties. WAAM is increasingly applied for repairing. No support structure is needed for the process. CNC machining can be performed for better surface roughness and dimensional accuracy and heat treatment application for residual stress relief. The process does not require a vacuum chamber and is the most cost-effective DED process especially for fabricating a large part. MX3D (Netherlands), WAAM3D (UK), Gefertec (Germany), and Norsk Titanium (Norway) are companies that commercially offer WAAM machines [37, 38].

4 Binder Jetting

Binder Jetting (BJ) is one of the non-fusion metal additive manufacturing technologies. It was first invented at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology in 1993 as 3D Printing and patented by Z Corp in 1995. ExOne, 3D Systems, Sintertek, Voxeljet, GE, and HP are currently launching commercial machines and ExOne is a pioneer vendor in the BJ technology market. The technology was first developed for polymer-based materials and then metallic materials are widely adopted. Numerous technological advancements have taken place since the first BJ machine came up and it is becoming so popular in metal additive manufacturing in recent years. A very high production rate, the detailed feature production capability of around 99.5% density, and a wide range of materials that can be used are the main benefits of this technology. That is the reason why, many companies launch their own BJ machines, even though BJ is not widespread yet [39, 40].

The BJ machine consists of a powder handling system that spreads a fine powder layer, a binder jetting head with multiple inkjets that deposit binder droplets to join metal particles, and a curing system to polymerize the binding agents. The smallest build area with a dimension of 165 mm width \times 65 mm depth \times 65 mm height is offered by ExOne and Voxeljet launched a BJ machine with the largest build area with a dimension of 4000 mm W \times 2000 mm D \times 1000 mm. More than one part can be built at a time [13, 26, 41].

In this technology, the desired part is printed layer by layer on a powder bed like PBF. On the other hand, there is no thermal energy source to fuse the particle which is the main process in PBF technology. The particles are bounded together by the help of dispensing binding agent using an inkjet printhead similar to Material Jetting (MJ). However, the binding agent is just a small portion of the part, and it will be evaporated in the post-processing stage in contrast to the MJ. BJ is an indirect additive manufacturing process that takes place in two main stages. The first stage is creating the green part which means giving the component its shape. The second step is *sintering* and/or *infiltration* of the green part to give the component final properties. The main process consists of green part fabrication, curing, depowdering, debinding, sintering, and/or infiltration [13, 18, 42].

The inkjet printhead with multiple nozzles passes over the pre-laid powder layer and dispenses very small droplets of polymer-based aqueous binding agent to bind metal powder particles together. Binding occurs at room or very low temperatures and metal powder particles are not melted, so the thermal-related defects such as residual stress, distortion, and shrinkage are eliminated. Besides, inert gas or vacuum environment is not needed. The build platform moves down as much as layer thickness and a fresh powder layer is overspread by roller/rake. During the green part fabrication, the chamber temperature can be controlled to provide partial drying of the printed layers to avoid slippage when the new layer is deposited. [13, 26].

As soon as the green part fabrication is over, the curing stage where the infrared heater subjects the heat takes place for a few hours to have binding in the bindersaturated area completely. The green part obtained is a nearly full dense composite of base metal and binding agent that is filling the pores between metal powder particles. The minimum mechanical properties are established. It also has significant porosity and a brittle structure. The cured green part is extracted from the powder bed (depowdering stage) and gently cleaned to remove the surrounding loose powder by pressured air. The cellular structure might be a problem during transferring the brittle green part to the furnace [3, 9, 26].

Post-processing applied after the green part fabrication consists of binding agent removal, solid-state sintering, and infiltration to strengthen the part before using. The majority of the manufacturing lead time is spent during the post-processing. The fabricated, cured, and depowdered green part is placed into a furnace to heat up to the sintering temperature resulting in evaporation of the binding agent (debinding stage) and providing partial particle sintering. The sintering process takes place in two consecutive cycles, a low-temperature cycle in the furnace to burn off the polymer binding agent and a high-temperature cycle for solid-state sintering of metal particles. At the end of the first cycle, the brittle green part with a high degree of porosity is obtained. In the second cycle, the sintering process is continued to decrease the density of porosity and/or infiltration with a lower melting point liquid metal that is different than base metal takes place to fill the pores [3, 4, 42].

During the sintering process, the atomic diffusion is sufficiently activated resulting in densification and hence shrinkage is inevitable. High dimensional shrinkage and high sintering temperature make it difficult to work with tight tolerances. Current tolerances are in the range of 0.1–0.2 mm at best. The shrinkage rate that is nearly homogeneous linear dimensional with a rate of around 15% should be considered at the design stage to ensure desired dimensional accuracy. Controlling the dimensional shrinkage is a major challenge and requires advanced knowledge in powder metallurgy and sintering behaviors of metallic powders. A master sintering curve should be developed to identify the sintering conditions [18, 42].

Infiltration is another post-processing based on filling a porous body with liquid infiltrant. Metal infiltrant must have a lower melting point. Infiltration after some amount of sintering ends up with lower shrinkage and also metal matrix-metal powder composite parts with specifically engineered properties can be manufactured. Near-full dense single-material components can be fabricated by using new materials developed for BJ technology and controlling the sintering process. In this case, the infiltration stage can be skipped [3, 13, 42].

If porosity is a desired property that can be beneficial for some applications such as implants and structural parts, BJ is an excellent metal additive manufacturing method. The degree of porosity can be controlled by monitoring the powder bed density and binding agent saturation. Up to 95% density can be achieved with BJ and Hot Isostatic Pressing (HIP) is one of the most common post-processing methods to decrease the degree of porosity without infiltration. BJ method consists of forming the cross-section of the 3D part on each layer by a few passes of the printhead instead of following a raster path to fuse the particles. That is the reason why BJ is considered a high-speed additive manufacturing process. Surrounding loose powder may act as a support structure and holds up the solidified part overhangs, but metal parts mostly need a support structure to avoid warpage during the sintering process [8, 13, 43].

HP offers a slightly different printing mechanism from other vendors. in this technology named Multi-Jet Fusion, two different binding agents are deposited on each layer. The fusing agent is deposited where the particles need to be bonded together inside the cross-section and the detailing agent is deposited around the fusing agent to determine the border of the cross-section. During the heat source passing over the build bed, powder particles covered by the fusing agent are fused while the particles covered by the detailing agent are unfused. As a result of this process, the finer feature and well-defined edges are provided compared to a regular BJ. Desktop Metal is another BJ machine provider that uses a printhead that can deposit binder droplets with different diameters for better surface integrity and dimensional accuracy. The large droplets fill the interior part of the cross-section when the smaller droplets are dispensed closer to the edges [13].

Printhead speed and binding agent saturation should be optimized to ensure proper bonding and a lower level of porosity. The main process parameters of BJ are given in Fig. 6 [43].

The powders irrespective of their melting points can be processed since the powder particles are not melted during the process. Inconel, Cobalt-Chrome alloys are materials that are difficult to machine with conventional manufacturing and BJ is a promising manufacturing method for processing these materials. Sintered Tungsten carbide, stainless steel (316L), bronze-infiltrated stainless steel, Titanium-alloys (TiAl6V4), and maraging steels are common materials that can be fabricated by BJ. Binding agent material has low viscosity to allow droplets forming and rapidly fall off from the nozzle, stability against large shear stress, good powder interaction, and clean burn-out characteristics [42, 43].



Fig. 6 The main BJ process parameters

Microstructure and mechanical properties depending on the sintering and/or infiltration process are comparable with metal injection molding. BJ is suitable for low to medium-batch production. For instance, injection molding dies can be manufactured. Even though sintering and/or infiltration is costly, the whole process is cost-effective compared to PBF due to not using a laser or electron beam. Materials with poor weldability that makes them difficult to fabricate by PBF, can be printed in BJ [18, 44].

Binder Jetting is a multi-step process that requires additional equipment and increases the production time & cost. Due to brittleness in the green state, manual depowdering may be required. The component fabricated by BJ has poorer mechanical properties compared to PBF and DED due to a higher level of porosity that causes stress concentration, crack formation, and consequently fatigue failure. The technology is limited to processing one type of metal powder inside the build chamber. However, functionally graded structures can be produced by infiltration of a different metal than the base metal powder. For instance, annealed 420 stainless steel matrix infiltrated with bronze offered by ExOne provides high mechanical performance, machinability, and weldability. The surface roughness obtained is similar to PBF, but the dimensional accuracy is much worse [13, 43].

5 Sheet Lamination

Sheet lamination is another additive manufacturing process where the desired part is formed by bonding sheet material. Laminated Object Materials used paper sheets as a feedstock and Ultrasonic Additive Manufacturing (UAM) which is another indirect method for metal additive manufacturing are two distinct processes of sheet lamination. Sheet lamination is a process in which additive and subtractive steps are combined to fabricate a 3D part. In an additive step, the sheets of material are bonded together by applying heat or pressure to provide chemical or mechanical bonding. Mechanical or laser cutting follows the formation of the stack to give a final shape in the subtractive step. Layer-by-layer shaping or stack of layers shaping are optional [4, 5, 12].

Ultrasonic Additive Manufacturing consists of welding sheets of metal using ultrasonic welding and removing unwanted material by a mechanical milling process to form desired part geometry. The process is commercialized by Solidica Inc., USA in 2000. An early version of the technology was suitable for processing soft metals such as aluminum due to a 1 kW power system, but the power of the current machines has increased up to 9 kW even stainless steel or Inconel sheets can be processed [3, 45, 46].

A rotating sonotrode that travels along the length of the metal sheet applies a normal force to keep the metal layers together and oscillates at user-set oscillation amplitude to provide ultrasonic welding between the metal sheets. When the deposition of four sheets of metal is completed, the CNC milling head forms the deposited layers according to desired slice contour. This additive-subtractive process follows each other till the desired part is fabricated. The prevalent frequency of oscillation is around 20 kHz. The sheet thickness is generally between 100 and 150 μ m [3, 16].

The most important process parameters are travel speed, oscillation amplitude, and the normal force of the sonotrode. The oscillation amplitude determines the amount of ultrasonic energy that affects the bonding formation between the layers. An insufficient amount of energy cause voids between the layers and delamination occurs during the process. An exceeded energy can damage the previously formed layers. A sufficient normal force is required the ensure keeping layers together and that the ultrasonic energy is delivered to the metal sheet. The travel speed of the sonotrode determines the welding exposure time which directly affects the bonding strength. UAM process generally takes place at room temperature, but some metals may require preheating. A sufficient amount of heating of metal sheets provides better bonding by reducing the flow stress of metals [3, 4, 45].

Faster production, low cost, and easy material handling are some of the benefits of sheet lamination. The process enables to produce embed structures into the part such as fibers, wires, and sensors. This feature makes the method suitable for the production of electronic devices and smart structures. Waste of material, anisotropic mechanical properties, and a high tendency for delamination are the drawbacks of the process. Lattice structure fabrication may also be infeasible due to the difficulties of excess material removal [45, 47].

6 Main Defects in Metal AM

Additive manufactural fabricated parts may include some defect that influence the properties of the components. Interaction of gases, lack of fusion unmolten or partially melted powder are the main reasons of the defects. The possible defects are given in Fig. 7 [48, 49].

Lack of fusion is one of the most common metal AM defects that occurs due to the insufficient energy source power. The feedstock material does not fully melt and fuse into the previous layer or adjacent tracks. A poorly fused powder may cause a porosity, delamination, and crack formation. To avoid the lack of fusion, the beam power should be sufficiently arranged to have fully melting. *Balling* is one of the other most concerns in metal additive manufacturing. If the surface tension is greater than wetting between the melt pool and the base plate/previous layer, melt pool forms in ball-shape instead of continuous melting tracks. Balling increases the surface roughness and the level of porosity. Contamination, oxidation, laser power, scan speed and layer thickness affect the probability of balling formation. Lower cooling rate provide a sufficient time for surface tension and increase the tendency of balling. Due to exceeded energy source power, the melt pool depth can be deeper, and the vapor channel occurs. The gas bubbles arising from the evaporation of the metal inside the deep vapor channel cannot reach the top due to higher melt pool diameter, remain inside and pores occur [13, 49, 50].

A high level of beam power can cause a keyhole formation and unstable keyhole may create voids inside the melt. During the atomization of metallic powder, the gas can be trapped inside the particles and may cause the pores inside the fabricated structure. Lowering the level of shielding gas or processing under vacuum may lower the level of *porosity*. Lack of fusion also causes porosity. Beam power, scanning speed, layer thickness and hatch spacing are the main process parameters that can affect porosity formation. Insufficient bonding between layers due to lower energy density

Powder-Related	Process-Related	Post-Processing-
Defects	Defects	Related Defects
•Oxidation •Trapped Gas	 Lack of Fusion Balling Effect Keyhole Effect Loss of Alloying Elements Residual Stress Cracking,Delamination Geometrical Defects Poor Surface Finish 	•Thermally Induced Porosity

Fig. 7 Defects in metal AM

and the powder characteristic also increases the possibility of porosity formation [13, 51, 52].

Residual stress classified into two different stresses. Uneven heating cause in thermal stress and volume expansion during the phase transformation results in structural stress. Cause in thermal deformation, crack formation and fatigue failure. It also affects the mechanical properties and the dimensional accuracy of the final part. *Cracking* is another defect in additive manufacturing based on lack of bonding. Shrinkage occurs during the cooling stage generates forces resulting in cracks. Impurities also cause crack formation. Brittle materials are more prone to crack formation owing to lower heat conductivity and resistance to thermal shock. Delamination which means separation of layers occurs due to lack of bonding and residual stress. Distortion is stress-based defect and occurs when the contraction forces are largen then the bonding force of the first printed layer. It may result in the breaking of part [13, 49, 53].

Oxidation may occur when the melt pool is improperly shielded from atmospheric conditions. Chemical reaction with reactive gases such as oxygen changes the chemical composition of the surface and the printing process can be negatively affected. A process under shielding gas or vacuum environment can solve the oxidation problem. In the metal additive manufacturing process, the alloying element with a lower melting point may be evaporated due to the high energy density of the beam. This defect causes a change in the chemical composition of the printed part and reduction in performance. The building orientation and thermal gradient during the process affect the degree of the anisotropy of mechanical properties in the fabricated part. Geometrical defects such as *shrinkage, warpage,* and *delamination* are always a challenge in additive manufacturing. The volume changing during the solidification, temperature gradient, residual stress, and feedstock material characteristics are the main factors of the geometrical defects [13, 16, 54].

7 Post-processing

According to today's technology, most of the metal additive manufacturing technologies require post processing to enhance component's properties and overcome current AM limitations right after the fully part fabrication. The main aims of the post-processing are improving surface quality, dimensional accuracy, mechanical properties, and support structure removal [3, 55].

7.1 Support Structure Removal

Support structure removal is the most common type of post-processing. During the metal additive manufacturing process, many parts need a support structure and this

support structure needs to be removed. *CNC machining* and *Wire-EDM* are used for the remove support structure of metal printed parts [3].

7.2 Surface Quality

The surface texture of the fabricated part may be modified for performance or aesthetic reasons. Stair-steps, contour filling patterns, and powder accumulation are common surface textures. During the support structure removal, some marks can also remain on the surface. *Bead blasting* is a common method for a matte surface finish, in which glass beads are sprayed over the part surface to remove marks. Dry or wet *sanding* and *polishing* can be performed for a smooth surface. *Tumbling* can be automatically applied to get a smooth surface. *Dyeing* the part is one of the most common methods based on dipping the part into the bath of dye to infiltrate the components. It gives the part a smoother surface and a uniform color [9, 56].

7.3 Dimensional Accuracy

Functional components may need a high precision that can be achieved by subtractive post-processing such as mechanical, chemical, or electrical machining. Different machine strategies for improving dimensional accuracy are listed in Fig. 8 [56].

Grinding is the most common abrasive machining that can be applied to the AM fabricated part for high surface quality and dimensional accuracy. *Turning* or *milling* can be used if material removal is needed to increase dimensional accuracy. *Drilling* is preferable for fixing the poor circularity of holes. *Laser machining, plasma arc machining,* and *electron beam machining* are some of the thermal-based advanced



Fig. 8 Different machining strategies for metal AM post-processing

machining methods for removing material from the surface. Chemical processes help to improve surface integrity and dimensional accuracy. *Wire-EDM* is commonly used to remove metal fabricated parts from the build plate. There is no mechanical force, and the accuracy of the cut depends on the diameter of the wire used. EDM can only be applicable to conductive materials [3, 57, 58].

7.4 Mechanical Properties

Successive heating and cooling cycles during the process cause high residual stress on the surface. *Shot peening* is one of the processes that can be performed to take advantage of beneficial residual compressive stress to give resistance to stress corrosion cracking and fatigue failures. The part surface is bombarded with spherical peenings that have a greater hardness than the fabricated part material. Shot peening also improves surface integrity. Turbine blades and gears fabricated by metal AM processes are common applications of shot peening. *Cold Isostatic Pressing (CIP)* is another method to improve mechanical properties, applied under 1000–4000 bar pressure up to 90 °C. CIP is an ideal method for complex geometries. CIP is cheaper than Hot Isostatic Press (HIP), but weaker mechanical properties can be obtained. Therefore, HIP is applied after CIP [3, 56].

After metal additive manufacturing such as DED and PBF, heat treatment is performed to relieve residual stress and to gain desired microstructures. Heat treatment can also improve mechanical properties such as hardness, ductility, wear resistance, and fatigue life. Annealing, homogenization, and recrystallization are generally performed to achieve desired microstructure and uniform properties. *Hot Isostatic Process (HIP)* is one of the common heat treatment processes applied to additively manufactured metal parts. The process is a combination of high heat and pressure. The process is generally applied under 100 MPa pressure around 1000 °C for 2–4 h to decrease the level of porosity, relieve the residual stress and enhance the fatigue life. It is the most suitable heat treatment for the components used in the aerospace, automotive, and biomedical industries [8, 16].

References

- Astm I (2015) ASTM52900-15 standard terminology for additive manufacturing—general principles—terminology. ASTM Int West Conshohocken, PA 3(4):5
- Haleem A, Javaid M (2019) Additive manufacturing applications in industry 4.0: a review. J Indus Integr Manage 4(04):1930001
- 3. Gibson I., Rosen DW, Stucker B, Khorasani M, Rosen D, Stucker B, Khorasani M (2021) Additive manufacturing technologies. Springer
- 4. Kumar S (2020) Additive manufacturing processes. Springer International Publishing
- 5. Balasubramanian K, Senthilkumar V (2020) Additive manufacturing applications for metals and composites. IGI Global

- 4 Metal Based Additive Manufacturing
- Yakout M, Elbestawi M, Veldhuis SC (2018) A review of metal additive manufacturing technologies. Solid State Phenom 278:1–14
- de Oliveira Campos F, Araujo AC, Munhoz ALJ, Kapoor SG (2020) The influence of additive manufacturing on the micromilling machinability of Ti6Al4V: a comparison of SLM and commercial workpieces. J Manuf Process 60:299–307
- 8. Yang L, Hsu K, Baughman B, Godfrey D, Medina F, Menon M, Wiener S (2017) Additive manufacturing of metals: the technology, materials, design and production. Springer
- 9. Khan MA, Jappes JTW (2020) Innovations in additive manufacturing. Springer International Publishing
- Gunasekaran J, Sevvel P, Solomon IJ (2021) Metallic materials fabrication by selective laser melting: a review. Mater Today: Proc 37:252–256
- Zhang D, Sun S, Qiu D, Gibson MA, Dargusch MS, Brandt M, Qian M, Easton M (2018) Metal alloys for fusion-based additive manufacturing. Adv Eng Mater 20(5):1700952
- 12. Badiru AB, Valencia VV, Liu D (2017) Additive manufacturing handbook: product development for the defense industry. CRC Press, Taylor & Francis Group
- 13. Toyserkani E, Sarker D, Ibhadode OO, Liravi F, Russo P, Taherkhani K (2021) Metal additive manufacturing. Wiley
- 14. Keshavarzkermani A, Marzbanrad E, Esmaeilizadeh R, Mahmoodkhani Y, Ali U, Enrique PD, Zhou NY, Bonakdar A, Toyserkani E (2019) An investigation into the effect of process parameters on melt pool geometry, cell spacing, and grain refinement during laser powder bed fusion. Opt Laser Technol 116:83–91
- Cheng B, Chou K (2013) Melt pool geometry simulations for powder-based electron beam additive manufacturing. In: 2013 International Solid Freeform Fabrication Symposium, University of Texas at Austin
- 16. Milewski J (2017) Additive manufacturing of metals: from fundamental technology to rocket nozzles, medical implants, and custom jewellery. Springer International Publishing AG
- Vock S, Klöden B, Kirchner A, Weißgärber T, Kieback B (2019) Powders for powder bed fusion: a review. Progress Additive Manuf 4(4):383–397
- 18. Peyre P, Charkaluk E (2022) Additive manufacturing of metal alloys 1: processes, raw materials and numerical simulation. John Wiley & Sons
- Zhang J, Song B, Wei Q, Bourell D, Shi Y (2019) A review of selective laser melting of aluminum alloys: processing, microstructure, property and developing trends. J Mater Sci Technol 35(2):270–284
- Ali H, Ghadbeigi H, Mumtaz K (2018) Effect of scanning strategies on residual stress and mechanical properties of selective laser melted Ti6Al4V. Mater Sci Eng, A 712:175–187
- Fang Z-C, Wu Z-L, Huang C-G, Wu C-W (2020) Review on residual stress in selective laser melting additive manufacturing of alloy parts. Opt Laser Technol 129:106283
- 22. Zhang Y, Wu L, Guo X, Kane S, Deng Y, Jung Y-G, Lee J-H, Zhang J (2018) Additive manufacturing of metallic materials: a review. J Mater Eng Perform 27(1):1–13
- Galati M, Iuliano L (2018) A literature review of powder-based electron beam melting focusing on numerical simulations. Addit Manuf 19:1–20
- Uçak N, Çiçek A, Aslantas K (2022) Machinability of 3D printed metallic materials fabricated by selective laser melting and electron beam melting: a review. J Manuf Process 80:414–457
- Cooke S, Ahmadi K, Willerth S, Herring R (2020) Metal additive manufacturing: technology, metallurgy and modelling. J Manuf Process 57:978–1003
- 26. Godec D, Gonzalez-Gutierrez J, Nordin A, Pei E, Alcázar JU (2022) A guide to additive manufacturing. Springer Nature
- Tamayo JA, Riascos M, Vargas CA, Baena LM (2021) Additive manufacturing of Ti6Al4V alloy via electron beam melting for the development of implants for the biomedical industry. Heliyon 7(5):e06892
- Blakey-Milner B, Gradl P, Snedden G, Brooks M, Pitot J, Lopez E, Leary M, Berto F, du Plessis A (2021) Metal additive manufacturing in aerospace: a review. Mater Des 209:110008
- Shipley H, McDonnell D, Culleton M, Coull R, Lupoi R, O'Donnell G, Trimble D (2018) Optimisation of process parameters to address fundamental challenges during selective laser melting of Ti-6Al-4V: a review. Int J Mach Tools Manuf 128:1–20

- 30. Hashemi SM, Parvizi S, Baghbanijavid H, Tan AT, Nematollahi M, Ramazani A, Fang NX, Elahinia M (2022) Computational modelling of process-structure-property-performance relationships in metal additive manufacturing: a review. Int Mater Rev 67(1):1-46
- Zhang M, Sun C-N, Zhang X, Goh PC, Wei J, Hardacre D, Li H (2017) Fatigue and fracture behaviour of laser powder bed fusion stainless steel 316L: influence of processing parameters. Mater Sci Eng, A 703:251–261
- 32. Chern AH, Nandwana P, Yuan T, Kirka MM, Dehoff RR, Liaw PK, Duty CE (2019) A review on the fatigue behavior of Ti-6Al-4V fabricated by electron beam melting additive manufacturing. Int J Fatigue 119:173–184
- Tang Z-J, Liu W-W, Wang Y-W, Saleheen KM, Liu Z-C, Peng S-T, Zhang Z, Zhang H-C (2020) A review on in situ monitoring technology for directed energy deposition of metals. Int J Adv Manuf Technol 108(11):3437–3463
- 34. Svetlizky D, Das M, Zheng B, Vyatskikh AL, Bose S, Bandyopadhyay A, Schoenung JM, Lavernia EJ, Eliaz N (2021) Directed energy deposition (DED) additive manufacturing: physical characteristics, defects, challenges and applications. Mater Today 49:271–295
- 35. Antolak-Dudka A, Płatek P, Durejko T, Baranowski P, Małachowski J, Sarzyński M, Czujko T (2019) Static and dynamic loading behavior of Ti6Al4V honeycomb structures manufactured by laser engineered net shaping (LENSTM) technology. Materials 12(8):1225
- 36. Baranowski P, Płatek P, Antolak-Dudka A, Sarzyński M, Kucewicz M, Durejko T, Małachowski J, Janiszewski J, Czujko T (2019) Deformation of honeycomb cellular structures manufactured with laser engineered net shaping (LENS) technology under quasi-static loading: experimental testing and simulation. Addit Manuf 25:307–316
- 37. Wu B, Pan Z, Ding D, Cuiuri D, Li H, Xu J, Norrish J (2018) A review of the wire arc additive manufacturing of metals: properties, defects and quality improvement. J Manuf Process 35:127–139
- Jin W, Zhang C, Jin S, Tian Y, Wellmann D, Liu W (2020) Wire arc additive manufacturing of stainless steels: a review. Appl Sci 10(5):1563
- Padmakumar M (2020) Additive manufacturing of tungsten carbide hardmetal parts by selective laser melting (SLM), selective laser sintering (SLS) and binder jet 3D printing (BJ3DP) techniques. Lasers Manuf Mater Process 7(3):338–371
- 40. Li M, Du W, Elwany A, Pei Z, Ma C (2020) Metal binder jetting additive manufacturing: a literature review. J Manuf Sci Eng 142(9)
- 41. Ziaee BJ (2019) A review of process, materials, and methods. Addit Manuf 28:781
- 42. Mostafaei A, Elliott AM, Barnes JE, Li F, Tan W, Cramer CL, Nandwana P, Chmielus M (2021) Binder jet 3D printing—process parameters, materials, properties, modeling, and challenges. Prog Mater Sci 119:100707
- 43. Dini F, Ghaffari SA, Jafar J, Hamidreza R, Marjan S (2020) A review of binder jet process parameters; powder, binder, printing and sintering condition. Met Powder Rep 75(2):95–100
- Gonzalez J, Mireles J, Lin Y, Wicker RB (2016) Characterization of ceramic components fabricated using binder jetting additive manufacturing technology. Ceram Int 42(9):10559– 10564
- 45. Levy A, Miriyev A, Sridharan N, Han T, Tuval E, Babu SS, Dapino MJ, Frage N (2018) Ultrasonic additive manufacturing of steel: method, post-processing treatments and properties. J Mater Process Technol 256:183–189
- Hehr A, Norfolk M (2019) A comprehensive review of ultrasonic additive manufacturing. Rapid Prototyping J
- Bournias-Varotsis A, Han X, Harris RA, Engstrøm DS (2019) Ultrasonic additive manufacturing using feedstock with build-in circuitry for 3D metal embedded electronics. Addit Manuf 29:100799
- 48. Singh R, Davim JP (2018) Additive manufacturing: applications and innovations. CRC Press
- 49. Mostafaei A, Zhao C, He Y, Ghiaasiaan SR, Shi B, Shao S, Shamsaei N, Wu Z, Kouraytem N, Sun T (2022) Defects and anomalies in powder bed fusion metal additive manufacturing. Curr Opin Solid State Mater Sci 26(2):100974

- 4 Metal Based Additive Manufacturing
- Brennan M, Keist J, Palmer T (2021) Defects in metal additive manufacturing processes. J Mater Eng Perform 30(7):4808–4818
- Mian MJ, Razmi J, Ladani L (2021) Defect analysis and fatigue strength prediction of asbuilt Ti6Al4V parts, produced using electron beam melting (EBM) AM technology. Materialia 16:101041
- 52. Zhang B, Li Y, Bai Q (2017) Defect formation mechanisms in selective laser melting: a review. Chin J Mech Eng 30(3):515–527
- 53. He Y, Zhong M, Beuth J, Webler B (2020) A study of microstructure and cracking behavior of H13 tool steel produced by laser powder bed fusion using single-tracks, multi-track pads, and 3D cubes. J Mater Process Technol 286:116802
- 54. Liu M, Kumar A, Bukkapatnam S, Kuttolamadom M (2021) A review of the anomalies in directed energy deposition (DED) processes & potential solutions-part quality & defects. Procedia Manuf 53:507–518
- 55. Leach R, Carmignato S (2020) Precision metal additive manufacturing. CRC Press
- Mahmood MA, Chioibasu D, Ur Rehman A, Mihai S, Popescu AC (2022) Post-processing techniques to enhance the quality of metallic parts produced by additive manufacturing. Metals 12(1):77
- 57. Peng X, Kong L, Fuh JYH, Wang H (2021) A review of post-processing technologies in additive manufacturing. J Manuf Mater Process 5(2):38
- Vafadar A, Guzzomi F, Rassau A, Hayward K (2021) Advances in metal additive manufacturing: a review of common processes, industrial applications, and current challenges. Appl Sci 11(3):1213

Chapter 5 Biomaterial Based Additive Manufacturing



Chen Jiao, Lida Shen, and Changjiang Wang

Abstract Additive manufacturing (AM) has been applied to the field of medical engineering since its beginning. It takes into account individual differences and tailors treatment to patients. At present, the design and additive manufacturing of personalized medical implants and prostheses has become the optimal approach, and it has proved to be a reliable solution for many patients who require prosthesis implantation. Many metallic, ceramic and polymeric materials can be used for medical implants. These biomaterials need to have good cell compatibility, without toxic ion release and with similar mechanical properties to human tissues, as well as a suitable degradation rate. However, obtaining an ideal material for tissue engineering via material design is still a problem to be overcome. In this chapter, different types of biomaterials as well as their modification methods are introduced. In addition, recent advances in biomaterial based additive manufacturing are covered, for example, designing an ideal structure which can not only bear loads or stresses but also transfer nutrients required for cell differentiation. More and more biological applications will certainly emerge in the future with the advancement of additive manufacturing technology and biomaterials.

Keywords Additive manufacturing · Biomaterials

C. Jiao (⊠) · L. Shen

College of Mechanical and Electrical Engineering, Nanjing University of Aeronautics and Astronautics, Nanjing 210016, China e-mail: jiaochen@nuaa.edu.cn

L. Shen e-mail: ldshen@nuaa.edu.cn

C. Wang (⊠) Department of Engineering and Design, University of Sussex, Sussex House, Brighton BN1 9RH, UK

e-mail: c.j.wang@sussex.ac.uk

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2024 S. Rajendrachari (ed.), *Practical Implementations of Additive Manufacturing Technologies*, Materials Horizons: From Nature to Nanomaterials, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-5949-5_5

1 Ceramic Biomaterials for Additive Manufacturing

The National Institutes of Health Consensus Development Conference of the USA defines biomaterial as any substance (other than drugs) or combination of substances, synthetic or natural in origin, which can be used for any period of time, as a whole or as a part of a system which treats or replaces any tissue, organ, or function of the body. Therefore, biomaterials are distinct from other classes of materials because of the special requirement of meeting biocompatibility criteria.

In tissue engineering, there has been an increasing emphasis on multifunctional implant materials. Bioceramics are artificial bone repair materials that have similar composition and strength to human bones. Bioceramics are also non-toxic to humans and can be used in artificial joints, dental implants, and bone filling material, as can be seen in Fig. 1. According to the chemical properties of the materials, bioceramics can be divided into bioinert ceramics and bioactive ceramics.

1.1 Bioinert Ceramic Biomaterials

The typical bioinert ceramics include alumina and zirconia. This kind of material has superior wear resistance, high compressive strength, good corrosion resistance and is non-toxic to human tissues. It can be used as a total hip replacement implant and fracture fixation device. At the same time, this kind of material shows good colour and transmittance properties after grinding and has been widely used as oral implants in recent years. However, along with excellent mechanical properties, inert ceramics have poor fracture toughness, which causes difficulty in processing and the risk of brittle fracture after implantation.

Fig. 1 Inert ceramic hip joint implants



1.2 Bioactive Ceramic Biomaterials

Bioactive ceramics can gradually integrate with tissues over time after implantation, which is an important feature different from inert ceramics. Bioactive ceramics are mainly divided into calcium-phosphorus based biomaterials and calcium-silicon based biomaterials. The main properties of bioceramics are compared with those of human bones, as shown in Table 1.

The most representative calcium-phosphate-based bioceramic is hydroxyapatite (HA), an important inorganic component of human bones. When it is used in an implant, the surface and pores of HA can be attached to bone tissues, and the binding strength of HA can even exceed the strength of the implant itself or surrounding bone tissues. Although calcium-phosphorus bioceramics have higher stability than other biological materials, they have the disadvantage of a low degradation rate. In addition, compared with natural bone, the artificial HA material lacks zinc (Zn), silicon (Si), strontium (Sr) and other trace elements, which is different from the natural bone in terms of comprehensive performance. Some researchers proposed to prepare biphase calcium phosphate (BCP) with HA as the main component to obtain better bone-inducing ability, which has been verified in animal experiments. Some researchers have also tried to use trace element modification to obtain the ideal effect.

Calcium-silica-based bioceramics are derived from bioactive glass. At present, typical calcium-silica-based bioceramics include calcium silicate (CaSiO₃), dicalcium silicate (Ca₂SiO₄), and tricalcium silicate (Ca₃SiO₅). The latter two kinds of calcium-silica-based ceramics are often used in bone cement. The first, calcium silicate, has more stable chemical properties, and is commonly used to prepare porous bone scaffolds. It has been extensively studied. Calcium silicate bioceramics can rapidly induce the deposition of hydroxyapatite on the ceramic surface in body fluids,

Material	Compressive strength/MPa	Bending strength/MPa	Elastic modulus/ MPa	Fracture toughness/ MPa·m ^{1/2}
Human cortical bones	100~230	50~150	7~30	2~12
Human cancellous bone	2~20	1.5~38	0.1~0.5	1.0~1.4
Hydroxyapatite, HA	500~1000	115~200	75~103	0.7~1.3
Tricalcium phosphate, TCP	460~680	140~154	33~90	-
Bioglass, CaO&SiO ₂	350~500	180~200	100~120	1.9
Calcium silicate, CaSiO ₃	-	294	46.5	2.0

 Table 1
 Mechanical properties of bioceramics compared with human bones, reproduced from [1]

 by author with permission from John Wiley and Sons

and its promotion effect on cell proliferation in the short term is better than that of calcium-phosphorus bioceramics. However, the degradation rate of calcium silicate ceramics is too fast to match the growth rate of new bone tissues, and the dissolution of silicon ions causes the pH value around the implant to rise, which has a certain inhibitory effect on cell proliferation.

1.3 Functionalization of Ceramic Biomaterials

To functionalize bioceramic materials, a feasible approach is to add specific inorganic ions contained in human bones to promote the formation of new bones, stabilize bone structures, and promote the proliferation and differentiation of osteoblasts. In fact, the crystal structure and properties of bioceramics can be changed by adding functional elements such as magnesium (Mg), strontium (Sr), zinc (Zn), copper (Cu), silver (Ag), calcium (Ca) and cobalt (Co). Mg, for example, is an essential element in the human body, lack of which is closely related to osteoporosis and other symptoms. Mg is also involved in metabolism in the body, stimulates cell growth and proliferation, promotes bone mineralization, and has certain antibacterial effects, as seen in Fig. 2. It has been proved that Mg-modified HA can significantly improve the antibacterial properties and is effective in the formation of osteoblasts and blood vessels. As for Mg modified wollastonite (Ca₃Si₃O₉), significant new bone growth has been observed in the 4th week of implantation. At the same time, Mg concentration decreases gradually during bone reconstruction and tends to disappear in mature tissues, thus not causing damage to the human body due to excessive Mg concentration.

In another example, Sr has been proven to promote the osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells, which play an important role in improving bone strength and promoting the biological activity of bone cells. Sr can replace Ca in the HA lattice, and suitable content of Sr can cause defects in the apatite crystal structure, thus improving its dissolution rate and changing its physical and chemical properties in biomedical applications. The use of Sr-modified HA scaffolds to promote bone regeneration and binding can currently reach the level of strontium ranelate and can be used as a safe alternative for the treatment of osteoporotic bone defects.

Zn can induce bone formation by stimulating protein synthesis and enhancing ATP activity in osteoblasts. Zn deficiency is an important cause of decreased bone density and slow bone growth. Cu is an important element that plays the function of the human enzyme. In bone tissue culture, it can promote angiogenesis by stimulating endothelial cell proliferation, and the released ions can also promote the killing of bacteria, thus achieving antibacterial properties. By modifying biphasic calcium phosphate with Cu, it was found that the solubility of biphasic calcium phosphate was improved. Other modifying elements include Ag, Ca, and Co, and the functions of each element are shown in Table 2.



Fig. 2 Bioceramic materials modified by functional elements [2, 3] a Dislocation and distortion caused by doping functional elements. b Promotion of cell growth, reproduced from [2] by author with permission from Elsevier. c The modified materials have similar effects with antibacterial drugs, reproduced from [3] by author with permission from Elsevier

Ions	Mg ²⁺	Sr ²⁺	Zn ²⁺	Cu ²⁺	Ag ⁺	Ca ²⁺	Co ²⁺
Proliferation of cells	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	_	_	\checkmark	\checkmark
Mineralization of cells	\checkmark	\checkmark	—	-	_	\checkmark	—
Inhibition of bone resorption	_	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	-	\checkmark	_
Antibacterial properties	\checkmark	_	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	-	_
Induction angiogenesis	\checkmark	\checkmark	_	\checkmark	_	\checkmark	\checkmark

Table 2 Ions and functions for bioceramics

1.4 Coatings of Ceramic Biomaterials

Another effective measure of functionalization is the preparation of coatings on the bioceramics. It is well known that ceramic materials themselves are highly brittle, which limits their application in bone restoration surgery. In addition, postoperative infection is also a major cause of the failure of the vast majority of bone repair operations. Fortunately, these problems can be solved by modifying the ceramic surface. The design of these coatings must satisfy several important criteria. Firstly, the coating must be biocompatible and must not trigger significant immune or foreignbody response. Secondly, it must be "osteoconductive" in its promotion of osteoblasts

to adhere to, proliferate and grow on the surface of the implant to form a secure boneimplant bonding. Thirdly, the coating should also have certain pores therefore not to block the pores of the matrix. Finally, the coating must have sufficient mechanical stability under physiological stresses associated with patient movement so that it does not detach from the implant surface.

Polymer coating (and infiltration) can be achieved by simply impregnating a highly porous scaffold with the polymer dissolved in an organic solvent or water. So far, ceramic surface coating materials are mainly divided into two categories, synthetic polymer and natural polymer. In most cases, the polymer used is synthetic, including polycaprolactone (PCL), polylactic acid (PLA), poly-DL-lactide (PDLLA), polylactic-co-glycolic acid (PLGA) and polysebacylglyceride (PGS). Natural polymers mainly include silk, alginate, collagen and chitosan. As for the shortcomings of bioceramic bone scaffolders, the coating can play a toughening, drug delivery/antibacterial role.

To demonstrate the toughening effect, the mechanism of natural bone destruction needs to be considered. Natural bone is made of hydroxyapatite and collagen. Collagen fibres play an important role in crack bridging, crack deflection and collagen binding, which greatly improve the toughness of bone. Polymer-coated, as well as polymer-infiltrated inorganic scaffolds, are intended to mimic the composite structure of bone. Under the influence of mechanical loads, the polymer bridges any cracks that develop in the inorganic scaffold, thus improving the overall toughness of the scaffold. As listed in Table 3, polymer coatings have been widely used to toughen ceramics.

The addition of polymer coatings to ceramic scaffolds also offers the opportunity to use them as drug carriers. To date, a range of different drugs has been included in such scaffolds, including antibiotics, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (such as ibuprofen), and drugs for the treatment of bone diseases such as osteomyelitis or osteoarticular tuberculosis, as shown in Table 4. Wound infection is an extremely serious problem in bone repair surgery. If the drug is released too quickly, the entire drug amount could be released before the infection is stopped. On the other hand, delayed release of the drug will make it difficult to manage the healing of the wound. In this regard, the combination of bioceramics and biodegradable polymers can not only improve the degradability of inorganic materials and change their mechanical/ physical properties, but also provide a greater degree of control over the drug release compared to single ceramics.

2 Metallic Biomaterials for Additive Manufacturing

Metals and alloys have been widely used as customized prostheses for hard tissue replacement such as total hip replacement, as well as fracture healing aids such as bone plate, as seen in Fig. 3. Surgical stainless steel (316L), cobalt-chromium (CoCr) alloys and titanium (Ti) alloys are the most commonly used metals for biomedical applications, and their mechanical properties are listed in Table 5. Recently, some

Coating	Scaffold		Functions		
PCL	β-ΤСΡ	Compared with the uncoated bracket, the strength is increased by two times and the toughness is increased by five times			
PCL/BG	β-TCP	The compressive modulus and biological activity were further	er improved		
PCL/PLA	β-ΤСΡ	The compressive strength is increased by 3–6 times			
PCL/silk	ВСР	The compressive strength increased by 5 times, and cell probability increased by about 1.6 times	iferation		
P(3H8)	HA	The compressive strength increased from 0.11 M to 1.55 MP	a		
PLGA	β-TCP	3-TCP The energy required to fracture is 10 times that of a pure scaffold			
PLLA	HA	The mechanical strength is increased by a factor of 20			
PDLLA	CS	The compressive strength is increased to 1.4Mpa, and the elastic modulus is as high as 50 MPa			
PGS	BG	The compressive strength after the coating is 0.4–1 MPa			
Silk	ВСР	The compression strength is increased by 6 times and the tou the support is increased by 12 times	ghness of		
Gelatine	НА	The mechanical properties were significantly improved and b integration was promoted	oone		
Alginate	β-TCP	The mechanical properties are improved and similar to nature	al bone		
Alginate/ chitosan	BG	The compressive strength is 4 times that of a pure bracket			

Table 3 Functions of polymer coatings on ceramic scaffolds [4]

 Table 4
 Drug release of ceramic scaffolds coated with polymers [5, 6]

Drug	Polymer	Scaffold	Results
Tetracycline	HA/PCL	HA	40–60% of the antibiotic was released after 7 days in PBS solution
Vancomycin	PLC	HA	Hard tissue regeneration and wound healing, the release of bioactive molecules
Gentamicin	PLGA	HA	Continuously released drugs according to the degradation rate of the coating
Gatifloxacin	PCL	β-TCP	Sustainable drug release over 28 days

metallic alloys have shown degradation properties after implantation, and so such bioactive alloys have become the research focus in recent years.

2.1 Stainless Steel

Stainless steel (316L) was the earliest material used in orthopaedic implants because of its good mechanical strength, low price, excellent machinability and acceptable





 Table 5
 Mechanical properties of metallic biomaterials

	316L	CoCr	Ti	Та
Density (g/cm ³)	7.9~8.1	8.3~9.2	4.3~4.5	16.65
Elastic modulus (GPa)	189~205	210~253	46~115	186~191
Critical strength (MPa)	540~1000	900~1540	240~1000	170~520
Fracture toughness (MPam ^{1/2})	50~200	<100	55~115	1
Elongation (%)	10~40	8~28	6~26	2~30
Wear resistance	★☆	***	*	★☆
Corrosion resistance	★☆	★★☆	★★☆	***
Biocompatibility	*	★☆	★★☆	***

biocompatibility. However, poor wear resistance, corrosion resistance, fatigue resistance and the potential risk of releasing toxic ions such as nickel (Ni), cobalt (Co) and chromium (Cr) have resulted in 316L stainless steel being used only as temporary bone implants, such as bone plates and screws [7]. Stainless steel has been used to fabricate 3D printed dental implants using selective laser sintering/melting (SLS/ SLM), specifically liquid phase sintering, where a binding polymer is melted by a laser beam (at~1 J·mm⁻³) and then used to bind the metal particles. Once printing is completed, the scaffold is heat treated to remove the residual polymer, followed by further sintering and infiltration of bronze to produce an implant of sufficient density.

2.2 Cobalt-Chromium Alloy

Cobalt-chromium alloy has better mechanical strength, wear resistance, corrosion resistance and fatigue resistance than stainless steel. Even though it has a high price and poor machinability, it is often used in the manufacturing of permanent joint prostheses. Cobalt-chromium implants run the risk of releasing toxic ions such as cobalt (Co) and chromium (Cr) that can cause serious damage to the surrounding tissues. According to the existing research, 3D printed cobalt-chromium alloy is fast solidified with solid solution strengthening, so the hardness is higher than that of the cast alloys. At the same time, 3D printed Co-Cr alloy shows better corrosion resistance because of its homogeneous phase. As for the results of cytotoxicity and apoptosis, 3D printed Co-Cr alloy is superior to cast alloys, presenting high clinical application prospects [8].

2.3 Tantalum

Tantalum is a refractory metal (melting point 2996 °C), which has good mechanical strength, excellent corrosion resistance and biocompatibility. The biocompatibility and outstanding corrosion resistance even exist in an acidic environment, due to the stable and native Ta₂O₅ protective film formed on the implant surface but its high price and poor machinability seriously restrict its wide application in the field of bone implants. However, it is often used as the surface coating material of other metal prostheses. In addition, the high elastic modulus of tantalum metal can cause serious stress shielding between the prosthesis and the bone tissues. In additive manufacturing applications, titanium-tantalum alloys containing 50 wt.% of Ti and Ta can be manufactured into implants using laser powder bed fusion (LPBF). Structurally, these alloys are composed of a Ti-Ta matrix with randomly-dispersed pure Ta nanoparticles as well as equiaxed grains of β phase Ti and Ta in random orientations. Compared to commercial pure Ti and Ti-6Al-4 V alloy, 3D printed Ti-Ta alloy demonstrates higher strength to modulus ratio.

2.4 Titanium and Its Alloys

Titanium based materials not only have lower elastic moduli but also have higher specific strength, better biocompatibility and corrosion resistance while maintaining better fatigue strength. After years of development, titanium has become the most widely used metal implant material in orthopaedic applications. Generally, Al, Sn, V, Fe, Mo, Mn, Cu, Cr, Zr, Ta, Nb and other alloying elements which affect the phase transition temperature are added to Ti to improve its mechanical properties, and
Image: Construction of the sample
 Image: Construction of the sample

 Image: Construction of the sample
 Image: Construction of the sample

 Image: Construction of the sample
 Image: Construction of the sample

 Image: Construction of the sample
 Image: Construction of the sample

 Image: Construction of the sample
 Image: Construction of the sample

 Image: Construction of the sample
 Image: Construction of the sample

 Image: Construction of the sample
 Image: Construction of the sample

 Image: Construction of the sample
 Image: Construction of the sample

 Image: Construction of the sample
 Image: Construction of the sample

 Image: Construction of the sample
 Image: Construction of the sample

 Image: Construction of the sample
 Image: Construction of the sample

 Image: Construction of the sample
 Image: Construction of the sample

 Image: Construction of the sample
 Image: Construction of the sample

 Image: Construction of the sample
 Image: Construction of the sample

 Image: Construction of the sample
 Image: Construction of the sample

 Image: Construction of the sample
 Image: Construction of the sample

 Image: Construction of the sample
 Image: Construction of the sample

 Image: Construction of the

Fig. 4 Toughening effect of zirconia on titanium, reproduced from [9] by author with permission from IOP publishing

form titanium alloys with different microstructure types (α , α + β , β) to meet different application requirements.

Although a variety of Ti alloys have been developed, there are still many common problems. As long-term implants, especially joint prostheses, poor wear resistance of Ti-based materials will produce inflammation, causing debris and structural wear resulting in loss of function. Appropriate surface modification methods such as nitriding and plasma spraying to form high hardness coatings on the surface of the implants can improve these problems to some extent.

Another method to toughen the titanium is the addition of particles such as zirconia (ZrO_2) and titanium carbide (TiC). Figure 4 shows the Ti particles are uniformly wrapped by zirconia. Zirconia has a uniform distribution in the prepared scaffolds, where the dislocation loops are observed around the zirconia. According to the Orowan mechanism, the dislocation motion not only overcomes the resistance of the zirconia particles but also overcomes the reverse stress of the dislocation loop to the dislocation source. This increases the flow stress, and the hardness of the zirconia doped Ti is almost double that of pure Ti.

2.5 Magnesium and Its Alloys

Another type of metallic biomaterial is biodegradable metals including magnesium (Mg), zinc (Zn) and iron (Fe) owing to their good in vivo biocompatibility, controlled degradation rate and sufficient mechanical strength. Compared with degradable polymers, though the degradation cycle may be long, the by-products will not lead to inflammatory tissue response and necrosis.

Mg and its alloys exhibit a similar elastic modulus to that of human bone, which can reduce stress shielding during load transfer at the bone-implant interface. Its density is ~ 1.79 g/cm³, which is very close to that of human bone (1.75 g/cm³). Apart from the favourable mechanical properties, Mg and its alloys are able to completely

degrade in vivo, showing an attractive degradation characteristic. It is expected that Mg bone implants not only provide stable mechanical support at the early stage of implantation but also gradually degrade with the restoration of defective bone tissue, perfectly achieving their clinical purpose as temporary substitutes. More importantly, the degradation product, mainly Mg ions, shows no obvious toxicity to human tissues. In fact, Mg is the fourth most prevalent mineral in the human body and acts as an essential element in the construction of bones and soft tissues. A large number of basic studies with encouraging achievements have confirmed the huge potential of Mg alloys as a new generation of bone implant materials. Despite this, there are still several issues that need to be solved before these alloys can fulfil their wide clinical application, including strengthening the mechanical properties and osteoblast proliferation. For example, Mg-Zn-0.5Zr (ZK60) can be used as the matrix, with bioglass (BG) used as the reinforcing particle. A smooth surface and a high densification rate are then obtained via the optimization of printing parameters. The introduced BG promotes the deposition of apatite on the Mg matrix, which not only enhances the corrosion resistance but also improves the bioactivity. Meanwhile, cell tests prove that ZK60/BG exhibits improved cell growth and differentiation as compared with ZK60.

Further research has shown that the porous BG particles have a better promotion effect on the deposition of apatite. Porous BG with a high specific surface area offers a large number of adsorption sites and promotes the in-situ deposition of the apatite layer [10], as shown in Fig. 5. Such a surface film with a relatively stable and dense structure acts as a protection layer, which effectively defends the Mg matrix against aggressive intrusion from the corrosive fluid. The incorporation of porous BG also promote cell proliferation, since it reduces the Mg corrosion and offers a relatively mild environment for cell survival.



Fig. 5 Apatite layer formation of bioglass modified magnesium

2.6 Zinc and Its Alloys

Zinc is another trace element that plays a significant role in the structure and function of proteins, being essential to catalytic functions in more than 300 enzymes. Currently, zinc alloys are being explored for bioresorbable metallic scaffolds, since most tissues have good tolerance to excess Zn ions. Previously, researchers have confirmed that Zn alloy has good biocompatibility through in vivo and in vitro experiments. Despite the above advantages of Zn alloy, the fabrication of Zn implants is still a great challenge at present. Zn alloy has poor processability at room temperature because of its hexagonal-close packed configuration, thus resulting in low efficiency and high cost in traditional processing technologies. In terms of additive manufacturing, the low melting and vaporization points and a limited gap between the two make it difficult in the LPBF process of zinc alloys. Therefore, the processing parameters need to be stabilized to achieve high density when zinc alloys are additively manufactured.

Doping with reduced graphene oxide (rGO) is also reported to tailor the microstructure and enhance the mechanical performance when the rGO doped Zn scaffolds are additively manufactured [11]. The homogeneously distributed rGO contributes to the grain refinement and the weakened texture since the rGO is pinned at the grain boundaries and induces equiaxed growth of grains. The rGO-induced grain refinement and the efficient load transfer caused by the huge specific surface area of rGO and the favourable interface bonding are the two primary strengthening factors that improve the mechanical strength of Zn. At the same time, rGO activates more slip systems in the Zn matrix and simultaneously improves the ductility of these composites.

3 Polymeric Biomaterials for Additive Manufacturing

In addition to metal and ceramic materials, degradable polymeric materials are other kinds of biological materials which have been developed over a long period and are widely used. Degradable polymeric materials refer to materials that are gradually degraded into low molecular weight compounds or monomers by hydrolysis and enzymolysis in the organism and are directly discharged from the body or disappear through normal metabolism in the body. At present, biodegradable polymeric materials for biomedical purposes are mainly used as drug, cytokine and gene carriers, and tissue engineering scaffolds. A degradable polymeric material can provide early mechanical support for bone defect repair, avoid secondary surgical removal, reduce patients' pain, and reduce medical costs. It can also be used as a controlled release carrier for bone growth factors such as BMP-2 to improve the bone inductance of the material. Depending on the sources, degradable polymeric materials can be divided into natural materials and synthetic materials.

3.1 Natural Polymer Materials

Natural polymer materials are derived from natural polymer compounds, which have excellent biocompatibility, bioactivity and hydrophilicity. Most of their degradation products are amino acids that can be directly absorbed by the human body. At present, common natural polymer scaffold materials include collagen, gelatin, chitosan, and silk fibroin. Collagen can be obtained from a wide range of sources and can mimic the function of an extracellular matrix, making it a potential candidate for tissue engineering scaffolds. However, due to the inherent flexibility and high biodegradability of collagen, scaffolds made of single collagen may have insufficient mechanical properties after implantation into the defect site and risk the collapse of the scaffold due to rapid degradation. Therefore, it is necessary to compound hydroxyapatite (HA), bioactive glass (BG) and other inorganic materials with collagen to prepare bone scaffolds with good mechanical properties and biocompatibility. Chitosan is another natural polymer with good biocompatibility, biodegradability, minimal immunogenicity and antibacterial properties, which can promote the growth of osteoblasts and mineral matrix deposition. It has been used in skin, nerve, bone and cartilage, and liver tissue engineering, as well as wound dressings and drug sustained-release agents. However, the scaffolds prepared from pure chitosan also have defects such as poor mechanical properties and lack of surface specificity, and so they usually need to be combined with other materials. So far, natural polymer materials have been widely used in the medical field. However, the mechanical strength of almost all pure natural polymer scaffolds is too low and the degradation rate is uncontrollable. In addition, natural polymers also have poor machinability, and it is difficult to prepare personalized shapes and internal porous structures according to the requirements. These factors limit their further application in tissue engineering.

3.2 Synthetic Degradable Materials

Table 6 lists the advantages and disadvantages of some polymeric biomaterials.

The main synthetic degradable materials used in additive manufacturing are aliphatic polyesters, whose main chains are mostly connected by aliphatic structural units through easy hydrolysis ester bonds, which are easily degraded into non-toxic water-soluble oligomers or monomers by a large number of microorganisms in nature or enzymes in animals and plants, and then converted into energy, CO₂ and H₂O by microorganisms. Among them, polylactic acid (PLA), polyglycolicacid (PGA) and PLA/PGA copolymer (PLGA) are the most widely used in orthopaedics [13]. PLA and PGA are the first biodegradable polymeric materials approved by the FDA for clinical use and have been used in clinical applications such as surgical sutures and orthopaedic internal fixation materials. However, the mechanical properties of these materials are still relatively low and they lack the necessary biological activity and cell response ability. Currently, researchers have proposed adding nucleating agents

Materials	Advantages	Disadvantages
Collagen	Similar to an extra cellular matrix (ECM), cytocompatibility, enzymatic biodegradability, versatility in being processed in different physical forms, FDA approved	Low mechanical strength, difficulty in disinfection and handling
Gelatin	Cytocompatibility, biodegradability, porosity tenability, osteoconductivity	Poor mechanical properties, low stability in physiological conditions
Silk fibroin	Cytocompatibility, immunogenicity, flexible processability, limited biological adhesion, high mechanical strength, thermal stability, easy chemical modification	
Chitosan	Cytocompatibility, biodegradability, cell-binding, differentiation and migration properties, antibacterial properties, mucoadhesivity	Poor mechanical strength and stability, rapid in vivo degradation rate
Alginate	Cytocompatibility, tuneable properties, easy gelling	Difficulty in sterilization, low cell adhesion
Cellulose	Hydrophilicity, cytocompatibility, bioactivity, optical transparency, tuneable properties	
PCL	Cytocompatibility, biodegradability, slow degradation rate	Hydrophobicity, low bioactivity
PLA	Cytocompatibility, thermal stability, tuneable properties	
PLGA	Wide range of degradation rates, tuneable properties	Suboptimal mechanical properties, poor osteoconductivity

Table 6 Functions of different polymeric biomaterials [12]

such as nano silica to promote chain nucleation growth and ordered arrangement of poly-L-lactic acid (PLLA) molecules, to improve the crystallinity and strengthen the mechanical strength of the scaffolds. Some researchers have also added carbonbased materials to regulate the behaviour of bone marrow stem cells through physical signals, ultimately enhancing osteogenic differentiation.

4 Applications of Biomaterials Based Additive Manufacturing

With the rapid development of additive manufacturing, its potential application fields are being expanded. Specific to biomedical applications, the unique and significant advantages in high precision, personalized manufacturing and complex shape construction of additive manufacturing are becoming important driving forces for upgrading medical industries. From the perspective of implementation difficulty and



Fig. 6 Four stages of additive manufacturing applications

technology maturity, the applications of additive manufacturing can be divided into four stages as shown in Fig. 6 and as follows:

Stage 1: Manufacturing of personalized extracorporeal models. With the assistance of these models, surgeons can perform more intuitive planning before surgery to improve the success rate. Generally, these models do not possess special features such as biocompatibility. Examples for this stage are wearable prosthetics and other extracorporeal medical devices.

Stage 2: Manufacturing of personalized medical implants. The use of inert materials represented by titanium alloys and PEEK (polyether-ether-ketone) can help support the deficient parts caused by disease or accident. These materials should be biocompatible and non-toxic to human bodies.

Stage 3: Manufacturing of degradable and functional scaffolds for tissue engineering. These scaffolds should be degradable in human bodies with the release of necessary elements and substances. Meanwhile, the cells can proliferate and differentiate on the scaffolds. Thus the design of materials is crucial in this stage.

Stage 4: Manufacturing of tissues or artificial organs via cell printing. Stem cells and an extracellular matrix are distributed in three dimensions with the use of gel or collagen. At present, drug screening is the major target of this stage.

Here, the research on the second and third stages will be presented in detail. A large number of researchers have enriched the application of additive manufacturing in the field of tissue engineering from the perspective of materials and functionalization, and many clinical cases have verified the feasibility of additive manufacturing in this research direction. There are more than three million bone transplant surgeries performed worldwide each year. For a healthy bone skeletal system, bones are in a constant process of remodelling to adjust to mechanical injuries and tiny lesions. However, once the bone defects exceed the critical size that bone can repair by itself, bone substitutes are needed for healing. Since it was difficult to meet the treatment needs with traditional bone substitutes, including autologous bone and allogeneic bone, synthetic materials have gradually become the focus of research. At present,



Fig. 7 Porous femoral stem

one example of medical implants made of additive materials that has been clinically applied is lumbar interbody fusion cages The up to 80% porosity structure allows for bony ingrowth and provides a similar modulus of elasticity to cancellous bone which can minimize stress shielding. A porous femoral stem created from additive manufacturing is shown in Fig. 7, it can reduce the stiffness of the implant.

In another application, 3D printed porous bone scaffolds are commonly used in bone defect repair and bone tissue engineering. These scaffolds provide mechanical support to resist external stress, maintain the original shape and integrity of tissues, connect with the surrounding tissues and guide the tissues to grow. Some scaffolds can also release bioactive ions, thereby promoting the physiological behaviour of cells and serving the purpose of treatment [14]. In dental applications, for example, bone substitutes are often obtained from other body parts in traditional maxillofacial reconstruction methods, which will cause secondary injury to the human body. Moreover, the replacement bone, harvested from elsewhere in the body, has a significant difference in shape from the defect site, greatly affecting the aesthetic and later functional recovery. After grafting, maxillofacial bone replacement should meet the essential support and chewing functions and induce bone ingrowth after a certain recovery period. With the application of additive manufacturing, porous bone scaffolds with complex internal structures and highly personalized geometry can be obtained. Test results show that the mandible stress is distributed symmetrically, and the graft of the unilateral prefabricated reconstruction plate and maxillofacial prosthesis effectively balances the stress transfer during the occlusion process. As shown in Fig. 8, the maximum stress on the undamaged mandible appears between the condyle and coracoid, with little difference between the left and right sides. Moreover, the deformation is relatively small, which means it will not destroy the safety and stability of the maxillofacial prosthesis. The proposed method can effectively reduce the surgical trauma and postoperative impact on the defective parts, significantly shorten the operation time, and improve the restoration effect of the teeth.



Fig. 8 The mandibular reconstruction process and the deformation of the healthy mandible compared with the mandible implanted with the prosthesis, reproduced from [15] by author with permission from Springer Nature

Porous cartilage scaffolds can also be prepared when natural materials such as collagen and similar gels are used as base materials. Cartilage is a type of hard and elastic tissue located between the bones and containing chondrocytes. The additively manufactured cartilage scaffolds have two functions. On the one hand, the scaffolds are implanted in articular cartilage defects to simulate the highly porous and porous microenvironment in vivo, providing appropriate mechanical support and physical and chemical stimulation for the combination of cells or growth factors. On the other hand, biodegradable scaffolds coated with drugs/cells are injected into the articular cartilage defect, causing less scarring and reducing patients' pain. Based on the layerby-layer characteristic of additive manufacturing, bone/cartilage tissue engineering scaffolds can also be realized, which not only simulate the multiphase material of natural cartilage tissue but also mimic the complex hierarchy of natural bone/cartilage tissue. Moreover, TGF, IGF, BMP and other active factors have been gradually added by researchers into bioink for biological stimulation, to induce different layers of cells in the scaffold to achieve region-specific differentiation and growth. With the development of biomaterials, bioactive substances with proteins and cells can be printed, and the scope of application has gradually developed from hard tissues like

bone to soft tissues like blood vessels and skin. Even organs containing complete structures are also being printed. Some tissues and organs printed with bioink are shown in Fig. 9.



Fig. 9 Tissues and organs printed with bioink, reproduced from [16] by author with permission from Springer Nature

5 Recent Advances in Biomaterial Based Additive Manufacturing

5.1 The Structural Design of Biomaterial Based Additive Manufacturing

In regenerative medicine approaches, porous scaffolds or implants are commonly used for inducing the regeneration of tissues. The material and the structure of the scaffolds are both important factors. Composite materials suitable for bone regeneration were discussed in the previous section, and some innovative structural design methods suitable for tissue engineering will be introduced in this section.

According to recent research, the pore geometry of the porous scaffolds shows a significant effect on the tissue regeneration process, and the structure and the effect of structural changes on parameters such as cell viability are most evident in the early stage. The curvatures of structures were studied, and curvatures with radii much larger than those of the cells could interact with the cells and influence their behaviour. According to quantitative analysis, the rate of tissue generation is proportional to the curvature of the surface. Meanwhile, the cells and tissues tend to attach to and proliferate on concave surfaces rather than convex and flat ones. With the deepening of research, researchers attempted to characterize the three-dimensional characteristics of the scaffold structure with porosity, pore size and pore geometry. The most important finding is that the requirements regarding the pore size are different when comparing in vitro studies with in vivo studies. Generally, pore sizes over 300 µm are recommended for scaffolds. In addition, lower porosity may be beneficial in vitro, because cell proliferation will be controlled and cell aggregation could be forced when the porosity is lower. In comparison, higher porosity and larger pore sizes may be advantageous in vivo, because they could stimulate bone regeneration. The effect of pore geometries on cell adhesion is shown in Fig. 10.

An ideal tissue engineering scaffold should mimic the internal structure of natural bones, with interconnected gradient pore structures, allowing protein adsorption, cell diffusion and effective transport of nutrients, oxygen, growth factors and waste to promote the growth of new tissues inside the scaffold until the scaffold is completely degraded and the new tissues are fully generated to achieve the ultimate goal of repairing the defects. Human bones are porous, especially cancellous bones, and pores are amorphous and mainly play a role in stress transfer. Suitable stress distribution is an important factor to promote the growth of cells and tissues. The design and preparation of bone-like structures have always been a major problem in the field of tissue engineering. At present, additive manufacturing with a high degree of freedom manufacturing capability has greatly promoted the development of porous structures applied in tissue engineering and realized the required design parameters (porosity, pore shape, pore size, etc.).

In the early research of porous scaffolds, standard polyhedrons (such as cubes, spheres, cylinders and hexagons, etc.) were used to construct cells through Boolean



Fig. 10 Effect of pore geometries on cell adhesion, reproduced from [17] by author with permission from The Royal Society

operation and regular array to create 3D models. As an early attempt to design porous scaffolds, this method only carried out simple Boolean operations and arrays, and the parameters such as porosity and gradient porosity of the scaffolds were poorly controlled. The mathematical modelling method was then developed. In it, geometric functions are used to construct the porous structure with implicit function surface or irregular multilateral body. Design using Triply Periodic Minimal Surfaces (TPMS) shows great vitality in the gradient and mixed porous structures among different methods, where both pore size and porosity can be adjusted to obtain a graded structure by properly tuning the parameters of the TPMS equation, as shown in Fig. 11.

According to Zhang et al. [19], a programmable, biomimetic TPMS scaffold with graded pore size for tissue engineering allows the reconstruction and replacement of defective bone with energy-absorbing properties, biocompatibility for cell attachment, and function of angiogenesis, as shown in Fig. 12. Based on the constraints of bone structure parameters, the pore size and performance can be realized by adjusting the parameters of a single-layer structure. The graded scaffold design without stress concentration is realized through the smooth connection between different layers, and the relative density of the scaffold is within the required range of the relative density of bone tissue. Corresponding scaffolds can be selected to provide model and data references for the different design types of bone implants.

Voronoi methods have been recently adopted in tissue engineering. A Voronoi diagram is a partition of a plane into regions close to each of a given set of objects. It could reflect many features in nature, such as clathrus ruber, leaf veins, giraffe fur, and cracked earth. Due to inherent bionic characteristics, this nature-inspired geometric representation method is useful when constructing a trabecular-like structure. It can successfully imitate the structural morphology of cancellous bone by adjusting the distribution of seeds and scaling factors. When constructing such structures, a regular seed set is generated in restrained space. These seeds are subsequently redistributed



Fig. 11 Construction of TPMS structures, reproduced from [18] by author with permission from Elsevier



Fig. 12 Functions of TPMS structures, reproduced from [19] by author with permission from Elsevier



Fig. 13 Construction of Voronoi structures, reproduced from [20] by author with permission from Elsevier

randomly according to a prescribed algorithm. The Voronoi cells are then calculated based on the new seed set, and finally the porous structure is generated. Some Voronoi structures and modelling methods are shown in Fig. 13.

According to the results of in vitro and in vivo experiments, the irregular Voronoi structures possess a stronger ability to induce cell proliferation and differentiation in the middle and late stages of osteogenesis than the regular scaffolds. In addition, osteoid and bone deposition tends to occur in the inner hole surface with large curvature and the places with low local porosity. Also, the trabecular-like scaffold has more even new bone formation in the bone ingrowth direction, without the distribution faults that often occur with a regular scaffold, as shown in Fig. 14. Firstly, the irregular porous Voronoi scaffolds have diversified local porosity and more pores with variable curvature. The pores with large curvature or small size hinder the diffusion of cytokines and growth factors, and provide anchor points for cell adhesion. Secondly, in the middle and late stages of trabecular-like scaffold bone regeneration, its random combination with large and small pores in any direction could provide channels for biological factors diffusion and cell migration, preventing a section perpendicular to the direction of bone ingrowth from being completely blocked.



Fig. 14 Function of Voronoi structures, reproduced from [20] by author with permission from Elsevier

5.2 The Deformation Compensation of Biomaterials Based Additive Manufacturing

Porous and conformal structures are preferred in the case of additive manufacturing. Conformal structures can be used as dental movable stents and dental crowns, as shown in Fig. 15. These structures are characterized by thin walls and are easily distorted by the high energy density laser or sintering process in additive manufacturing. Distortion may lower the dimensional accuracy and mechanical properties of the printed parts and may even lead to the interruption of the additive manufacturing process. Therefore, effectively reducing the distortion of 3D printed parts has become a focus of research in recent years.

Pre-distorting the original geometry using distortion data is an effective method to reduce the final distortion of parts, including the actual measurement of distorted geometry by adopting computer tomography (CT) or optical 3D scanning technology. Studies have been conducted to decrease distortion by optimizing additive manufacturing process parameters, but this can only achieve a limited decrease in distortion. Geometry compensation is another approach to decreasing the distortion of parts.



Fig. 15 Dental applications (Credit: Nanjing Chamlion Laser co., ltd.)

However, geometry compensation by direct subtraction of measured deviation, such as the mapping method, may lead to regional overcompensation, resulting in reversed distortion of printed parts. With the continuous development of machine learning, artificial neural networks (ANN) have also been used in the simulation and prediction in additive manufacturing, owing to their strong ability to describe highly nonlinear problems and adaptive learning.

Therefore, a new geometry compensation method combined with a genetic algorithm and backpropagation network is proposed. It is applied in the field of complex thin-walled structures of LPBF-fabricated oral maxillary stents. The established GA-BP model belongs to the multi-layer perceptron (MLP) structure. Optically measured distorted geometry coordinates are used as input and original geometry coordinates are used as output for the training of the GA-BP model. After that, the original geometry coordinates are used as input for the trained GA-BP model, to obtain the desired compensated coordinate sets by predicting. The obtained coordinate sets are then converted into point clouds and reconstructed to complete the intelligent geometric compensation of the stent. The final average distortion of the compensated oral maxillary stent is reduced by 71% through this combined geometry compensation method. A more comfortable treatment experience for patients can then be realized through the use of maxillofacial stents that fit extremely well.

6 Challenges and Future Trends

Plenty of attempts have been made to prepare ideal tissue and organ models with the assistance of additive manufacturing, and satisfactory results have been achieved in both in vivo and in vitro experiments. However, some aspects still need to be focused on and improved. It is expected that more and more biological applications of additive manufacturing will emerge in the future such as exploring 3D printing of silver antibacterial bone scaffolds [21].

6.1 Gradient Structures with Macro and Micropores

According to relevant research, pore size is a major determinant of the mechanical properties and biocompatibility of tissue engineering scaffolds [22, 23]. Gradient structures are also important. For example, Hazlehurst et al. [24] investigated the functionally graded cobalt chrome femoral stem manufactured using a selective laser sintering process. Pores of different sizes have different functions in bone implants. A pore size of $0.1-1 \,\mu$ m can improve the surface roughness and specific surface area of the scaffolds, thereby increasing the cell adhesion and promoting the exchange of body fluids. A pore size of $40-100 \,\mu$ m allows the growth of non-mineralized tissues. If the pore size is increased to $150-200 \,\mu$ m, the growth of osteoblasts will be better. Macro pores with a pore size of more than 300 μ m can regulate the mechanical

properties of scaffolds, make them more compatible with human tissues, and enhance the formation and inward growth of capillaries. Gradient structures that combine macro and micropores are closer to human tissues in terms of function. In the process of additive manufacturing, macro pores are more concerned, micro pores could be made through the addition of functional materials. For example, materials that can be pyrolysed or volatilized are added, through additional processes right after the additive manufacturing process, the interconnected pores can be obtained.

6.2 Biomaterials with Magnetic and Dielectric Properties

Scaffold-guided regeneration plays a crucial role in the treatment and repair of severe defects caused by trauma, tumour and excision. Currently, magnetic functional scaffolds combined with external magnetic fields have been proven to affect cell metabolic behaviour and promote bone tissue regeneration through the magnetic environment. The external magnetic fields can also drive drug-loaded magnetic particles, effectively regulating drug release and activating cell surface channels, so that growth factors, hormones, peptides and other factors can be directionally deposited on scaffold tissues to form a series of osteoblast-related pathways, and finally promote tissue growth and defect regeneration. Magnetic scaffolds also have extensive application potential in the fields of hyperthermia, magnetic resonance imaging, and targeted delivery. Therefore, magnetic materials can be used to improve the efficiency of bone tissue engineering and provide a certain guarantee for the repair of defects. At present, magnetic scaffolds are attracting more and more researchers' attention. Similarly, it has been found that when human tissue is subjected to force, the electrical dipoles in its collagen are deflected, resulting in a negative charge on the surface, creating an electric potential that provides electrical signals to cells. Therefore, biological materials with dielectric properties are used to create an electric field in situ to stimulate bone tissue regeneration. Based on this idea, the use of electrical stimulation to repair bone defects has become a research hotspot.

6.3 Vascularization of Tissue Engineering Scaffolds

Research has shown that the key factor affecting the difficulty in the repair of large area defects is an insufficient blood supply to specific anatomical sites. Therefore, the vascularization of tissue engineering scaffolds is the basis to ensure the survival of grafts, and also the key technology in bone tissue engineering. The seed cells located at the edge of the scaffold can obtain nutrients and oxygen from the surrounding environment through osmosis, but the seed cells located 200 μ m inside the scaffolds can only obtain the required substances through the reconstruction of the blood transport system. Therefore, in bone tissue engineering, graft vascularization is an important basis for bone defect repair, and the degree of vascularization is positively

correlated with the number of new bone formations. At present, the commonly used method is to combine the culture of vascular endothelial cells and seed cells to form a matrix with scaffold materials, which can be implanted in vivo to promote angiogenesis and promote the growth and differentiation of seed cells through the mutual regulation between cells. Another method is to use growth factors to promote the formation of blood vessels through the combination of the growth factors with the scaffold material. Therefore, the vascularization of additively manufactured scaffolds is a crucial problem to be addressed.

References

- 1. Hench L (1998) Bioceramics. J Am Ceram Soc 81(7):1705-1728
- Wang J, Dai X, Peng Y, Liu M, Lu F, Yang X, Gou Z, Ye J (2021) Digital light processing strength-strong ultra-thin bioceramic scaffolds for challengeable orbital bone regeneration and repair in Situ. Appl Mater Today 22:100889
- Jenifer A, Senthilarasan K, Arumugam S, Sivaprakash P, Sagadevan S, Sakthivel P (2021) Investigation on antibacterial and hemolytic properties of magnesium-doped hydroxyapatite nanocomposite. Chem Phys Lett 138539
- 4. Philippart A, Boccaccini A, Fleck C, Schubert D, Roether J (2015) Toughening and functionalization of bioactive ceramic and glass bone scaffolds by biopolymer coatings and infiltration: a review of the last 5 years. Expert Rev Med Devices 12:93–111
- Kim H, Knowles J, Kim H (2004) Hydroxyapatite/poly(epsilon-caprolactone) composite coatings on hydroxyapatite porous bone scaffold for drug delivery. Biomaterials 25:1279–1287
- Miyai T, Ito A, Tamazawa G, Matsuno T, Sogo Y, Nakamura C, Yamazaki A, Satoh T (2008) Antibiotic-loaded poly-ε-caprolactone and porous β-tricalcium phosphate composite for treating osteomyelitis. Biomaterials 29:350–358
- Prasad K, Bazaka O, Chua M, Rochford M, Fedrick L, Spoor J, Symes R, Tieppo M, Collins C, Cao A, Markwell D, Ostrikov K, Bazaka K (2017) Metallic biomaterials current challenges and opportunities. Materials 10:884
- Presptto A, Cordeiro J, Presotto J, Rangel E, Cruz N, Landers R, Barao V, Mesquita M (2021) Feasibility of 3D printed Co–Cr alloy for dental prostheses applications. J Alloy Compd 862:158171
- Li J, Shen L, Liu Z, Liang H, Li Y, Han X (2019) Microstructure, microhardness, and wear performance of zirconia reinforced pure titanium composites prepared by selective laser melting. Mater Res Express 6:036520
- Yang Y, Lu C, Shen L, Zhao Z, Peng S, Shuai C (2021) In-situ deposition of apatite layer to protect Mg-based composite fabricated via laser additive manufacturing. J Magnes Alloy. Article in Press
- 11. Yang Y, Peng Y, Peng S, Xu L, He C, Qi F, Zhao M, Shuai C (2021) Microstructure evolution and texture tailoring of reduced graphene oxide reinforced Zn scaffold. Bioact Mater 6:1230–1241
- Donnaloja F, Jacchetti E, Soncini M, Raimondi M (2020) Natural and synthetic polymers for bone scaffolds optimization. Polymers 12:905
- Levengood S, Zhang M (2014) Chitosan-based scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. J Mater Chem B 2:3161
- 14. Zhao C, Liu W, Zhu M, Wu C, Zhu Y (2022) Bioceramic-based scaffolds with antibacterial function for bone tissue engineering: a review. Bioact Mater 18:383–398
- Wu H, Chao L, Yi Y, Jiao C, Shen L, Wu G, Zhao J, Wang L, Meng J, Wang C, Qiao F (2022) Design and 3D printing of integrated bionic porous ceramic maxillofacial prosthesis. J Mater Sci 57:1–14

- 5 Biomaterial Based Additive Manufacturing
- 16. Murphy S, Atala A (2014) 3D bioprinting of tissues and organs. Nat Biotechnol 32:773-785
- 17. Rumpler M, Woesz A, Dunlop J, van Dongen J, Fratzl P (2008) The effect of geometry on three-dimensional tissue growth. J R Soc Interface 5:1173–1180
- Zhang X, Yan X, Fang G, Liu M (2020) Biomechanical influence of structural variation strategies on functionally graded scaffolds constructed with triply periodic minimal surface. Addit Manuf 32:101015
- 19. Zhang J, Chen X, Sun Y, Yang J, Chen R, Yan X, Hou W, Bai L (2022) Design of a biomimetic graded TPMS scaffold with quantitatively adjustable pore size. Mater Des 218:110665
- Liang H, Chao L, Xie D, Yang Y, Shi J, Zhang Y, Xue B, Shen L, Tian Z, Li L, Jiang Q (2022) Trabecular-like Ti–6Al–4V scaffold for bone repair: a diversified mechanical stimulation environment for bone regeneration. Compos B 241:110057
- Arjunan A, Robinson J, Al Ani E, Heaselgrave W, Baroutaji A, Wang C (2020) Mechanical performance of additively manufactured pure silver antibacterial bone scaffolds. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater 112: 104090
- Hazlehurst K, Wang CJ, Stanford M (2013) Evaluation of the stiffness characteristics of square pore CoCrMo cellular structures manufactured using laser melting technology for potential orthopaedic applications. Mater Des 51:949–955
- Arjunan A, Demetriou M, Baroutaji A, Wang C (2020) Mechanical performance of highly permeable laser melted Ti6Al4V bone scaffolds. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater 102:103517
- Hazlehurst K, Wang CJ, Stanford M (2014) An investigation into the flexural characteristics of functionally graded cobalt chrome femoral stems manufactured using selective laser melting. Mater Des 60:177–183

Chapter 6 Composite Based Additive Manufacturing



Sk Md Alimuzzaman and Muhammad P. Jahan

Abstract Additive manufacturing (AM) has become an extremely popular manufacturing process due to the immense potential it holds for the development of new products and applications across a wide range of industries. Due to its capacity to produce complicated geometries with little to no waste, it is frequently employed in fast prototyping processes. The growing popularity of polymer composite-based additive manufacturing is due to its versatility for printing with various reinforcements at a relatively lower overall melting temperature, as well as its extrudability and adhesive properties in 3D printed parts. This chapter has briefly covered a variety of 3D printing methods for polymer-based additive manufacturing by discussing the working principles of each AM process. With the input of some recent papers on polymer composite based AM, several reinforcing strategies have been presented along with their improvement on mechanical properties of AM polymer composites. The effects of 3D printing parameters on the composite mechanical properties and the selection methods of printing parameters for improved product performance of AM Polymer composites have been discussed. The internal porosity contributing to the poor strength, and poor dimensional accuracy and surface roughness of 3D printed parts are found to be the two major drawbacks of AM polymer composites. Therefore, the effectiveness of several frequently used post-processing methods on the defect reduction and properties enhancement of AM polymer composites have been reviewed. Finally, a brief discussion on future research scope on the area of AM polymer composites has been added in the chapter.

Technologies, Materials Horizons: From Nature to Nanomaterials, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-5949-5_6

S. M. Alimuzzaman · M. P. Jahan (🖂)

Department of Mechanical and Manufacturing Engineering, Miami University, Oxford, OH 45056, USA

e-mail: jahanmp@miamioh.edu

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2024

S. Rajendrachari (ed.), Practical Implementations of Additive Manufacturing

1 Introduction

Composites are a group of materials constructed from two or more materials mixed in a specific way which creates a combination where each material is unique and distinguishable. The goal of making composites is to design a new material with the benefits of both materials' strengths while often masking the flaws of the original materials [1]. Selection of fibers plays an important role in composite design, which combines with the polymer and provides the composite material with good mechanical and thermal properties that cannot be achieved on solo possessions. Before the advent of additive manufacturing, polymer processing techniques such as compression molding, injection molding (IM), plastic forming and joining had been frequently used to manufacture composite parts. Major concerns of conventional manufacturing techniques are the limitation of manufacturing complex geometries, higher initial establishment cost, material wastage, and different types of tooling requirement etc. In addition, additional processes, such as computer numeric controlled (CNC) machining is required to obtain the final part from the laminated composites obtained by traditional composite manufacturing processes.

Polymer composite manufacturing has been improved by additive manufacturing (AM), which enables the fabrication of complicated geometries with more design flexibility and shorter lead times. Figure 1 shows some examples of additively manufactured part by polymer composites. Comparing additively made polymer composites to traditional polymer composites, there are several benefits. Complex microstructures and geometries that are not attainable with traditional composite production procedures can be produced with additive manufacturing. This enables the development of materials that can be customized for specific applications and have superior mechanical, thermal, and electrical characteristics. Since additive manufacturing only utilizes the material needed to create a product, it is a "green" approach that generates little waste. This contrasts with conventional composite production methods, which can produce considerable amounts of scrap material. Complex forms and interior features can be produced with the use of additive manufacturing, which is not achievable with traditional production procedures. Designers may now produce components with better functionality and performance with the aid of this. With the quick and simple production of parts made possible by additive manufacturing, designers can readily prototype and try out new ideas which lead to faster development periods and lower costs associated. Particularly for small production runs, additive manufacturing can be more economical than traditional composite manufacturing procedures. This is due to the expense of tooling being eliminated that helps lower the cost of making complicated parts.

In order to avoid inconveniences with traditional composite manufacturing techniques, additive manufacturing, more specifically FDM (Fused Deposition Modelling) has been in use in the small-scale composite manufacturing industries which started using thermo-setting plastics (TSP) and thermo-plastics (TP) for composites. As TPs are recyclable, biodegradable, and stay neutral to nature. The



Fig. 1 Example of objects with composite-based additive manufacturing [3] (Open Access)

low cost and less absorbability to moisture make TPs a choice of additive manufacturing materials over TSPs [2]. In addition to this, composites are made with different reinforcements to improve the overall properties of composites. The type of fiber, fiber treatment, fiber size, fiber loading, and fiber properties should all be considered when using fibers in the AM process. Polymer based composites are reputed for their higher specific strength, that is why these composites are becoming increasingly popular in high performance industries like automobiles, sports, structural constructions etc. Fiber reinforced polymer composite in additive manufacturing (AM) is now a challenging area where many researchers are working to make good progress in the current AM industry. As a result, it is important to collect relevant important information in an article/book chapter, so that future researchers find it useful. Therefore, the objective of this book chapter is to include the state-of-the-art review on the areas of additive manufacturing of polymer composites.

2 Current AM Technologies for Composites

There are different types of additive manufacturing technologies which have been used to composite printing. Based on available technologies, it can be divided into four major categories. Solid based, liquid based, powder based, and hybrid based additive manufacturing [4]. Figure 2 shows the young modulus of thermoplastic polymers with a comparison with other widely used metals in different high-performance applications like aerospace, automobiles, sports, medical instruments etc. In the following sections, an overview of different AM processes for 3D printing of polymer composites has been included, and they are discussed according to four categories: solid based, liquid based, powder based, and hybrid based additive manufacturing.



Fig. 2 Mechanical properties of potential materials in comparison with bulk materials for composite-based additive manufacturing [5]

2.1 Solid Based AM of Composites

2.1.1 Fused Deposition Modelling (FDM)

The most commonly used solid based AM process is the fused deposition modelling (FDM). FDM works with layer-by-layer printing to make three-dimensional (3D) objects with the help of computer aided design (CAD) software. FDM is sometime refer to Fused Filament Fabrication (FFF) where filaments are melted and extruded via a nozzle for layer deposition. Mixture of melted liquified materials are deposited and solidify with the previous layers in the base platform to form the final object. Materials suitable for FDM are mostly thermoplastics, like, acrylonitrile-butadiene styrene (ABS) and polylactic acid (PLA) along with powder/fiber polymer composites [6], which possess suitable melting and glass transition temperature and flowability in melted or liquified condition. There are different techniques and types of reinforcement materials, such as, particles, long fiber, short fiber etc. Some applications use multi-nozzles 3D printing as well for providing reinforcement in the polymer composites, which enables varying different combination of materials for FDM type additive manufacturing. In spite of the advantage of FDM for its flexibility, it has major disadvantages, such as, poor surface finish, dimensional inaccuracies, heterogeneity and interlayer weak bonding [7]. However, the process parameters of the FDM process have a significant role on the final product's properties, including strength, surface finish, and internal porosity.

Figure 3 shows the basic working principle of FDM type additive manufacturing. There are two different materials that have been used for this fabrication process. One is built material which is used for expected 3D printing shape (as shown in blue). Another one is supporting material which is used as a base or the foundation for the complex shape printing (as shown in yellow). Both materials come as spools, containing filaments of popular sizes 1.75 mm to 3 mm diameter. Liquefier head is used for melting of the filaments which is directed through the nozzle attached to the bottom of the liquifies head. The nozzle has a degree of freedom in X and Y axis and the build platform has a degree of freedom in Z axis which enable the whole setup for desired share of 3D printing with the help of Computer Aided Design (CAD) [9]. Non-machining type post processing techniques, such as, chemical or vapor bath post-processing, can improve the surface roughness of FDM printed polymer composite and minimize the staircase effect, thus improving the overall surface finish ad dimensional accuracy.

During 3D printing of polymer composite with FDM technique, higher nozzle size and increase in layer thickness led to distortion and internal residual stresses. The Taguchi approach and the ANOVA technique were used to investigate the effects of several key elements on surface roughness and dimensional accuracy. The research found that the surface quality could be enhanced by 66% despite possible variations in accuracy due to varied deposition directions [10].

Another version of FDM based AM process is Droplet Based Additive Manufacturing (DBAM), where matrix and filler are placed dropwise instead of the continuous extrusion process. In a recent research work of Guessasma et al., 2022 [11],



Fig. 3 Principle of FDM [8] (Open Access)

the DBAM process was used to manufacture Thermoplastic Polyurethane Elastomer (TPU)/Acrylonitrile Butadiene Styrene (ABS) composite. One of the advantages of using DBAM is to reduce the porosity of the 3D printed composite to 5% or lower. The interfacial behavior of TPU and ABS creates a hindrance of good mechanical performance due to the interface bond. In the study of Guessasma et al., TPU and ABS have not created a strong bond. Creating intertwining droplets leads to creating progressive interface, which may lead to a strong bond. The mechanism of strengthening the bonding between TPU and BAS remains to be a goal of future research [11].

2.1.2 Laminated Object Manufacturing (LOM)

Laminated object manufacturing (LOM) uses a sheet lamination process to create solid, three-dimensional objects where adhesive-coated thin film material has been used. Layers of the adhesive-coated films adhere to one another, and the film is then sliced to the desired pattern using a laser beam. This method is extremely adaptable and can involve a wide range of materials, notably the long fibers that are used as reinforcement in composites [12].

Figure 4 illustrates a common LOM process where a heated roller is used to laminate a sheet to the previously laid layer where the bonding will take place. The layer sheet has a thin coating of thermoplastic adhesive on the down-facing surface, and the roller rolls over it with applying heat and pressure. After the application of the roller, a focused beam of laser cuts the last implemented layer into desired dimension and then waste take up rolls collect the wastage part and help to place the new sheet from the material supply roll by pulling the sheet. This process is repeated until the desired dimension is achieved.

2.2 Liquid Based AM of Composites

2.2.1 Stereolithography (SLA)

Stereolithography (SLA) is becoming popular for its fabricated part quality and surface finish compared to widely used FDM process. In this method, successive layers are placed one after another and selective curing is carried out in liquid photopolymerizing resin with controlled UV laser beam [14]. Figure 5 represents a schematic set up of SLA process, where a low power UV laser beam helps solidify a thin layer on the build platform. The widely used liquid photopolymerizing resins are acrylic and epoxy resins [15]. X–Y scanning mirror is moving in X and Y direction to deposit the layer of desired dimension. Build platform moving in Z direction to submerge the 3D printing object inside the resin. For every layer deposition, build platform go down and rollers moved over the next layers.



Fig. 4 Laminated object manufacturing (LOM) [13] (open access)



Fig. 5 Schematic of SLA [16] (Open Access)

Wang et al. [17] has done some research on how to improve dielectric properties of additively manufactured composite using SLA method of 3D printing. To make methacrylate malate photocurable resins (MMPR) UV curable, synthesis with malic acid has been tested. Bio-fillers cellulose nanocrystals (CNCs) powder's reactivity and solubility has been improved with the use of methacrylic acid (MAA). It was observed that CNCs-MAA had played an important role in increasing the polarity inside the composite by a small group which resulted in an increase in the dielectric constant. Thus, enhancement of capacitance by 132% compared to the mother composite polymer has been observed [17].

2.3 Powder Based AM of Composites

2.3.1 Selective Laser Sintering (SLS)

Selective Laser Sintering (SLS) is powder bed fusion-based 3D printing process where laser beam is used to bind the photopolymer powder to form polymer composite by fusion. The temperature generated by laser source is slightly below the melting temperature of the polymer and reinforcement fillers for uniform distribution of heat during sintering. Figure 5 shows the basic principle of SLS process where the work bench is submerged into powder. One of the major benefits of SLS is that it does not need any supporting structure like the FDM process [18]. Figure 6 illustrates the 3D printing setup by SLS technique. Two types of platforms are used to maintain a level of powder. The fabrication platform can move in Z direction for lowering down after formation of one layer by fusion by the laser source and give the space for the powder to form the next layer. The roller rolls in X direction to distribute the powder evenly. The scanner system can move in X and Y direction to direct the laser power for layer deposition.



Fig. 6 Schematic diagram of SLS 3D printing process [19]



Fig. 7 Schematic diagram of LENS 3D printing process [20]

2.3.2 Laser Engineered Net Shaping (LENS)

Laser engineered net shaping (LENS) is the AM technique which is usually used to make 3D objects with metal alloys and metal composites via melting of metal powders (mostly Titanium, Nickel, Zirconium etc.) with laser beam. However, this has the potential to be used for the 3D printing of polymer composites. Figure 7 indicates the schematic arrangement of LENS AM where metal, or polymer powders are directed through the powder stream and melted by the heat of focused laser beam. The deposition head has the XYZ degree of freedom to move along the trajectory to print the 3D object. Shield gas (usually Argon) is used to ensure minimum oxygen presence to prevent oxidation of molten pool and it becomes solid when laser beam moves away, and it can dissipate the heat. Repetition of this process finally produces the desired object as instructed by CAD.

2.4 Hybrid of Powder-Liquid AM in Composites

2.4.1 Three-Dimensional Printing (3DP)

Three-dimensional printing (3DP) is a similar technique as SLS, where liquid binder replaces the laser system using the inkjet printing technology. In order to create a solid pattern for one layer, the liquid binder is selectively poured on a powder bed in printing trajectory. 3DP can use a wide variety of materials including from

metal, polymer, ceramic, and composites based on the binding ability of liquid binderpowder reaction to form a solid layer. Surface finishing mostly depends on the particle size (<20 μ m) for this printing technique. 3DP manufactured object has a common tendency of being porous compared to other AM techniques, which is why postprocessing by sintering has been used to reduce the porosity of materials. However, post-sintering led to distortion in the object which make 3DP difficult to maintain geometrical tolerances [10]. In order to avoid this, infiltration technique can be used to fill up the blank spaces in previously 3DP manufactured object by another fillers material or reinforcement, which results in improvement of mechanical properties [21].

3 Reinforcement of Composites in AM

With the relentless efforts of researchers over the past two decades, the additive manufacturing of polymer composites has evolved dramatically. According to enduser needs, a variety of approaches have been used to improve mechanical, thermal, and electrical properties of polymer composites. Figure 6 represents the mechanical properties of widely used pure polymers in 3D printing [2]. It can be said from this plot that PLA is the material of choice over other thermoplastics for not only its biodegradability, but also its superior qualities in terms tensile strength, modulus of elasticity, and flexural strength. In order to enhance the properties of these thermoplastics, reinforcement of comparatively stronger materials is used to make this a composite with superior qualities than the polymer matrix. For the 3D printing of polymer composites, reinforcement typically comes in the form of fibers, particles, or both. Various categories of reinforcement along with methods for enhancing them are covered in the next section.

Figure 8 shows four major mechanical properties: flexural strength, impact strength, modulus of elasticity, and tensile strength of pure thermoplastics matrix materials. In the upcoming section, the methods of enhancing these mechanical properties of polymers further by different reinforcement techniques will be discussed.

3.1 Particle Reinforced Composites in AM

The type of matrix material and the requirement from the end-users influence the selection of reinforcement particles used in polymer composite. Many researchers have employed a few materials, including iron, aluminum, tungsten, ceramics, and glass as particle reinforcement, to enhance the strength and mechanical properties of the polymer composite parts made by additive manufacturing. In recent years, many researchers have been focusing on using various particles to enhance the composites' overall properties. For example, nylon-based composites are found to



Fig. 8 Mechanical properties of widely used thermoplastic in 3D printing

become stronger when reinforcement particles are added. Both the tensile strength and stiffness of a polymer composite can be improved by adding glass beads as reinforcement in the Nylon-11 matrix, as opposed to an FDM product that is only matrix-based [22]. Nylon-6 combined with aluminum and aluminum oxide particles has the potential to improve the wear resistance and COF (Coefficient of Friction) of nylon-based polymer composite in SLS type AM [23].

Additively manufactured (AM) PLA Composite by FDM has been studied with different particles reinforcement. With the increase of magnesium (Mg) particles from 2 to 6 wt%, both ultimate tensile strength (33.5 to 38 Mpa) and tensile modulus increased (0.85 to 1 Gpa) compared to those properties of pure PLA. However, further increase in the reinforcement concentration to 8 wt% significantly drops the tensile modulus, even with the increase in ultimate tensile strength [24]. In another study, bronze, copper, magnetic iron and stainless-steel particles have been used with PLA matrix to improve the print height and overall mechanical properties of the AM PLA composite. It is observed that inclusion of metal particles has increased the overall mechanical properties. Brass reinforced PLA (Br-PLA) has achieved higher young's modulus of 5401 MPa compared to other composites (Cu-PLA, MI-PLA, SS-PLA) in this study. On the other hand, magnetic iron reinforced PLA (MI-PLA) shows promising results in terms of ultimate strength and fracture toughness which is 39 and 3.4 MPa \sqrt{m} respectively [25].

Typically, metals or their oxides are utilized as reinforcement in FDM-type additive manufacturing for ABS composites. In the ABS matrix, BaTiO₃ was employed to enhance the dielectric permittivity and adjustable effective permittivity [26]. It is found that particle reinforced ABS can enhance the young modulus and thermal conductivity, when iron and copper particles are used as reinforcements respectively [27, 28]. The thermoplastic elastomer has been employed [29, 30] to reduce anisotropy in various 3D printing orientations. Added titanium oxide to ABS boosted tensile strength, however, made the composite more fragile [31].

3.2 Nanofiller Composites in AM

In the field of AM polymer composites, nanofillers are gradually gaining popularity for the development of nanocomposites. In composites, there are four different forms of nanofiller: organic, inorganic, carbon nanostructure, and clays [23]. Nanofillers can be used to improve composites' mechanical, electrical, chemical, and thermal characteristics without significantly altering their weight [32]. Among others, the most well-known additive manufacturing techniques that use nanofiller as reinforcements include FDM, SLA, and LDM processes.

PLA nanocomposites are becoming an emerging field of study for many researchers. Because of its biodegradability and appropriateness for use in the biomedical and food sectors, PLA stands out from other thermoplastics on the market [33]. Hydroxyapatite (HA) has been found to successfully improve the mechanical strength and biocompatibility of PLA composite. Researchers have tried different HA concentrations to check its influence on the PLA composites. In comparison to the individual strengths of components, composites with a 30% HA content had the highest compression, flexural and impact strengths among all the materials studied (0-30 wt% of HA) [34]. In another study, 3D printing of bone implant has been attempted with HA-PLA composite for different wt% of HA (i.e., 5, 10 and 15%), which shows improvement in the mechanical characteristics of bulk and 3D-printed trabecular bone model, although the printing quality is found to degrade with the increase of HA contents [35]. In recent studies, PLA matrix and carbon nanotube (CNT) reinforcement are used to make CNT-reinforced PLA composite using the SLS AM method. It is reported that CNT aids in improving the mechanical performance, increasing the Young's modulus by around 17% for 0.1 wt% and by an additional 20% for 0.2 wt% compared to the pure PLA [36]. The ultimate tensile strength was boosted by 10% from 86 MPa, while elongation lowered from 11 to 9%, when CNT concentration was raised to 0.5 wt%. Inclusion of Nano-clay (Cloisite 30B) in PLA composites resulted in improvement in dynamic mechanical properties, such as, 15% increase in modulus of elasticity with better shape stability during printing [37]. The PLA-CNT composites in the FDM process at a CNT concentration of 1 wt% showed relatively better mechanical properties for the range of CNT concentration tested (0.1 to 1 wt%). The infill of a honeycomb structure during the printing of PLA composites has also demonstrated encouraging mechanical and thermal stability features. [38].

Addition of $ZnFe_2O_4$ particles (0–14%) in AM ABS composite helps to increase overall mechanical and thermal properties, such as, 52% increase in tensile strength, 87% increase in thermal conductivity, and 75% increase in hardness [37]. With multi-wall carbon nanotube (MWCNT) coating during FDM, ABS composite also showed a substantial increase in tensile strength. Printing with FDM using 15wt% MWCNT with 5% proprietary adhesive and 80% ABS resin demonstrated a 25.6% raise in tensile strength and a 5.65% increase in elongation [30]. Even the 1% Nano MMT (montmorillonite) reinforcement with ABS demonstrated a 25.8% higher tensile strength and a 17.1% increase in flexural strength, outperforming the other combination of this study with the 1% MWCNT, SiO₂, and CaCO₃ reinforcements.

Since graphene particles block the UV signal, utilizing SLA to polymerize composites with more than 5 weight percent of this nanofiller can be difficult [26]. The use of graphene oxide (GO) with only 0.2% can improve the mechanical characteristics, such as tensile strength by 62%. In addition, the use of GO as reinforcement improved plasticity in order to get over the restriction of strengthening by graphene particles [39]. Another study for PLA composite via FDM process found that 0.2 wt% graphene content yielded superior results than 0.1 and 0.5 wt% of graphene content. The 0.2 wt% graphene content resulted in an increase in elastic modulus by 17% and an increase in ultimate tensile strength (UTS) by 47%. Reduced graphene oxide (rGO) particles have also been used as reinforcements with PLA and ABS composites to improve the electrical properties of the AM composites [40].

In SLS AM, nanosilica, MWT (Montmorillonite), CNF, MWCNT particles have been used with PA composites. For nanosilica-PA12 (Nylon-12) composite, it was found that there are increase in tensile strength, tensile modulus, and impact strength by approximately 20%, 40% and 9.5%, respectively [41]. However, adding Multi-Walled Carbon Nanotubes (MWCNT) at a concentration of 0.1 weight percent to PLA composites increased the materials' Young's modulus and UTS by 26% and 41%, respectively [30]. However, the elongation of PLA composite with graphene and MWCNT decreased. The polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) with zirconium tungstate particles were found to have good printability and dimensional stability, while lowering the mechanical properties [42].

3.3 Fiber Reinforced Composites in AM

In both conventional manufacturing and additive manufacturing, fibers serve as a common reinforcing element for composites. When compared to conventional molding composites, the main drawback of AM objects is the interfacial connection between the 3D printed path and interlayer, and porosity [43]. During the 3D printing process, FDM has the capacity to handle both short and long fibers. Fibers can be added to the polymer matrix to enhance their mechanical, electrical, thermal, and geometrical accuracy [10]. Continuous fibers can withstand higher tension loads when load is applied to the composite in parallel to the fibers. As it produces better mechanical performance in tensile loading than the other configuration of composites, continuous fibers have gained popularity among many researchers for their outstanding enhancement in mechanical properties.

Figure 9 represents the preparation of feed stock by extrusion for any thermoplastics used in additive manufacturing. There is a hopper to feed the expected materials to feed in the form of resin or powder. Heaters are used to soften these materials and screw act as a pusher to compress and pass through the nozzle of user specific size.



Fig. 9 Schematic diagram of extrusion process for making matrix and reinforcement spool for 3D printing [44]

Finally, a diameter controller will be in action to control the feed stock diameter with tolerances. Discontinuous or particle-based reinforcement (i.e., short carbon fiber) can be used to create the feed stock or filaments which will be used for 3D printing.

Different techniques have been adopted in FDM to add short fiber, long fiber and continuous fiber in polymer-based composite. Figure 10a represents the short fiber reinforced polymer (SFRP) printing where a single nozzle has been used to print. In feed stock short fiber has already been placed inside the roll during extrusion process. Figure 10b, c represent the continuous fiber placement via one nozzle and two nozzles respectively in FDM type AM. For single nozzle, continuous reinforcement has been placed together with the melted matrix. Fiber is placed in the printed object in the same raster angle as the nozzle path. Whereas with two nozzle systems, matrix and continuous fiber can be placed independently in different locations of the layer, which adds additional flexibility in designing AM composite parts.

3.4 Inorganic Fibers Reinforced AM Composites

Fibers used for AM polymer composite can be broadly divided into two types: continuous and discontinuous fibers. A continuous fiber reinforced polymer composite prototype was created and patented in 2014 using traditional tape placement and the FDM printing technology via material extrusion. During this 3D printing method, the matrix is melted and continuously supplied by one nozzle while continuous fibers are fed by another. Carbon fiber, glass, kevlar, jute, ultra-high molecular weight polyethylene (UHMWPE), and other continuous fibers are commonly utilized in 3D printing processes. The tensile strength of carbon, glass, UHMWPE and kevlar fibers ranges from 2.20 to 3.5 GPa. Alternatively, jute fiber from natural resources has a lower tensile strength of approximately 0.42 GPa than other fibers. Carbon fiber is the most popular reinforcement material for 3D printed composites because of its stiffness and strength [46].



Fig. 10 a FDM printer for polymers and SFRP. b Co-extrusion FDM printer for CFRP. c Double nozzle-extrusion FDM printer for CFRPs [45] (*Open Source*)

There are mainly two types of inorganic fibers: continuous and discontinuous fibers. Figure 11 presents the mechanical properties of polymer composites with inorganic fibers in FFF type AM. It can be seen from the plot that researchers have tried different combinations of fibers in mostly three thermoplastics (ABS, PLA and Nylon). Carbon fiber with epoxy resin base has constitute stronger composite than other studied thermoplastics. Nylon composites also have good mechanical properties with fiber reinforcements [47].

There are different 3D printers available on the market which are composite specific. There is no single printer that can handle all types of composites. Figure 12 illustrates these printers' capability of printing different composites. Among them, Markforged has the versatile capability of printing nylon composites with glass fiber (GF), carbon fiber (CF) and kevlar reinforcements. 3DXTECH can handle carbon fiber and glass fiber with different thermoplastics to manufacture polymer composites.

Peng et al. performed research on the short carbon fiber reinforced composite with nylon matrix in FDM AM in 2022 [48]. This study aims to investigate the behavior of printed gyroid structures under compression and buckling stresses. Figure 13 shows SEM images of FDM fabricated gyroid structure which seems to be a complex geometry for FDM printing. The investigation showed that the direction of the printing



Fig. 11 Mechanical properties for different type of inorganic fiber with commonly used thermoplastic for FFF based additive manufacturing

process affects Young's modulus of this construction. Printing's compressive properties are influenced by the number of unit cells applied [48]. In 2022, Li et al. [49] reported 3D printing of continuous carbon fiber (CCF) reinforced onyx (CCF/Onyx) thermo-plastic composite fastener (TPCF). The 'Onyx' filament was a mixture of chopped carbon fiber and nylon matrix. In addition to using 'Onyx', continuous carbon fiber was used for reinforcements in critical locations. Investigations have been conducted into the part's durability and the reason for failure when used in a single lap joint. The stiffness and strength of fasteners increased by 73% and 196%, respectively, as compared to a short carbon fiber-based composite, with the volume addition of 40% CCF. With the use of heat treatment, the prior increment was increased by an additional 20.35% [49].

6 Composite Based Additive Manufacturing



Fig. 12 FDM with composite with 3D printing machine; fiber: Carbon fibre (CF), Glass fibre (GF) and Kevlar (KF); matrix: polyether ether ketone (PEEK), acrylonitrile butadiene styrene (ABS), polylactic acid (PLA) and nylon [45] (*Open Source*)



Fig. 13 SEM image of composite by FDM; (b) fabricated gyroid structures samples [48]

3.5 Natural Fibers Reinforced AM Composites

Natural fiber has become popular in the field of 3D printing of bio-composites. The process of manufacturing natural fiber reinforced polymer composites can be considered as a sustainable manufacturing process. Natural fibers are gathered from nature, more especially, from the environment, animals, and plants. Natural fibers are more desirable than inorganic fibers due to their biodegradability and recycling potential [50]. The output of natural fibers exceeded 113.6 Mtons (million metric tons) in 2021 [51], which makes it clear why there is an increase in the usage of natural fiber globally. For the majority of natural fiber reinforced composites, the zone around the interface is the primary area of concern due to stress concentrations triggered by weak interfaces, leading to poor mechanical characteristics. Weak interfaces are frequently internal defects caused by insufficient adhesion between the fibers and the polymer matrix or porosity brought on by gas diffusion [52]. The interfacial cohesion may be improved not only through modifying the surface properties but also by choosing the appropriate filler and matrix combinations, and the fiber content acts an essential part in enhancing mechanical performance.

The starch composite gel has been evaluated for additive manufacturing by Cui et al. [53], and it has a promising printability. In order to examine the behaviors of the resulting gel in terms of hardness, gumminess, apparent viscosity, and springiness, the levels of sodium alginate and xanthan gum have been varied in a starch composite gel made of potato starch, sodium alginate, xanthan gum, and water in a specific ratio. By adding the right amount of thickening agent to the mixing solution before 3D printing, morphological stability has been improved after printing [53].

Figure 14 shows the combination of commonly used thermoplastic and its natural fiber-based composites [2]. The PLA–Bagasse has the highest flexural strength of value 91.25 MPa and modulus of elasticity 8.2 GPa, whereas PE–Kenaf composite has promising tensile strength and impact strength 93.4 MPa and 87.1 kJ/m² respectively.

4 Effect of 3D Printing Parameters on AM Composites

During additive manufacturing of polymer composite, 3D printing parameters play a vital role in the quality of the printed composite part. First, the composite part was designed by computer aided design which was later converted into STL file. This STL file is later fed into the printer specific slicing software to create the Gcode (geometric code) for the 3D printer. 3D printer will follow the G-code and will fabricate the parts by following raster pattern by the nozzle. Figure 15 shows different printing parameters which can be broadly divided into two categories. These are device parameters and laying parameters. Nozzle related parameters like nozzle size and nozzle temperature belong to device parameters. In addition to this, platform temperature is one of the key device parameters which has an influence on the 3D printed parts. Laying parameters consists of infill pattern and density with air gap, raster angle and orientation with perimeters, layer height and width etc. Figure 15 represents the schematic diagram indicating all layering parameters that are used to move the build platform in X, Y and Z direction. The common parameters that influence the part quality are infill pattern, infill density, void content, and raster angle.


Fig. 14 Natural fiber source and its composites



Fig. 15 3D Printing parameters during additively manufacturing [54] (Open Access)



Fig. 16 Ultimate tensile strength of PLA and PLA/ short carbon composite based on different raster angle and printing layer height

To understand the effect of printing parameters on the properties of AM parts, Kovan et al. [55], had carried out 3D printing of Neat PLA and PLA/short carbon fiber reinforced composites with three widely used raster angles and with two-layer thicknesses of 0.2 mm and 0.4 mm. He studied the ultimate tensile strength (UTS) for these cases. Figure 16 shows the comparative UTS for different combinations of raster angle and layer thickness. It was found from this study that for lower layer thickness for both PLA and PLA/Carbon composite, higher UTS found at raster angle of 45 degree and with the reinforcement with short carbon fiber. The combination of lower thickness with 45-degree raster angle results in approximately 71.5% increase in UTS for the short fiber reinforced PLA/carbon composite, which is the highest among all cases tested. However, for layer thickness of 0.40 mm, raster angle of 90 degree resulted in higher UTS than others for both pure PLA and PLA/Carbon composites. Separation between layers is prominent due to the presence of short carbon fiber in the PLA/carbon composite.

Peng et al. [56], 2021 has studied the effect of printing parameters on mechanical properties of PEEK and its composite with carbon fiber and glass fiber. It can be observed from Fig. 17 that UTS, flexural strength and impact energy decrease with the increase of layer thickness and printing speed, whereas increase with nozzle temperature and platform temperature. The optimum point of mechanical characteristics of printed CF/PEEK and GF/PEEK are found at a platform temperature of 280 °C and a nozzle temperature of 440 °C. This is because higher nozzle temperature enhances the fluidity and formability through melting for printable feedstock. A hotter platform ensures infiltration and diffusion between deposited filaments and interlayers by providing additional heat energy to it. As a result, this combination helps to increase interlayer adhesion and decrease internal porosity. On the other hand, higher printing speed and layer thickness have detrimental effects on the printed parts. Slower printing speed and smaller layer thickness lead to stable printing path



Fig. 17 Mechanical properties of PEEK, PEEK/CF and PEEK GF composite based on different printing parameters

with better extrusion capability and increase the adhesion characteristics with other layers.

5 Post Processing of Composites in AM

To implement faster manufacturing of user specific complex geometry, additive manufacturing is becoming popular over the traditional manufacturing process. Fused deposition modeling (FDM) is the most widely used 3D printed technique adopted by many users of different fields. One of the major concerns related to 3D printed objects is the surface finish of the printed part, which is mostly due to the staircase

effects. In order to reduce these staircase effects, various strategies can be implemented. However, some of these strategies may start affecting the geometrical tolerances and others may change the mechanical properties of the object by adding more heterogeneity in the composition of the additively manufactured polymer composites. Dimensional accuracy or tolerance of the printed polymer composite parts remains to be another challenge or shortcoming for 3D printing of fiber reinforced polymer composites.

Surface roughness produced by additive manufacturing processes affects the end product's appearance and functional use. The surface quality can be improved using post-processing methods including sand blasting, polishing, machining, or chemical treatments. In addition to this, post processing like annealing or heat treatment enhances the mechanical properties by improving toughness, stiffness, and strength of printed parts. Furthermore, dimensional accuracy is one of the major problems for 3D printed parts. Surface grinding, trimming or subtractive machining need to be used to achieve the geometrical tolerances as per user specification. The moisture absorption of polymer composites leads to altering the dimensions which degrades the overall load bearing capabilities. In order to protect from this problem, watertight coating or sealing is usually used in 3D printed parts. In the following section, a brief overview of different post-processing techniques is provided.

5.1 Chemical Post Processing

Acetone is a widely used chemical for the chemical treatment of 3D printed polymer composites which improves isotropy of the composite by improving the surface finish significantly (97%), although the better mechanical properties become weaker for the chemical reaction [57]. In this process, the 3D printed object either is submerged into a chemical solution for a definite time or chemical can be supplied in the form of cold or hot vapor. Sometimes chemicals are used to increase the fiber-matrix bonding, resulting in reduction in fiber pull out defects in the 3D printed fiber reinforced polymer composites [45].

5.2 Laser Treatment Process

Additively manufactured polymer composited often treated for surface roughness by laser exposure with a specific curing time. As shown in Fig. 18, by laser power, heat is generated and staircase like roughness melts and forms a relatively plain surface, which results in a better surface finish for this object [58]. From the study of Chen et al. (2019), Laser treatment in Aluminium fiber in PLA Matrix had not only improved the surface finish but also improved the tensile strength of PLA/Al composite.



Fig. 18 Schematic representation of the remelting mechanism (a) and scanning direction and FDM deposition line direction (b) [60]

A recently adopted technique by AREVO company showed reduction of porosity the polymer composite parts in Directed Energy Deposition (DED) method. The method aims to reduce the porosity and enable the carbon fiber composite to have nearly 50% fiber in the composite with laser heating and compaction. The end goal is an increased specific strength of the AM composite object [59].

5.3 Heat Treatment Process: Annealing

Heat Treatment is one of the most popular post processing methods to improve the overall performance of an AM composite, especially those fabricated by the FDM technique. Heating above the glass transition temperature makes it possible to fill up the void and recrystallization helps to create better surface finish with improved mechanical characteristics. As shown in Fig. 19, post processing by heat treatment and chemical treatment impacted the surface finish and void formation. A temperature window can be selected for a specific composite for postprocessing heat treatment. For example, a temperature between the glass transition temperature of matrix polymer and material softening temperature where the 3D printed object starts deforming can be used for heat treatment. The suitable annealing temperature can shift in between the glass transition temperature for semicrystalline polymer composites [61].

5.4 Ultrasound Treatment Process

Ultrasonic vibration during the FDM AM process helps to create compact layers with reduced porosity without altering other characteristics of AM objects negatively. Maidin et al. (2015) had found in their study that 21 kHz ultrasound vibration provided better surface finish for PLA composite [62]. Figure 20 represents an actual set up where ultrasonic vibration has been applied on the paste color joints for void reduction.



Fig. 19 SEM images for tensile specimen PLA matrix (20 μ m) and carbon fiber (10 μ m); heat treated: **a** section **b** surface; chemical post processed: **c** section **d** surface [61]



Fig. 20 Representation of ultrasound treatment during FDM 3D printing [45] (*Open Access*)

5.5 Post-processing with Machining

In addition to the existing challenges of dimensional accuracy and surface finish, AM objects may need machining, i.e., drilling, milling, turning, surface grinding, etc., for the sake of fitting in an assembly or to make these objects functionally usable. Machining operations are extensively used in aerospace and automotive industries to

machine conventionally manufactured laminated fiber reinforced polymer composites [63]. As a result, there is a potential of using machining as a post-processing technique for 3D printed polymer composites.

Milling operation is mostly used for two purposes in the milling of fiber reinforced polymer composite: one is slot milling to machine slot inside the workpiece and the other is edge milling to finish the outer surface of the part to meet geometrical tolerances. FDM is the most commonly used 3D printing technique for composite additive manufacturing, whereas thermoplastics are the material of choice for composite 3D printing for its low melting point and bonding nature with reinforcement. These characteristics of thermoplastics make these composites suitable for additive manufacturing, however, making this more challenging for traditional machining. Cococcetta et al. [63, 64] studied the slot milling operation of 3D printed carbon fiber reinforced polymer (CFRP) composites for different lubricant conditions: dry, MQL and cryogenic machining. Cryogenic machining showed promising machining outcome in slot milling operation of CFRP with better machined surface and lower tool wear. In order to understand machining behaviors, researchers are working on predictive modelling with the help of the Finite Element Method. Hassan et al., has developed a model to simulate the behaviors of both laminated and 3D printed CFRP composites and was able to find out the physics involved in decohesion and delamination evolution during the micro slot milling operation of 3D printed CFRP composites [65-67].

Rao et al. [68] has studied the effect of conventional drilling process on the 3D printed polymer composite in tension and compared this with AM-fabricated hole during 3D printing, Figure 21 illustrates different types of conventional drill bit tested in their study. The nylon matrix with chopped carbon fiber (ONYX) and continuous glass fiber (CGF) were added to print the polymer composite. After that the printed samples were tested for tensile strength with the variation of 3D printed parameters., i.e., infill density, the pattern of printing, raster angle etc. [66]. It was found that conventionally drilled composite can take higher strength (118 MPa) than the 3D printer fabricated holes (108 MPa). For infill density of 50% and 0-degree raster angle, maximum tensile strength was achieved. Another similar studiy on drilling of 3D printed CFRP composites with different tool geometry has been carried out by the same group of researchers. Slot type drilling showed better performance than the other two drill bits (8 Facet and Dragger type) in terms of geometrical tolerance. However, '8 Facet Drill' showed superior performance on chip removal and contact interaction which showed lower cutting and thrust forces. With the increase of rotational speed, heat generation was high which was due to poor heat removal from the machined surface and chip clogging at higher feed rate.

Fig. 21 Different geometry used in CFRP drilling performance [69]



6 Mechanical Properties of Composites

Self-reinforced PLA composite is one of the popular biodegradable composites with the added advantage of recycling [70]. For self-reinforcement of any composite, two versions of matrix materials will be needed. One with relatively high melting temperature as reinforcement and another with low melting temperature which will be used as matrix. In order to use PLA as reinforcement, various treatments are available, such as heat treatment, annealing, etc. Using this reinforcement with semi crystalline PLA and amorphous multifilament PLA, composites with approximately 23% and 41% increase in ultimate tensile strength can be obtained [70].

Another commonly used thermoplastic in Fused Filament Fabrication (FFF) is ABS (acrylonitrile butadiene styrene). The most popular reinforcement in FFF is short carbon (SC) fibers. Many researchers have worked on ABS composites to explore their mechanical properties and other performance parameters and make the carbon fiber reinforced ABS composites useful for industrial application. Iyer et al., 2022 has obtained variation in tensile strength, young's modulus and fracture toughness based on the raster angle of FDM AM of short carbon reinforced ABS (SCRF-ABS). It is intuitive that any composite has the highest strength when load is applied in parallel with the fiber orientation direction or the printing path direction. Elastic modulus, tensile strength, flexural modulus, fracture toughness of SCRF-ABS for raster angle 0° are found to be 4.6 GPa, 31.5 MPa, 47.0 MPa and 3.2 MPa \sqrt{m} , respectively. Which are reduced by 35%, 22%, 17% and 19% respectively with the increase of raster angle to 15° [71].

Many researchers focused on using continuous fiber in 3D printing (CF-3DP) to enhance the composites' load bearing properties. Zhuo et al. [72] has studied the use of continuous carbon/ PA6 commingled fibers in 3D printing of polymer composite. Pultrusion is one type of continuous composite manufacturing process with a steady profile of constant cross section, which can be used on mass scale of production. This



Fig. 22 Illustration of tensile fracture mechanism of additively manufactured Al/PLA composite specimen [60]

method has been used for printing continuous fiber in a commonly used pure plastic FFF printer designed for CF-3DP process. Post processing was followed by heating inside an oven with vacuum bagging to improve the bonding. With a 45% fiber content and 0.5–2% in porosity the printed polymer composite provided a tensile modulus of 61.1 GPa. The tensile strength of carbon/PA6 fiber reinforced composite was found to be 1432 MPa which is 24% lower than PA6 UD tapes composite at 0-degree raster orientation. It has a satisfactory performance of tensile loading toward the reinforcement direction [72].

Figure 22 shows the evolution of different failures in tensile loading of Al/PLA polymer composites. Gas porosities are created due to the temperature gradient after printing, especially when the printed part solidifies. Delamination mainly happened due to the discrepancy between the actual feed rate and predetermined feed rate of feedstock during the extrusion process. Air gaps are mainly generated by the nozzle type and diameter, and printing speed. When these defects persist in AM parts, fracture initiated from one or more defects during tensile testing, which results in fiber breakage, fiber pull out, and delamination [60].

Rimašauskas et al., 2022 has studied 3D printing of PLA composite with continuous carbon fiber in FDM method. Figure 23 represents the flow of experiments, where the main agenda was air void detection by computed tomography and to find its dependence with line width and layer thickness during 3D printing. Mechanical properties are found to be enhanced by using lower line width and layer thickness during FDM process. Among the samples, the best results were reported on 1 mm line width with a thickness of 0.30 mm. For the best 3D printing conditions, tensile strength of 183 MPa and Young's modulus of 23.77 GPa were obtained with the lowest air void volume of 18.5%. A string conclusion from this study is that air void amount can be optimized by changing the process parameters during the 3D printing process [73].



Fig. 23 Research strategy of continuous fiber in 3D printing [73]

7 Latest Research Work on Other Properties Enhancement

Mohan et al. (2022) has reviewed recent research studies and summarized the work on the Aluminium based composite additive manufacturing. They discussed diverse manufacturing techniques to enhance properties of resultant composites in powderbased additive manufacturing (PAM). It has been reported that pre-processing of raw materials, powder morphology and reinforcement types and materials used have a significant impact on composites' microstructure. The surface morphology of the composite depends on the flowability of powders in the 3D Printers. Carbides were frequently used for the PAM process to enhance composite's properties. Titanium and Tantalum carbide are being used to improve the hardness of any composite, whereas Niobium, Tungsten and Silicon Carbide are used for enhancing wear resistance. In order to reduce the oxidation, Hafnium and Chromium carbide are being used as reinforcement for the composites. Zirconium Carbide is used for improving thermal stability, whereas Molybdenum Carbide helps to include exceptional thermal conductivity. In has been shown that 3D printed composites have low power consumption and lesser wastage than conventionally processed metal composites [74].

Almuallim et al. [75] has carried out 3D printing of polymer composites with a goal of enhancing thermal conductivity. In commonly used pristine polymers, the thermal conductivity is in the range of 0.1-0.3 Wm⁻¹ K⁻¹. In order to increase overall thermal conductivity, aluminum nitride, aluminum oxide, boron nitride, carbon nanotube, diamond, graphene, graphite, metal particles, and silicon nitride are used in the polymer matrix. Commonly used metallic fillers are copper, iron, aluminium, zinc and stainless steel etc. Using copper particles in polypropylene matrix with a filler percentage of 24% resulted in twice the thermal conductivity from 0.24 to 2.45 Wm⁻¹ K⁻¹ [7, 77]. In addition to this, inclusion of zinc powder with polyethylene achieved 1.7 Wm⁻¹ K⁻¹ with 20% filler percentage [9, 78]. The most frequently used carbon-based fillers are carbon nanotubes and graphite, based on last two decades'

published work. A good thermal conductivity of 695 $Wm^{-1} K^{-1}$ has been achieved with 56% carbon fiber in epoxy resin matrix [10, 79] with low mass density. Graphite filler with polymer matrix resulted in an increase in thermal conductivity from 0.40 $Wm^{-1} K^{-1}$ to 28.3 $Wm^{-1} K^{-1}$ and 0.25 $Wm^{-1} K^{-1}$ to 13.9 $Wm^{-1} K^{-1}$ [12, 80]. In addition to filler inclusion, level of loading, filler type, filler size, and filler shape have a significant impact on thermal conductivity of AM polymer composites.

Nguyena et al. [81], has used FDM process to manufacture GTR-ABS composites by using waste ground tire rubber (GTR) with the ABS matrix. One advantage of this type of filler is that it is inexpensive, increases the reuse potential from automobiles waste, can be recycled, and it decreases the overall weight of GTR-ABS composite. The increased content of GTR content increased the damping capacity of the composite. As high as 260% increase of damping capacity of this composite was observed after adding GTR reinforcement [81].

Sun et al. [82] developed a layered ceramic/CFRP composite 3D printing process to increase the mechanical performance of this composite. They used poly methyl methacrylate (PMMA), carbon fiber reinforced PMMA (Comma) and ZrO₂ for successful 3D printing followed by methyl methacrylate polymerization. It has been found from the study that overall mechanical properties like flexural strength and fracture toughness of the composite highly depend on ceramic content on the composite. Composite with carbon fiber showed better performance than the PMMA in the composite. Ceramic content by 70% volume showed excellent performances such as strength of 658 MPa and fracture toughness of 15.70 MPa m^{1/2} [82].

Kergariou et al. [83] studied the effect of moisture content on AM continuous flax fiber reinforced PLA composites with a fiber content of 30% vol. Porosity of these specimens has been estimated under ethanol and dry condition, which varied 4.32–6% and 2.733.6%, respectively. One of the key findings from this study is that the strength and stiffness of the polymer composite decreased exponentially with the increase in moisture content. Figure 24 shows the matrix–fiber interaction under loading and the condition that lead to fracture. More specifically, shear strength and transverse strength of the composite decreased by 48% and 44% respectively, with the increase in moisture content from 10 to 98%. The interlaminar delamination, debonding, and the crack propagation ways in the composite are shown in Fig. 24 [83].

8 Future Research Scope

In spite of the tremendous benefit of Additive Manufacturing (AM) for manufacturing fiber reinforced polymer composites, some limitations have been reported in the literature, which can be addressed in future research. Some of the inherent problems of 3D printed parts are porosity, staircase effect, geometrical accuracy and surface finish. It is expected to get better mechanical properties in 3D printed parts by engineering reinforcement materials and orientations of reinforcements. However, mechanical properties of AM polymer composites reported currently are notably



Fig. 24 Schematics of different ways the cracks propagate in the transverse specimens (left side). Fracture evolution due to shear damage (right side) [83]

lower than the convention polymer composites because of its void content. Research may continue to minimize the porosity level in 3D printed parts as well as design various internal structures with high load bearing capacity.

To adopt 3D printing techniques in mainstream manufacturing, existing 3D printing techniques and equipment need to be upgraded to such a level that can overcome the limitation of low productivity, surface finish and tolerance level.

The versatility of materials used for 3D printing of polymer composites is required to increase, which is now limited to mostly thermoplastic polymers with low glass transition temperature and printable viscosity. Future research should focus on 3D printing of other polymers using new and innovative reinforcement materials to improve overall mechanical properties and product performance of 3D printed polymer composites.

To assess failure behavior and forecast the process of failure progression, finite element analysis (FEA) simulation may be used to efficiently reveal the product manufacturing technique. Although there is still a need for more studies on the defect analysis in the additive manufacturing processes, FEA is unquestionably an effective tool for analyzing the structure of polymer composite materials and forecasting failure behavior of composites [84].

9 Conclusion

Additive manufacturing (AM) has made substantial progress with the help of many researchers' restless effort to bring this to light. Despite inherent limitations of 3D printed composites, i.e., anisotropy, porosity, interfacial bonding, geometrical precision, thermal stability, etc., researchers have tried diverse ways to enhance properties of 3D printed composites by using different reinforcements, and printing techniques. To make additive manufacturing of composite at a large scale, extensive research

studies need to be carried out. As the global demand for green manufacturing and sustainable manufacturing are increasing, future research on polymer composite should consider recycling, reusing, biodegradability requirement, and use of natural sources of fiber and matrix as a priority. Lightweight polymer composite with load bearing internal structure is now a need for many high-performance applications. As a result, different structures are also explored in 3D printing of polymer composites for good stability and improved mechanical properties. To meet the current need of 3D printed polymer composites and to make AM composites feasible for commercial use, it will need extensive research to explore the undiscovered areas and overcome the limitations of 3D printed composites.

References

- Park S-J, Seo M-K (2011) Types of composites. In: Interface science and technology, vol 18. Elsevier, pp 501–629
- 2. Adapa SK (2023) Prospects of natural fiber-reinforced polymer composites for additive manufacturing applications: a review. JOM, 1–21
- https://www.uammi.org/new/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/03-Jeff-DeGrange_Wasatch-Front-Material-Expo_March-2018.pdf. Accessed 5 Dec 2022
- Bikas H, Stavropoulos P, Chryssolouris G (2016) Additive manufacturing methods and modelling approaches: a critical review. Int J Adv Manuf Technol 83(1):389–405
- Butscher A, Bohner M, Hofmann S, Gauckler L, Müller R (2011) Structural and material approaches to bone tissue engineering in powder-based three-dimensional printing. Acta Biomater 7(3):907–920
- 6. Wong KV, Hernandez A (2012) A review of additive manufacturing. International scholarly research notices
- 7. Kazmer D (2017) Three-dimensional printing of plastics. In: Applied plastics engineering handbook. William Andrew Publishing, pp 617–634
- Razavykia A, Brusa E, Delprete C, Yavari R (2020) An overview of additive manufacturing technologies—a review to technical synthesis in numerical study of selective laser melting. Materials 13(17):3895. https://doi.org/10.3390/ma13173895
- Mohan N, Senthil P, Vinodh S, Jayanth N (2017) A review on composite materials and process parameters optimisation for the fused deposition modelling process. Virtual Phys Prototyp 12(1):47–59
- Wang Y, Zhou Y, Lin L, Corker J, Fan M (2020) Overview of 3D additive manufacturing (AM) and corresponding AM composites. Compos A Appl Sci Manuf 139:106114
- Guessasma S, Abouzaid K, Belhabib S, Bassir D, Nouri H (2022) Interfacial behaviour in polymer composites processed using droplet-based additive manufacturing. Polymers 14(5):1013
- 12. Kamrani AK, Nasr EA (2010) Engineering design and rapid prototyping. Springer Science & Business Media
- Mekonnen BG, Bright G, Walker A (2016) A study on state of the art technology of laminated object manufacturing (LOM). In: CAD/CAM, robotics and factories of the future. Springer, New Delhi, pp 207–216
- Cosmi F, Dal Maso A (2020) A mechanical characterization of SLA 3D-printed specimens for low-budget applications. Mater Today: Proc 32:194–201
- Wang X, Jiang M, Zhou Z, Gou J, Hui D (2017) 3D printing of polymer matrix composites: a review and prospective. Compos B Eng 11:442–458
- 16. https://www.custompartnet.com/wu/stereolithography—open access. Accessed 5 Dec 2022

- Wang Q, Liu X, Qiang Z, Hu Z, Cui X, Wei H, ..., Chen Y (2022) Cellulose nanocrystal enhanced, high dielectric 3D printing composite resin for energy applications. Compos Sci Technol 227:109601
- Tang HH, Chiu ML, Yen HC (2011) Slurry-based selective laser sintering of polymer-coated ceramic powders to fabricate high strength alumina parts. J Eur Ceram Soc 31(8):1383–1388
- Shahzad K, Deckers J, Zhang Z, Kruth J-P, Vleugels J (2014) Additive manufacturing of zirconia parts by indirect selective laser sintering. J Eur Ceram Soc 34:81–89. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jeurceramsoc.2013.07.023
- Hu Y, Ning F, Cong W, Li Y, Wang X, Wang H (2018) Ultrasonic vibration-assisted laser engineering net shaping of ZrO2-Al2O3 bulk parts: Effects on crack suppression, microstructure, and mechanical properties. Ceram Int 44(3):2752–2760
- Impens D, Urbanic RJ (2015) Assessing the impact of post-processing variables on tensile and compression characteristics for 3D printed components. IFAC-PapersOnLine 48(3):652–657
- Chung H, Das S (2006) Processing and properties of glass bead particulate-filled functionally graded Nylon-11 composites produced by selective laser sintering. Mater Sci Eng, A 437(2):226–234
- 23. Boparai KS, Singh R, Fabbrocino F, Fraternali F (2016) Thermal characterization of recycled polymer for additive manufacturing applications. Compos B Eng 106:42–47
- Bakhshi R, Mohammadi-Zerankeshi M, Mehrabi-Dehdezi M, Alizadeh R, Labbaf S, Abachi P (2023) Additive manufacturing of PLA-Mg composite scaffolds for hard tissue engineering applications. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater, 105655
- Vakharia VS, Kuentz L, Salem A, Halbig MC, Salem JA, Singh M (2021) Additive manufacturing and characterization of metal particulate reinforced polylactic acid (PLA) polymer composites. Polymers 13(20):3545. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym13203545
- Wang D, Huang X, Li J, He B, Liu Q, Hu L, Jiang G (2018) 3D printing of graphene-doped target for "matrix-free" laser desorption/ionization mass spectrometry. Chem Commun 54(22):2723– 2726
- 27. Nikzad M, Masood SH, Sbarski I (2011) Thermo-mechanical properties of a highly filled polymeric composites for fused deposition modeling. Mater Des 32(6):3448–3456
- Hwang S, Reyes EI, Moon KS, Rumpf RC, Kim NS (2015) Thermo-mechanical characterization of metal/polymer composite filaments and printing parameter study for fused deposition modeling in the 3D printing process. J Electron Mater 44(3):771–777
- 29. Torrado Perez AR, Roberson DA, Wicker RB (2014) Fracture surface analysis of 3D-printed tensile specimens of novel ABS-based materials. J Fail Anal Prev 14(3):343–353
- Cholleti ER, Gibson I (2018, December). ABS nano composite materials in additive manufacturing. In: IOP conference series: materials science and engineering, vol 455, no 1. IOP Publishing, p 012038
- Skorski MR, Esenther JM, Ahmed Z, Miller AE, Hartings MR (2016) The chemical, mechanical, and physical properties of 3D printed materials composed of TiO2-ABS nanocomposites. Sci Technol Adv Mater 17(1):89–97
- 32. Jagadeesh P, Puttegowda M, Mavinkere Rangappa S, Siengchin S (2021) Influence of nanofillers on biodegradable composites: a comprehensive review. Polym Compos 42(11):5691–5711
- Zhang Q, Lei H, Cai H, Han X, Lin X, Qian M, ..., Mateo W (2020) Improvement on the properties of microcrystalline cellulose/polylactic acid composites by using activated biochar. J Clean Prod 252:119898
- Petrovskaya TS, Toropkov NE, Mironov EG, Azarmi F (2018) 3D printed biocompatible polylactide-hydroxyapatite based material for bone implants. Mater Manuf Processes 33(16):1899–1904
- 35. Wu D, Spanou A, Diez-Escudero A, Persson C (2020) 3D-printed PLA/HA composite structures as synthetic trabecular bone: a feasibility study using fused deposition modeling. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater 103:103608
- Bai J, Goodridge RD, Hague RJ, Song M, Okamoto M (2014) Influence of carbon nanotubes on the rheology and dynamic mechanical properties of polyamide-12 for laser sintering. Polym Testing 36:95–100

- 6 Composite Based Additive Manufacturing
- Coppola B, Cappetti N, Di Maio L, Scarfato P, Incarnato L (2017) Layered silicate reinforced polylactic acid filaments for 3D printing of polymer nanocomposites. In: 2017 IEEE 3rd international forum on research and technologies for society and industry (RTSI), Modena, Italy. pp 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1109/RTSI.2017.8065892
- Plymill A, Minneci R, Greeley DA, Gritton J (2016) Graphene and carbon nanotube PLA composite feedstock development for fused deposition modeling
- Lin D, Jin S, Zhang F, Wang C, Wang Y, Zhou C, Cheng GJ (2015) 3D stereolithography printing of graphene oxide reinforced complex architectures. Nanotechnology 26(43):434003
- 40. Al Rashid A, Khan SA, Al-Ghamdi SG, Koc M (2021) Additive manufacturing of polymer nanocomposites: needs and challenges in materials, processes, and applications. J Market Res 14:910–941
- Chunze Y, Yusheng S, Jinsong Y, Jinhui L (2009) A nanosilica/nylon-12 composite powder for selective laser sintering. J Reinf Plast Compos 28(23):2889–2902
- 42. Momenzadeh N, Miyanaji H, Berfield TA (2019) Influences of zirconium tungstate additives on characteristics of polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) components fabricated via material extrusion additive manufacturing process. Int J Adv Manuf Technol 103:4713–4720
- Blok LG, Longana ML, Yu H, Woods BK (2018) An investigation into 3D printing of fibre reinforced thermoplastic composites. Addit Manuf 22:176–186
- 44. Mishra V, Negi S, Kar S (2023). FDM-based additive manufacturing of recycled thermoplastics and associated composites. J Mater Cycles Waste Manag, 1–27
- 45. Wickramasinghe S, Do T, Tran P (2020) FDM-based 3D printing of polymer and associated composite: A review on mechanical properties, defects and treatments. Polymers 12(7):1529
- 46. Tian X, Todoroki A, Liu T, Wu L, Hou Z, Ueda M, ..., Lu B (2022) 3D printing of continuous fiber reinforced polymer composites: development, application, and prospective. Chin J Mech Eng: Addit Manuf Front, 100016
- Goh GD, Yap YL, Agarwala S, Yeong WY (2019) Recent progress in additive manufacturing of fiber reinforced polymer composite. Advanced Materials Technologies 4(1):1800271
- Peng C, Tran P, Mouritz AP (2022) Compression and buckling analysis of 3D printed carbon fibre-reinforced polymer cellular composite structures. Compos Struct 300:116167
- Li W, Guo S, Giannopoulos IK, Lin M, Xiong Y, Liu Y, Shen Z (2022) 3D-printed thermoplastic composite fasteners for single lap joint reinforcement. Compos Struct 282:115085
- Ilyas RA, Sapuan SM, Harussani MM, Hakimi MYAY, Haziq MZM, Atikah MSN, ..., Asrofi M (2021) Polylactic acid (PLA) biocomposite: processing, additive manufacturing and advanced applications. Polymers 13(8):1326
- Chemiefaser I (2022) Worldwide Production Volume of Chemical and Textile Fibers from 1975 to 2021. https://www.statista.com/statistics/263154/worldwide-production-volume-of-textilefibers-since-1975/. Accessed 2 Dec 2022
- Ning F, Cong W, Qiu J, Wei J, Wang S (2015) Additive manufacturing of carbon fiber reinforced thermoplastic composites using fused deposition modeling. Compos B Eng 80:369–378
- 53. Cui Y, Li C, Guo Y, Liu X, Zhu F, Liu Z, ... , Yang F (2022) Rheological & 3D printing properties of potato starch composite gels. J Food Eng 313:110756
- Bakhtiari H, Aamir M, Tolouei-Rad M (2023) Effect of 3D printing parameters on the fatigue properties of parts manufactured by fused filament fabrication: a review. Appl Sci 13(2):904
- Kovan V, Tezel T, Camurlu HE, Topal ES (2018) Effect of printing parameters on mechanical properties of 3D printed PLA/carbon fibre composites. Mater Science Non-Equilib Phase Transform 4(4):126–128
- Peng WANG, Bin ZOU, Shouling DING, Lei LI, Huang C (2021) Effects of FDM-3D printing parameters on mechanical properties and microstructure of CF/PEEK and GF/PEEK. Chin J Aeronaut 34(9):236–246
- 57. Hambali RH, Cheong KM, Azizan N (2017, June) Analysis of the influence of chemical treatment to the strength and surface roughness of FDM. In: IOP conference series: materials science and engineering, vol 210, no 1. IOP Publishing, p 012063
- Taufik M, Jain PK (2017) Laser assisted finishing process for improved surface finish of fused deposition modelled parts. J Manuf Process 30:161–177

- 59. What is polymer directed energy deposition (DED) for 3D printing and how can it benefit you? (designworldonline.com) by Leslie Langnau; July 26, 2019
- Chen L, Zhang X (2019) Modification the surface quality and mechanical properties by laser polishing of Al/PLA part manufactured by fused deposition modeling. Appl Surf Sci 492:765– 775
- Guduru KK, Srinivasu G (2020) Effect of post treatment on tensile properties of carbon reinforced PLA composite by 3D printing. Mater Today: Proc 33:5403–5407
- 62. Maidin S, Muhamad MK, Pei E (2015) Feasibility study of ultrasonic frequency application on fdm to improve parts surface finish. Jurnal Teknologi 77(32)
- Cococcetta NM, Jahan MP, Schoop J, Ma J, Pearl D, Hassan M (2021) Post-processing of 3D printed thermoplastic CFRP composites using cryogenic machining. J Manuf Process 68:332– 346
- Cococcetta NM, Pearl D, Jahan MP, Ma J (2020) Investigating surface finish, burr formation, and tool wear during machining of 3D printed carbon fiber reinforced polymer composite. J Manuf Process 56, Part B:1304–1316
- Hassan M, Ma J, Jahan MP (2022) Numerical modeling and simulation of machining of 3D printed CFRP composite. Manuf Lett 33:415–427
- 66. Hassan M, Alimuzzaman Sk Md, Ma J, Jahan MP (2022) A comparative Numerical investigation on machining of laminated and 3D printed CFRP composites. In: Proceedings of the ASME 2022 international mechanical engineering congress & exposition (IMECE2022), Oct 30–Nov 03, 2022, Columbus, Ohio, USA. https://doi.org/10.1115/IMECE2022-95257
- 67. Hassan M, Ma J, Jahan MP (2021) numerical investigation into the cutting forces, chip formation mechanism, and burr formation during slot milling of laminated CFRP composites, IMECE2021-73310. In: Proceedings of the ASME 2021 international mechanical engineering congress & exposition IMECE 2021, November 1–5, 2021, Virtual Conference. https://doi.org/10.1115/IMECE2021-73310
- Rao GS, Paul R, Singh S, Debnath K (2022) Influence of conventionally drilled and additively fabricated hole on tensile properties of 3D-printed ONYX/CGF composites. J Mater Eng Perform, 1–13
- Das A, Rao GS, Debnath K, Mahapatra RN (2021) Parametric investigation on drilling behavior of 3D printed CFRP composites. In: Processing and characterization of materials. Springer, Singapore, pp 223–233
- Beauson J, Schillani G, Van der Schueren L, Goutianos S (2022) The effect of processing conditions and polymer crystallinity on the mechanical properties of unidirectional self-reinforced PLA composites. Compos A Appl Sci Manuf 152:106668
- Iyer SSG, Keles O (2022) Effect of raster angle on mechanical properties of 3D printed short carbon fiber reinforced acrylonitrile butadiene styrene. Composites Communications 32:101163
- 72. Zhao Y, Chen Y, Zhou Y (2019) Novel mechanical models of tensile strength and elastic property of FDM AM PLA materials: experimental and theoretical analyses. Mater Des 181:108089
- Rimašauskas M, Jasiūnienė E, Kuncius T, Rimašauskienė R, Cicėnas V (2022) Investigation of influence of printing parameters on the quality of 3D printed composite structures. Compos Struct 281:115061
- 74. Raj Mohan R, Venkatraman R, Raghuraman S, Kumar PM, Rinawa ML, Subbiah R, ..., Rajkumar S (2022) Processing of aluminium-silicon alloy with metal carbide as reinforcement through powder-based additive manufacturing: a critical study. Scanning
- Almuallim B, Harun WSW, Al Rikabi IJ, Mohammed HA (2022) Thermally conductive polymer nanocomposites for filament-based additive manufacturing. J Mater Sci, 1–27
- Luyt AS, Molefi JA, Krump H (2006) Thermal, mechanical and electrical properties of copper powder filled low-density and linear low-density polyethylene composites. Polym Degrad Stab 91(7):1629–1636
- Shi SQ, Gardner DJ (2006) Hygroscopic thickness swelling rate of compression molded wood fiberboard and wood fiber/polymer composites. Compos A Appl Sci Manuf 37(9):1276–1285

- 6 Composite Based Additive Manufacturing
- Rusu M, Sofian N, Rusu D (2001) Mechanical and thermal properties of zinc powder filled high density polyethylene composites. Polym Testing 20(4):409–417
- 79. Chen J, Shi YY, Yang JH, Zhang N, Huang T, Chen C, ..., Zhou ZW (2012) A simple strategy to achieve very low percolation threshold via the selective distribution of carbon nanotubes at the interface of polymer blends. J Mater Chem 22(42):22398–22404
- Ha SM, Lee HL, Lee SG, Kim BG, Kim YS, Won JC, ..., Yoo Y (2013) Thermal conductivity of graphite filled liquid crystal polymer composites and theoretical predictions. Compos Sci Technol 88:113–119
- Nguyen HT, Crittenden K, Weiss L, Bardaweel H (2022) Recycle of waste tire rubber in a 3D printed composite with enhanced damping properties. J Clean Prod 368:133085
- 82. Sun J, Yu S, Wade-Zhu J, Chen X, Binner J, Bai J (2022) 3D printing of layered ceramic/carbon fiber composite with improved toughness. Addit Manuf 50:102543
- 83. de Kergariou C, Saidani-Scott H, Perriman A, Scarpa F, Le Duigou A (2022) The influence of the humidity on the mechanical properties of 3D printed continuous flax fibre reinforced poly (lactic acid) composites
- Wu C, Xu F, Wang H, Liu H, Yan F, Ma C (2023) Manufacturing technologies of polymer composites—a review. Polymers 15(3):712

Chapter 7 Smart Materials Based Additive Manufacturing



Ajit Behera

Abstract Additive Manufacturing (AM) is a constructive industrial manufacturing process termed 3D printing. This is a computer-aided design in which threedimensional objects are fabricated by applying materials layer-by-layers. Various companies, from the medical to aerospace industries, are using AM. Additive manufacturing is beneficial for creating complex or custom parts. This is true whether you are using it for a new application or replacing an older part that is no longer available. In this era of intelligent technology, AM continues to evolve to keep up with today's demands. 3D printing or AM of time-dependent, stimulus-responsive, predetermined, self-calculated materials is referred to as 4D printing. This chapter describes the additive manufacturing of smart materials with a focus on different given stimulus conditions. In this chapter, we have discussed various applications of smart structures in additive manufacturing.

Keywords Additive manufacturing · Smart materials · 3D printing · Shape memory materials · Shape healing materials · Self-sensing · Self-actuating · Self-diagnosing · Shape-changing

1 Introduction

Additive manufacturing (AM) or 3D printing can produce structures with complex geometries that are impossible with traditional methods. In current decade, 3D printing has evolved to print functional components that can be applied in a wide range of applications, including health monitoring, food processing, electronics, electrochemistry, catalysis, thermal management, aerospace, energy storage, sensors and robotics [1–5]. AM technology has many advantages over traditional manufacturing processes such as great dimensional adaptability, no assembly, no tooling, no

A. Behera (🖂)

S. Rajendrachari (ed.), Practical Implementations of Additive Manufacturing

Technologies, Materials Horizons: From Nature to Nanomaterials, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-5949-5_7

Department of Metallurgical & Materials Engineering, National Institute of Technology, Rourkela 769008, India e-mail: ajit.behera88@gmail.com; beheraajit@nitrkl.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2024

machining, short lead times, efficient material utilization and the potential to produce functionally graded and multimaterial sections. Overall, 3D printing is proven as an environmentally friendly, more cost-effective, and energy-efficient manufacturing process. Traditional 3D print processes include Stereolithography (SLA), Fuse Deposition Modeling (FDM), Selective Laser Sintering (SLS), and Direct Ink Writing (DIW) [6–10] of the materials. The advent of smart or programmable materials that can be deformed by external stimuli gives interesting new possibilities for 3D printing technology. This combination has created a new field known as 4D printing, in which the fourth dimension is time. This technology was first introduced by Skylar Tibbit in collaboration with StratasysTM as printed matter programmed to change over time with respect to external stimuli [11]. Many reports on 4D printing focus on the use of smart materials printing, but 4D printing can also be done with "general' materials. These materials can change over time due to predefined stresses created during the printing process by chemical reactions or polymerization between the printed layers. Smart materials require environmental changes such as humidity and heat for conversion, and this environment can detrimentally affect applications. Therefore, stress-driven, controllable, multi-position folding could provide an alternative to achieve transformation without using smart materials. A smart material is a material that responds to changes in its environment, resulting in a change in material properties. Smart materials include shape memory materials and self-healing materials. So far, most reports on 4D printing have focused on the use of SLA, FDM, and DIW technologies. Metamaterials are the type of materials that look like smart materials because of their complex and carefully crafted dimensions, but the material properties themselves need to be more responsive and structural placement is less critical. These self-deforming materials react over time, assembling into new compositions by twisting, bending, contracting and unfolding [12]. They respond to external stimuli such as thermal, electric and magnetic fields, moisture, pH and UV radiation. Combining the dynamic capabilities of smart materials with the complex geometries of the additive manufactured component can be used in different applications, including self-folding packaging, smart textiles, soft robotics, deployable structures, biomedical and aerospace applications.

2 Smart Material Perspective

Materials that function intelligently are referred to as sensitive, intelligent, intelligent, adaptable and multifunctional materials. The general definition of smart materials is the material that responds to environmental stimuli by producing useful reversible effects when exposed to external stimuli such as temperature, electric field, magnetic field, stress, strain, or p^H. Their induced consequences can be color changes, light refraction, stress/strain generation, or changes in shape or volume. Unlike materials, these can sense and respond to changes in the external environment, either by changing their properties, shape, or structural composition. A unanimous definition of a smart material might be one that can change its composition, properties, and

dimension when exposed to an external stimulus. Recent advances in material development and 4D printing properties have included them in the AM materials domain. Smart materials are expected to be consistently applied to the manufacture of taskoriented smart structures soon. Predicted responses can give rise to self-sensing, self-actuating, self-healing, self-diagnosing, and shape-changing [13–15].

2.1 Self-actuation Capacity

Smart smart materials can realise multiple actuation mechanisms such as coefficient of thermal expansion, liquid crystalline gel phase transition, thermal conductivity mismatch, and different expansion and expansion ratio of bilayer composite carriers for temporal and spatial actuation. The term "self-actuated" is closely related to shape change and is connected to materials that give large-scale displacements in response to environmental stimuli [16]. Bodaghi et al. [17] have reported a self-acting mechanism through material expansion and contraction in multi-material 4D printing. Planar and tubular structural designs adopted for the T_g -tuned glass and rubber phases of the target SMPs have demonstrated low and high temperature operation [18]. Composites of magnetostrictive and piezoelectric elements, shape memory alloys and electro-rheological materials exhibit this property. Piezoelectric materials are suitable materials that generate an electrical charge when stressed. The technology is in the research stage, and hopefully, self-actuators 4D printed will be from piezoelectric material within a few years.

2.2 Self-healing Capacity

Materials with self-healing powers are sufficient to repair themselves after damage and restore their intrinsic properties, resulting in increased longevity and extended lifespan. Three major healing approaches, such as intrinsic, capsule-based, and vascular, are mainly implemented to bring self-healing capabilities to the 4D print process. A key approach gives the healing of the damage through the reversibility of the material-matrix bond through so-called healing agents introduced in smart material printing to automatically manipulate damages in the print dimension [19]. The incorporation of healing microcapsules is an alternative to achieving self-healing after damage. Healing agents are introduced to the defect area through these transport capsules, which repair the material. Similar to the vasculature of the human body, microchannels have been trained to deliver drugs to relevant sites in the polymer matrix. The presence of self-healing agents in the polymer matrix is likely to influence their properties, making it essential to evaluate the variation and performance of new composites. Recently, some instigation has been carried out to develop the self-healing ability of graphene-based materials. Self-healing coatings based on elastomers and thermosets are implemented as corrosion and deterioration resistance

for the material. Powder coating allows these techniques to be used in automotive, civil engineering and aerospace facilities. Product performance, material safety, increased structural durability and fatigue improvement are key attributes of specific self-healing materials for coatings [20].

2.3 Self-diagnose Capacity

Self-diagnostic is an additional early portent feature that can be incorporated into materials. Self-diagnostic material is applied to measure the stressors in stress, strain, etc. Self-diagnosis is the application of self-sensing and most self-diagnosis techniques including sensory elements into materials or structures and fibre optics that have been extensively studied and can sense variables such as stress, strain, pressure, shock, vibration, temperature and corrosion. Self-diagnostic feature is being actively investigated at the Georgia Institute of Technology for fabricating sensors based on the photovitronic effect [21]. Self-diagnostic capabilities are active in research on drug delivery and drug targeting systems for cancer therapy. Stimulus-driven drug delivery mechanisms are more reliable in avoiding drug delivery fluctuations in drug delivery. Near infrared light is a potential stimulus with no medical significance. Thermal photon effects, two-photon absorption and nanoparticle upconverting, are the key mechanisms of intelligent drug delivery. Drug delivery based on photothermal effects has been extensively investigated due to its tunable functionality. Indocyanine green, CNT, and Au-nanomaterials are commonly applied as photothermal agents [22].

2.4 Self-assembly Capacity

The basis of self-assembly is central to 4D printing as it is used interchangeably in inteligent structures. Tibbits reported this capacity by shaking a flask of parts so that the parts self-assembled upon contact. The term self-bending refers to selfassembly mechanisms that use thin sheets fabricated into coiled or cylindrical tubes to exhibit shape-changing effects such as bending, folding, or curling. Sequence of instructions is a key design attribute of self-assembly 4D printing, instructions are a very simple method, and algorithmic description is another part of building complex structures in 3D. It foresaw new types of structures and experimental installations generated by computer code and created through new technologies and possible digital fabrications. It has been shown that any 1, 2 or 3-dimensional geometry can be described by a single sequence or fold line. The folding mechanism and self-assembly are related and active in protein and cell medical research [23].

3 Type of Additive Manufacturing for Smart Materials

Additive manufacturing is defined by the American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) as "the joining of materials layer-by-layer to produce an object from 3D model data, as opposed to subtractive manufacturing techniques. According to ASTM/F2921 additive manufacturing can be classified into seven categories, including material extrusion, binder jetting, material jetting, powder bed fusion, directed energy deposition, film lamination, and vat photopolymerization. Additive manufacturing has an innate ability to manipulate intelligent and stimulated materials. Again, AM techniques can be roughly divided into three types. The first is sintering, which involves heating materials without liquefying them to make complex high-resolution objects. Direct metal laser sintering uses metal powders, while selective laser sintering applies a laser to thermoplastic powders to adhere particles. The second AM technique melts the material completely. These include direct metal laser sintering, in which a layer of metal powder is melted with a laser, and electron beam melting, in which the powder is melted with a beam of electrons. A third widely used technique is stereolithography, which uses a process called photopolymerization [24]. In this process, a photopolymer resin tank is irradiated with a UV laser to create a warp-resistant ceramic part that can withstand extreme temperatures. In terms of input materials, additive manufacturing is divided into solid, liquid and powder technologies. Fused Deposition Modeling specializes in printing solid phase materials that are processed by selective laser sintering, selective laser melting and electron beam selective melting, while liquid materials are printed by stereolithography, direct ink writing and digital light processing. Tailoring appropriate printing patterns has become essential for a wider range of materials with smart settings: There are several additive manufacturing methods are present to print smart materials like Digital Projection Printing (DPP), Selective Laser Sintering (SLS), Selective Laser Melting (SLM), Melting Deposition Modeling (FDM), Inkjet Printing, Stereolithography (SLA), Multi Jet Modeling (MJM), Electron Beam Melting (EBM), Digital Light Processing (DLP) and Polyjet. For the printed part to be considered a 4D print, the part must adapt and alter with respect to time. These categories of materials are known as smart materials and can be further divided into subgroups that include thermodynamic changes in shape memory materials (SMMs), supramolecular changes in self-healing materials, and changes in metamaterial engineering.

3.1 Powder Bed Fusion and Direct Energy Deposition

Several AM techniques have been developed for metal printing so far, but from a 4D printing perspective, the powder bed and directed energy deposition are compelling. SLM is a powder-based printing process that uses a high-energy laser to melt fine powdered materials to create 3D objects layer-by-layer. SLM technology is used in a 4D printing process when smart metallic materials such as SMA are used to laminate

high density parts. The production of SMA is not as easy as with conventional materials. For example, NiTi is one of the most popular SMAs. A similar laser melt deposition process to fabricate Cu-based SMA with shape memory behaviour has been performed previously. Selective electron beam melting is another metal printing technique that uses a high-energy electron beam instead of a laser to deposit powder on a moving rake. Porous NiTi implants for bone fixation and minimally invasive surgery have been added to medical applications using EBM based on the assumption that NiTi has a similar stress–strain curve to stainless steel. The DED process featured a multi-axis nozzle arm capable of depositing molten material onto the bed surface. A fundamental understanding of the specific AM technique for target application is prevalent for implementation [25].

The final properties of SLM products generally depend on various process parameters, such as energy density, laser scanning speed and working atmosphere, porosity, transformation temperature and the presence of impurities. Note that the martensitic transformation temperature increases with increasing energy density. The powders used in these studies are typically manufactured by gas atomization from ingots or by mechanical alloying. In addition, a thermal post-treatment was used to control the temperature range for the martensite transformation. In addition to SLM technology, other processes can be referred such as EBM, LENS. EBM technology has high energy density, high scanning speed and high powder bed temperature that allows the martensitic transformation at a higher temperature than the SLM process. Laser Engineered Net Shaping (LENS) method can be used to create nitinol products. A key feature of this work is that the Ni and Ti powder mixture was delivered directly from the nozzle to the laser focus, and the properties of the synthesized nitinol indicate the formation of high quality alloys at specific phase transformation temperatures [26]. The purity of the powder bed fusion synthesized NiTi samples is higher than that of conventional nitinol. A post-treatment heat treatment in an Ar-atmosphere was used to homogenize the microstructure. After heat treating the sample at 1050 °C for 10 h, it was quenched with water. The temperature was chosen to be 100 °C above the melting temperature of the secondary phases that was formed during the LENS. Therefore, it should be noted that all the works use thermal post-treatments to modify and lower the martensitic transformation temperature of the resulting samples. This indicates that the manufacturing of the product by the considered AM method leads to an increase in the final temperature of martensitic transformation of the product from NiTi compared to the base ingot [27].

After identifying the primary reason for the variation in the temperature range of martensite transformation in the SLM process, it is also necessary to find the influence of various SLM parameters. One of the key properties of metal AM processes (including SLM) is energy density. Energy density is the amount of energy dissipated during processing per unit volume of material. This property is used to calculate the thermal energy required to a material during the transition from a powder to a solid state [28]. The energy density is defined according to:

$$E = \frac{P}{Vht} J/mm^2$$

where P is the power of the source (laser or electron beam) (W), v is scanning speed (mm/s), h is the hatch distance (distance between successive passes of the beam in the same layer) (lm), and t is the thickness of the layer, (lm). It is found that the increase in energy density results increase in transformation temperature. It is observed that a decrease in the hatch distance leads to an increase in energy density. This will increase the transformation temperature of the final sample.

3.2 Fused Deposition Modelling and Direct Ink Drawing

Fused Deposition Modeling (FDM) and Direct Ink Drawing (DIW) are the preferred extrusion-based AM technique for 4D printing. In these processes, material is mechanically extruded through nozzles on the build platform. In a typical FDM process, a printer uses a thermoplastic filament heated to its melting point and extrudes it layer-by-layer to create a 3D structure. Structures printed by FDM may present shape change phenomena due to heating mechanisms. The nozzle can be moved horizontally and the platform moves vertically up and down each time a new layer is applied. In the future, FDM can be used for the AM of graphene-blended polymers. Graphene is a monolayer of carbon atoms arranged in a hexagonal lattice that resembles a chain link fence. When graphene is mixed with SMP, it would make an attractive material with excellent strength and conductivity [29].

3.3 Stereolithography

Stereolithography is wide adopted 3D printing process, especially for SMP additive manufacturing. It is based on the photopolymerization of liquid photopolymers using UV-light. SLA is used for prototype design verification due to its many advantages, such as speed and sophistication. Photopolymers are fabricated from oligomers, monomers and photoinitiators, and UV polyurethane prepolymers are mainly synthesized and printed using SLA technology. Shape memory cycles and folding and unfolding tests were performed to quantitatively and qualitatively evaluate the shape memory performance of SLA-printed structures [30]. The stereolithography process is well suited for printing complex structures using SMPU. SLA printed SMPU structures exhibited fast recovery, excellent shape memory performance, and good dimensional stability followed by reasonable strength. Choong et al. [31] reported a significant performance of full recall shape memory using SLA. Here, A tBA-co-DEGDA photopolymer resin network based on a binary phase change mechanism is used to make the single 4D-printable SMP.

3.4 PolyJet Printing

In this AM process, the material is processed through a nozzle and deposited by consecutive droplets. Polymer metals and ceramics can be printed with this technique. PolyJet technology for 4D printing is made possible by recent regulations on multi-material printing. PolyJet 3D printing with a CAD interface is very similar to traditional inkjet printing. PolyJet printers apply layers of liquid polymer instead of dispensing ink in traditional AM process. Advanced PolyJet technology allows to separate multimaterial liquids to create components formed from various materials. Recent reports have shown that PolyJet printers can be used to accurately print traditional and smart materials [32]. PolyJet technology is most interesting for applications that require the construction of precise, finished, complex and demanding structures. MIT's Self-Assembly Lab collaborates with Stratasys and Autodesk to develop practical modeling and simulation solutions and new printing techniques for these said smart structures [33].

4 Criteria for Printing the Smart Materials

4.1 4D Route and Printing Mechanism

Self-assembly, bi-stability, deformation mismatch, and SME are avenues for 4D printing. Designing and transforming products depending on the specific approaches leads the 4D printing. Self-evolving structures and self-assembly of elements and components are attractive approaches for fabrication of sophisticated smart structures. Swelling rate and different coefficients of thermal expansion or physical changes in smart materials are the driving mechanisms of strain mismatch-based 4D structures [34]. A two-layer beam tends to bend when heated if the layers have different thermal expansion capacities. Bistability means that the imprinted structure exhibits stability at multiple degrees of freedom, leading to reversibility of the structure when exposed to the appropriate stimuli. A fresh 4D technology creates intelligent devices and structures that evolve dynamically over time. Another route is reported by Ding et al. [35] that a temporary dimension is first printed using a Stratasys J750 multi-material printer, then a thermal stimulus is supplied to create a permanent shape. The difference between single-material and multi-material 4D printing depends on the degree of structural variation. In a single material 4D printing process, the degree of change is the response of the smart material while a stimulus is quantitatively applied. The rate of change is the factor that determines how quickly the material component changes configuration when activated. Multi-material 4D printing assesses variations in multiple material components, especially individual variations in dimension and structure. Task-oriented actuation can be fully calculated in the design of modes of release, folding, flexion, compression, extension, torsion, etc., along with the complexity of the fundamental dimension of these required parts.

4.2 Reversibility in 4D Printing

The recoverability of 4D components is relatively unexplored, especially in applications that consist of folding and unfolding cycles involving drying or wetting. Bidirectional 4D printing is shown to be possible using the latest understanding of the SME to improve the design of the 3D printing process. A key element of traditional 4D printing is human interaction during the programming phase during processing. Human interaction can be negated when the programming is appropriately replaced with another stimulus, making this process entirely dependent on external input. SMP showed many possibilities in the reversibility of 4D printing. The print exploits the potential for shape-assisted and reversible transformation characteristic of hybrid hydrogel structures (PEO-PU polymers in UV-curable monomer solution) with important material properties [36]. In the future, the continuous reuse of 4D printed structures will be possible, especially for industrial applications.

4.3 Printing Process

Single-material or multimaterial printing of shape memory non-metallic materials has been fabricated using multiple AM techniques, such as fused deposition Modeling, microextrusion, stereolithography, and PolyJet technology. Choosing the proper impression technique depends highly on the specific SMMs and the desired final configuration. Microextrusion printers use pneumatic or mechanical (piston or screw) metering systems to extrude beads or continuous cells of material. Epoxidized acrylates from renewable soybean oil were solidified into smart compounds capable of supporting the growth of pluripotent mesenchymal stem cells from human bone marrow and laser-printed for biomedical scaffolds. Similarly, polycaprolactone dimethacrylate-based memory tents are manufactured using a UV LED DLP digital printer. For metallic materials, DED, SLM and EBM techniques are suitable for 4D printing.

5 Shape Memory Materials

Shape Memory Materials (SMM) are smart materials that can change dimension or deform with respect to time with environmental stimuli. SMMs include shape memory alloys (SMA), shape memory ceramics (SMC), shape memory polymers (SMP), shape memory composites (SMCo), and shape memory hybrids (SMH). The shape memory effect (SME) of SMA is based on two crystalline structures present in the alloy, the martensite phase (low temperature) and the austenite phase (high temperature). The SMA deforms in the martensite phase, and when the temperature rises to the austenite phase, the structure returns to its original dimension. Like SMA,

SMC exhibits hyperelasticity with the capacity to deform and recover under large deformations or a shape memory effect capable of changing predefined states with the help of external stimuli. Some brittle ceramics undergo a martensite transformation and, therefore may experience SME similar to SMA, but one of the main problems with shape memory ceramics is their brittle nature, which is prone to cracking. In the case of SMPs, they react by physical and chemical crosslinking together with temperature transitions such as glass transition temperature (T_g) and melting temperature (T_m) . Materials are often processed and molded at temperatures above Tg to create the "original shape", the parts are then cooled down to below their T_g where their shape is deformed and fixed into position [37]. In addition to the commonly used SMMs, SMCo refers to multiphase materials that may contain filler and matrix phases and are combined at the macro level. SMH, on the other hand, refer to two materials joined at the molecular or nanometer level. The transformations indicated by SMH and SMC are related to material components with shape memory capabilities. For example, SMA leads in a polymer matrix undergo a martensitic transformation, while SMH with different polymer phases undergoes physical and chemical crosslinking related to temperature change. SMM is always metastable, transitioning from a transient to a steady state. This altering behaviour is also induced by exposure to switching stimuli.

5.1 Shape Memory Alloys (SMA)

Many reports on SMA describe AM of NiTi, TiNiCu, NiMnGa, CuAlNi and FeMnAlNi alloys using SLS and SLM. SMA is commonly involved with SLS and SLM processes. This is because these 3D printing techniques have traditionally been particularly good at printing metal structures with more substantial properties. Despite its many functional properties, the anomalous behaviour of NiTi shape memory is not very straightforward for several reasons. The main challenges are (1) changing in composition result in a change in transition temperature, (2) SME makes NiTi difficult to machine, and (3) heat treatments (such as annealing) affects phase transformation temperature. There are some problems associated with NiTi print parts produced by the SLM. The printed component reduces the Ni content due to evaporation during the processing due to a lower evaporation temperature of Ni than Ti and the higher phase transformation temperature. This is because Ni has the low evaporation temperature (Ni evaporation temperature = 3186.15 K, Ti evaporation temperature = 3560.15 K) and a high tendency to evaporate [38]. Another explanation is that the heat transfer during the melting process was not uniform due to geometric conditions. As a result, areas normally characterized by poor heat transfer, such as the bottom and edges, have been exposed to high temperatures for long periods. This resulted in increased Ni evaporation and the formation of Ti_2Ni precipitates during solidification. Furthermore, the phase transformation temperature of SLM-NiTi was found to increase by 30 K with decreasing Ni content. The introduction of higher levels of Ni could be a suitable solution for the fabrication of NiTi alloys. The second reason is that Ni-rich NiTi can form Ni-rich secondary phases such as Ni₄Ti₃, Ni₃Ti₂ and Ni₃Ti during high-temperature processing that are formed at temperatures between 200 °C and 700 °C. The order of formation of these deposits corresponds to the order Ni₄Ti₃ \rightarrow Ni₃Ti₂ \rightarrow Ni₃Ti with Ni₄Ti₃ and Ni₃Ti₂. The formation of these phases reduces the nickel content in the matrix. As a result, the matrix composition found more Ti content, as a result the temperature ranges of martensitic transformations shift towards an increase in temperature, which, in turn, proceeding from the dependence that the lower the temperature ranges of martensitic transformations is, the stronger the SME manifests itself, leads to a decrease in the manifestation of SME [39]. To directly address the consequences of the generation of secondary phases in the material, thermal post-treatment methods are used: annealing at different temperatures. The previously formed secondary phase can dissolve during annealing and reduce the temperature range for martensite transformation. Another major problem in conventional NiTi alloy processing is the much higher impurities. This can be solved with the SLM process, where an inert gas is used inside the chamber during fabrication.

Akbari et al. [40] used inkjet printing to create SMA clamps that respond to Joule heating due to electrical current. The group printed and embedded NiTi-wires (0.25 mm in dia) into a "soft" matrix containing a hard phase so that the clamp could move dynamically without breaking. Umedate et al. [41] fabricated a bioinspired soft robotic model called the Softworm. The movement of the smooth worm was generated by resistive heating in the SMA when an electrical current was applied. Temperature-induced changes in the colour of the straight wires result in large displacements, mimicking muscle tetanus of worms. The body of the wormshaped design is printed on a Polyjet printer and an SMA coil is threaded through the design to actuate while the tendons are activated. Caputo et al. [42] fabricated 4D printed NiMnGa magnetic SMA with powder bed binder injection. Binder blasting typically produces high porosity parts that can be controlled by particle size distribution and packing density reported a porosity of up to 70.43% for SMA. Thermomagnetomechanically programmed materials exhibited reversible martensitic phase changes during heating and cooling cycle to control the SME. Dadbakhsh et al. [43] has done NiTi SMA printing using the SLM and studied on the properties of the alloy by varying the power and speed of the laser during printing. SLM processes performed on NiTi powders were classified into low laser parameter (LP) and high laser parameter (HP). LP corresponded to low laser power, slow scan speed, slow heating and cooling speed, while HP corresponded to high laser power, high scanning speed, and fast heating and cooling speed. They found that both sets of parameters produce parts with a density of about 99% and the austenite present at room temperature gave the alloy higher overall strength and pseudoelastic behaviour when printed at high power and high speed. SMA was printed at low power and speed, but exhibited a martensite phase. 4D printing of Ni_{50.1}Ti_{49.9} SMA using SLM was also investigated by Andani et al. [44]. In their study, they investigated the mechanical and SME by varying the porosity and density of the alloy. Dense alloys were found to have higher elastic moduli and higher transformation temperatures than porous alloys. The SMA was subjected to repeated compression tests and showed a 5% recoverable stress and

a partial recovery of the hyperelastic response. The porous alloys showed an 86% reduction in Young's modulus while maintaining the SME, indicating that these lightweight 4D-printed structures can be used as biomedical implants, such as bone constructs. SMA's applications include temperature control systems (open and close valves), actuators, biomedical (active implants), soft actuators, and aerospace.

5.2 Shape Memory Polymers

Shape memory polymer (SMP) is ideal for 4D printing applications due to its versatile processing capabilities required for different AM technologies. SMPs are a class of polymeric materials that can be programmed to remember a specific configuration and flip that structure over when exposed to external stimuli. Low cost, light weight, and good resilience are the main features of SMP. Heat, light, electricity, humidity, and magnetism can act as stimuli on SMP structures and produce SME. SMPs can maintain two or more morphologies upon exposure to stimuli. A triple SMP can be enough to memorize two temporary shapes and restore the original shape sequentially when heating. A triple SME can be introduced by incorporating two SMPs with different transition temperatures into the polymer network or by introducing one SMP with a higher transition temperature. A recent experimental study of triplet SMPs printed by FDM devices showed a hyperelastic response at high temperatures and an elastoplastic response at low temperatures over a wide range of strain. A twocomponent mechanism, a two-state mechanism, and a partial transition mechanism drive the SME of SMP. The shape recovery mechanism depends on the glass transition temperature (T_g) of the specific SMP. This is completely different from SMA. SMPs can be easily adjusted to the environment/application by controlling the crystalline content of the polymer, which can be used to program transition temperatures such as Tg and Tm. Tg is the temperature at which the momentum of the molecule in the glassy state becomes relatively low. A complete SME was observed in thermally activated SMPs when heated above their Tg temperature. On the other hand, the elastic entropy of polymer chains drives the stress recovery mechanism of SMP. Shape recovery depends entirely on the material's capabilities and the application of specific stimuli during specific time intervals [45].

Heat is by far the most widely used stimulus in 4D printing, with temperature differences triggering reactions that promote self-assembly, self-healing, and shape memory in the materials in question. Direct or indirect heating is used in particular light-activated SMP applications. Magnetic, ultrasonic, microwave, or electrical are inherently sensitive to heat, depending on the additives used in the matrix. Physically or chemically cross-linked thermosensitive polymers can be viewed as double, triple, or multiple SMPs. A significant number of such polymers have been reported to recover their original shape, although slight reversibility of temporary and permanent shapes has been demonstrated upon stimulus interaction. The shape memory mechanism operates at working temperatures above and below the T_g or T_m required for mechanical breakdown and subsequent temporary shape formation.

Light is another switching stimulus that can be easily activated due to its intensity, wavelength, and polarization, allowing for touchless control. SMPs containing photosensitive functional groups (such as azobenzene or cinnamic acid) are potential candidates for this class of polymers. Chen et al. [46] prepared a PBS/PLA polymer blend that showed tremendous photothermal effects. Several organic compounds and polymers are highly photon-absorbing and increase their internal temperature due to their high light absorption. High-energy incident photons excite electrons in the particles, followed by electron-electron diffusion, raising the surface temperature. This temperature is lowered by heat transfer between electrons and phonons, followed by heat loss to the surrounding medium due to interphonon interactions. Ge et al. [47] developed a multi-material system to print SMP using microstereolithography. The ink consisted of a methacrylate-based monomer, phenylbis(2,4,6trimethylbenzoyl)phosphine oxide Sudan I (0.05 wt%) and Rhodamine B (1 wt%). The percentages of PEGDMA, BPA, DEGMA, and BMA were refined to adjust the T_g to control fixity at 43 and 56 °C. This allowed the bloom movement of the imprinted flowers to occur in two stages by heating above Tg. However, SLA resins and photopolymers tend to have higher crosslink densities, which means they are more brittle, yielding a design challenge. Gladman et al. [48] demonstrated this behaviour using SMP poly(N-isopropylacrylamide). In this work, a printed flower gets wet and swells and closes. The flowers are printed in a mesh pattern based on simple curved surfaces with 0° and 90° angles made with DIW.

Electroactive polymers (EAP) can drastically change their dimension with an electric field. In electroactive SMPs, Joule heating generates heat when current flows through the polymer domains, initiating the SME. Conductive additives are used to prepare electroactive SMP. Electrically induced mixtures are mainly associated with metals (gold, silver, copper), metal nanoparticles, carbon (graphene, CNT, graphene, bucky gel, soot), conductive coatings, and metal-carbon hybrid fillers. Ionic metal-polymer compounds and dielectric elastomers are types of EAP. SMP containing inductively conductive fillers can achieve certain levels of electrical conductivity, offering an attractive improvement over thermally stimulated SMP. When an SMP containing conductive fillers is exposed to an electrical environment, current flows through the polymer network, raising the core temperature above the transition temperature and springing back into shape. Induction heating induces a shape change in SMP containing ferromagnetic particles achieved by Joule heating. Magnetically embedded SMP have several advantages over direct or electrical heating. For example, magnetic particles limit the Curie temperature and reduce the possibility of overheating. Similarly, contactless heating eliminates the need for power lines. Flexibility in shape formation is possible due to consistent heating, which can be adopted for various geometries. The maximum heating temperature achieved by induction heating, while keeping the magnetic field constant, depends on the surface-to-volume ratio of the embedded magnetic particles and the material. The relationship of the magnetic particles added to the base material, their interaction with each other, their location within the matrix, and their effect on thermal behaviour are still under development. A large volume fraction of magnetic particles leads to a shielding effect between the embedded particles, resulting in a negligible

magnetic field effect. Sufficient heating required for ferrite-assisted SMP actuation can be achieved by adding concentrations of 5-10% by volume of particles. Similarly, the incorporated particle size and shape recovery time are directly related to certain limits: the smaller the particle size, the shorter the shape recovery time. There is a critical particle size limit below which recovery times depend on material properties or inherent recovery times [49].

Humidity is one of the main environmental factors of concern to assess the reliability of SMP in humid environments. Adding some nanoparticles through water and solvent evaporation technique can enhance the SME of various polymers. The recovery performance of pure polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) can be improved by adding graphene oxide (GO) mixtures through a solvent evaporation technique, which significantly enhances the shape recovery kinetics of nanocomposites. Yongkang et al. improved the mechanical properties of SMP and the shape recovery reaction with water by mixing citric acid (CA) and GO with hydroxyethylcellulose in different proportions. Studies have shown that various polymers (PVA), polyethylene vinyl acetate (EVA), microcrystalline cellulose (MCC) and polyurethane are suitable for water-sensitive materials. There are reports of using SMP in the form of hydrogels for 4D printing applications. Here, hydrogels are classified as networks of hydrophilic polymer chains, which allows them to retain large amounts of water within the 3D network. Hydrogels are widely used in 4D printing applications due to their excellent processability and ability to change volume based on the environment. Many reports detail the application in DIW and SLA technology for the full range of applications, from biomedical applications to electronic devices. Bakarichi, et al. demonstrate the use of alginate and poly(N-isopropylacrylamide)-IPN in a thermally sensitive actuator to control water flow. The extrusion printed actuators showed a reversible length change from 41 to 49%. Another approach to using hydrogels in 4D printing is multi-material printing [50]. Here, one polymer is printed for structural purposes and a second polymer is printed for responsive purposes i.e. swelling hinges. Two inks can be printed simultaneously to create collapsible structures.

5.3 Shape Memory Ceramic

SME have also been observed in ceramics. In 2013, MIT spearheaded a report on shape memory ceramics. Ceramics are generally considered brittle and cannot be bent, stretched, or distorted without any catastrophic failure. Lai et al. [51] achieved this by modifying the polycrystalline zirconia ceramic with yttria or ceria, resulting in over 7% deformation and the ability to withstand up to 50 cycles. SMC undergoes a similar martensitic transformation, changing the microstructure from tetragonal to monoclinic atomic structure. Lead zirconate titanate-based ceramics have exhibited significant isotropic volumetric shape memory behavior, termed antiferroelectric shape memory compounds. Upon application of a reverse electric field, the previous antiferroelectric shape memory phase can be recovered with a fast recovery speed of 2.5 ms. Phase transitions induced by electric fields make many SMC intelligent

actuation applications feasible. Zhang et al. have reported the self-healing SMC using yt-stabilized tetragonal zirconia nanopillars. Liu et al. fabricated an elastomerderived ceramic EDC using a combination of 40 wt% ZrO nanoplatelets dispersed in PDMS resin. They then threaded either an iron or copper wire through the DIW printed lattice to assist in the folding of their origami structures for 4D printing effect. The printed EDC frameworks underwent a thermal process and chemical etching to remove the leads and leave the ceramic components. SMC applications may be a desirable area for high-temperature actuators and robotics for space exploration and high-temperature MEMS.

5.4 Shape Memory Composites

SMCo consists of at least one SMM (i.e. SMA or SMP). Shape memory bulk metal–glass composites are examples of SMCo. PAC-printed polymorphic sensitive compounds with two hydrothermally energized SMP fibres have been reported in nature [52]. T_g of the Gray 60 blended SMP fibres DM9895 and DM8530 were 380 °C and 570 °C, respectively with the matrix Tango Black having low T_g . Due to the different T_g of the matrix and the two fibers, the composite material can withstand three temporary figures and the permanent configuration is restored by heating above the T_g . The concept of PAC-printed active composites using SMP fibers in an elastomeric matrix was reported in 2013. Polymer active composites are relatively soft composites composed of glassy polymer fibers that reinforce an elastomeric matrix and exhibit a SME. A glass-like polymer fiber acts as a switch during shape transformation. SMPC is widely used in sportswear, judo clothing, orthotics, and medical implants such as cardiovascular stents.

6 Piezoelectric Materials

Piezoelectric actuators and sensors are a well-known and established technology used in various industries, including aerospace, automotive, and non-destructive testing. Global demands for greater efficiency, security, low cost, scalability, less material waste, ease of patterning, and lower manufacturing costs make printing techniques very attractive for the developing piezoelectric devices. Piezoelectric materials convert mechanical energy into electrical energy and vice versa. They offer a wide range of applications and can be used as high-resolution 4D printing for the fabrication of actuators, sensors such as many accelerometers, acoustic imaging, and smart micro/nano devices such as biosensors and energy harvesters. Common applications for piezoelectric materials are barbecue igniters and inkjet printer head actuators. Polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) is an essential piezoelectric material used for advanced, high-resolution printing on smart devices. Kim et al. 3D printed fabricate piezoelectric polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) polymer films using FDM followed

by a corona polarization process. They reported that the β phase of PVDF was transformed by FDM 3D printing. In this case, a high voltage was applied to the intermediate corona poles. Bodkhe et al. used vat light-curing technology to 3D print smart structures with excellent dielectric and piezoelectric properties. Polymer/ piezoelectric composites of BaTiO₃ nanoparticles and PVDF polymers were printed in filaments $\sim 60 \ \mu m$ in size and stacked to create a ready-to-use, millimeter-scale 3D touch sensor could be detected with a finger touch. Kim's group also used microscale digital projection printing (DPP) to light-cure colloidal suspensions of piezoelectric nanoparticles (BaTiO₃, BTO) and polymers, resulting in prefabricated structures in less than two seconds. Under light irradiation, a chemical crosslinking occurs between the polymer and the surface functional groups of the piezoelectric nanoparticles, binding the nanoparticles to the polymeric support. Direct bonding of piezoelectric nanoparticles to a flexible polymeric matrix enhances the piezoelectric performance of composite sheets by cleverly concentrating mechanical stress on the piezoelectric crystals. Kuscer et al. developed a piezoelectric ink composed of Pb(Zr_{0.53}Ti_{0.47})O₃(PZT) particles with an average size of 170 nm and stabilized with polyacrylic acid [53]. The ink was cast onto a platinized alumina substrate, dispersed well in a mixture of water and glycerol, and used to fabricate thick films by piezoelectric inkjet printing. It is observed that after heat treatment at 500 $^{\circ}$ C and sintering at 1100 °C, a PZT structure with a local piezoelectric coefficient suitable for technological applications. Another PZT-based piezo ink was developed by Ferrari et al. those have potential applications in the fields of MEMS, sensors, actuators, and energy harvesting are presented. One of these inks consisted of ground PZT powder and a low-temperature polymeric binder. Such development of printed flexible piezoelectric materials is of particular interest as it enables suitable sensitive electronic systems. In particular, electronic skins that can be placed around a robot's body, prosthetic hands, or piezoelectric elements can be manufactured on large-area wafers at less cost than commercial standards.

7 Magnetostrictive, Electrostrictive and Photostrictive Materials

Magnetostrictive materials are generally brittle, which limits the design of complex structures. The development of AM processes, especially laser-based AM, enables the fabrication of complex structures such as lattice structures and topologically optimized components. A related type of transducer material is magnetostrictive material. They are used in various structures, drives and sensor elements of supersonic generators, and micropumps with the advent of MEMS. Printing technology provides a robust and relatively inexpensive tool for the fabrication of magnetostrictive sensors and actuators. Magnetostrictive AM materials include Fe–Co, Fe–Co–V, Fe–Si and Fe–Ga alloys [54]. Previous studies on these materials reported that morphological control of the network structure can select for optimized mechanical properties such

as stiffness, stress concentration, and anisotropy. Scheidler and Dapino showed that the stiffness and resonant frequency of the Galfenol/Al 6061 composite alloy can be tuned by adjusting the proportions of each constituent material. Among the magnetostrictive materials, Tb-Dy-Fe (Terfenol-D) alloy and Fe-Ga (Galfenol) alloy are attracting attention due to their excellent magnetostriction of 800-1600 ppm and 400 ppm, respectively. However, terfenol-D is brittle and expensive, and galfenol is less processable. As a result, Yamaura et al. We develop Fe-Co alloys by forging and cold working, and study the effects of alloy composition and heat treatment. Fe-Co alloys have high strength and ductility, which facilitates wire processing and resin encapsulation. The first work on innovative thick film magnetostrictive materials developed by screen printing was done by Ghabham et al. A thick film based on the giant magnetostrictive material Terfenol-D was printed on a 0.25 mm thick 96% alumina substrate. The level of magnetostriction (50 ppm) was lower than that of the bulk material (250 ppm), but better than that of some composite magnetostrictive materials. Karnaushenko et al. has developed innovative inks with magnetic properties displaying Giant Magnetoresistance flakes that can be easily printed on numerous substrates including polymers, ceramics, and even paper. Multiferroic (MF) and magnetoelectric (ME) materials can be obtained by combining magnetic and piezoelectric behaviour. As smart materials that can be activated both magnetically and electrically, they offer greater application flexibility. Based on the pioneering work on the magnetoelectric response of P(VDF-TrFE)CoFe₂O₄ composites, it is possible to modify the viscosity of composites and manufacture them by spray-printing. The advantages of spray printing, such as simplicity, industry compatibility, high volume production, and fast time to market, are big advantages compared to the minor drawback of poor mechanical response. We also note that polymer-based printing could also be of great interest in thermoelectric, photovoltaic, and energy storage materials [55].

A dielectric material is a material that does not conduct electricity, but responds to an electric field by showing electrostriction. These materials consist of randomly oriented electrical domains within the material. When the sample is exposed to an electric field, the electric domains become polarized along the electric field. Then, when opposite sides of these domains are charged with opposite charges, they attract each other and contract in the direction of the field according to the Poisson's ratio of the material and stretch in the vertical direction. This effect is secondary. That is, the resulting deformation is proportional to the square of the electric field. In particular, reversing the magnetic field does not change the sign of the strain. 4D printed structures based on PLA/CNT composites were fabricated by FDM. Electroactive SMPC filaments with different CNT contents were prepared, and their electrical, thermal, and shape-memory properties were investigated. Moreover, a series of 2D and 3D printed complex structures were designed and manufactured to realize their shape recovery behaviour under the electrical field. It is found that the resultant structures manifested excellent electroactive shape memory performance. The shape fixation ratio was 100% at room temperature, whereas the shape recovery ratio reached more than 90% under a certain voltage. 4D printing of electrostrictive materials can be

done by the materials (such as carbon based composite, metal nanoparticles, polyelectrolyte hydrogel, conductive ink, SMP) using SLM, SLA, DIW, Fused filament fabrication [56].

Photostrictive materials are materials that change dimension when exposed to light, a different and more significant change than heat-related changes induced by light. The optical limitation is found in four main types of materials, including ferroelectric materials, polar and nonpolar semiconductors, and organic polymers. Some photostrictive materials contract, while others expand. The mechanism of this phenomenon varies greatly depending on the material. In ferroelectric materials, photostriction occurs due to a combination of inverse photovoltaic and piezoelectric effects, while in organic polymers it is a phenomenon due to photoisomerization (change in molecular structure due to light) [57]. The effect is usually quantified with a single voltage measurement referred to the photodistortion coefficient. This indicates that the behaviour is isotropic. For ferroelectrics, a photostriction coefficient of 0.45% is considered a very large photostriction response, while for nematic elastomers, photostriction can be as high as 400%. Although the literature on these materials is replete with experimental data showing the voltage produced versus wavelength of light, exposure time, and light intensity, the close geometric relationship between the electrostrictive coefficient and these stimulation properties it is non-existent. There is also a dependence on the depth of light penetration.

8 Metamaterials

Metamaterials were first introduced by Victor Beserago in 1968. These are engineered materials that can achieve properties not found in traditional materials and are labeled as smart materials. Additive manufacturing can fabricate metamaterials with curved structures and patterns that can exhibit unique electromagnetic properties and functions. Metamaterials are based on assemblies of individual unit cells specifically designed to perform functions not inherent to the material. This can be challenging for many AM techniques. Especially since most operate in the 200 to 50 μ m range and some metamaterial features may only operate in the nm range [58]. However, recent advances have been made in microstereolithography with resolutions down to 40 nm, and the main applications of metamaterials include sensors, absorbers, acoustic envelopes, and antennas. Chao et al. [59] have reported 3D printing of nylon-based metamaterials using SLS to fabricate lenses with metasurface reflectors. Wagner et al. reported an auxetic metamaterial design for 4D printing of thermosensitive materials using inkjet printing. The combination of metamaterial fabrication with active smart materials allows structures to experience a wide range of movement and deformation while maintaining structural integrity. Most of the research on additive manufacturing of metamaterials have been applied to dynamic mechanical systems.

9 pH-Sensitive Polymers

The control of the pH of liquids in biological, industrial and environmental applications requires certain properties such as stability, compactness, sensitivity and ease of use. To meet these requirements, Yiheng Qin et al. reported on the development of functionalized SWCNTs for pH measurement by inkjet printing. Electrodes printed on the glass substrate showed a reproducible pH sensitivity of 48.1 mV pH⁻¹. This sensitivity value can be increased to 57 \pm 0.6 mV pH⁻¹ using highly loaded palladium (Pd)-based inks. Therefore, the deposition of Pd thin films from highly concentrated inks (>14% by weight) using an inkjet printing process has been reported [60]. Toluene was used to adjust the surface tension and viscosity of the solution. It can apply a pyrolysis process to adapt a continuous and uniform Pd film to a stable printing ink. A single layer printed Pd film showed a very low resistivity of 2.6 $\mu\Omega$ m⁻¹. In order to demonstrate the electrochemical pH measurement capability, the surface of the printed Pd film was oxidized for the conversion of ions to electrons, leaving a lower layer for electronic conduction. Both developed the inkjet printing method used by Qin et al. pH electrodes with sensing capabilities offer a cost-effective alternative to electrochemical control systems and devices. So Wang et al. presented a formulation of pH-sensitive Pd catalyst ink for selective electrodeless deposition of copper on a PET substrate based on styrene (St)-co-N, N-dimethyl-dimethylaminoethyl methacrylate nanocomposite catalyst ink [61, 62].

10 Chromogenic-Systems

The inkjet printing of thermochromic conjugated polymers is believed to bring innovative potential applications for temperature sensors. Bora Yun et al. described these problems with respect to the development of a one-component ink system based on conjugated thermochromic polymer for inkjet printing used in QR code images. With good stability and size distribution, single component diacetylene (DA) inks can be successfully applied to substrates such as paper using a simple inkjet printer from an office. Upon irradiation of the diacetylene-printed paper with ultraviolet light, the formation of a polydiacetylene blue (PDA) image was observed, which exhibits a reversible thermochromic transition with precise temperature intervals well suited for QR codes [63]. Lee et al. [64] developed a colour sensor nanocomposite based on ZnO/10,12-pentacosadic acid (PCDA) compounds using inkjet printing technology. ZnO/poly-PCDA compounds exhibit stable and reversible color properties at typical thermochromic transition temperatures, enhancing their potential for biosensing, thermal, and stress device applications.
11 Other Materials

In addition to metals and semiconductors, other pure functional materials, zinc, lithium ion, and ruthenate were used in AM-based prints to achieve high-resolution capabilities. Zinc and lithium are well known metals used in energy storage devices. Advanced printing of these materials could allow better use of the limited 3D space within the device, which could increase energy density. For example, a comb-shaped lithium-ion microbattery with a 3D-printed Li4Ti₅O₁₂ anode combined with a LiFePO4 cathode offers high surface energy density and high power density [65]. Apart from Li-ion batteries, Zn–Ag batteries have shown promising results with high specific energy and high power density. For example, Brahm et al. reported a perfectly 2D planar printed Ag–Zn battery. Ho et al. [66] Microbattery electrodes made with alkaline Zn–Ag deposited directly on the substrate using inkjet printing technology and printed electrodes show improved capacity. The effect of ink formulation and electrode shape design on screen-printed electrodes has been reviewed by Saidi et al. [67], investigating on the electrochemical performance of alkaline Zn/MnO₂ batteries.

12 Summary and Future Prospective

4D printing is a relatively new research area with many challenges. The further development of 3D printing to 4D printing now offers great application potential. Various materials such as SMA, SMP, SMC, SMH are discussed in this chapter, along with aspects of smart materials such as self-activation, self-healing, self-diagnostic, and self-organizing capabilities for 4D printing. Shape memory materials, piezo-electric materials, electrostrictive materials, magnetostrictive materials, photostric-tive materials, metamaterials, pH-sensitive polymers, and chromogenic systems has been discussed to develop by the 4D print technology. Along with their criteria, types of additive manufacturing for smart materials were described, such as powder bed fusion and direct energy deposition, fused deposition modelling, stereolithography, and polyethylene jet printing. One of the future applications of 4D printing is overcoming limitations such as technological limitations, material limitations, and design limitations. Printing of smart materials is still in its infancy and all aspects require extensive investigation using different materials, stimuli and mathematical models with 4D printing. This was indeed a dream with traditional engineering methods.

References

 Liu R, Wang Z, Sparks T, Liou F, Newkirk J (2017) Aerospace applications of laser additive manufacturing. Laser Addit Manufacturing Woodhead Publ, 351–371

- 7 Smart Materials Based Additive Manufacturing
 - 2. Camacho DD, Clayton P, O'Brien WJ, Seepersad C, Juenger M, Ferron R, Salamone S (2018) Applications of additive manufacturing in the construction industry – a forward-looking review. Autom Constr 89:110–119
 - 3. Shahrubudin N, Lee TC, Ramlan R (2019) An overview on 3D printing technology: technological, materials, and applications. Procedia Manuf 35:1286–1296
 - 4. Berman B (2012) 3-D printing: The new industrial revolution. Bus Horiz 55(2):155-162
 - Khosravani MR, Reinicke T (2020) On the environmental impacts of 3D printing technology. Appl Mater Today 20:100689
 - Mukhtarkhanov M, Perveen A, Talamona D (2020) Application of stereolithography based 3D printing technology in investment casting. Micromachines. 11:946
 - 7. Liu Z, Wang Y, Wu B et al (2019) A critical review of fused deposition modeling 3D printing technology in manufacturing polylactic acid parts. Int J Adv Manuf Technol 102:2877–2889
 - Wei C, Li L, Zhang X, Chueh Y (2018) 3D printing of multiple metallic materials via modified selective laser melting. CIRP Ann 67(1):245–248
 - 9. Peng X, Kuang X, Roach DJ, Wang Y, Hamel CM, Lu C, Qi HJ (2021) Integrating digital light processing with direct ink writing for hybrid 3D printing of functional structures and devices. Addit Manuf 40:101911
- Mostafaei A, Elliott AM, Barnes JE, Li F, Tan W, Cramer CL, Nandwana P, Chmielus M (2021) Binder jet 3D printing-Process parameters, materials, properties, modeling, and challenges. Prog Mater Sci 119:100707
- 11. Tibbits S (2014) 4D printing: multi-material shape change 84(1), Special issue: high definition: zero tolerance in design and production. 116–121
- Shin DG, Kim TH, Kim DE (2017) Review of 4D printing materials and their properties. Int J Precis Eng Manuf-Green Tech 4:349–357
- Wang Y, Li X (2021) 4D printing reversible actuator with strain self-sensing function via structural design. Compos B Eng 211:108644
- Bahr R, Nauroze A, Su W, Tentzeris MM (2017) Self-actuating 3D printed packaging for deployable antennas. In: 2017 IEEE 67th electronic components and technology conference (ECTC), 1425–1430
- Kuang X, Chen K, Dunn CK, Wu J, Li VCF, Qi HJ (2018) 3D Printing of highly stretchable, shape-memory, and self-healing elastomer toward novel 4D printing. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 10(8):7381–7388
- Sun Y (2022) Computational design of self-actuated deformable solids via shape memory material. IEEE Trans Vis Comput Graph 28(7):2577–2588
- Zolfagharian A, Kaynak A, Bodaghi M, Kouzani AZ, Gharaie S, Nahavandi S (2020) Controlbased 4D printing: adaptive 4D-printed systems. Appl Sci 10:3020
- Lee AY, An J, Chua CK, Zhang Y (2019) Preliminary investigation of the reversible 4D printing of a dual-layer component. Engineering 5(6):1159–1170
- 19. Mitchell A, Lafont U, Hołyńska M, Semprimoschnig C (2018) Additive manufacturing—a review of 4D printing and future applications. Addit Manuf 24:606–626
- Raina A, Haq MIU, Javaid M et al (2021) 4D printing for automotive industry applications. J. Inst. Eng. India Ser. D 102:521–529
- 21. Prassler E, Kosuge K (2008) Domestic robotics. In: Siciliano B, Khatib O (eds) Springer handbook of robotics. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg
- 22. Xiong R, Grant AM, Ma R, Zhang S, Tsukruk VV (2018) Naturally-derived biopolymer nanocomposites: Interfacial design, properties and emerging applications. Mater Sci Eng R Rep 125:1–41
- 23. Zhang Y, Raza A, Xue Y, Yang G, Hayat U, Yu J, Liu C, Wang H, Wang J (2023) Waterresponsive 4D printing based on self-assembly of hydrophobic protein "Zein" for the control of degradation rate and drug release. Bioact Mater 23:343–352
- 24. Jeff Plott YJ, Chen R, Wensman J, Shih A (2015) Additive manufacturing of custom orthoses and prostheses-a review. Procedia CIRP 36:199–204
- 25. Saboori A, Aversa A, Marchese G, Biamino S, Lombardi M, Fino P (2019) Application of directed energy deposition-based additive manufacturing in repair. Appl Sci 9:3316

- Baran A, Polanski M (2018) Microstructure and properties of LENS (laser engineered net shaping) manufactured Ni-Ti shape memory alloy. J Alloy Compd 750:863–870
- 27. Zhang D, Li Y, Wang H, Cong W (2020) Laser engineered net shaping in-situ synthesis of NiTi alloy: effects of processing parameters. In: Proceedings of the ASME 2020 15th international manufacturing science and engineering conference. 1: additive manufacturing; advanced materials manufacturing; biomanufacturing; life cycle engineering; manufacturing equipment and automation. Virtual, V001T01A018
- Guo M, Gu D, Xi L, Zhang H, Zhang J, Yang J, Wang R (2019) Selective laser melting additive manufacturing of pure tungsten: role of volumetric energy density on densification, microstructure and mechanical properties. Int J Refract Metals Hard Mater 84:105025
- Aguilar-Duque JI, Hernández-Arellano JL, Avelar-Sosa L, Amaya-Parra G, Tamayo-Pérez UJ (2019) Additive manufacturing: fused deposition modeling advances. best practices in manufacturing processes. Springer, Cham
- 30. Baumgartner S, Gmeiner R, Schönherr JA, Stampfl J (2020) Stereolithography-based additive manufacturing of lithium disilicate glass ceramic for dental applications. Mater Sci Eng: C 116
- Choong YYC, Maleksaeedi S, Eng H, Wei J, Su P (2017) 4D printing of high performance shape memory polymer using stereolithography. Mater Des 126:219–225
- 32. Palanisamy C, Raman R, Dhanraj Pk (2022) Additive manufacturing: a review on mechanical properties of polyjet and FDM printed parts. Polym Bull 79:7065–7116
- Zafar M, Zhao H (2020) 4D printing: future insight in additive manufacturing. Met Mater Int 26:564–585
- Farid MI, Wu W, Liu X (2021) Additive manufacturing landscape and materials perspective in 4D printing. Int J Adv Manuf Technol 115:2973–2988
- 35. He X, Ding Y, Lei Z, Welch S, Zhang W, Dunn M, Yu K (2021) 3D printing of continuous fiber-reinforced thermoset composites. Addit Manuf 40:101921
- 36. Lee AY, An J, Chua CK (2017) Two-way 4D printing: a review on the reversibility of 3D-printed shape memory materials. Engineering 3(5):663–674
- 37. Ryan KR, Down MP, Banks CE (2021) Future of additive manufacturing: Overview of 4D and 3D printed smart and advanced materials and their applications. Chem Eng J 403:126162
- VanHumbeeck J (2018) Additive Manufacturing of Shape Memory Alloys. Shap. Mem. Superelasticity. 4:309–312
- 39. Resnina N, Palani IA, Belyaev S, ManiPrabu SS, Liulchak P, Karaseva U, Manikandan M, Jayachandran S, Bryukhanova V, Sahu A, Bikbaev R (2021) Structure, martensitic transformations and mechanical behaviour of NiTi shape memory alloy produced by wire arc additive manufacturing. J Alloy Compd 851:156851
- Akbari S, Sakhaei AH, Panjwani S, Kowsari K, Serjouei A, Ge Q (2019) Multimaterial 3D printed soft actuators powered by shape memory alloy wires. Sens Actuators, A 290:177–189
- Arabi-Hashemi A, Maeder X, Figi R, Schreiner C, Griffiths S, Leinenbach C (2020) 3D magnetic patterning in additive manufacturing via site-specific in-situ alloy modification. Appl Mater Today 18:100512
- Caputo MP, Berkowitz AE, Armstrong A, Müllner P, Solomon CV (2018) 4D printing of net shape parts made from Ni-Mn-Ga magnetic shape-memory alloys. Addit Manuf 21:579–588
- 43. Speirs M, Wang X, Van Baelen S (2016) On the transformation behavior of NiTi shape-memory alloy produced by SLM. Shap Mem Superelasticity 2:310–316
- 44. Safaei K, Nematollahi M, Bayati P, Kordizadeh F, Andani MT, Abedi H, Poorganji B, Elahinia M (2022) On the crystallographic texture and torsional behavior of NiTi shape memory alloy processed by laser powder bed fusion: effect of build orientation. Addit Manuf 59:103184
- 45. Keshavarzan M, Kadkhodaei M, Forooghi F (2020) An investigation into compressive responses of shape memory polymeric cellular lattice structures fabricated by vat polymerization additive manufacturing. Polym Testing 91:106832
- 46. Lin C, Liu L, Liu Y, Leng J (2022) 4D printing of shape memory polybutylene succinate/ polylactic acid (PBS/PLA) and its potential applications. Compos Struct 279:114729
- 47. Ge Q, Sakhaei A, Lee H (2016) Multimaterial 4D printing with tailorable shape memory polymers. Sci Rep 6:31110

- 7 Smart Materials Based Additive Manufacturing
- Wang L, Jian Y, Le X, Lu W, Ma C, Zhang J, Huang Y, Huang C, Chen T (2018) Actuating and memorizing bilayer hydrogels for a self-deformed shape memory function. Chem Commun 54:1229–1232
- 49. Thetpraphi K, Kanlayakan W, Chaipo S, Moretto G, Kuhn J, Audigier D, Le Quyen M, Cottinet P, Petit L, Capsal J (2021) 3D-printed electroactive polymer force-actuator for large and high precise optical mirror applications. Addit Manuf 47:102199
- Joo H, Han H, Cho S (2020) Fabrication of poly(vinyl alcohol)-polyaniline nanofiber/graphene hydrogel for high-performance coin cell supercapacitor. Polymers 12:928
- Lai A, Du Z, Gan CL, Schuh CA (2013) Shape memory and superelastic ceramics at small scales. Science 341(6153):1505–1508
- Patadiya J, Gawande A, Joshi G, Kandasubramanian B (2021) Additive manufacturing of shape memory polymer composites for futuristic technology. Ind Eng Chem Res 60, 44:15885–15912
- 53. Zhang X, Wang Y, Shi X, Jian J, Wang X, Li M, Ji Y, Qian F, Fan J, Wang H, Qiu L, Li W, Yang H (2021) Heteroepitaxy of flexible piezoelectric Pb(Zr_{0.53}Ti_{0.47})O₃ sensor on inorganic mica substrate for lamb wave-based structural health monitoring. Ceram Int 47(9):13156–13163
- Kurita H, Lohmuller P, Laheurte P, Nakajima K, Narita F (2022) Additive manufacturing and energy-harvesting performance of honeycomb-structured magnetostrictive Fe52–Co48 alloys. Addit Manuf 54:102741
- Ortega N, Kumar A, Scott JF, Katiyar RS (2015) Multifunctional magnetoelectric materials for device applications. J Phys: Condens Matter 27:50
- Chen C, Wang X, Wang Y, Yang D, Yao F, Zhang W, Wang B, Sewvandi GA, Yang D, Hu D (2020) Additive manufacturing of piezoelectric materials 30, 52:2005141
- Sossou G, Demoly F, Belkebir H, Jerry Qi H, Gomes S, Montavon G (2019) Design for 4D printing: A voxel-based modeling and simulation of smart materials. Mater Des 175:107798
- Askari M, Hutchins DA, Thomas PrJ, Astolfi L, Watson RL, Abdi M, Ricci M, Laureti S, Nie L, Freear S, Wildman R, Tuck C, Clarke M, Woods E, Clare AT (2020) Additive manufacturing of metamaterials: a review. Addit Manuf 36:101562(2020)
- Li Y, Lin C, Wu Z, Chen Z, Chi C, Cao F (2021) Solution-processed all-ceramic plasmonic metamaterials for efficient solar-thermal conversion over 100–727 °C, 33(1):2005074
- Ikram H, Rashid AA, Koç M (2022) Additive manufacturing of smart polymeric composites: literature review and future perspectives 43(9):6355–6380
- Wang P, Chang C, Youh M, Liu Y, Chu C, Ger M (2016) The preparation of pH-sensitive Pd catalyst ink for selective electroless deposition of copper on a flexible PET substrate. J Taiwan Inst Chem Eng 60:555–563
- 62. Garshasbi S, Santamouris M (2019) Using advanced thermochromic technologies in the built environment: Recent development and potential to decrease the energy consumption and fight urban overheating. Sol Energy Mater Sol Cells 191:21–32
- 63. Belka M, Baczek T (2021) Additive manufacturing and related technologies the source of chemically active materials in separation science. TrAC, Trends Anal Chem 142:116322
- Kim MO, Lee JS (2019) The effect of 10,12-pentacosadiynoic acid on the morphology and characteristics of electrospun PDA/PU nanofibers. Fash Text 6:27
- 65. Sanumi OJ, Ndungu PG, Oboirien BO (2022) Challenges of 3D printing in LIB electrodes: emphasis on material-design properties, and performance of 3D printed Si-based LIB electrodes. J Power Sources 543:231840
- 66. Mondal K, Tripathy PK (2021) Preparation of smart materials by additive manufacturing technologies: a review. Materials 14:6442
- 67. Saidi A, Desfontaines L, Champeval A, Lebreux J, Lecomte C, Pruneau M, Grondein A, Izquierdo R, Bélanger D (2017) The effect of ink formulation and electrode geometry design on the electrochemical performance of a printed alkaline battery. Flex Print Electron 2(1):015002

Chapter 8 Additively Manufactured/3D Printed Batteries and Supercapacitors



S. Raghavendra, B. E. Rangaswamy, N. B. Pradeep, M. P. Kavya, and M. P. Pavan Kumar

Abstract 3D printing has revolutionized various industries by permitting the manufacture of complex and customized objects with effortlessness. When it hails to batteries and supercapacitors, 3D printing has shown potential in the growth of newfangled and innovative designs. However, the technology is still in its early stages, and significant research and development efforts are underway to harness its full potential. With recent advances and cost reduction, it can transform the manufacturing process to create intricate and complex designs with better implanted functionalities. Further, vital research into the material development and novel design approaches are the need of the hour.

Keywords 3D printing · Batteries · Supercapacitors · Additive manufacturing

B. E. Rangaswamy Registrar, Visvesvaraya Technological University, Belagavi 590018, India

N. B. Pradeep (⊠) Department of Mechanical Engineering, JNN College of Engineering, Shivamogga, Affiliated to Visvesvaraya Technological University, Belagavi 590018, India e-mail: pradeepnb1@gmail.com

M. P. Kavya

M. P. P. Kumar

S. Raghavendra Aakruthi 3D Pvt. Ltd., Mangalore, India

Department of Electronics & Communication Engineering, PES Institute of Technology and Management, Shivamogga, Affiliated to Visvesvaraya Technological University, Belagavi 590018, India

Department of Information Science & Engineering, JNN College of Engineering, Shivamogga, Affiliated to Visvesvaraya Technological University, Belagavi 590018, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2024 S. Rajendrachari (ed.), *Practical Implementations of Additive Manufacturing Technologies*, Materials Horizons: From Nature to Nanomaterials, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-5949-5_8

1 Introduction

Climate change is one of the greatest challenges faced by us in the twenty-first century. The earth is warming earlier than at any time in recorded history. Global warming caused by humans reached the 1 °C mark in 2017. In order to save our planet from the devastating effects of global warming, we need to limit the spike in temperatures to an average of 1.5 °C above pre-industrial levels. This requires the world to cut 30 giga tonnes greenhouse gas emissions annually by 2030. Significant technological intervention in this regard to reduce CO_2 emissions and produce clean electricity, stored safely and cost effectively is the need of the hour [1–5].

Electric vehicles are far better for the environment than the present petrol and diesel-based vehicles. Research has shown that they emit fewer greenhouse gases and air pollutants than the conventional vehicles including taking into account their production and electricity generation to keep them running. For example, a pure electric car produces zero CO_2 when driving on the road. If we quantify this for over a year, a single electric car can save an average of 1.5 million grams of CO_2 . Imagine all the present-day vehicles being replaced with electric vehicles—his translates into a considerable reduction in air pollution making our towns and cities a better place to live. However, there are quite a few challenges to make it a reality like safety, cost, energy density and capacity which is holding back the widespread adoption of electric vehicles [6–10].

Traditional lithium-ion rechargeable batteries which are widely used in laptops and smartphones has downsides for both people and the planet. The raw material extraction process is a very much labour-intensive process and requires large amounts of resources like energy and water. Proper recycling of the used batteries is also a major concern. Alternatives for conventional batteries have emerged over a period of time out of which Solid State Batteries (SSB) still holds well as a promising technology [10–15]. They are preferred because they improve safety, size and weight. They offer higher energy density when compared with conventional batteries i.e., a solid state battery pack will give same kWh rating of a traditional lithium-ion battery but it will be lighter and smaller in size. But we don't see much of the world using SSBs at present because of the complex manufacturing process involved in its making.

3D printing technology provides a way to produce and bring SSBs to the market in a cost-effective way. Conventional batteries follow a two-dimensional planar architecture of the electrodes whereas 3D printing electrodes results in creating intricate battery designs by following three-dimensional architecture. This leads us to imagine beyond the conventional design and bring to life the idea of shape-conformable batteries as shown in Fig. 1.



2 Overview of 3D Printing Technologies

There are numerous 3D printing technologies that are being developed for various functions and purposes as shown in Fig. 2. According to the ASTM Standard, 3D printing processes are classified into seven categories: powder bed fusion, sheet lamination, vat photo polymerization, material jetting, binding jetting, directed energy deposition, and material extrusion. There are no discussions regarding whether machine or technology performs better because each has its own set of applications. 3D printing technologies are now not restricted to prototype but are hastily being used to create a wide range of items.



Fig. 2 Overview of various 3D printing technologies and the corresponding compatible materials [17]

Binder jetting is a rapid prototyping and 3D printing process in which a liquid binding agent is selectively deposited to join powder particles. The binder jetting technology uses jet chemical binder onto the spread powder to form the layer. The application of the binder jetting is would be producing the casting patterns, large-volume products from sand. Binder jetting can print a variety of materials including metals, sands, polymers, hybrid and ceramics. The process of binder jetting is simple, fast and cheap as powder particles are glued together. Lastly, binder jetting also has the ability to print very large products.

Directed energy deposition is a more complex printing process commonly used to repair or add additional material to existing components. Directed energy deposition has the high degree control of grain structure and can produce the good quality of the object. The process of directed energy deposition is similar in principle to material extrusion, but the nozzle not fixed to a specific axis and can move in multiple directions. Furthermore, the process can be used with ceramics, polymers but is typically used with metals and metal-based hybrids, in the form of either wire or powder. The example of this technology is laser deposition and laser engineered net shaping (LENS). Laser deposition is the emerging technology and can be used to produce or repair parts measured in millimetre to meters. Laser deposition technology is gaining attraction in the tooling, transportation, aerospace, and oil and gas sectors because it can provide scalability and the diverse capabilities in the single system.

Material extrusion-based 3D printing technology can be used to print multimaterials and multi-colour printing of plastics, food or living cells. This process has been widely used and the costs are very low. Moreover, this process can build fully functional parts of product Fused deposition modelling (FDM) is the first example of a material extrusion system. FDM was developed in early 1990 and this method uses polymer as the main material. FDM builds parts layer-by-layer from the bottom to the top by heating and extruding thermoplastic filament.

According to ASTM Standards, **material jetting** is a 3D printing process in which drop by drop of build material are selectively deposited. In material jetting, a print head dispenses droplets of a photosensitive material that solidifies, building a part layer-by-layer under ultraviolet (UV) light. At the same time, material jetting creates parts with a very smooth surface finish and high dimensional accuracy. Multi-material printing and a wide range of materials such as polymers, ceramics, composite are available in material jetting.

Powder bed fusion process includes the electron beam melting (EBM), selective laser sintering (SLS) and selective heat sintering (SHS) printing technique. This method uses either an electron beam or laser to melt or fuse the material powder together. The example of the materials used in this process are metals, ceramics, polymers, composite and hybrid. Selective laser sintering (SLS) is the main example of powder-based 3D printing technology. SLS is 3D printing technology that's functionally in fast speed, has high accuracy, and varies surface finish. Selective laser sintering can used to create metal, plastic, and ceramic objects.

According to ASTM definition, **sheet lamination** is the 3D printing process in which sheet of materials are bond together to produce a part of object. The example of 3D printing technology that uses this process are laminated object manufacturing (LOM) and ultrasound additive manufacturing (UAM). The advantages of this process are sheet lamination can do full-colour with lower cost of fabrication and less operational time. Laminated object manufacturing (LOM) is capable to manufacture complicated geometrical parts.

Vat polymerization uses a vat of liquid photopolymer resin, out of which the model is constructed layer by layer. An ultraviolet (UV) light is used to cure or harden the resin where required, whilst a platform moves the object being made downwards after each new layer is cured.

As the process uses liquid to form objects, there is no structural support from the material during the build phase, unlike powder-based methods, where support is given from the unbound material. In this case, support structures will often need to be added. Resins are cured using a process of photo polymerization or UV light, where the light is directed across the surface of the resin with the use of motor-controlled mirrors. Where the resin comes in contact with the light, it cures or hardens [18, 19].

3 Materials Used for **3D** Printing Technology

Like any manufacturing process, 3D printing needs high quality materials that meet consistent specifications to build consistent high-quality devices. To ensure this, procedures, requirements, and agreements of material controls are established between the suppliers, purchasers, and end-users of the material. 3D printing technology is capable to produce fully functional parts in a wide range of materials including ceramic, metallic, polymers and their combinations in form of hybrid, composites or functionally graded materials (FGMs).

3.1 Metals

Metal 3D printing technology gain many attentions in aerospace, automobile, medical application and manufacturing industry because the advantages existing by this process. The materials of metal have the excellent physical properties and this material can be used to complex manufacturer from printing human organs to aerospace parts. The examples of this materials are aluminium alloys, cobalt-based alloys, nickel-based alloys, stainless steels, and titanium alloys. Cobalt-based alloy is suitable to use in the 3D printed dental application. This is because, it has high specific stiffness, resilience, high recovery capacity, elongation and heat-treated conditions. Furthermore, 3D printing technology has capability to produce aerospace parts by using nickel base alloys. 3D-printed object produces using nickel base alloys can be

used in dangerous environments. This is because, it has high corrosion resistance and the heat temperature can resistant up to 1200 °C. Lastly, 3D printing technology also can print out the object by using titanium alloys. Titanium alloy with have very exclusive properties, such as ductility, good corrosion, oxidation resistance and low density [20–22]. It is used in high stresses and high operating temperatures and high stresses, for example in aerospace components and biomedical industry.

3.2 Polymers

3D printing technologies are widely used for the production of polymer components from prototypes to functional structures with difficult geometries. By using fused deposition modelling (FDM), it can form a 3D printed through the deposition of successive layers of extruded thermoplastic filament, such as polylactic acid (PLA), acrylonitrile butadiene styrene (ABS), polypropylene (PP) or polyethylene (PE) Lately, thermoplastics filaments with higher melting temperatures such as 3D printing polymer materials in liquid state or with low melting point are widely used in 3D printing industry due to their low cost, low weight and processing flexibility. The materials of polymers played important role in biomaterials and medical device products often as inert materials, by contributing implants to the efficient functioning of the devices as well as providing mechanical support in many orthopaedic [23–27].

3.3 Ceramics

Nowadays, 3D printing technology can produce 3D printed object by using ceramics and concrete without large pores or any cracks through optimization of the parameters and setup the good mechanical properties. Ceramic is strong, durable and fire resistant. Due to its fluid state before setting, ceramics can be applied in practically any geometry and shape and very suitable on the creation of future construction and building. According to they said ceramics materials is useful in the dental and aerospace application. The examples of this materials are alumina, bioactive glasses and zirconia. Alumina powder for instance has the potential to be processes by 3D Printing technology. Alumina is an excellent ceramic oxide with a very wide range of applications, including catalyst, adsorbents, microelectronics, chemicals, aerospace industry and another high-technology industry. Alumina has great curing complexity. By using 3D printing technology, complex-shaped alumina parts with has a high density after sintering and also has high green density can be printed.

3.4 Composites

Composite materials with the exceptional versatility, low weight, properties have been revolutionizing high-performance industries. The examples of composite materials are carbon fibres, reinforced polymer composites and glass fibres reinforced polymer composite. Carbon fibre reinforced polymers composite structures are widely used in aerospace industry because of their high specific stiffness, strength, good corrosion resistance and good fatigue performance. At the same time, glass fibres reinforced polymer composites are widely used for various applications in 3D printing application and has great potential applications due to the cost effectiveness and high-performance. Fiberglass have a high thermal conductivity and relatively low coefficient of thermal expansion [28–30].

3.5 Smart Materials

Smart materials are defined as this material have the potential to alter the geometry and shape of object, influence by external condition such as heat and water. The example of 3D printed object produces by using smart materials are self-evolving structure and soft robotics system. Smart materials also can be classified as 4D printing materials. The examples of group smart materials are shape memory alloys and shape memory polymers. Some shape-memory alloys like nickel-titanium can be used in biomedical implants to micro electromechanical devices application. In the production of 3D printed products by using nickel-titanium, transformation temperatures, reproducibility of microstructure and density is the important issue [31].

4 Shape-Conformable Energy Storage Devices

Electrochemical energy storage devices are the key components of portable electronics and electric vehicles. They are designed to store and release electricity through chemical reactions. Rechargeable lithium-ion batteries and supercapacitors are the most common electrochemical energy storage devices. Lithium-ion cells are available in prismatic and cylindrical shape owing to its roll-to-roll manufacturing process. This imposes a limitation to integration in some of the advanced and sophisticated devices.

Electronic casing, a structural outer cover which encapsulates every electronic device forms a dead weight. Fully integrated cells embed functionality in the shape and removes this dead weight. Further, smart watches straps, curved case surfaces, smart glasses frame and implanted medical devices demand flexibility and stretch ability to the battery cells. Hence, shape conformability (adaptation to shape of the

device) of energy storage devices opens a realm of opportunities in the design and development of next generation wearables and portable electronic devices as shown in Figs. 3 and 4.

For example, a battery cell can be integrated into the complete frame of the smart glasses. For an electric aircraft, the entire fuselage frame can be made as a battery cell thus eliminating the additional space required in the case of conventional rectangular or cylindrical or prismatic-shaped batteries. Similarly, a battery can be integrated into the structural casing of the cube sat thus aiding in the miniaturization and dead space saving to accommodate more payloads. Further, it can be extrapolated to future applications in space travel like building of extra-terrestrial and lunar/ Martian habitats.



Fig. 3 Futuristic applications of 3D printed shape conformable batteries [16]



Fig. 4 Battery designs [18]

5 Additive Manufacturing of Batteries

The exponential growth in technology has led to the design and development of customized and miniaturized electronics. The power source of these new era devices i.e., a battery also need to be upgraded from functional and aesthetic diversities. Additive manufacturing of the battery's paves way for that with its unique abilities to produce most complex and intricate designs embedded with functionality.

There are three important considerations for additively manufacturing a battery: (a) Design, (b) Material and (c) 3D Printing Technology. To begin with AM process, a digital design of the proposed battery architecture is needed. Engineering Computer Aided Design (CAD) tools and techniques can be used to create a virtual design. This digital 3D model output is then sliced into several 2D horizontal cross sections using a specialized slicing software. The output of the software is a set of commands called a geometric code (G-code) which is then fed to the machine. The 3D printer as per the G-code deposits 2D layers of the thermoplastic material one above the other to fabricate a coherent 3D object.

Design of batteries consists of (a) geometric architecture of its components like electrodes, electrolyte, separator and current collector and (b) the assembly design. With 3D Printing, any complex geometries of electrodes can be fabricated to realize shape conformable design. The assembly of these components can be done by configurations like in-plane or sandwiched designs as seen in Fig. 5. Both configurations have their own pros and cons which affects their electrochemical performance and its application areas. Sandwich configuration is a cost-effective design and is relevant for mass production whereas in-plane design having minimal footprint and enhanced ionic transport is suitable for customized applications like ultrathin film batteries or supercapacitors.

3D Printing technology and material selection is a synergetic process where specific materials are compatible with the certain technologies. The most common technologies used in the fabrication of energy storage devices are material jetting and extrusion. Inkjet printing (IJP) is a material jetting technology in which low viscosity inks are used. Direct ink writing (DIW) and fused deposition modelling (FDM) are extrusion technologies in which DIW uses a liquid feed material whereas FDM



Fig. 5 Sandwiched and in-plane configurations of battery assembly [19]

Sl. no.	3D printing technology	Materials	Performance	References
1	IJP	Ag NPs	5 mA h cm^{-2}	[1]
		rGo/LTO/NCA	0.35 mA h	[2]
2	DIW	LTO/LFP/SP/PVP	$14.5 \text{ mA h cm}^{-2}$	[3]
		LTO/LFP/rGO	1.5 mA h cm^{-2}	[4, 5]
3	FDM	LTO/LMO	$3.91 \text{ mA h cm}^{-3}$	[6]
4	SLA	LTO/LFP	500 mA h cm ⁻²	[7]
		NiSn/LMO	$2 \text{ mA h cm}^{-2} \text{ mm}^{-1}$	[8]

Table 1 Summary of 3D printing technologies, compatible materials and battery performance

uses a solid feed material [32–34]. Table 1 illustrates the various materials and 3D printing methods used in battery fabrication and the corresponding electrochemical performance obtained from them.

For IJP, material properties like viscosity (μ), surface tension (σ) and density (ρ) are related with the nozzle diameter (d) using a non-dimensional parameter called Ohnesorge number denoted by Z. The mathematical expression is $Z = \sqrt{\rho\sigma d}/\mu$. Ink compositions with 1 <Z> 10 are generally expected to produce stable droplets. For DIW, the inks must show shear thinning behaviour with high stress and storage modulus. This allows it to retain the shape of the extruded material during deposition. Along with it, the inks must solidify rapidly and have sufficient mechanical stiffness to support subsequent layers. FDM uses thermoplastic materials like poly lactic acid (PLA) and acrylonitrile butadiene styrene (ABS) in which the solidification of each layer is based on crystallization and chain entanglement of the polymer.

6 Additive Manufacturing of Supercapacitors

Supercapacitors are attractive energy storage devices because of their huge electrical capacitance. Ultracapacitor and electrochemical double layer capacitor are some other names of the same device. The manufacturing of supercapacitors is difficult due to many different types of materials used. Table 2 illustrates the 3D printing technologies used to produce supercapacitors along with material and the corresponding performance [35–37].

At present, there is still place for better understanding of the involved processes and contribution to the existing knowledge of supercapacitor manufacturing technology.

Sl. no.	3D printing technology	Materials	Performance	Reference
1	IJP	PANI-GP	864 F g^{-1}	[9]
		rGO	0.1 mF cm^{-2}	[10]
2	DIW	PANI/GO	1329 mF cm^{-2}	[11]
3	FDM	PLA/graphene	$485 \ \mu F \ g^{-1}$	[12]
		ABS/CB	$12 \mu F cm^{-2}$	[13]
4	SLA	Polymer/NiP/rGO	250 mF cm^{-2}	[14]
		Pyrolysed polymer Ag NWs	0.206 mF cm^{-2}	[15]

 Table 2
 Summary of 3D printing technologies, compatible materials and supercapacitor performance

7 Conclusions and Outlook

The evolution of new era electronic devices requires a great flexibility in design as well as functionality of present-day energy storage devices. 3D Printing technology has a lot of potential in this regard to manufacture customized and miniaturized electronics batteries and supercapacitors. With recent advances and cost reduction, it can revolutionize the manufacturing process to create intricate and complex designs with better embedded functionalities. Further, fundamental research into the material development and novel design approaches are the need of the hour.

References

- Saleh MS, Li J, Park J, Panat R (2018) 3D printed hierarchically porous micro lattice electrode materials for exceptionally high specific capacity and areal capacity lit ium ion batteries. Addit Manuf 23:70–78
- Hahn R, Ferch M, Tribowski K, Kyeremateng NA, Hoeppner K, Marquardt K, Lang KD, Bock W (2019) High-throughput battery materials testing based on test cell arrays and dispense/jet printed electrodes. Microsyst Technol 25:1137–1149
- Wei TS, Ahn BY, Grotto J, Lewis JA (2018) 3D printing of customized Li-ion batteries with thick electrodes. Adv Mater 30:1–7
- Fu K, Wang Y, Yan C, Yao Y, Chen Y, Dai J, Lacey S, Wang Y, Wan J, Li T, Wang Z, Xu Y, Hu L (2016) Graphene oxide-based electrode inks for 3D-printed lithium-ion batteries. Adv Mater 28:2587–2594
- Sun K, Wei TS, Ahn BY, Seo JY, Dillon SJ, Lewis JA (2013) 3D printing of interdigitated Li-ion micro battery architectures. Adv Mater 25:4539–4543
- Reyes C, Somogyi R, Niu S, Cruz MA, Yang F, Catenacci MJ, Rhodes CP, Wiley BJ (2018) Three-dimensional printing of a complete lithium ion battery with fused filament fabrication. ACS Appl Energy Mater 1:5268–5279
- Cohen E, Menkin S, Lifshits M, Kamir Y, Gladkich A, Kosa G, Golodnitsky D (2018) Novel rechargeable 3D-Microbatteries on 3Dprinted-polymer substrates: feasibility study. Electrochim Acta 265:690–701
- Ning H, Pikul JH, Zhang R, Li X, Xu S, Wang J, Rogers JA, King WP, Braun PV (2015) Holographic patterning of high performance on-chip 3D lithium-ion microbatteries. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 112:6573–6578

- Chi K, Zhang Z, Xi J, Huang Y, Xiao F, Wang S, Liu Y (2014) Freestanding graphene paper supported three-dimensional porous graphene–polyaniline nano composite synthesized by inkjet printing and in flexible all-solid-state supercapacitor. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 6:16312–16319
- Li J, Mishukova V, Östling M: All-solid-state micro supercapacitors based on inkjet printer graphene electrodes. Appl Phys Lett 2016, 109.
- 11. Wang Z (2018) Zhang Qe, Long S, Luo Y, Yu P, Tan Z, Bai J, Qu B, Yang Y, Shi J, Zhou H, Xiao ZY, Hong W, Bai H: Three-dimensional printing of polyaniline/reduced graphene oxide composite for high-performance planar supercapacitor. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 10:10437–10444
- 12. Foster CW, Down MP, Zhang Y, Ji X, Rowley-Neale SJ, Smith GC, Kelly PJ, Banks CE (2017) 3D printed graphene-based energy storage devices. Sci Rep 7:42233
- Bin Hamzah HH, Keattch O, Covill D, Patel BA (2018) The effects of printing orientation on the electrochemical behaviour of 3D printed acrylonitrile butadiene styrene (ABS)/carbon black electrodes. Sci Rep 8:9135
- Xue J, Gao L, Hu X, Cao K, Zhou W, Wang W, Lu Y: Stereolithographic 3D printing-based hierarchically cellular Lattices for high-performance quasi-solid supercapacitor. Nano Micro Lett 2019, 11. 46–46.
- Park SH, Kaur M, Yun D, Kim WS (2018) Hierarchically designed electron paths in 3D printed energy storage devices. Langmuir 34:10897–10904
- Maurel A, Martinez AC, Grugeon S, Panier S, Dupont L, Cortes P, Sherrard CG, Small I, Sreenivasan ST, Macdonald E (2021) toward high-resolution 3D printing of shape-conformable batteries via vat photopolymerization: review and perspective. IEEE Access 9:1–13, https:// doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2021.3119533
- 17. Singh S, Ramakrishna S, Singh R (2017) Material issues in additive manufacturing: a review. J Manuf Process 25:185–200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmapro.2016.11.006
- Lyu Z, Hu Z, Lim GJH, Wang J, Chen W, Justin Koh J, Chen Y, Li Y, Ma Y, Ding J, Wang J (2021) Design and manufacture of 3D-printed batteries 5(1):89–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joule.2020.11.010
- Gulzar U, Glynn C, O'Dwyer C (2020) Additive manufacturing for energy storage: Methods, designs and material selection for customizable 3D printed batteries and supercapacitors. Curr Opin Electrochem 20:46–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coelec.2020.02.009
- Pradeep NB, Rajath Hedge MM, Shashanka RC, Surendranathan AO (2022) Investigation of microstructure and mechanical properties of microwave consolidated TiMgSr alloy prepared by high energy ball milling. Powder Technol (Elsevier) 408:01–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. powtec.2022.117715
- Pradeep NB, Rajath HMM, Manjunath PGC, Khaled G, PimenovDanil Y (2022) Wojciechowski Szymon, Synthesis and characterization of mechanically alloyed nanostructured ternary titanium based alloy for bio-medical applications, J Mater Res Technol 16:88–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmrt.2021.11.101
- N.B. Pradeep, M.M. Rajath Hedge, R.C. Shashanka, A.O. Surendranathan, Investigation of structural and mechanical properties of nanostructured TiMgSr alloy for biomedical applications, Biointerface Research in Applied Chemistry (2023), Volume 13, Page No. 1–12, https:// doi.org/10.33263/BRIAC132.118
- 23. Shashanka R (2018) Effect of sintering temperature on the pitting corrosion of ball milled duplex stainless steel by using linear sweep voltammetry. Anal Bioanal Electrochem 10:349–361
- Shashanka R, Chaira D (2014) Phase transformation and microstructure study of nanostructured austenitic and ferritic stainless steel powders prepared by planetary milling. Powder Technol 259:125–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.powtec.2014.03.061
- Shashanka R, Chaira D (2015) Optimization of milling parameters for the synthesis of nanostructured duplex and ferritic stainless steel powders by high energy planetary milling. Powder Technol 278:35–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.powtec.2015.03.007
- 26. Shashanka R, Chaira D (2015) Development of nanostructured duplex and ferritic stainless steel by pulverisette planetary milling followed by pressureless sintering. Mater Charact 99:220–229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matchar.2014.11.030

- 8 Additively Manufactured/3D Printed Batteries and Supercapacitors
- Pradeep NB, Venkatesha BK, Parameshwara S et al (2021) Synthesis of nanostructured ternary Ti based alloy for bio-medical applications. Mat Today Proc. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matpr. 2021.09.429
- Shashanka R (2017) Synthesis of nanostructured stainless-steel powder by mechanical alloyingan overview. Int J Sci Eng Res 8:588–594
- Shashanka R, Chaira D, Swamy BEK (2018) Effect of Y2O3 nanoparticles on corrosion study of spark plasma sintered duplex and ferritic stainless-steel samples by linear sweep voltammetric method. Arch Metall Mater 63:749–763. https://doi.org/10.24425/122401
- Shashanka R (2019) Non-lubricated dry sliding wear behavior of spark plasma sintered nanostructured stainless steel. J Mater Environ Sci 10:767–777
- Shashanka R, Swamy BEK (2020) Simultaneous electro generation and electrodeposition of copper oxide nanoparticles on glassy carbon electrode and its sensor application. SN Appl Sci 2:956. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42452-020-2785-1
- Shashanka R (2021) Investigation of optical and thermal properties of CuO and ZnO nanoparticles prepared by Crocus Sativus (Saffron) flower extract. J Iran Chem Soc 18:415–427. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s13738-020-02037-3
- Shashanka R, Jayaprakash GK, Prakashaiah BG (2021) Electrocatalytic determination of ascorbic acid using a green synthesised magnetite nanoflake modified carbon paste electrode by cyclic voltammetric method. Mater Res Innovations. https://doi.org/10.1080/14328917.2021. 1945795
- 34. Kanaginahal GM, Mahale RS, Vasanth S, Sharath PC, Shashanka R, Studies on dielectric, super-capacitive and photoluminescence properties of metal organic frameworks subjected to varying temperature and frequencies, nano hybrids and composites, 39:17–25. https://doi.org/ 10.4028/p-si6964
- Mahale RS, Kanaginahal GM, Vasanth S, Tiwary VK, Shashanka R, Sharath PC, Patil A, Applications of fused deposition modeling in dentistry, https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-6684-6009-2.ch012
- Rajendrachari S, Basavegowda N, Adimule VM, Avar B, Somu P, Saravana Kumar RM, Baek K-H (2022) Assessing the Food Quality Using Carbon Nanomaterial Based Electrodes by Voltammetric Techniques. Biosensors 12(12):1173. https://doi.org/10.3390/bios12121173
- Rajendrachari S, Adimule V, Gulen M, Khosravi F, Somashekharappa KK (2022) Synthesis and characterization of high entropy alloy 23Fe-21Cr-18Ni-20Ti-18Mn for electrochemical sensor applications. Materials 15(21):7591. https://doi.org/10.3390/ma15217591

Chapter 9 Additively Manufactured Electrochemical and Biosensors



Vinayak Adimule, Nidhi Manhas, and Santosh Nandi

Abstract The present chapter describes biosensor device properties and electro analytical methods involved in the development of environmentally sustainable hybrid polymers doped with silver nanowires (Ag NW) nano graphite, conductive polymer composites, graphene, nonporous metals, and carbon nanotubes for the biosensor's applications. The hybrid polymers doped with Ag NW showed bio compatibility, neutral adhesion and the formulated ink was used for the strain responsive biosensors. The nano graphite incorporated for the redox electrodes which are further used for the effective detection of Pb (II) and Cd (II) elements. However, electrochemical performances of conductive polymers showed decrease in the peak current with increase in the electrode potential leading to water ingress and used for the application of additive manufacturing (AM) where water is in contact with the AM process. The electrochemical biosensors used with graphene, carbon nanotubes and porous metals in presence of biomarkers with their challenges in the AM process discussed in detail.

Keywords Graphitic carbon · Conductive polymer inks · Biosensors · Electro analytical techniques · Physiochemical characteristics · Synthesis

V. Adimule (🖂)

N. Manhas

S. Nandi

191

Department of Chemistry, Angadi Institute of Technology and Management (AITM), Savagaon Road, Belagavi 590009, Karnataka, India e-mail: adimulevinayak@yahoo.in; researcher@vinayakadimule.in

School of Sciences, Indira Gandhi National Open University (IGNOU), Maidan Garhi, New-Delhi 110068, India

Chemistry Section, Department of Engineering Science and Humanities, KLE Technological University, Dr. M. S. Sheshgiri College of Engineering and Technology, Udyambag, Belagavi 590008, Karnataka, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2024 S. Rajendrachari (ed.), *Practical Implementations of Additive Manufacturing Technologies*, Materials Horizons: From Nature to Nanomaterials, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-5949-5_9

1 Introduction

The efficient detection of the analyte using electrochemical sensors has the advantages due to their rapid sensitivity, high selectivity, and sensitivity [1]. However, electrochemical sensors are very useful instrument for the detection of varieties of the species due to their low cost, potable, miniaturized devices, robust method of analvsis [2]. Biological recognition of the species like nucleic acids, enzymes, etc. can be efficiently carried out using electrochemical sensors. The quantitative, qualitative information about the biological receptors can be efficiently carried out using biosensors. The bio electrochemical devices find applications in the field of health care [3], environmental monitoring [4], biological analysis [5] etc. Biosensors can be broadly classified into 2 categories, affinity sensors and bio catalytic sensors. Selective interaction between the analyte and biological species will be carried out in affinity sensors whereas bio catalytic sensors enzymes, nucleic acids, tissue which produces target interaction with the biological receptors during the electro active process [6]. The first developed biosensor consists of oxygen membrane acting as electrodes which have thin layer of GO_x entrapped into the surface of the membrane. The Clark and Lyons [7] has designed the electrode and decrease in the oxygen content is directly proportional to the concentration of enzyme catalysed β -D glucose [8]. Verities of commercial biosensors are used for the determination of small molecules such as lactose, uric acid, lactone etc. and in majority is covered by the glucose biosensors [9]. Graphene oxide (GO_x) has the advantages of low cost, high selectivity and sensitivity which makes it promising candidate for the development of biosensors [10]. The biosensors generally work on the immobilization of enzymes on the electrode surface (first and second generation). GO_x has active centres (13–18 Å) and the mediators will help in transfer of the electrons from the electrode surface [11]. Commercially available sensors essentially consist of customized designs which has low cost, robustness, adopt for the additional factors etc. [12]. For the detection of nucleic acids and proteins (larger biomolecules) faces larger and significant challenges which include electrode fouling, lack of sensitivity, adsorption of biological receptors, range of concentrations etc. [13].

In the present chapter author described the synthesis of hybrid nanocomposites and their characterization, design, fabrication of strain response biosensors, electrochemical and biosensors properties of mesoporous C-based electrodes, graphene, CNTs, Nano porous metal electrodes using additive manufacturing has been discussed in detail.

2 Experimental

2.1 Synthesis of Hybrid Polymers with Ag NW and Their Physiochemical Characterization

The hybrid polymers such as ω -pentadecalactone (LDP) and ε -decalactone (LD) acting as co-polymers were synthesized as per the procedure reported in the literature [14]. In the typical synthesis involved in taking 30:70 ratio of LDP and LD mixtures in a conducting flak immersed in oil bath having N₂ atmosphere. Catalyst Triphenyl bismuth was used in small amounts and the polymerization process carried out for 6 days. The product was dissolved in chloroform, and precipitated by adding methanol, dried at 150 °C for 2 h. To the above obtained copolymer, Ag NWs were dispersed in chloroform solvent (1–3%). The polymers were characterized by ¹H-NMR, ¹³C-NMR, XRD, TGA, DSC analytical methods.

The physiochemical characterization of the hybrid LDP/LD polymers supported with Ag NWs carried out using following instruments and methods.

- a. Electrochemical measurements carried out in three electrode system (PAR STAT-2273), glassy carbon electrode and Ag/AgCl as reference electrode. The thin layer of LDP/AgNWs coated on the glassy electrode and CV was measured in 0.1 M KCl solution. The potential range of -0.8 V to 1.0 V maintained at the rate of 100 mV/s. The following equation was used to validate the obtained results. EIS (electrochemical Impedance spectra) recorded in 0.1 M KCl solution in the frequency range of 0.1 Hz to 100 kHz. The EIS results presented in the form of Bode plots. Spectrum analyser (1.0, EIS) [15] used for the analysis of the obtained results. The capacitance (C) can be calculated using the below equation.
- b. Viscoelastic Properties were evaluated using dynamic rheological testing (Anton Parr MCR 302). 10 mm, 1 mm distance parallel plates were used and strain rate measured 0.1 to 100% at 1 Hz at constant temperature. The storage modulus over the range of applied strain were determined [16].

3 Results and Discussions

3.1 Design, Fabrication, and *in Vitro* Analysis of Strain Response Biosensors

With the increase in the complexity, the electrode geometries were designed with the help of computer aided designs (CAD). Using Bio scaffolder 3.2 the obtained results were divided standard triangular language (STL) with specific width of 150 μ m using AM process, and maintain the ASTM 52,910:2018 standard guidelines the biosensor was constructed. Thin filaments of LDP/AgNWs undercoated over the base material

in order to enable 3D printing process using 150 μ m nozzle tip. The flexible thermonox substrates are obtained by the optimization of the printing parameters in the instruments. For ideal 3D printing parameters which includes, print velocity of 5 mm/ s, 75 kPa pressure and temperature at 37 °C. THF solvent was used for the printing process and can be evaporated quickly after the deposition. The microstructure was characterized using 10X/20X magnification system (EVOS XL core imaging system) the integration of LDP and Ag NWs in the nano composite was analysed using image j software. SEM images were collected in order to understand the microstructure, length of nano-fibres, diameter of the nanocomposites (Hitachi S-400, Japan).

In vitro biosensor properties of the LDP/AgNW studied using Cell scale MCT6 apparatus. The electrochemical resistance change was determined using Princeton model 2273 and power suit software. The bonding wires were developed using Ag epoxy material over the surface of the LDP/AgNW. Three biosensor samples were clamped over the apparatus (actuation device) and surface was exposed to solution containing phosphate buffer at temperature of 37 °C. A60 strain actuators used with 200 N loading capacities, frequency of 0.5 Hz and at 5% strain [17]. Using potentiostat with sinusoidal frequency of 1 kHz, at 1 V. In order to obtain the stability of the biosensor devices, the impedance was collected at 21 days.

3.2 Electrochemical Properties of Nano Graphite

The electrochemical applications of the nano graphite in the AM process involves mechanistically derivatives as reported in the sensing applications [18]. Figure 1 represents the CV curves for the ammonium iron (II) sulphate located on the electrode surface which is generally sensitive to oxygen molecule [19]. The similar electrode systems were developed by Chen et al. [20] and Cumba et al. [21]. In their study, they reported that peak separation increases with increase in the number of oxygenated groups [22]. In the AM process, surface oxygen species analysed in CV with voltage window of ~1.0 V. The peak separation observed is similar to the peak separation of O1s group in the XPS (X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy). For lowed oxygenated groups the peak separation is similar to the reported literature [19]. The Potential usability of the electrode is the determination of Pb (II) and Cd (II) ions in the additive manufacturing process.

Figure 1 depicts the typical square wave and stripping behaviour of the CV curves which are obtained by using AM process for the detection of Pb (II) and Cd (II) ions. In order to increase the sensing characteristics of the electrode, the surface area was structured like honey comb and the analysis of the CV profiles (I_p Vs concentration of the analyte) is linear for the detection of Pb (II) and Cd (II) ions. Recently electrochemically modified AM processed electrodes with potentials between 0 to -1.8 V exhibiting effective sensitivity towards Pb (II) and Cd (II) ions. The previous literature reports suggest the lowest detection limits of Cd (II) and Pb (II) ions by using 3 mm graphitic electrode were found to be 2.0 and 2.2 µg/L while the outer sphere



Fig.1 Electrochemical characterisation of PDL and PDL/AgNW. EIS analysis in the form of Bode plots of impedance modulus versus frequency **a** and phase angle versus frequency **b** for PDL and PDL/AgNW, as well as a Pt coated glass electrode; dots represent experimental data, while lines represent simulated results. Equivalent circuit model used for the fitting of the data collected for PDL and PDL/AgNW **c**

redox electrode show 10^{-3} cm/s the difference clearly indicate that the detection limit is much below the limit reported in the previous literature [23].

3.3 Nano Porous Metal Electrodes (NMEs) in Additive Manufacturing (3-D Printing)

Commonly NMEs contain high mechanical resistance, high conductivity, large surface area, and bio continuous structures [24]. Range of metals like Cu, Ag, Pd were used for the MFG of NMEs while, porous Ag NPs find more applications due to their chemical stability, ease of MFG and biocompatibility [25]. The Au NPs size can be tuned to 5–2 nm [26]. The electrode possesses, high surface to volume ratio, high catalytic activity, thermal stability, permeability etc. [27]. The electrodes used in the detection of various substrates in bio catalysis [28], biosensors [29], immune sensors [30], super capacitors [31] etc. Different methods employed for tuning the porous Au NPs. Recently NMEs fabricated using 0.5 N H₂SO₄, via electro analytical reduction having pore size of 40–50 nm [32]. The use of Au NPs avoids the corrosive chemicals and are potentially employed in the glucose oxidase enzymatic biosensors for the effective detection of H₂O₂. Using colloidal crystals, the pore size and the geometry of the Au based NMEs can be controlled. Szamocki et al. [33] reported the use of Au NMEs in the detection of glucose using glucose dehydrogenase via electrochemical method having enhanced detection levels and superior performance [34]. Chemical de alloying is an alternative approach for the NMEs. Different de alloying substances were used such as Au-Zn [35], Au-Ni [36], Au-Si [37] etc.



Fig. 2 Rheological behaviour of pristine PDL and PDL/AgNW inks and materials. The viscoelastic properties of PDL and PDL/AgNW composites (**a**), The storage modulus of the of inks and solid polymers was assessed as a function of shear strain (**b**)

Figure 2 shows the schematic alloying of Ag₇₀Au₃₀, Ag₅₀Au₅₀, Ag₃₅ Au₃₅ were displayed. On the other hand, wearable sensors play major role in the glucose and other biomarkers monitoring systems such as saliva, intestinal fluids etc. Matharu et al. reported the different pore of Au electrodes obtained via de alloying for the effective investigation of DNA alloying in presence of bio fouling fluids [38]. Electrodes efficiency can be increases with Au NPs of size 20–30 nm using bio fouling fluids. Since the Au is expensive the electrodes can be MFG using low-cost metals like Cu, Fe, Ni etc. [25]. NMEs are widely used electrode systems, however, cost of Au, complexity of MFG, limit the research applications [39].

4 Carbon Family of Compounds in Additive Manufacturing

a. Ordered Mesoporous Carbons (OMCs)

OMCs are flexible membrane structures used for the effective diffusion of materials in the electrochemical systems. The properties of OMCs include high surface area, porous structures, high conductivity, and high thermal and chemical stability [40]. OMCs can be synthesized via catalytic activation of C-spheres, carbonization of organic aerogels, which intern possesses high porous structures of OMCs [41]. Hard templating is also the process for the synthesis of OMCs and can be represented in Fig. 3 The majority of the biosensor's construction mainly dependent on the CMK-1 and CMK-3 biomolecules [42]. In ordered to develop OMCs with low cost, avoiding multi step and controlled pore size, self-assembling of C-spheres and co catalyst as surfactant were used as shown in Fig. 4 [43]. Recent developments include, synthesis of OMCs with large porous and graphite walls [44]. for the construction of glucose biosensors with monolithic electrode matrix using 3D porous graphitic C-nano spheres [45]. In common OMCs are powdered materials and to improve the mechanical properties the use of effective binders required in the modifications of the biosensors. The limitations of the OMCs are high surface volume, ordered mesoporous structures, and the development of alternate materials which can effectively replace the conventional graphene and CNTs.



Fig. 3 Schematic representation of the manufacture of nonporous gold (NPG) electrodes with a different layers and thicknesses, **b** sputtered glass sheet prior to etching, **c** formation of nanopores after etching, and **d** the completed NPG electrode.



Fig. 4 Two typical methods for the preparation of ordered mesoporous carbon materials: **a** the nano casting strategy from mesoporous silica hard templates and **b** the direct synthesis from block copolymer soft templates. Adapted from

b. Carbon Nanotubes (CNTs)

CNTs can be obtained by rolling graphene sheets having varying diameter and length. Due to their high surface area, high conductivity, chemical and thermal stability, CNTs can be used as transducers and biosensors [46]. CNTs can be commonly divided into 2 types, single walled CNTs (SWCNTs) and multi walled CNTs (MWCNTs). Different synthetic methods are adopted for the MFG of graphene, in common chemical vapour deposition (CVD), different metals like Fe, Cu, Co, Mn can be incorporated into graphene by laser ablation and was reported by Smalley and co-workers [47]. The high-cost method is arc discharge [48]. The interaction between enzymes and CNTs are weak due to non-functionalization of immobilization. It can be increased by the deposition of NPs and polymers. Recently Paolo et al. developed 2-aminoanthracene diazonium salts over the SWCNTs which are placed over FDH which showed high sensitivity and stability [49]. GO_x was immobilized over the SWCNTs for the development of glucose biosensors which can effectively detect the glucose in less than 5 s of response time [50]. A modified Pt-electrodes with rGO/Au NPs/CNTs were used for the detection of lactase. However, toxic effects were rendered as a deposition of metals over the CNTs. The CNTs are tested for wide range of sensors such as DNA [51], immune sensors [52], proteins [53] etc. The limitations include the development of nontoxic, biocompatible, high thermal stability and electronic properties of CNT based biosensors.

c. Graphene

Graphene is an interesting material with flat shape, sp² hybridized C atoms, with high surface area, electrical, thermal conductivity [54]. The π electrons are responsible for the electrical conductivity in graphene. The synthesis of graphene involves, Hummer's method [55] in which strong oxidizing agents yield GO (graphene oxide) with the formation of non-conducting hydrophilic C-atoms. The GO produced can be used for the immobilization of biomolecules. Liu et al. [56] reported the immobilization of -COOH, -NH₂ groups on the surface of GO and GO_x for the construction of glucose biosensors. In order to prepare the nanocomposite films, a negatively charged GO_x can be used over the chitosan-ferrocene molecules for the construction of biosensors [57]. Owing to the lack of functional groups on the graphene as well as lack of oxygen molecule the pristine graphene can't be used in biosensors [58]. Graphene can be functionalised and electron transfer rate can be increased by doping F, B, P, N, S elements [59]. Electrochemical activity and the accumulation of positive charge density can be increased by way of N-doping to the Graphene molecule which increased the conductivity in solution [60]. Recently poly styrene sulfonate, chitosan, N-doped graphene molecules used as multi-layered structures in construction of biosensors [61]. In order to increase the effective surface area, increase in the $\pi - \pi$ interactions, graphene molecule can be added with nanomaterials (chitosan, Au, CNTs) in order to enhance the conductivity and detection [62]. For the detection of cancer antigen 125, using paper based immune sensors Graphene thiophene Au NPs were used [63]. An efficient enzymatic empero metric biosensor were developed by doping graphene, PANI and Au NPs [64]. GO_x modified over 3,4-ethylenedioxythiopphene with Pt NPs retain 97%, of sensitivity after 12 days of usage at room temperature [65]. Graphene can be used as a platform for the construction of biosensors due to its high surface area, ease of functionalization, high conductivity, and the main source of graphene is graphite which is in expensive, real-time monitoring. The limitations include robust preparation of graphene sheets, operational conditions, and its bio compatibility.

5 3D-Printing Technology

The technique of 3D printing or additive manufacturing bring the revolution in the fabrication process as it involves the layered by layer deposition, geometrically complex structure can be fabricated with digital controlled process [66]. The conventional method requires expensive and complex machinery tools, such as milling, drilling etc. [67] and the AM or 3D requires less time, faster rate, and minimizes the waste during the reaction or the process. The specific requirements for the 3D process includes composition, materials, methods and different deposition methods are applied or examined during the AM process which are inkjet printing, selective laser melting, and fused deposition model [68]. The 3D printing involved in the various applications such as electro and catalytic active surfaces, micro needles, fluidic structures, flow channels etc. [69]. AM has promising parameters which makes it to apply and incorporate from the conventional processes, AM enables to overcome equipment and high processing costs, in the preparation of the electrodes. In contrast to other conventional screen printing, AM also reduces the consumption of the materials, formation of waste, deposition of biomolecules, formation of small sized electrodes etc. Figure 5 shows the Au NPs hybridized on the DNA biomolecules for the targeted sequencing. The formed biosensor displayed selectivity of 1–1000 nM. Using non-complimentary DNA sequencing, the hybrid sequencing was analysed. Certain C-based materials commonly used in the AM in order to reduce its costs different methods have been used to optimise the electrochemical performance of the AM electrode system. Kateseli et al. reported the electrochemical performances of C-black/PLA electrode with Nafion membrane having GO_x [70]. A 3D printed graphene/PLA modified electrodes were used for the electrochemical performances of GO_x in glutaraldehyde in presence of solvent DMF [71].

6 Future Perspective

AM process involves completely the digital methods and can able to produce the complex substances. In the field of electro analytical and biosensor methods AM can produce range of complex geometrical structures and electrodes. The AM process has its own limitations which includes, the immobilization of enzymes in the effective



Fig. 5 Schematic representation of the preparation of DNA biosensor. The thiolated DNA was covalently immobilized onto a gold-plated 3D-printed helix electrode. The modified electrode was then incubated with a DNA target, and the electrode was then exposed to methylene blue

detection of substrates using biosensors. Using micro fluids in 3D process will overcome the limitations. Difficulties in the MFG of porous electrodes, high cost of consumables, instruments needed for the AM process, and 3D printing using Cbased electrodes are more promising due to their low cost, easily fabricated, and helps in large scale production of biosensors. Further research is required for the development of large-scale 3D printing electrodes with specific substrate detection and their usability in the field of electrochemical and biosensor applications.

7 Conclusion

In the present chapter, additive manufacturing process involved in the hybrid nanocomposites dispersed with Ag NW, graphitic carbon, mesoporous carbon, carbon nanotubes, graphene and conducting polymers were discussed in detail. The synthesis of LDP/LM–Ag NWs, their physiochemical characterization, and procedure for the biosensor constructions were studied. The effect of the various materials in the additive manufacturing process involving electrochemical and biosensor methods discussed in detail.

Acknowledgements All the authors are thankful to KLE-Technological University, Dr. MSSCET, Belagavi, Karnataka, India and SOS, IGNOU, New Delhi, India for constant encouragement and support.

Author contributions Dr Vinayak Adimule wrote the paper, handled the revision, and conceived the ideas. Miss Nidhi Manhas and Dr. Santosh Nandi involved in formulating the results, partly by revision and gramatical and typo graphical corrections.

Conflict of interest All the authors declare that they do not have any conflict of interest.

Data availability All data generated or analysed in this chapter extracted from open access sources and are included in the published chapter.

Funding All authors declare that they have not received any funding from any source, institutions, or any organization.

References

- 1. Zhu C, Yang G, Li H, Du D, Lin Y (2014) Electrochemical sensors and biosensors based on nanomaterials and nanostructures. Anal Chem 87(1):p230-249
- 2. Kimmel DW, LeBlanc G, Meschievitz ME, el Cli DE (2012) Electrochemical sensors and biosensors. Anal Chem 84:p685-707
- Thevenot DR, Toth K, Durst RA, Wilson GS (1999) 'Electrochemical biosensors: recommended definitions and classification', Pure Appl. Chem 71:p2333-2348
- Ronkainen NJ, Halsall HB, Heineman WR (2010) Electrochemical biosensors. Chem Soc Rev 39:p1747-1763
- 5. Turner AP (2013) Biosensors: Sense and sensibility. Chem Soc Rev 42:p3184-3196
- 6. Magner E (1998) Trends in electrochemical biosensors. Analyst 123:p1967-1970
- Clark LC, Lyons C (1962) Electrode systems for continuous monitoring in cardiovascular surgery. Ann N Y Acad Sci 102:p29-45
- 8. Labib M, Sargent EH, Kelley SO (2016) Electrochemical methods for the analysis of clinically relevant biomolecules. Chem Rev 116:p9001-9090
- 9. Wang J (2008) Electrochemical glucose biosensors. Chem Rev 108:p814-825
- Balakumar P, Maung-U K, Jagadeesh G (2016) Prevalence and prevention of cardiovascular disease and diabetes mellitus. Pharmacol Res 113:p600-609
- 11. Chen C, Xie Q, Yang D, Xiao H, Fu Y, Tan Y, Yao S (2013) Recent advances in electrochemical glucose biosensors: a review. RSC Adv 3:p4473-4491
- 12. Hwang DW, Lee S, Seo M, Chung TD (2018) Recent advances in electrochemical nonenzymatic glucose sensors–a review. Anal Chim Acta 1033:p1-34
- Heller A, Feldman B (2008) Electrochemical glucose sensors and their applications in diabetes management. Chem Rev 108:p2482-2505
- Fernandez F, Etxeberria A, Varga AL (2015) Synthesis, and characterization of xpentadecalactone-co-edecalactone copolymers: evaluation of thermal, mechanical and biodegradation properties. Polymer 81:p12-22
- 15. Bondarenko AS, Ragoisha GA (2005) Progress in chemometrics research. Nova Science Publishers
- Minev IR, Hirsch Q, Barraud N, Wenger EM, Moraud J, Gandar M, Capogrosso T, Milekovic L, Torres N, Vachicouras Q, Liu N, Pavlova S, Duis A, Larmagnac J, Vörös SZ, Suo G (2015) Electronic dura mater for long-term multimodal neural interfaces. Science 347(6218):p159
- Friedman DI, Liu GT, Digre KB (2013) Revised diagnostic criteria for the pseudotumor cerebri syndrome in adults and children'. Neurology 81(13):p1159-1165
- Blanco E, Foster CW, Cumba LR, Carmo DR, Banks CE (2016) Can solvent induced surface modifications applied to screen-printed platforms enhance their electroanalytical performance. Analyst 141(9):p2783-2790
- Randviir EP, Metters JP, Stainton J, Banks CE (2013) Electrochemical impedance spectroscopy versus cyclic voltammetry for the electroanalytical sensing of capsaicin utilising screen printed carbon nanotube electrodes. Analyst 138(10):p2970-2981
- Chen P, McCreery RL (1996) Control of electron transfer kinetics at glassy carbon electrodes by specific surface modification. Anal Chem 68(22):p3958-3965
- Cumba LR, Foster CW, Brownson DAC, Smith JP, Iniesta J, Thakur B, do Carmo DR, Banks CE (2016) Can the mechanical activation (polishing) of screen-printed electrodes enhance their electroanalytical response? Analyst 141(9)

- Blanco E, Foster CW, Cumba LR, do Carmo DR, Banks CE (2016) Can solvent induced surface modifications applied to screen-printed platforms enhance their electroanalytical performance? Analyst 141(9):2783–2790
- Foster CW, de Souza AP, Metters JP, Bertotti M, Banks CE (2015) Metallic modified (bismuth, antimony, tin and combinations thereof) film carbon electrodes. Analyst 140(22):p7598-7612
- Sattayasamitsathit S, O'Mahony AM, Xiao X, Brozik SM, Washburn CM, Wheeler DR, Gao W, Minteer S, Cha J, Burckel DB (2012) Highly ordered tailored three-dimensional hierarchical nano/microporous gold–carbon architectures. J Mater Chem 22:p11950-11956
- Zhang J, Li CM (2012) Nanoporous metals: Fabrication strategies and advanced electrochemical applications in catalysis, sensing and energy systems. Chem Soc Rev 41:p7016-7031
- Xiao X, Si P (2016) 'Magner, E. An overview of alloyed nanoporous gold in bioelectrochemistry. Bioelectrochemistry' 109:p117-126
- Wittstock A, Wichmann A, Baumer M (2012) Nanoporous gold as a platform for a building block catalyst. ACS Catal 2:p2199-2215
- Qiu H, Xue L, Ji G, Zhou G, Huang X, Qu Y, Gao P (2009) Enzyme-modified nanoporous gold-based electrochemical biosensors. Biosen. Bioelectron' 24:p3014-3018
- Hu K, Lan D, Li X, Zhang S (2008) Electrochemical DNA biosensor based on nanoporous gold electrode and multifunctional encoded DNA-Au bio bar codes. Anal Chem 80:p9124-9130
- 30. Sun X, Ma Z (2013) Electrochemical immunosensor based on nanoporous gold loading thionine for carcinoembryonic antigen. Anal Chim Acta 780:p95-100
- Xiao X, Conghaile PÓ, Leech D, Ludwig R, Magner E (2017) An oxygen-independent and membrane-less glucose biobattery/supercapacitor hybrid device. Biosens Bioelectron 98:p421-427
- 32. Sáenz HSC, Hernández-Saravia LP, Selva JS, Sukeri A, 'Espinoza-Montero PJ, Bertotti M (2018) Electrochemical dopamine sensor using a nanoporous gold microelectrode: a proof-ofconcept study for the detection of dopamine release by scanning electrochemical microscopy'. Microchim Acta 185:367
- Szamocki R, Reculusa S, Ravaine S, Bartlett PN, Kuhn A, Hempelmann R (2013) Tailored mesostructuring and biofunctionalization of gold for increased electroactivity. Angew Chem Int Ed
- Gamero M, Sosna M, Pariente F, Lorenzo E, Bartlett P, Alonso C (2012) Influence of macroporous gold support and its functionalization on lactate oxidase-based biosensors response. Talanta 94:p328-334
- 35. Huang JF, Sun IW (2005) Fabrication, and surface functionalization of nanoporous gold by electrochemical alloying/dealloying of Au–Zn in an ionic liquid, and the self-assembly of L-Cysteine monolayers. Adv Funct Mater 15:p989-994
- Rouya E, Reed ML, Kelly RG, Bart-Smith H, Begley M, Zangari G (2007) Synthesis of nanoporous gold structures via dealloying of electroplated Au-Ni alloy films. ECS Trans 6:p41-50
- Gupta G, Thorp J, Mara N, Dattelbaum A, Misra A, Picraux S (2012) Morphology and porosity of nanoporous Au thin films formed by dealloying of Au_xSi_{1-x}. J Appl Phys 112:p094320
- Matharu Z, Daggumati P, Wang L, Dorofeeva TS, Li Z, Seker E (2017) Nanoporous-gold-based electrode morphology libraries for investigating structure–property relationships in nucleic acid based electrochemical biosensors. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 9:p12959-12966
- Zhang Q, Wang X, Qi Z, Wang Y, Zhang Z (2009) 'A benign route to fabricate nanoporous gold through electrochemical dealloying of Al–Au alloys in a neutral solution' Electrochim. Acta 54:p6190-6198
- 40. Walcarius A (2017) Recent trends on electrochemical sensors based on ordered mesoporous carbon. Sensors' 17:p1863
- Ma TY, Liu L, Yuan ZY (2013) Direct synthesis of ordered mesoporous carbons. Chem Soc Rev 42:p3977–p4400
- Jarczewski S, Drozdek M, Michorczyk P, Cuadrado-Collados C, Gandara-Loe J, Silvestre-Albero J, Kustrowski P (2018) Oxidative dehydrogenation of ethylbenzene over CMK-1 and CMK-3 carbon replicas with various mesopore architectures. Microporous Mesoporous Mater 271:p262-272

- Zhou M, Shang L, Li B, Huang L, Dong S (2008) Highly ordered mesoporous carbons as electrode material for the construction of electrochemical dehydrogenase-and oxidase-based biosensors. Biosen. Bioelectron. 24:p442-447
- Ghasemi E, Shams E, Nejad NF (2015) Covalent modification of ordered mesoporous carbon with glucose oxidase for fabrication of glucose biosensor. J Electroanal Chem 752:p60-67
- 45. Nishihara H, Kyotani T (2012) Templated nanocarbons for energy storage. Adv Mater 24:p4473-4498
- Wang Z, Dai Z (2015) Carbon nanomaterial-based electrochemical biosensors: an overview. Nanoscale 7:p6420-6431
- 47. Guo T, Nikolaev P, Thess A, Colbert DT (1995) Smalley, R.E. Catalytic growth of single-walled nanotubes by laser vaporization. Chem Phys Lett 243:p49-54
- 48. Iijima S (1991) Helical microtubules of graphitic carbon. Nature 354:p56
- 49. Bollella P, Hibino Y, Kano K, Gorton L, Antiochia R (2018) Enhanced direct electron transfer of fructose dehydrogenase rationally immobilized on a 2-aminoanthracene diazonium cation grafted single-walled carbon nanotube-based electrode. ACS Catal 8:p10279-10289
- Hashemzadeh S, Omidi Y, Rafii-Tabar H (2019) Amperometric lactate nanobiosensor based on reduced graphene oxide, carbon nanotube and gold nanoparticle nanocomposite. Microchim Acta 186:p680
- Han S, Liu W, Zheng M, Wang R (2020) Label-free and ultrasensitive electrochemical DNA biosensor based on urchinlike carbon nanotube-gold nanoparticle nanoclusters. Anal Chem 92:p4780-4787
- 52. Viet NX, Hoan NX, Takamura Y (2019) Development of highly sensitive electrochemical immunosensor based on single-walled carbon nanotube modified screen-printed carbon electrode. Mater Chem Phys 227:p123-129
- Janssen J, Lambeta M, White P, Byagowi A (2019) Carbon nanotube-based electrochemical biosensor for label-free protein detection. Biosensors 9:p144
- Kuila T, Bose S, Khanra P, Mishra AK, Kim NH, Lee JH (2011) Recent advances in graphenebased biosensors'. Biosen Bioelectron 26:p4637-4648
- 55. Hummers WS, Oeman RE (1958) Preparation of graphitic oxide. J Am Chem Soc 80:p1339
- 56. Liu Y, Yu D, Zeng C, Miao Z, Dai L (2014) Biocompatible graphene oxide-based glucose biosensors'. Langmuir 26:p6158-6160
- 57. Wang H, Maiyalagan T, Wang X (2012) Review on recent progress in nitrogen-doped graphene: synthesis, characterization, and its potential applications. ACS Catal 2:p781-794
- Lee H, Song C, Hong YS, Kim MS, Cho HR, Kang T, Shin K, Choi SH, Hyeon T, Kim DH (2017) Wearable/disposable sweat-based glucose monitoring device with multistage transdermal drug delivery module. Sci Adv 3:p1601314
- 59. Rahsepar M, Foroughi F, Kim H (2019) A new enzyme-free biosensor based on nitrogen-doped graphene with high sensing performance for electrochemical detection of glucose at biological pH value. Sens Actuators B Chem 282:p322-330
- Barsan MM, David M, Florescu M, Tugulea L, Brett CM (2014) A new self-assembled layerby-layer glucose biosensor based on chitosan biopolymer entrapped enzyme with nitrogen doped graphene. Bioelectrochemistry 99:p46-52
- Rafighi P, Tavahodi M, Haghighi B (2016) Fabrication of a third-generation glucose biosensor using graphene-polyethyleneimine-gold nanoparticles hybrid. Sens Actuators B Chem 232:p454-461
- 62. Xu Q, Gu SX, Jin L, Zhou YE, Yang Z, Wang W, Hu X (2014) Graphene/polyaniline/gold nanoparticles nanocomposite for the direct electron transfer of glucose oxidase and glucose biosensing. Sens Actuators B Chem 190:p562-569
- Cosnier S, Holzinger M (2011) Electro synthesized polymers for biosensing. Chem Soc Rev 40:p2146-2156
- Liu Y, Turner AP, Zhao M, Mak WC (2018) Processable enzyme-hybrid conductive polymer composites for electrochemical biosensing. Biosen Bioelectron 100:p374-381
- 65. Chen H, Müller MB, Gilmore KJ, Wallace GG, Li D (2008) Mechanically strong, electrically conductive, and biocompatible graphene paper. Adv Mat 20:p3557-3561

- 66. Rocha VG, Garcia-Tunon E, Botas C, Markoulidis F, Feilden E, D'Elia E, Ni N, Shaer M, Saiz E (2017) Multimaterial 3D printing of graphene-based electrodes for electrochemical energy storage using thermo responsive inks'. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 9:p37136-37145
- 67. Hamzah HH, Shafiee SA, Abdalla A, Patel BA (2018) 3D printable conductive materials for the fabrication of electrochemical sensors: a mini review. Electrochem Commun 96:p27-31
- Lee JY, An J, Chua CK (2017) Fundamentals, and applications of 3D printing for novel materials. Appl Mater Today 7:p120-133
- Lawes S, Riese A, Sun Q, ChenG N, Sun X (2015) Printing nanostructured carbon for energy storage and conversion applications. Carbon 92:p150-176
- 70. Somalu MR, Brandon NP (2012) Rheological studies of nickel/scandia-stabilized-zirconia screen printing inks for solid oxide fuel cell anode fabrication. J Am Ceram Soc 95:p1220-1228
- Manzanares CL, Novotný F, Krupicka P, Sofer Zk, Pumera M (2018) 3D-printed graphene/ polylactic acid electrodes promise high sensitivity in electroanalysis. Anal Chem 90:5753–5757

Chapter 10 Additive Manufacturing in Automotive Industries



D. T. Arunkumar, K. G. Basavakumar, P. C. Sharath, and Ashutosh Pattanaik

Abstract One of the most cutting-edge technologies used in the manufacturing industry is additive manufacturing, often known as 3D printing. The additive manufacturing technology uses a layer-by-layer material build-up process to manufacture parts that are created directly from digital models. Metal and polymer components can be swiftly and precisely produced with this manufacturing process. Additionally, it enables flexible manufacturing of customized products without substantially affecting the cost. Due to its attractive features including component design freedom, part complexity, light weight, part consolidation, and design for function, additive manufacturing is particularly suited to the aerospace, automotive, and marine industries. This chapter provides an overview of additive manufacturing methods used in the automotive industry, including material considerations, component design, design limitations, and applications.

Keywords Additive manufacturing in automotive industries · 3D printing techniques · Metallic and polymers components

1 Introduction

Additive manufacturing (AM), more commonly known as three-dimensional (3D) printing or rapid prototyping, is a developing in industry 4.0. AM is a competitive and quickly-evolving technology that enables designers to create speedy prototypes

K. G. Basavakumar Department of Mechanical Engineering, CBIT, Kolar, Karnataka, India

P. C. Sharath

S. Rajendrachari (ed.), Practical Implementations of Additive Manufacturing

Technologies, Materials Horizons: From Nature to Nanomaterials, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-5949-5_10

D. T. Arunkumar (🖂) · P. C. Sharath · A. Pattanaik

Department of Mechanical Engineering, FET, Jain University, Bengaluru, Karnataka, India e-mail: dt.arunkumar@jainuniversity.ac.in

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, FET, Jain University, Bengaluru, Karnataka, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2024

as well as complicated designs, which would not have been achievable using traditional subtractive manufacturing procedures. In today's scenario, this novel technology provides significant usage in the automotive industry that could not only expand the range of customization options but also have an impact on how vehicles, parts, and tools are designed and made, opening up a wide range of new business opportunities. The issues that the automotive industry faces today can be addressed with a fresh approach to additive manufacturing. It allows for design flexibility and the development of complicated yet lightweight components [1, 2]. Additionally, this technology is utilised to test, produce, and assemble automotive parts and elements more effectively, optimally, and economically.

Usually companies go iterations method for production of new product or components, but it is eliminated now. Today manufacturer AM is helping to make decision in design stage, quality of the preproduction stage and reducing the additionally extended hours to the market. Maximum design flexibility is provided by AM, which also enables the production of intricate, light, and stiff components. The use of additive manufacturing reduces development and production costs by allowing the creation of components with integrated functionality without the need of tools, and reducing the production cost [3]. Furthermore, the difficulty of directly integrating sensors, batteries, electronics, and micro-electromechanical systems (MEMS) into components and parts, however, has the potential to change production. The diagnosis and resolution of mechanical problems in automobiles can be speed up by the use of additive manufacturing techniques in addition to prototype and design.

AM can enable an automaker to start production months early and save millions of dollars. Example a cylinder head for Ford Motor Company's Eco Boost engines was produced using 3D fast prototyping. Ford was able to design the part, print the sand mould, and cast the metal in just three months, as opposed to the four or five months it would take to cast the part traditionally. The demand for personalization and customization is still high even as globalisation forces automakers toward global platforms and more shared parts and components amongst various automotive models.

1.1 Applications of Emerging Additive Manufacturing to Automotive Parts

Application of additive manufacturing (AM) technologies to make automobile components was constrained by material characteristics, such as surface finishing on aesthetic components or mechanical, thermal, and chemical behaviors under operation.

To enhance materials' mechanical qualities, fibre reinforcements have been incorporated. Recent advancements in carbon fiber-reinforced filament materials have given the FDM technique a new competitive edge. The length of the carbon fibre deposited inside the filament has been addressed in various ways by makers of



Fig. 1 Current and future application of AM in automotive [4]. [Source Deloitte analysis]

AM equipment. Figure 1 shows some of the existing and futuristic uses of additive manufacturing on automobile components.

2 Design for Additive Manufacturing

The design for additive manufacturing (DfAM) method compiles the practices for allpurpose manufacturing processes. Even while AM allows for freeform building, the paradigm change it brought about in manufacturing necessitates additional understanding. The best practices for design for additive manufacturing concentrate on cutting back on resources like raw materials and energy as well as improving the quality of AM components with the use of early numerical studies and process monitoring [5]. In Table 1, the key topics of the DfAM concepts are encapsulated and shown.

Table 1 Design for additive manufacturing key topics to	Resource reduction	Quality enhancement
be considered	Weight and cost reduction	Strength enhancement
	Building time reduction	Aesthetics enhancement
	Handling time reduction	Functionality enhancement

3 Procedure of Additive Manufacturing

3.1 Computer Aided Design (CAD)

The first step in the AM process is creating a digital model. Computer-aided sketching is the method most frequently used to create a digital manufacturing (CAD). There are a wide range of both professional and free CAD systems, including as AutoCAD, Solid Works, and Fusion360, that operate well with additive manufacturing. With the help of advanced tools and 3D scanning, reverse engineering can also be utilised to create a digital model.

3.2 STL (Standard Tessellation Language) Conversion and File Manipulation

The most crucial step in additive manufacturing is the need to transform a CAD model to STL, which makes use of triangles (polygons) to represent the object surface. Here is information on converting a CAD Digital model to an STL file. A slicer Programme is used to convert an STL file into G-code after it has been generated. The NC programming language is called G-code.

The surface geometry of a 3D design is described in an STL file using a network of connected triangles (a process known as tessellation). Then, using a regular 3D printer, you can use this file to manufacture a prototype of any model.

3.3 Printing

Since 3D printing machines can have a large number of tiny and intricate parts, adequate upkeep and calibration are essential to getting the correct prints. The printer is now equipped with the print material as well. The basic material employed in additive manufacturing frequently have limited shelf lives and demand careful treatment. While some methods allow for the recycling of more construction materials, frequent reuse, if not changed frequently, might cause a loss in fabric characteristics.

3.4 Removal of Prints

Some additive manufacturing techniques make it simple to remove prints by simply separating the printed components from the construct platform. In other more commercial 3D printing techniques, removing a print is a highly technical process that involves carefully extracting the print while it remains embedded in the substance or attached to the work piece.

3.5 Post Processing

Due of differences in printer technology, post-processing techniques also vary. Metal parts usually will need to be stress released in an oven using (Stereolithography Apparatus (SLA) however Fused deposition modeling (FDM) parts can be handled immediately after being treated with UV. This is also removed during the post-processing stage for technologies that require support. The majority of 3D printing materials may be sanded, and a variety of post-processing techniques, such as tumble drying, high-pressure air cleaning, polishing, and colouring, are used to get a print ready for usage.

4 Technologies for Additive Manufacturing

4.1 Stereolithography Apparatus

The first of the AM technologies is the Stereolithography Apparatus (SLA), which uses liquid as its basis to create models. Through selective UV laser curing, the models are constructed in layers within a reservoir of liquid thermosetting photosensitive polymer. An ultraviolet (UV) laser beam is used to selectively cure the models as they are built up in layers inside a reservoir of molten thermosetting photosensitive polymer. According to the layer that is currently being created, the laser beam continually tracks and specifically hardens the thin polymer layer [5]. The platform that the model is created on moves down exactly one layer once the layer has been traced. The next layer is then traced once liquid resin has been applied to the sculpture. The layer thickness is in the 50-to 150-m range. Overhang and undercut support ribs are constructed as part of the model and later eliminated during secondary procedures. The platform emerges from the polymer reservoir once the model is finished. The model is removed for post-processing, such as support removal, once the extra polymer has drained away. Additionally, extra curing and surface polishing are required. This method is used for interior and seating components of an automobiles. A variety of photosensitive thermosets are available depending on the application of the SLA technology, but different chemical resins have been developed to closely
mimic typical engineering materials like PP (polypropylene), ABS (acrylonitrile/ butadiene/styrene), PC (polycarbonate), PE (polyethylene), PMMA (poly methyl methacrylate), nanoparticle resins, elevated temperatures and composite, strong and durable, clear plastics.

4.2 Fused Deposition Modeling (FDM)

In (FDM) Using a heated extrusion nozzle that travels in the X and Y axes, which by convention make up the horizontal plane, fused deposition modelling (FDM) entails feeding a thermoplastic filament (usual thickness 1.75-3 mm). Therefore, the orientation of the Z axis is the vertical plane where the part is constructed. The thermoplastic substance is heated in the extrusion head, which melts and deposits it on a table that travels along the z axis to create the model. Through an extrusion nozzle, the molten thermoplastic is reduced to a fine bead or deposited onto a base material. Each bead is deposited, and then layers of the sculpture are added. Industrial machines typically have layer thicknesses of 125 to 330 m. The liquid thermoplastic material is slightly over its melting temperature when it is deposited, allowing for rapid solidification as the material adheres to earlier layers following extrusion. A variety of materials, including ABS and ABSi (Methyl methacrylate/Acrylonitrile/ Butadiene/Styrene/Copolymer), which are useful for observing material flow and light transmission, are utilised in FDM technology. Acrylonitrile Butadiene Styrene (ABS)-ESD7 (Acrylonitrile Butadiene Styrene-Electrostatic Dissipative) that won't cause a static shock or make other materials like powders, dust, and fine particles stick to it; ABS-M30 (biocompatible ABS-M30i); PC; PC/ABC; ULTEM (lightweight and flame-retardant thermoplastic); and PPSF (**Polyphenylsulfone**) [6, 7].

4.3 Binder Jetting

A model is constructed using binder jetting, commonly referred to as inkjet powder printing, within a container that contains either starch or plaster material powder. A measured amount of material powder will be dispersed and compressed by a roller over the building table for each layer. The powered material particles are joined together by a multichannel jetting head using a little amount of liquid adhesive to create the two-dimensional cross section of the product for that layer. After applying the binder, a new layer is swept over the first layer while adding more binder. This process is repeated until the model is finished. Layer thicknesses between 90 and 100 μ m are achievable.

4.4 PolyJet Printing

Similar to inkjet document printing, PolyJet printing involves spraying layers of fluid photopolymer onto a build tray, which are then quickly cured by UV light in PolyJet 3D Printers. The material is blasted onto the build area as the head rotates around the print area, curing it with UV light as it passes over the material and hardening it in place. By repeating this procedure, the item is constructed layer by layer. There is no need for post-curing because models are ready to be used and use right away from the 3D printer.

4.5 Selective Laser Sintering (SLS)

The first step in the selective laser sintering (SLS) process is to slice up 3D CAD data into thin cross sections or layers. The SLS additive manufacturing machinery receives the data after that. Next, the machine starts to build the first layer. A CO₂ laser measures the material's cross section after a roller evenly distributes a thin coating of powder material across the powder bed. The surface is scanned by the laser, which heats the material and causes it to fuse. The powder bed gets lowered to make room for the subsequent layer whenever one layer is finished. Unused material is recycled as more material is added from the powder cartridge and rolled out smoothly [8].

Materials utilised in SLS technique include metals like steel, titanium, and alloy combinations; polymers like polyamide (PA) or polystyrene (PS) (neat, glass-filled, or coupled with additional fillers like carbon fibre).

4.6 Electron Beam Melting

EBM is a kind of additive manufacturing used to create metal items. The fundamental distinction between it and selective laser melting (SLM) is that in electron beam melting (EBM), the metal powder is melted using an electron beam in a high vacuum. An automated powder arm adds a fresh layer of material, which is then melted to create the following piece of the model, as each layer is completed. By following the above steps, the item is constructed layer by layer. The build chamber, along with the model and extra material inside, is left to cool when printing is finished. The finished model is then left behind once the scrap is recovered and recycled. Cobalt chromium and different types of titanium can also be used in EBM printers. Because of the vacuum atmosphere and high temperature, EBM may create products similar to those made of wrought material with greater mechanical qualities than cast titanium and cobalt chrome.

4.7 Ion Fusion Formation (IFF)

Using a plasma welding torch to melt metal wire or powder and form an item, Honeywell Aerospace is the only company to use this technique. Metal from a wire or powder feedstock is compelled onto the item by a plasma of hot argon ions. A melt pool is created as the material is fed into the computer-controlled deposition process.

4.8 Digital Part Materialization (DPM)

In 1996, Massachusetts Institute of Technique obtained the exclusive permission to use the Digital Part Materialization technology for metal parts and tooling. DPM builds objects from powdered material one layer at a time using a layering process. An initial CAD file is used, which is then divided into incredibly tiny layers (0.1–0.15 mm). First, a layer of powdered metal is distributed in the build box, and a print head moves across it, depositing liquid binder according to the design for that layer.

5 Driving Factors and Constraints to AM Adoption in the Automotive Sector

Future AM applications in the automobile sector's success will mainly depend on how AM technology advances over the next few years. The potential to influence the trajectory of AM adoption is represented by two drivers and few challenges that have been highlighted.

5.1 Additional Materials that are AM-Compatible

Many different types of materials offer more properties to be incorporated into finished products. Because of the restrictions on the materials that may be used, applications for additive manufacturing have traditionally been limited. AM has not been around long enough to experience such breakthroughs, whereas conventional production today uses a wide array of materials like metals, alloys, and composites [9]. Novel materials have not been widely used in AM because of their high cost. To increase the range of materials available, research has been making steady progress.

In order to improve Mechanical properties [10], new techniques that can combine AM with nanomaterials are currently being developed. In the future, AM might even be utilised to create the body in white for cars due to increases in strength occurring without an increase in weight. Carbon fibre is a worthy example of a sophisticated

material. Using traditional methods, carbon fibre is utilised to create lightweight auto parts including fenders, automobile roofs, and windshield frames [11]. With the introduction of the first commercial AM device that can employ carbon fibre, AM is starting to benefit as well.

In addition to new materials, AM acceptance is influenced by new technologies that create current materials more cheaply. Titanium has tremendous appeal in the automobile industry due to its capacity to produce lightweight, high-performance parts. However, widespread use is restricted because to the high cost of the metal powder produced using current techniques, which ranges from \$200 to \$400 per kilogram [11]. With the potential to save costs by up to 75%, UK-based Metalysis has created a one-step process to generate titanium powder. To employ the affordable titanium powder in AM, Jaguar Land Rover is hoping to collaborate with Metalysis.

5.2 Enhancing Quality of the Product with AM and Reduced Post Processing

Usually in automobiles thermal stress or voids are commonly present, with this, parts made using AM technologies occasionally display variability. This causes a decrease in repeatability, which is problematic for high-volume businesses in the automobile sector where quality and dependability are vital. Method for addressing this problem is machine accreditation, in which manufacturers adhere to industry requirements as well as those set forth by AM technology vendors [12]. The other challenge with employing additive manufacturing is that the finished items it produces don't necessarily have the same level of dimensional accuracy as those created using traditional manufacturing techniques.

For example, some studies have found that sand moulds created by additive manufacturing may result in decreased dimensional accuracy in metal casting tools [12]. Another researcher found surface finishes produced by AM methods range in size from 10 to 100 microns, which is often not recognized as being in the high-precision category [13]. The majority of AM-produced components require some sort of post processing, which includes removing unwanted material, wasted material, and increasing surface finish [14, 15].

The quantity of post processing is little for simple pieces. To deploy AM more widely, it might be important to strengthen post processing quality and dependability as the number and complexity of the components grow.

5.3 Digital Light Processing (DLP)

Each cross-sectional slice of the object is represented by a light pattern using a Digital Micromirror Device (DMD), which then projects the light pattern onto the

photopolymer resin through an imaging lens. The resin hardens and forms the relevant layer as a result of the UV light that is being projected, joining it to the model's surrounding layer. DLP is almost like stamping techniques. After completing the process, washing the remaining resin solution in post processing.

6 Metallic Technologies

6.1 Direct Metal Laser Sintering (DMLS)

Net form pieces are manufactured using the quick prototyping and tooling technique known as direct metal laser sintering (DMLS), which uses lasers. By layer-wise solidifying metal powder layers in areas of the layer matching to the cross-section of the 3-dimensional part in the appropriate layer, complex parts can be created directly from 3D-CAD models. The fundamental idea behind DMLS Technology is to use an electrically powered laser beam to melt down small layers from 20 to 60 μ m of metal powder.



6.2 Selective Laser Melting (SLM)

A powerful laser beam and 3D CAD data are combined in the additive manufacturing method known as selective laser melting (SLM) to fuse together thin metallic powders to produce three-dimensional metal objects. A 3D model is first imported into the Programme, which then divides the file into 2D cross sections and delivers them to

the printer. Metallic powder is fused together using the power of a powerful CO_2 laser. The same concept as AM occurring during this process as well. The ability to construct thin wall parts to a high resolution, which improves their manufacturing capabilities. The employment of a powerful laser to fuse the material from a powder bed, however, creates numerous processing problems. During processing, increased material vaporization and spatter formation are frequently caused by high heat input.

A general framework has been shown from the analysis of the reproduction or mending of the components. Several parts of a vehicle are included in the AM reconstruction of automotive components, which are often divided into four groups.

- The dashboard, consoles, air vents, mirror, control levers, handles, and switches are all interior features. Process
- Bodywork includes things like the body panels, fenders, bumpers, mirrors, headlights and indicators, grilles, handles, and trim.

7 Challenges of Additive Manufacturing in Automotive Industry

7.1 Inadequate Human Resources

For this relatively new and quickly developing manufacturing technology, humans must be trained in specialized areas of designing and manufacturing. A large professional workforce with expertise in CAD (computer-aided design), AM machine building, maintenance, quality assurance, supply chain management, and fabric preparation is necessary for additive manufacturing to become a reliable and effective process. Not only is it difficult due to the absence of human resources in this area, but also because the available coaching is not standardized, making it difficult to develop a reliable and competent workforce [16]. If AM is to develop as a stand-alone career, the majority of training will need to be structured with dedicated talent development programmers.

7.2 Production Times

The long production delays associated with additive manufacturing are impeding its widespread adoption in the automotive industry, where older, mechanical processes continue to beat it in terms of speed and efficiency. Additionally, three automobiles were produced per second to highlight how expensive manufacturing is worldwide. Strong funding in a quick Researchers from academia, the field of materials science, and industry frequently refer to AM. Although it has become a major focus for searches in recent years, there has only been modest progress made in this area thus

far. The low-level manufacturing AM currently providing for a volume-driven sector is no longer feasible for typical business applications.

7.3 Build Dimensions

The small build size of many AM systems is another difficulty for the automotive industry. Larger pieces can be created using 3D printing technology, but they must first be assembled into modules. Currently, these in turn need to be put together or connected using different techniques, such welding. Large-scale additive manufacturing, however, is a significant and developing field of study, and technologies that can accommodate greater build sizes, including Wire Arc Additive Manufacturing (WAAM) and Big Area Additive Manufacturing (BAAM), are currently being actively investigated and developed.

8 Additive Manufacturing's Current Applications

Exhausts and emissions: Typically, this application involves selective laser melting of aluminium alloys to produce cooling vents.

Fluid handling: For melting aluminium alloys, two techniques are used: selective laser melting and electron beam melting. Within the fluid handling system, these methods can be employed to create pumps and valves.

Exterior: Currently, wind breakers and bumpers are made of plastics using selective laser sintering.

Interior and seating's: Dashboards and seat frames might be produced using polymers and the processes of stereo-lithography and selective laser sintering.

Wheels, suspension, and tyres: To make suspension springs, tyres, and hubcaps, aluminium alloys and polymers can be worked with the help of selective laser melting, selective laser sintering, and inkjet technology.

Electronics Components: Selective laser sintering can be used on polymers to create a variety of sensitive components, including elements that must be embedded, such sensors, and single-part control panels [17].

Frameworks: It is possible to build body panels, including the structure and doors, using selective laser melting on metal alloys such as aluminium.

Engine Components: When processes like electron beam melting and selective laser melting are applied, various functional elements of the engine can be manufactured from metals like titanium and aluminium [18, 19].

9 Sustainability Analysis

A crucial component of human activity and a crucial concern for human progress is sustainable development. The concept of sustainable development holds that social, economic, and environmental issues should all be handled holistically and concurrently in this process. Many industries, particularly manufacturing, are concerned with sustainability. Sustainable development, according to the World Commission on Environment and Development (WCED), is defined as development that "meets the requirements of the present without jeopardising the ability of future generations to satisfy their own needs". Manufacturing with a focus on sustainability connects its processes to the environment. Today's manufacturing companies take into account profitability, productivity, advancement, and environment protection. The responsible use and preservation of the environment through sustainable methods is known as environmental stewardship.

Many different strategies for incorporating sustainability into industrial processes have been devised and put into practice by businesses. One of these is the "triple bottom line" approach, which John Elkington developed in the middle of the 1990s.

Many companies have adopted the Triple Bottom Line (TBL) concept, which combines the social, environmental, and financial aspects of performance.

10 Additive Manufacturing's Potential for Future Advancement

- Future RP systems will use faster computers, intricate control systems, and better materials to shorten build times.
- By producing quality laser optics and machine controls, part accuracy and surface polish can be enhanced.
- The introduction of non-polymeric materials like metals, ceramics, and composites reveals highly expected advancements in RP. Additionally, the range of items that can be created RP will be greatly expanded by the use of metals and composite materials.

References

- Srisairam V, Kumar M (2015) Rapid prototyping–additive/solid free form manufacturing in automobile engineering 3(4):799–802
- 2. Manghnani R (2015) An exploratory study: the impact of additive manufacturing on the automobile industry. Int J Curr Eng Technol 5(5):3407–3410
- Cooper D, Thornby J, Blundell N, Henrys R, Williams MA, Gibbons G (2015) Design and manufacture of high performance hollow engine valves by additive layer manufacturing. Mater & Des 69: 44–55

- 4. Cotteleer M, Neier M, Crane J (2014) 3D opportunity in tooling: additive manufacturing shapes the future. Deloitte University Press
- 5. https://blog.trimech.com/a-brief-history-of-additive-manufacturing
- 6. Gangula B, Illinda P, Giffi CA. (2014) 3D opportunity in the automotive industry. Deloitte University Press
- 7. The Rise of Automotive Additive Manufacturing-Technology and Operations Management. https://digital.hbs.edu/platform-rctom/submission/the-rise-of-automotive-additive-man ufacturing/
- 8. Ganesh Sarvankar S, Yewale SN (2019) Additive manufacturing in automobile industry. IJRAME Publ 7(4):1–10
- 9. Simon Leigh J et al (2012) A simple, low-cost conductive composite material for 3D printing of electronic sensors. PLOS ONE 7:11
- Ivanova OS, Williams CB, Campbell TA (2013) Additive manufacturing (AM) and nanotechnology: promises and challenges. Rapid Prototyp J 19(5):353–364
- 11. Froes FH, Friedrich H, Kiese J, Bergoint D (2004) Titanium in the family automobile: the cost challenge. JOM 56(2):40–44
- 12. Nyembwe K et al (2012) Assessment of surface finish and dimensional accuracy of tools manufactured by metal casting in rapid prototyping sand moulds. S Afr J Ind Eng 23(2):130–143
- 13. Meyer B (2012) Accuracy in additive manufacturing. Mach Des 84(10):56-62
- 14. de Beer N (2013) Additive manufacturing: turning mind into matter. Sierra College Center for Applied Competitive Technologies
- Campbell I, Bourell D, Gibson I (2012) Additive manufacturing: rapid prototyping comes of age. Rapid Prototyp J 18(4): 255–258
- 16. Ridge O, Area B, Manufacturing A (2015) 6 challenges for additive manufacturing in the automotive industry 44(0):2–3
- 17. Automotive 3D printing applications | 3D Hubs. https://www.3dhubs.com/knowledge-base/aut omotive-3d-printing-applications/
- The Best Applications of 3D printing in the AutomotiveIndustry. https://www.3dcastor.com/ post/the-best-applications-of-3d-printing-in-the-automotive-industry
- 19. Ghassemieh E (2011) Materials in automotive application, state of the art and prospects. In: Chiaberge M (ed) New trends and developments in automotive industry

Chapter 11 Additively Manufactured Medical Implants



Ilker Emin Dağ D and Baris Avar D

Abstract Technology has greatly advanced due to the internet and digitization, leading to the commercial production of additive manufacturing in the 2010s. This technology allows for the quick and precise creation of needed models, using a variety of materials, easily accessible printer raw supplies, no waste after production, and high production of intricate designs with precision. The digital data can be transferred quickly, and many products can be produced simultaneously in different places. These advantages have led to an increase in production with additive manufacturing. In the biomedical industry, traditional manufacturing methods cause problems with a large number of manufacturing through a single model, particularly with implants and prostheses. With additive manufacturing technology, patient-specific drug formulations, optimum dosage medicines, and patient-specific spinal, dental, hip, craniofacial implants and replacements can be manufactured with high precision. Additionally, tissues and organs can be produced via 3D printing, which helps overcoming issues such as incompatibility and a shortage of suitable donors. In this chapter, several additive manufacturing techniques and implant studies produced by these techniques have been considered in the literature, taking into account all the above aspects.

Keywords Additive manufacturing · Medical implants · 3D printing · Methods

I. E. Dağ · B. Avar (🖂)

Technologies, Materials Horizons: From Nature to Nanomaterials, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-5949-5_11

Department of Metallurgical and Materials Engineering, Zonguldak Bülent Ecevit University, Incivez 67100, Zonguldak, Turkey e-mail: barisavar@beun.edu.tr

Department of Nanotechnology Engineering, Zonguldak Bülent Ecevit University, Zonguldak 67100, Turkey

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2024 S. Rajendrachari (ed.), *Practical Implementations of Additive Manufacturing*

1 Introduction

According to the FDA, medical implants are defined as instruments or tissues placed inside and on the surface of the human body. Based on this definition, while many prostheses can function as implants instead of defective or lost organs, biomedical materials such as orthopedic, cardiovascular or dental implants also contribute to the healing of diseases or the continuation of vital activities by supporting tissue, skin, bone. While implants can be manufactured from engineering materials such as metal, ceramic, polymer or composite, they can also be produced from body parts such as living tissue, skin, and bone [1]. Pandey et al. categorized all implant groups into three primary categories, including orthopedic, cardiovascular, and other implant applications. In this classification, orthopedic implants are subdivided into reconstructive joint replacement, spinal implants, orthobiologics, and trauma implants. Cardiovascular implants include pacing devices, stents, and structural implants. Otolaryngological, ophthalmic, gastroenterological, gynecological, and pharmacological implants are some examples of subgroups included in other implants [2]. Evaluating a single material property is not enough to describe a specific material desired for so many different implant groups. Achieving excellent biocompatibility is critical in biomedical implant design. The implant materials should not cause an allergic response in living tissue, tissue integration should be complete, and the implant should display compatible function within the implanted region. Researchers have explored various approaches to achieve excellent biocompatibility, including employing various designs, alloys, or materials with different physical, chemical, or biological properties [3]. Recently, the connection between biological characteristics and biocompatibility has been better understood. Biomedical implants must be designed specifically for the illness, damaged tissue, or other condition in which they are going to be applied to avoid implantation failure. Advancing manufacturing technologies aim to create implants that heal quickly and cause no allergic response while keeping production costs low thanks to low energy and raw material consumption [4]. The conventional techniques of manufacturing have the objective of generating economical commodities through the creation of a voluminous quantity of articles possessing identical dimensions, contours, and material composition. Nevertheless, this approach does not hold validity particularly in the case of biomedical grafts, as individual patients necessitate distinct categories and proportions of grafts and prosthetics. If patient-specific implants are not produced, the risk of implantation failure causes many negative situations for patient health. Additive manufacturing technology enables the production of patient-specific biomedical implants and prostheses that are nearly perfect match for the anatomical structure of the individual. This technology eliminates many of the shortcomings of traditional manufacturing processes, including worker faults, high raw material use, and high costs for single products. In recent years, additive manufacturing has allowed for the production of high-precision implants, dental molds, craniofacial-braces implants, and tissue scaffolds for dentistry and bone implantation. Additionally, additive manufacturing techniques show promise in creating biological tissues and organs besides technical



Materialwise Revinue Share (%): 3D Printing Market in Healthcare Sector

Fig. 1 3D printing healthcare revenue comparison by material type [6]

materials [5]. According to Fig. 1, the category of metals has generated the largest revenue in additive manufacturing for the health industry. It is also anticipated that, by 2027, external devices will represent 12% of the additive manufacturing market in the health sector, with biomedical implants occupying the second largest share [6].

2 Additive Manufacturing Methods

2.1 Definition of Additive Manufacturing

Additive Manufacturing is defined by the American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) as "AM is a regenerative process of direct printing physical models from designing software using layer-by-layer fabrication techniques." Additive manufacturing or 3D printing with its widespread use is conducted in many areas such as space and aviation, electronics, industrial products, turbine blades, jewelry, mold manufacturing and biomedical implants. The reasons why it is employed in so many areas include its low cost for customized applications, high model production speed, design flexibility, less material expenditure for the final product, one-stage manufacturability, and constantly developing technology [7]. Nevertheless, there are drawbacks as well, such as slow speed for high-volume manufacturing, the need for post-production surface treatments, and the production capacity being limited by printer settings [8].



Fig. 2 Steps of additive manufacturing process

Additive manufacturing processes vary depending on the area, material properties, shape size, and the number of patterns. Generally, the initial phase of additive manufacturing involves creating 3D model data using computer-aided design (CAD), MRI, CT, or laser scanning, as shown in Fig. 2. These datas are then transformed into a standard triangulation (STL) file so that a slicing software can be used. Free slicing programs like Ultimaker Cura, Prusaslicer, Octoprint, Astroprint, Chitubox, Slic3r, Ideamaker, and Repetier, as well as paid slicing programs like Netfabb and Materialiase Magic, help in creating the STL G file. The manufacturing parameters are determined with a slicing software before producing the models with a 3D printer. The post-processing stage involves the elimination of surface defects on the supports created based on the manufacturing technique. Overall, additive manufacturing has emerged as a promising technology in many fields and is set to revolutionize the production of customized objects that are tailored to individual needs.

2.2 Classification of Additive Manufacturing

More than 50 commercial additive manufacturing systems are available today. Nonetheless, ASTM has basically separated these procedures into seven processes, as shown in Fig. 3 [9]. Among these procedures, binder jetting and powder bed fusion employ powder raw materials, while in material extrusion, a slurry or direct material is deposited on the material via a nozzle or aperture. Furthermore, the photopolymerization process selectively hardens objects using a laser or UV light source, resulting in greater accuracy compared to the vat polymerization technique [10]. The optimum additive manufacturing techniques are chosen for biomedical applications by taking into account the superior physical and chemical qualities needed from the material to be developed, as well as affordability, speed, and the manufacturability of complicated geometries. Given this circumstance, Fig. 3 presents the most popular additive manufacturing techniques for producing biomedical implants, as well as the resulting implants' comprehensive attributes and relevant literature reviews.



3 Literature Review of Additively Manufactured Implants

It is evident that the most widely used additive manufacturing processes for producing implants are selective laser melting, vat photopolymerization, material extrusion, and inkjet printing (binder jetting). This section provides a detailed exploration of the manufacturing techniques, material usage, design and process parameters, as well as the mechanical, biological, and physical characteristics of implants produced through these procedures.

3.1 Binder Jetting Method for Biomedical Implants

A powder bed chamber is used in the binder jetting technique. In accordance with the slicing data, a 2-dimensional layer is produced by selectively spraying binder on the powder bed and rolling the powder for each layer. The platform lowers after each layer by the thickness of layer, and the procedure is then repeated. The manufactured green parts definitely need secondary and tertiary procedures since they are just bonded with a binder and are formed with low power. If debinding and sintering processes are not performed, the manufactured parts cannot be used in most cases due to their low mechanical properties [11]. In comparison to other additive manufacturing techniques, the binder jetting method produces significantly bigger parts and allows for the use of polymer, ceramic, and metal powders in a broad spectrum of materials [12]. The binder jetting technique is a popular method for the development of medical implants in tissue engineering, dentistry, and orthopedic applications, utilizing additive manufacturing. With this technique, a wide range of materials can be produced, as shown in Table 1, which presents the raw materials, production variables, results, and applications for biomedical implants, manufactured using the binder jetting technique. The production of polymer-based implants using this method has been relatively uncommon. In 2002, Lam et al. produced cylindrical scaffolds utilizing powders derived from cornstarch, dextran, and gelatin. Although the mechanical and water-absorption properties of the scaffolds were investigated, the biocompatibility and in vivo characterizations were not analyzed [13]. The binder jetting technique is widely used for fabricating ceramic and ceramic-based composite implants, which occupy a significant space in the biomedical implant industry. Ceramic materials are known for their high temperature phase transitions and high melting points. However, the mechanical properties of traditional porous ceramic materials are not up to the desired standards, and they are vulnerable to cracking, bending, and breaking. Therefore, in the binder jetting process, researchers primarily focus on maintaining the desired part geometry and mechanical properties while also ensuring controlled sintering and appropriate temperature regulation. Using the binder jetting technique as implants, many individuals have studied tricalciumphosphate, hydroxyapatite, calcium sulfate, alumina, porcelain, and many forms of composites, particularly in the bone and dentistry fields [14]. Due to the close cytokichiometric chemistry of hydroxyapatite to bone, Leukers et al. conducted experiments to produce bone scaffolds using HA powders and observed successful propagation of MC3T3-1 cells as well as interaction with HA granules [15]. Similarly, Sheydaeian et al. fabricated porous proximal interphalangeal (PIP) joint implants using a blend of calcium polyphosphate and PVA, resulting in implants with suitable mechanical properties and porosity for in vivo studies [16]. Wu et al. used a mixture of CaSiO₃-PVA to manufacture biocompatible and mechanically robust scaffolds, which demonstrated significant bone growth in mouse femoral defects after 4 and 8 weeks [17]. Miyanaji et al. used the binder jetting technique to make porcelain implants for dental applications and optimized the process through the manipulation of printing parameters [18]. Moreover, calcium phosphate implants were produced with high precision for cranial and maxillofacial applications. Personalized implants were produced with high precision. The designs were obtained by converting the CT scan result data into CAD format. Figure 4 depicts both the implants' overall appearance and specific application regions [19]. Again, binder jetting is used to manufacture ceramic-ceramic composite implants with extreme precision. Fielding et al. utilized varying amounts of SiO and zinc oxide to develop ceramic-ceramic composite scaffolds for bone implantation and dentistry using tricalcium phosphate powders. The investigation revealed that adding low levels of SiO_2 and ZnO powders improved the mechanical and biological characteristics of tricalcium phosphate scaffolds [20]. Additionally, in 2014, calcium phosphate-collagen composite scaffolds with suitable biodegradability and mechanical properties were developed for non-load-required bone healing applications. These ceramic-ceramic and calcium phosphate-collagen composite scaffolds offer potential benefits in the field of bone implantation and healing [21].

Table 1 Applications of biomedical	implants produced by the binder jet	ting technique		
Material	Aim	Application	Essential findings and details	Ref.
Hydroxyapatite (HA)	To investigate the reproducibility of ceramic scaffolds with specific pore size	Bone tissue engineering scaffold for repairing osseous traumatic problems	HA powder tissue scaffolds were devised effectively with pore sizes reduced to 450 µm and strut thickness of 330 µm. Although the CAD-designed scaffolds were 3% smaller than 3D-printed ones, they shrank between 18 and 20% upon sintering at 1250 °C. The mechanical properties of scaffolds were subsequently evaluated by conducting compression tests on scaffolds with layer thicknesses of 200, 250, and 300 µm. The mechanical properties were comparable to commercially available bovine HA substitutes. The findings suggest that the fabricated scaffolds, created via binder jetting, have potential for use as a bone replacement implant	[24]
			(con	tinued)

Table 1 (continued)				
Material	Aim	Application	Essential findings and details	Ref.
Tricalcium phosphate (TCP)	Properly fabricating a patient specific implant for craniofacial defects with a degradable material	Individual cranial and maxillofacial implants	Bone defects on human cadaver skulls were created and analyzed to generate specific implants. The analysis was conducted by producing geometric models using DICOM files. Subsequently, the models were converted into STL files for rapid prototyping. The implants were produced utilizing a binder composed of 20% phosphoric acid (H ₃ PO ₄). While the porosities of the implants ranged from 28 to 35%, they had thermal conductivities (0.294–0.393 W/mK) that were substantially lower compared to titanium implants (21.9 W/mK). As compared to titanium-based implants. manufactured biodegradable intianium-based implants. Maso, the implants were produced with a high degree of precision (200 µm)	
			(con	intinued)

226

(continued)	
Table 1	

Table 1 (continued)				
Material	Aim	Application	Essential findings and details	Ref.
IPS inline dental porcelain powder	To investigate the effect of some parameters in the binder jetting method for the production of ceramic dental prosthesis	Dental prostheses applications	The impact of variables such as binder ratio, drying time, sintering duration and temperature, heating rate, and powder spreading rate, on the strength and porosity of the material was thoroughly investigated. During sintering, the Z-axis exhibited the most shrinkage. The sintering process carried out at 950 °C resulted in the most significant amount of shrinkage. Although the waiting period had a negligible effect on shrinkage during low-temperature sintering, this trend was more noticeable at 900 °C. Furthermore, compared to the heating rates of 100 and 5000 °C/h, the 500 °C/h rate indicated the highest rate of shrinking. An optimum sintering temperature of 900 °C was identified with a porosity value of 6.5% for a 1-min process. Additionally, the geometric precision was 0.1 mm	[18]
			(con	tinued)

Table 1 (continued)				
Material	Aim	Application	Essential findings and details	Ref.
Calcium phosphate (CPP)	Designing and manufacturing anatomically suitable porous small ceramic implant	Proximal interphalangeal (PIP) joint implant	To initiate the design phase, a human phalangeal bone was subjected to CT scanning to generate the necessary DICOM file. The Solidworks CAD software was then used to design, model, and generate STL files for three different resection zones. Finite element analysis was implemented by applying a 50 N force to these models. To manufacture the implants, cylindrical pieces with dimensions of 4 mm diameter and 6 mm height and layer thickness of 175 μ m were produced using 90% CPP powders with a grain size of 75–150 μ m. These parts were eventually sintered through a three-stage process prior to compression and density testing. The produced materials were found to have a porosity of 77.63% and a strength range of 44.58–18.31 MPa. Even though three density testing. The produced materials were found to have a porosity of 77.63% and a strength range of 44.58–18.31 MPa. Even though the designed pieces were successfully fabricated, further in vivo investigations are necessary before considering their application in small joint arthroplasty	[16]
			(con	ntinued)

Ref.	[25]
Essential findings and details	To create green parts, 325 mesh titanium powder and PVA binder were employed. Subsequently, printed implants underwent a two-hour sintering process at temperatures of 1250, 1300, and 1350 °C. Compression tests and microstructure analyses were performed on the implants, along with in vitro cytotoxicity studies utilizing L-929 fibroblast cells. The dental implant prototypes approximately matched the elastic modulus of natural bone, with ranges situated between 4.8 and 13.2 GPa for various sintering temperatures. It was also established that all implants displayed low toxicity
Application	Porous dental implants
Aim	Manufacturing low modulus porous titanium implant
Material	Commercially pure titanium (CP)

 Table 1 (continued)

(continued)

Table 1 (continued)				
Material	Aim	Application	Essential findings and details	Ref.
Fe and Fe-30Mn	Investigating the possibility of 3D-inkjet printing of Fe-30Mn alloy	Biodegredable bone scaffolds	Iron and manganese powders were mixed for 30 min using a Retsch Pulvarisette P5 planetary ball mill. Parts were produced with a layer thickness of 100 µ.m. Tensile, cell culture, and electrochemical corrosion tests were conducted for each printed piece. Based on the tensile test outcomes, the materials exhibited mechanical characteristics comparable to bone, and therefore presented adequate mechanical properties for low load applications, such as craniofacial scaffolds. The electrochemical tests demonstrated that the Fe-30 Mn alloy had lower corrosion resistance than pure iron. Additionally, the presence of Ca and P elements, which emerged as corrosion products, suggested that the generated parts were suitable for bone implantation. Cell viability experiments conducted with MC3T3-E1 pre-osteoblast cells showed promising in vitro cytocompatibility	[26]
			(cont	tinued)

Table 1 (continued)				
Material	Aim	Application	Essential findings and details	Ref.
Mg-Zn-Zr	Understanding corrosion behaviour of Mg-based alloy manufactured with binder jet printing	General usage for biomedical purposes	The Mg-Zn-Zr powder, with particle sizes ranging from 60–70 µm, was utilized in inkjet printing to fabricate parts which were later sintered at different temperatures. Correspondingly, for reference purposes, control samples were produced by conventional casting techniques. The corrosion tests carried out at a temperature of 37 °C indicated that corrosion rates were significantly higher in parts sintered at lower temperatures. Porosity was a significant factor contributing to the non-uniformity of corrosion across the surface of the samples. It was determined that the binder jetting process, along with its microstructural variances, influenced the corrosion behavior of the materials. The comparison of corrosion rates among coatings of hydroxyapatie, polylactic acid, and epoxy on pores demonstrated that HA coatings were the least resistant	[23]
			(con	ntinued)

Matanial A im				
Matchial	ш	Application	Essential findings and details	Ref.
ß-TCP and bioactive glass print print	estigating feasibility of 3D nting B-TCP and ocompatible glass composites	Large scale bone implants	The ball milling technique was used to obtain the B-TCP-BGH composite, followed by a spray-drying process at 230 °C to form granules. These composite granules were subsequently utilized in 3D printing, based on CT imaging data, to create implants. CAD software was employed to develop bending specimens, which were additively manufactured and sintered at a temperature of 1000 C. It was determined that the presence of glass did not influence the manufacturing process. The resulting components possessed a 4-point bending strength of 14.9 MPa	[27]



Fig. 4 Calcium phosphate implants produced for maxilofacial and cranium defects; a calvarium, b zygoma, c orbital rim, and d use in mandibular defects [19]

Researchers have been investigating the possibility of manufacturing bioinert and biodegradable metals through the binder jetting method. Sheydaeian et al. utilized a blend of 97% spherical titanium powder and 3% PVA powder to fabricate porous pure titanium implants with various layer thicknesses, intended for orthopedic bone implants. These implants, sintered at 1400 °C, exhibited porosity variations of up to 5% across different layer thicknesses. However, there was no significant change in mechanical characteristics [22]. Similarly, Kuah et al. utilized the binder jetting technique to create biodegradable porous Mg-Zn-Zr-based parts and studied their corrosion behavior in a PBS solution. The study found that the corrosion rate increased with increasing porosity and examined the effects of hydroxyapatite and polylactic acid coatings on the porous Mg-Zn-Zr parts. The results indicated that the PLA coating provided better corrosion protection. These findings demonstrate the potential of using binder jetting technology to produce bioinert and biodegradable metals for a range of medical applications [23].

3.2 Powder Bed Fusion for Biomedical Implants

The powder bed fusion method, which employs an electron beam or laser light to combine powders, is typically used. Various approaches are employed depending on the laser or electron beam strength, resulting in four powder bed fusion techniques. Selective laser sintering (SLS) and direct metal laser sintering (DMLS) utilize a powerful laser to join powders without melting, whereas selective laser melting (SLM) and electron beam melting (EBM) techniques selectively melt and weld powders [28]. The SLS production process involves three stages. First, the platform is lowered, then powder is spread, and, finally, laser joining is done using process parameters such as scan speed, laser power, spot size, and layer thickness. The process is repeated until the model is completed. The slicing program is used to set all of these parameters before printing. However, even if complete melting

of powders is achieved in the production of thermoplastic materials, partial melting may occur during laser fusion. The selective laser sintering process differs from the sintering technique employed in powder metallurgy, with particles merging in mere seconds as compared to hours [29]. The process steps of the SLM method are very similar to the steps of the SLS method. The biggest difference in the SLM method is the selective joining of metal powders by melting. The range of metallic materials is fairly broad in the SLM technique, and materials can be produced with great sensitivity and a wide spectrum with this method.

Metallic glasses can be manufactured using the SLM process, along with alloys and composites based on Al, Ti, Fe, Ni, Co, and Cu. Unlike the SLS and EBM processes, the SLM method necessitates an inert environment. The EBM method is equivalent to the SLM method in terms of melting the particles to combine them. The powder bed's temperature is preserved at over 870 K in the EBM process, while laser beams are used to blend powders in the SLM and SLS procedures. Additionally, the printing process is significantly impacted by factors such as preheat temperature or platform temperature. The EBM method's use is restricted to Ti GR 2 and GR 5, Cobalt, and Inconel 718 powders due to the high powder bed temperature [30].

Powder bed fusion techniques are employed to produce implants for biomedical applications such as dental, load-bearing implants, bone tissue engineering, and cardiovascular stents. Bioinert applications primarily employ Ti and Co-based implants that are manufactured using the powder bed fusion technique, while biodegradable implant applications use Zn, Mg, and Fe-based implants. Ti-based implants, having an elastic modulus of around 110 GPa which is analogous to natural bone, have a lower stress shielding effect and are more extensively studied for loadbearing implants. They have high strength, low density, excellent corrosion resistance, and a high level of biocompatibility. Porous structures aid in lowering the elastic modulus of titanium implants, thus reducing the stress shielding effect and bone resorption, which can lead to implant failure [31]. Scaffolds made of Ti-6Al-4V powder with varying pore sizes and porosities for load-bearing bone implant applications were constructed by Zumofen et al. using the SLM method. The beam-based diamond, hexagonal, and cubic scaffolds were characterized using compression tests and a cell viability test. The cubic scaffold was the most similar to the cortical bone, with a high compressive strength of 151 MPa and stiffness of 4.9 GPa. Shape and pore size had no impact on Saos-2 cell proliferation [32].

Al and V-free Ti alloys have been examined for load-bearing implants as an alternative to Ti-6Al-4V alloy, which is the most commonly investigated Ti alloy for this purpose [33]. Ti-Ta alloys have been developed as a possible substitute for Ti-6Al-4V alloy. Song et al. produced Ti-50Ta bulk structure and found that it is mechanically superior to Ti-6Al-4V alloy, with a tensile strength of 924.64 \pm 9.06 MPa and an elastic modulus of 75.77 \pm 4.04 GPa [34]. Soro et al. created a porous scaffold for load-bearing implants from Ti-25Ta alloy. These scaffolds were produced in cylindrical form using Schwarz-P unit cells and had porosity ranges of 25–42–64%. They were found to be promising load-bearing implants, exhibiting high ductility and low modulus of elasticity, with an elastic modulus range of 14–36 GPa [35]. Additionally, Soro et al. produced scaffolds from Ti-25Ta alloy using Schwarz-P, Parket Schwarz-P.

Schwarz Diamond, and Gyroid unit cells and determined that these scaffolds had good cell viability in in vitro cell culture tests. These scaffolds showed an elastic modulus similar to cortical bone, with values of 15.8 GPa, 18.9 GPa, and 14.3 GPa for Gyroid, Diamond, and Schwarz-P scaffolds, respectively [36]. Therefore, Ti-Ta alloys, with their superior mechanical properties and low cytotoxicity, are a promising alternative to Ti-6Al-4V alloy for load-bearing bone implants.

Ackers et al. developed Ti-4.5Ta-4Fe-7.5Nb-6Zr (TTFNZ) alloy as an alternative to Ti-6Al-4V alloy for load-bearing implant applications. They investigated the impact of process parameters during powder production and additive manufacturing on heat treatment, shrinkage, compression, indentation, corrosion, and PVD coating characteristics. The findings of their tensile tests revealed that TTFNZ is mechanically superior to Ti-6Al-4V and Ti-Nb-Zr alloys, with a strength of 1271 MPa, making it a suitable candidate for biomedical load-bearing implants [37]. Zhou et al. studied the mechanical properties of Ti-6Al-4V alloy and the effect of adding 2% TiB by volume on those properties. The results showed a 25–36% improvement in both tensile and compressive strengths, along with a 14% increase in microhardness, which was attributed to Hall–Petch strengthening [38]. These findings demonstrate the potential for TTFNZ as an alternative to Ti-6Al-4V alloy for load-bearing implant applications while also highlighting the ability to enhance the mechanical properties of existing alloys through minor modifications.

Titanium-based implants are being researched as load carriers, as well as in the field of dentistry through powder bed fusion processes. Hou et al. produced porous scaffolds for dental implants through ball milling of Hydrogenation-dehydrogenation (HDH) Ti powder and selective laser melting. Porosity of 50-60% and 70% was achieved, with compression and permeability tests being carried out to evaluate the suitability of cylindrical specimens. Porous scaffolds formed from Schwarz-P unit cells, with 60% porosity, demonstrated ideal properties, yielding an elastic modulus of 9.7 GPa and a yield strength of 163.2 MPa. Permeability tests yielded a value range of 0.66–6.88 $\times 10^{-9}$ m², which fell within the appropriate range compared to human bone $(0.01-12.10 \times 10^{-9} \text{ m}^2)$. This research supports the potential application of these implants in dentistry [39]. Similarly, Xu et al. created implants using the gyroid unit cell with high compressive strength ranging from 206.1 to 477.5 MPa. The implants' pore ratios were the only variable. The scaffolds exhibited corrosion resistance with a corrosion rate of 2.5×10^{-4} mm/year and excellent biocompatibility, as demonstrated by the in vitro MC3T3-E1 cell culture experiments [40]. Selvaraj et al. developed a cranial implant for a 38-year-old patient using 3D imaging and selective laser melting, as shown in Fig. 5. They successfully implanted the cranial implant, made of the Ti-6Al-4V alloy, into the patient whose right temporosagital region of the skull was damaged in a car accident [41]. Lastly, Mcgee et al. created patient-specific cardiovascular stents using Ti-6Al-4V via selective laser melting. They used CT images of a 4-year-old child with congenital heart disease to fabricate the stents, which resulted in a deviation of 80 μ m in the 500 μ m designed beams. The surface roughness of the stents increased after etching, which could potentially enhance biocompatibility as per the research on the impact of etching on stents made using additive manufacturing [42].



Fig. 5 Models for skull damage caused by traffic accidents and cranial implant produced by selective laser melting method [41]

In addition to titanium-based implants, 316L stainless steel implants, made by the powder bed fusion process, are utilized in many biomedical fields, including short-term implants, load-bearing implants, stents, cranial implants, dental implants and bone tissue scaffolds [43]. Čapek et al. produced bone scaffolds that had an approximately 90% porosity rate, and mechanical properties akin to sponge bone. Mechanical testing of scaffolds cut into rectangular shapes cultured with human osteosarcoma U-2 OS (ATCC HTB-96TM) cells showed that porous scaffolds exhibited mechanical properties close to sponge bone, with an elastic modulus of 0.15 GPa and compressive yield strength of 3 MPa [44]. Selective laser melting was used by Jiang et al. to create face-centered cubic (FCC) meshes for rib implantation. They also observed differences in the chemical and physical structure of scaffolds printed at different laser energy densities. Moreover, FCC-based scaffolds produced at an energy density of 125 J/mm³ were capable of being produced, exhibiting high strength and mechanical properties comparable to human rib bones [45]. Co-based alloys are another metal made through the powder bed fusion process, suitable for use in permanent implantation. Co-Cr based alloys exhibit high wear and corrosion resistance, with the Cr₂O₃ layer formed on their surface showing high resistance to corrosion [33]. Han et al. produced Co-Cr scaffolds tailored for load-bearing implants revealing the dependence of stress levels on the unit cell type and size. The determined elastic modulus and compressive strength of Co-Cr scaffolds ranged from 7.18–16.57 GPa and 271.53–1279.52 MPa, respectively [46]. Hedberg et al. conducted a study employing selective laser melting to examine the fabricability, microstructure, and metal release characteristics of Co-Cr-Mo-based dental alloys in biological fluids. In addition, the identical alloy was also produced using traditional casting to ensure comparison. Due to quick cooling, the highly fine-grain structure

and higher Mo ratio at the cell boundaries were both observed. Moreover, the martensitic ε phase increased at the surface in comparison to its cast counterpart, leading to a higher susceptibility to corrosion [47]. Furthermore, Wei et al. investigated how post-processing heat treatment would impact the fatigue strength of orthopedic implants made of Co-Cr-Mo alloy by utilizing the electron beam melting method. By using heat treatment to alter the phases in the microstructure, fatigue strength was improved [48]. Additionally, powder bed fusion has recently been used to make and test tantalum (Ta) based implants intended for use in bio-inert implant applications. Chen et al. produced Ta-based gyroid unit cell implants to meet the requirements of load-bearing orthopedic applications. Although the Ta implants were entirely dense and made without fractures, their grain size was higher compared to their forged equivalent. Moreover, Ta resulting from additive manufacturing exhibited greater cell adherence and proliferation in comparison to forging, demonstrating the high precision fabrication of porous tantalum scaffolds [49].

Powder bed fusion techniques enable the production of not only bioinert implants but also biodegradable metals and their alloys for various implant applications. Biodegradable metals, such as magnesium, iron, and zinc alloys, are widely utilized. Among the biodegradable metals, Fe-based implants have the highest strength [50]. Due to their excellent mechanical properties, favorable corrosion behavior, and magnetic properties as a result of their austenitic phase, many researchers have investigated Fe-Mn alloys [51-54]. Again, Si and Ag elements were alloyed with Fe and tested for various biomedical applications [55, 56]. For load bearing applications, Manshadi et al. developed scaffolds from the Schwarz P unit cell with 60% porosity. The scaffolds produced by mixing the gas atomized Fe-35Mn powder with 1% silver powder had a total porosity of around 52%. In Archimedes tests, the internal porosity rate varied between 0.63 and 1.35%. The iron-based biodegradable scaffold's degradation rate was also accelerated by the addition of 1% Ag, but the elasticity modulus remained unchanged and the compressive strength increased [57]. In contrast to Fe-Mn-based biodegradable iron alloys, Gao et al. used gallium for the first time. Fe-19 Ga alloy powder was produced by gas atomization, and a cylindrical form was produced via selective laser melting. The examination conducted after the manufacture revealed uniform alloying and grains in the direction of production. Additionally, culture experiments using MG-63 cells showed satisfactory viability, and a corrosion rate of 0.09 mm/year was observed [58].

Magnesium has a significant place among biodegradable implants due to its high strength-to-density ratio. However, magnesium exhibits relatively poor corrosion resistance when alloyed with elements like Fe, Ni, Co, and Cu. This makes it particularly vulnerable to corrosion caused by micro-galvanic effects [59]. As a result, high susceptibility to corrosion and toxic effects caused by excessive hydrogen accumulation can negatively impact the mechanical characteristics and biocompatibility of magnesium implants. To preserve the necessary mechanical properties for a certain period of time by degradation of magnesium at an appropriate rate, several researchers have started investigating ways to improve its corrosion resistance [60]. For instance, Lovaiová et al. produced a cubic sample with an 8 mm edge using gas atomized

WE43 powder and studied the mechanical, corrosion, chemical, and biological characteristics of Mg-based parts. Although the parts had relatively small grain size, the immersion test revealed that the corrosion rate was 2.6 mm/year, which was too quick [61]. To overcome this issue, Xie et al. constructed orthopedic implant scaffolds from Mg-Nd-Zn-Zr alloy, which demonstrated good osteoinductivity in cell viability experiments using MC3T3-E1 cells [62].

Zinc does not corrode as slowly as iron, nor as fast as magnesium. Furthermore, zinc, one of the essential elements found in the human body, has no hazardous impact on the human body if properly degrades. However, manufacturing zinc-based implants using the powder bed fusion method is challenging due to the low mechanical properties of such implants compared to magnesium and iron-based implants [63]. Additionally, the melting and boiling points of zinc are 419.5 °C and 907 °C, respectively, and easily volatile zinc powders can lead to reduced manufacturing quality. As a result, process optimization is essential. To overcome these challenges, Wang et al. employed selective laser melting to generate 8 mm-sided cubic components for biomedical orthopedic implants. The mechanical properties of these components were found to be superior to those produced by casting [64]. Table 2 provides a summary of some bioinert and biodegradable biomedical implant studies and critical findings obtained via the powder bed fusion method in the literature.

3.3 Vat Photopolymerization Method for Biomedical Implants

In the literature, the vat polymerization process is often referred to as stereolithography (SLA). Yet, depending on the kind of light source employed, it is sometimes called digital light processing (DLP). In this technique, liquid polymers are solidified selectively with the aid of a light source. SLA/DLP technique is one of the most precisive additive manufacturing technique with the highest accuracy, the best surface finish and the least material loss. Although it is basically based on the solidification of photopolymer resins, it makes it possible to produce ceramic and metallic materials with high accuracy using powder doped slurries [69]. In particular, ceramic powder-added slurry has been the subject of much SLA and DLP research in recent years. Porous or dense structures may be printed with almost perfect precision. Tricalciumphospate (TCP), hydroxyapatite (HA), and calciumphospate (CaP) are the examples of examined potential biomedical ceramic implants [70]. SLA method was used by Zhou et al. to produce spine model using TCP bioceramic slurry for hard tissue applications. For model construction, 40–48 wt% powder was employed. Slurry with a layer thickness of 20 microns was successfully created by adding 1% SiO₂ as sintering agent and 2% silane KH-560 as dispersant. Then the slurry was milled for 15 h at 220 rpm with high-energy milling. After sintering, the manufactured implants had a density of 85.8% [71]. Zirconium dioxide (ZrO₂) ceramic teeth were manufactured by Chen et al. using the DLP process. The optimum solid powder ratio for teeth sintered at 1500 °C was found to be 42%. Moreover, ceramics were created with great precision using a 3-s exposure time. As compared to dry

ğ
딒
Ъ
1
б
. <u>s</u>
£
p
Å
H
de
R
8
5
Ĕ
5
.ط
Ŋ
ğ
-p
õ
đ
ts
I
Ĩ.
Ē
·=
a
÷Ξ
eq
Ξ
<u>.</u> 2
<u>.</u>
of
S
5
Ē
3
E.
Id
A
•
Ē
a

erial	Aim	Application	Essential findings and details	Ref.
ag Ma	Manufacturing scaffolds by additive manufacturing from a supersaturated Fe-Mg solid solution by mechanical alloying	Orthoapedic bone implants	In this study, the Fe-Mg solid solution powder used for selective laser melting was produced using a high-energy ball mill instead of the gas atomization method typically found in the literature. The powders were milled for 40 h at 300 rpm and were then utilized to fabricate cylindrical porous scaffolds using laser parameters of 100 W and 100 mm/s for beam sizes of 500 µm and pore sizes of 800 µm. The quick melting and cooling afforded by the powder bed fusion method enabled the efficient production of the required composition's supersaturated solid solution powders. The Mg solubility was reduced from 8.5 to 7.8% during additive manufacturing. The supersaturated solid solution and high Mg content facilitated the intended outcome by accelerating the decomposition rate while exhibiting high biocompatibility and supporting cell growth	[65]

	Ref.	s [66] aall APa. 9.36 ance ance base d to	(continued)
	Essential findings and details	Gas atomized AZ61 powder was used to produce pieces using the selective laser melting method. The powder w then mixed with varying amounts of Ce element using t milling for 4 h at 200 rpm. Addition of 1.2% Ce increas the compressive strength value from 145.93 to 225.61 N Also, by reducing the corrosion current density from 15 to 12.5 A/cm ² for the 1.2% Ce ratio, the corrosion resist was significantly increased. This improvement in resist is believed to be due to the replacement of Mg17Al12 p by the Al4Ce phase in the AZ61 alloy. However, adding more than 1.2% Ce led to the coarsening of the Al4Ce phase, which ultimately resulted in decreased strength of the alloy. The structure of the developed alloy was foun be suitable for use in biodegradable bone implants, facilitating cell growth and reducing corrosion rate	
	Application	Bone implants	
nued)	Aim	Improving the mechanical and corrosive properties of AZ61 alloy by addition of Cerium (Ce)	
Table 2 (contin	Material	AZ61-Ce	

Table 2 (continue)	nued)			
Material	Aim	Application	Essential findings and details	Ref.
Zn-Ce	To improve antibacterial and mechanical properties of orthopedic zinc implants with the addition of Cerium	Bone implants	Pure zinc powder produced via nitrogen atomization was combined with 1–3% Ce using the ball milling method at 200 rpm. The samples were then printed using a laser spot diameter of 70 µm, a scanning speed of 300 mm/s, and a laser power of 50 W. The addition of 2% Ce led to a significant increase in the tensile strength of the pure zinc from 103.6 to 247.4 MPa. Creep behavior was also comparable to the tensile test results. The inclusion of Ce is thought to enhance the corrosion resistance of the material by facilitating the formation of a passive oxide film on the surface. Additionally, the addition of Ce resulted in improved antibacterial properties, with the inhibition zone test reflecting an increase in the antibacterial rate from 34.28 to 81.36% when tested with Escherichia coli bacteria. Overall, the addition of Ce to the Zn-based powder resulted in enhanced mechanical and biocompatibility properties	[67]
				(continued)

Material Am Application Essential findings and details Ref. Cp-Ti To examine the effects of design parameters Dental scaffolds produced through selective laser melting on production, mechanical and permeability properties with additive manufacturing properties of proved between 10 melting and an MC3T3-FEI cell rescipt y level of 0-1 Ref. Ref. Ref. Ref. Nithol Investigation of the effects of provder bed fusion production parameters and heat dration production parameters and heat dration production parameters and heat dration production parameters and heat dration method was utilized for determining the classic modulus and handness of the stems: The strut mechanical properties for nithinol stems Ref. Ref. Nithol Investigation of the effects of nithinol stems Ref. 20 µm layer thickness, laser power subited in gratify the classic modulus and handness of the stems: The strut mechanical properties for nithinol stems Ref. Nithol Investigation of the effects of nithinol stems Ref. 20 µm layer thickness, laser power subited and struting the classic modulus and handness of the stems: The strut mechanical propertis for nithinol stems Ref. <	Material Aim Application Essential findings and details And m m m m		
Cp-Ti To examine the effects of design parameters on production, mechanical and permeability properties with additive manufacturing properties with additive manufacturing were employed. The 30% pronsity stations the additive materian elastic modulus of 14.6 GP morsity stations the 20-40% prossity values. To create provsities and a comprastive vith 20-40% prossity values were found to be ideal, with a corrsion rate of 37.7-22.7 x 10. ³ mu/year and an MC373-El cell toxicity level of 0-1 [40] Nitinol Investigation of the effects of powder bed treatment effects on microstructure and treatment effects on microstructure and treatolote and microstructure and tr		ngs and details R	Ref.
NitinolInvestigation of the effects of powder bed fusion production parameters and heat fusion production parameters and heat treatment effects on microstructure and mechanical properties for nitinol stentsPeripheral or employing plasma atomized spherical NiTi powders, with a stent implants[68]Insom production parameters and heat treatment effects on microstructure and mechanical properties for nitinol stentsPowder bed fusion was used to implement 3D-printing for 60 to 100 W, and scanning speeds between 115 and 250 mm/s. The nanoindentation method was utilized for determining the elastic modulus and hardness of the stents. The strut thickness of the stents increased as the laser energy density increased, despite being nearly fully dense. Successful manufacturing of both zigzag and Planaz-Schatz model. The rate of nickel evaporation increased with rising laser intensity. The fabricated stents exhibited an elastic modulus stent geometry as compared to the Palmaz-Schatz model.	Cp-11 Io examue the effects of design parameters control of the production, mechanical and permeability on production, mechanical and permeability properties with additive manufacturing properties with additive manufacturing the cells with varying porosity values ize were employed. The 30% porosity elastic modulus of 14.6 GPa and a strength of 351.5 MPa, making the compatible with human bone. Imp porosity values were found to be i of $3.7-22.7 \times 10^{-3}$ mm/year and a total strength of $0-1$	ds produced through selective laser melting [4] and produced utilizing gyroid-based unit ing porosity values. To create porosities 20 to 60%, pore sizes of 303.7 to 635.3 µm d. The 30% porosity scaffolds exhibited an us of 14.6 GPa and a compressive yield 1.5 MPa, making them mechanically th human bone. Implants with 20–40% s were found to be ideal, with a corrosion rate 10^{-3} mm/year and an MC3T3-E1 cell of 0–1	[40]
	NitinolInvestigation of the effects of powder bedPeripheral or tureatment effects on microstructure and treatment effects on microstructure and mechanical properties for nitinol stentsPeripheral or cardiovacular fixed 20 µm layer thickness, laser 100 W, and scanning speeds betw The nanoindentation method was the elastic modulus and hardness increased a increased, despite being nearly ful manufacturing of both zigzag and have been shown. Energy densitie demonstrated more effective man stent geometry as compared to the The rate of nickel evaporation incl intensity. The fabricated stents exh	Ision was used to implement 3D-printing lef isma atomized spherical NiTi powders, with a ayer thickness, laser power ranging from 60 to anning speeds between 115 and 250 mm/s. It ation method was utilized for determining dulus and hardness of the stents. The strut the stents increased as the laser energy density pite being nearly fully dense. Successful g of both zigzag and Palmaz-Schatz designs wn. Energy densities of 0.3–0.8 J/mm more effective manufacturing of the Zigzag y as compared to the Palmaz-Schatz model. Sel evaporation increased with rising laser fabricated stents exhibited an elastic modulus of a traditional manufacturing process	[68]

pressing, ZrO_2 ceramics with 12.62 GPa hardness and 6.11 MPa m^{1/2} fracture toughness showed improved mechanical properties. In addition, studies with mesenchymal cells showed that ceramics with high biocompatibility have a strong potential for personal oral applications [72]. Production with metallic inks is not yet available in the literature for biomedical implants. Studies are very limited since the high density of metallic particles may cause undesirable conditions such as sedimentation.

3.4 Material Extrusion Methods for Biomedical Implants

Fusion deposition modeling (FDM) is the most popular technique for material extrusion, which directly produces thermoplastic polymers from filaments. A thermoplastic polymer filament is melted at an appropriate temperature using an extruder, forming it into layers. Compared to metals and ceramics, these filaments have a much lower melting temperature. Although FDM printers, which range in price from \$300 to \$100.000, are less sensitive and have lower surface quality than the vat polymerization method, they can produce polymers with greater accuracy of ± 127 μ m and a variety of biomedical grades. This approach is suitable for biomedical implant polymers like polycaprolactone (PCL), polyetheretherketone (PEEK), polylactic acid (PLA), and medical-grade acrylonitrile-butadiene-styrene (ABS) [24]. Oladapo et al. produced pure and PEEK calcium hydroxyapatite (cHAp) composite filaments for orthopedic bone implant applications using FDM and medical PEEKbased pellets. Moreover, the craniofacial implant was created according to the tomography file's image without any issues. Load-bearing implants with high biocompatibility exhibited appropriate mechanical characteristics [73]. Yang et al. developed drug delivery implants utilizing the FDM method from Ibuprofen (IBP)-chitosan (CS)-PCL composite filaments they produced using a twin-screw extruder. Altering the CS and drug ratio accomplished controlled drug release. The tensile strength of the produced implants decreased as the CS-IBP ratio increased. The implant with high biocompatibility can be utilized in face plastic surgery or tissue repair, according to the researchers [74].

In recent years, the FDM process has been explored for the fabrication of biomedical implants from metallic, ceramic, and composite materials, rather than just polymer-based implants. A polymer binder may be used to create metallic and ceramic filaments. The principle of production shown in the manufacture of thermoplastics remains unaltered for the FDM process. This technique finds suitable utility in the fabrication of a bevy of metallic alloys including but not limited to stainless steel, titanium, aluminum, copper, and nickel. However, ceramic and metallic components are required to undergo debinding and sintering processes after printing [75]. Zhang et al. utilized FDM and selective laser melting to print Ti-6Al-4V. Microstructures, phase changes, hardness, porosity, and residual stress ratios were investigated. The SLM method had the smallest porosity rate at 3.6%, whereas the porosity ratio of the Ti-6Al-4V alloy made by the FDM method decreased from 24.99 to 10.96% as the sintering temperature increased from 900 to 1340 °C [76]. Nötzel et al. developed Al₂O₃-Paraffin-LDPE composite filaments utilizing a single screw extruder system. Disc-shaped pieces were successfully produced using sintered filaments comprised of ceramic particles from 10 to 60% by volume [77].

Material extrusion techniques can use ceramic and metallic pastes or suspensions, as well as filaments, to create products. A syringe or plunger serves as the driving mechanism in this extrusion system, and a heater can be used to adjust the viscosity or melt plastic binders. After the green part is produced, a debinding process is applied to the paste or suspension, which is layered on a bed like FDM. Subsequently, the final product is sintered at a specific temperature with a slow heating rate, taking into account the possible occurrence of shrinkage after debinding and sintering [76]. Dairaghi et al. utilized an extrusion system to create middle ear bones from a ceramic paste. Calcium Phosphate-Hydroxyapatite composite paste, known as Osteoink, was used to produce the models [78]. Similarly, Slámečka et al. used a material extrusion method to produce biomedical implants, using gas atomized grade 1 Titanium powder and 10% by weight bovine gelatin solution to create scaffolds. Sintering affects the porosity of the scaffolds, which directly correlates with compressive fatigue strength. Even after 106 cycles of testing, the mechanical properties of the scaffolds remained stable. Their normalized fatigue strength was 62% of their yield strength, demonstrating that their mechanical properties were nearly as good as those produced by powder bed fusion [79]. Table 3 provides further examples of biomedical implant studies conducted using the material extrusion method.

4 Conclusion

Recent years have witnessed a significant surge in patient-specific applications, particularly in the scope of orthopedic and dental implants, tissue engineering, and craniomaxillofacial treatments with additive manufacturing. The provision of personalized 3D-printed drugs and the ability to fabricate complex designs are among the salient features of additive manufacturing, offering numerous advantages to produce new generation materials of the utmost quality. Additive manufacturing will occupy an even more prominent position in the biomedical materials market, which is witnessing extraordinary growth. As we have demonstrated in this book section, additive manufacturing techniques offer the opportunity to fabricate biomedical implants with high precision and desired shape specific to their applications and their deployment site.

	Ref.	08	tinued)	
edical implant studies produced by the material extrusion method	Essential findings and details	1.75 mm diameter filament was produced from a metal-polymer mixture with 59% metal powder by volume. A maxillofacial implant was designed using Cone Beam Computed Tomography (CBCT) to enable the attachment of a dental implant in an 85-year-old female patient. The design was successfully manufactured using metal fused filament fabrication, with ideal support structures built for the first time. The implant's center had a relative density ratio of 81%, with 6% closed porosity and 13% open interconnected porosity. The method yielded a hardness of 6.5 HRC, which is lower than the typical hardness values obtained with Electron Beam Melting (EBM) and Selective Laser Melting (SLM) methods, which are around 45 HRC. Thus, this study highlights the efficacy of using a metal-polymer mixture and fused filament fabrication for creating intricate implants	(con	
	Application	Maxillofacial implant		
	Aim	Manufacturing patient specific implant properly		
Table 3 Biom	Material	Ti-6Al-4V		
Table 3 (cont	tinued)			
---------------	--	-----------------------------------	--	------
Material	Aim	Application	Essential findings and details	Ref.
PLA-Mg	To investigate the fabricability of PLA-Mg composites with a low-cost 3D printer	Anterior cruciate ligament screws	To prepare composite filaments, 500 µm Mg powder was milled using a planetary ball mill and a cryogenic mill for 48 h. Subsequently, filaments were produced using a single screw extruder that contained 100 and 125 µm 6 g Mg powder and 150 g PLA powder. In all compositions, 2 g of liquid vitamin E was applied. The filaments, with a diameter of 1.75 mm, were successfully produced using a single screw extruder, following which the anterior cruciate ligament screws were fabricated	[18]
Fe-Mn	Investigation of the effect of different Mn ratios by preparing a metallic ink	Bone implants	Pure iron powder was combined with Mn powder at concentrations of 0% , 10% , 30% , 50% , and 70%. Two different binders were used, either 2 g PLA or 8 g dichloromethane polymer solution. Scaffold structures with porosities of $10-50\%$ and 70% were produced, each measuring 6×6 $\times 12$ mm. Alongside these structures, a femoral bone was created using an extrusion pressure of 0.3-0.6 MPa, a layer thickness of 220 µm, and a writing speed of 10 mm/s. Scaffolds with 10-70% porosity values had a modulus of elasticity that ranged from 0.03 to 4.27 GPa. Scaffolds that exhibited properties similar to those of natural bone indicated promising potential for Fe bone implants	[83]

Acknowledgements This work was financially supported by Zonguldak Bülent Ecevit University, Scientific Research Projects Coordination Department, under project no: 2022-73338635-01.

References

- 1. Implants and Prosthetics. https://www.fda.gov/medical-devices/products-and-medical-proced ures/implants-and-prosthetics. Accessed: 03 February 2023
- Pandey A, Sahoo S (2023) Progress on medical implant: a review and prospects. J Bionic Eng 20(2):470–494
- Sunita Prem Victor CPS, Pillai CKS (2019) Biointegration: an introduction. In: Sharma CP (ed) Biointegration of medical implant materials, 2nd ed. Woodhead Publishing series in Biomaterials
- Bose S, Ke D, Sahasrabudhe H, Bandyopadhyay A (2018) Additive manufacturing of biomaterials. Prog Mater Sci 93:45–111
- Prachi K, Kadam A (2023) Introduction and need for additive manufacturing in the medical industry. In: Banga HK, Kumar HK, Kalra P, Belokar RM (eds) Additive manufacturing with medical applications. CRC Press, Taylor & Francis Group
- 6. Darbar S, Saha S, Agarwal S (2023) Additive manufacturing market prognosis of medical devices in the international arena. In: Banga HK, Kumar HK, Kalra P, Belokar RM (eds) Additive manufacturing with medical applications. CRC Press, Taylor & Francis Group
- Kumar V, Prakash C, Babbar A, Shubham Choudhary AS, Uppal (2023) Additive manufacturing in biomedical engineering present and future applications. In: Babbar A, Sharma A, Jain V, Gupta D (eds) Additive manufacturing processes in biomedical engineering advanced fabrication methods and rapid tooling techniques. CRC Press, Taylor & Francis Group
- Dasgupta S, Ray S (2023) Additive manufacturing of biomaterials classification, techniques, and application. In: Babbar A, Sharma A, Jain V, Gupta D (eds) Additive manufacturing processes in biomedical engineering advanced fabrication methods and rapid tooling techniques. CRC Press, Taylor & Francis Group
- 9. ASTM International (2012) Standard terminology for additive manufacturing technologies: designation F2792-12a. ASTM International, West Conshohocken PA
- Chua CK, Leong KF, An J (2020) Introduction to rapid prototyping of biomaterials. In: Narayan R (ed) Rapid prototyping of biomaterials: techniques in additive manufacturing. Woodhead Publishing
- Ziaee M, Crane NB (2019) Binder jetting: a review of process, materials, and methods. Addit Manuf 28:781–801
- Bandyopadhyay A, Ghosh S, Boccaccini AR, Bose S (2021) 3D printing of biomedical materials and devices. J Mater Res 36(19):3713–3724
- Lam CXF, Mo XM, Teoh SH, Hutmacher DW (2002) Scaffold development using 3D printing with a starch-based polymer. Mater Sci Eng C 20(1):49–56
- Mostafaei A et al (2021) Binder jet 3D printing—process parameters, materials, properties, modeling, and challenges. Prog Mater Sci 119:100707
- Leukers B et al (2005) Hydroxyapatite scaffolds for bone tissue engineering made by 3D printing. J Mater Sci Mater Med 16(12):1121–1124
- Sheydaeian E, Ibhadode OO, Hu E, Pilliar R, Kandel R, Toyserkani E (2021) Additive manufacture of porous ceramic proximal interphalangeal (PIP) joint implant: design and process optimization. Int J Adv Manuf Technol 115(9):2825–2837
- 17. Wu C et al (2012) 3D-printing of highly uniform CaSiO₃ ceramic scaffolds: preparation, characterization and in vivo osteogenesis. J Mater Chem 22(24):12288–12295
- Miyanaji H, Zhang S, Lassell A, Zandinejad A, Yang L (2016) Process development of porcelain ceramic material with binder jetting process for dental applications. JOM 68(3):831–841

- Klammert U, Gbureck U, Vorndran E, Rödiger J, Meyer-Marcotty P, Kübler AC (2010) 3D powder printed calcium phosphate implants for reconstruction of cranial and maxillofacial defects. J Cranio-Maxillofacial Surg 38(8):565–570
- Fielding GA, Bandyopadhyay A, Bose S (2012) Effects of silica and zinc oxide doping on mechanical and biological properties of 3D printed tricalcium phosphate tissue engineering scaffolds. Dent Mater 28(2):113–122
- Inzana JA et al (2014) 3D printing of composite calcium phosphate and collagen scaffolds for bone regeneration. Biomaterials 35(13):4026–4034
- Sheydaeian E, Fishman Z, Vlasea M, Toyserkani E (2017) On the effect of throughout layer thickness variation on properties of additively manufactured cellular titanium structures. Addit Manuf 18:40–47
- 23. Kuah KX et al (2022) Analysis of the corrosion performance of binder jet additive manufactured magnesium alloys for biomedical applications. J Magnes Alloy 10(5):1296–1310
- Seitz H, Rieder W, Irsen S, Leukers B, Tille C (2005) Three-dimensional printing of porous ceramic scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Res Part B Appl Biomater 74B(2):782–788
- Wiria FE, Shyan JYM, Lim PN, Wen FGC, Yeo JF, Cao T (2010) Printing of Titanium implant prototype. Mater Des 31:S101–S105
- Chou D-T, Wells D, Hong D, Lee B, Kuhn H, Kumta PN (2013) Novel processing of ironmanganese alloy-based biomaterials by inkjet 3-D printing. Acta Biomater 9(10):8593–8603
- 27. Bergmann C et al (2010) 3D printing of bone substitute implants using calcium phosphate and bioactive glasses. J Eur Ceram Soc 30(12):2563–2567
- Zhang X, Liou F (2021) Introduction to additive manufacturing. In: Pou F, Riveiro A, Davim JPBT-AM (eds) Handbooks in advanced manufacturing. Elsevier, pp 1–31
- 29. Kumar S (2020) Laser powder bed fusion. In: Kumar S (ed) Additive manufacturing processes. Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020
- Gokuldoss PK, Kolla S, Eckert J (2017) Additive manufacturing processes: selective laser melting, electron beam melting and binder jetting—selection guidelines. Materials 10(6)
- Ataee A, Li Y, Brandt M, Wen C (2018) Ultrahigh-strength titanium gyroid scaffolds manufactured by selective laser melting (SLM) for bone implant applications. Acta Mater 158:354–368
- Zumofen L, Kopanska KS, Bono E, Kirchheim A, De Haller EB, Graf-Hausner (2022) Properties of additive-manufactured open porous titanium structures for patient-specific load-bearing implants. Front Mech Eng 7
- Velásquez-García LF, Kornbluth Y (2021) Biomedical applications of metal 3D printing. Annu Rev Biomed Eng 23(1):307–338
- 34. Sing SL, Yeong WY, Wiria FE (2016) Selective laser melting of titanium alloy with 50 wt% tantalum: microstructure and mechanical properties. J Alloys Compd 660:461–470
- 35. Soro N, Attar H, Brodie E, Veidt M, Molotnikov A, Dargusch MS (2019) Evaluation of the mechanical compatibility of additively manufactured porous Ti–25Ta alloy for load-bearing implant applications. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater 97:149–158
- Soro N, Brodie EG, Abdal-hay A, Alali AQ, Kent D, Dargusch MS (2022) Additive manufacturing of biomimetic Titanium-Tantalum lattices for biomedical implant applications. Mater Des 218:110688
- Ackers MA, Messé OMDM, Manninen N, Stryzhyboroda O, Hecht U (2022) Additive manufacturing of TTFNZ (Ti-4.5Ta-4Fe-7.5Nb-6Zr), a novel metastable β-titanium alloy for advanced engineering applications. J Alloys Compd 920:165899
- Zhou Z, Liu Y, Liu X, Zhan Q, Wang K (2021) Microstructure evolution and mechanical properties of in-situ Ti6Al4V–TiB composites manufactured by selective laser melting. Compos Part B Eng 207:108567
- Hou C et al (2022) Additive manufacturing of functionally graded porous titanium scaffolds for dental applications. Biomater Adv 139:213018
- 40. Xu W et al (2022) Gyroid-based functionally graded porous titanium scaffolds for dental application: design, simulation and characterizations. Mater Des 224:111300

- 11 Additively Manufactured Medical Implants
- Selvaraj S, Dorairaj J, Shivasankar M, Mission V, College D (2022) 3D cranial reconstruction using titanium implant – a case report. 22(3):383–390
- 42. McGee OM et al (2022) An investigation into patient-specific 3D printed titanium stents and the use of etching to overcome selective laser melting design constraints. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater 134:105388
- 43. Bai L et al (2019) Additive manufacturing of customized metallic orthopedic implants: materials, structures, and surface modifications. Metals 9(9)
- 44. Čapek J et al (2016) Highly porous, low elastic modulus 316L stainless steel scaffold prepared by selective laser melting. Mater Sci Eng C 69:631–639
- 45. Jiang C-P, Wibisono AT, Pasang T (2021) Selective laser melting of stainless steel 316L with face-centered-cubic-based lattice structures to produce rib implants. Materials 14(20)
- 46. Han C et al (2017) Effects of the unit cell topology on the compression properties of porous Co-Cr scaffolds fabricated via selective laser melting. Rapid Prototyp J 23(1):16–27
- Hedberg YS, Qian B, Shen Z, Virtanen S, Odnevall Wallinder I (2014) In vitro biocompatibility of CoCrMo dental alloys fabricated by selective laser melting. Dent Mater 30(5):525–534
- Wei D, Koizumi Y, Takashima T, Nagasako M, Chiba A (2018) Fatigue improvement of electron beam melting-fabricated biomedical Co–Cr–Mo alloy by accessible heat treatment. Mater Res Lett 6(1):93–99
- 49. Chen W et al (2021) Fatigue behaviour and biocompatibility of additively manufactured bioactive tantalum graded lattice structures for load-bearing orthopaedic applications. Mater Sci Eng C 130:112461
- Chua K, Khan I, Malhotra R, Zhu D (2021) Additive manufacturing and 3D printing of metallic biomaterials. Eng Regen 2:288299
- Čapek J, Kubásek J, Vojtěch D, Jablonská E, Lipov J, Ruml T (2016) Microstructural, mechanical, corrosion and cytotoxicity characterization of the hot forged FeMn30 (wt%) alloy. Mater Sci Eng C 58:900–908
- Hufenbach J, Wendrock H, Kochta F, Kühn U, Gebert A (2017) Novel biodegradable Fe-Mn-C-S alloy with superior mechanical and corrosion properties. Mater Lett 186:330–333
- 53. Venezuela J, Dargusch MS (2020) Addressing the slow corrosion rate of biodegradable Fe-Mn: current approaches and future trends. Curr Opin Solid State Mater Sci 24(3):100822
- Nie Y et al (2021) In vitro and 48 weeks in vivo performances of 3D printed porous Fe-30Mn biodegradable scaffolds. Acta Biomater 121:724–740
- Liu R-Y, He R-G, Xu L-Q, Guo S-F (2018) Design of Fe–Mn–Ag alloys as potential candidates for biodegradable metals. Acta Metall Sin (English Lett) 31(6):584–590
- Liu B, Zheng YF, Ruan L (2011) In vitro investigation of Fe30Mn6Si shape memory alloy as potential biodegradable metallic material. Mater Lett 65(3). Elsevier B.V.
- Dehghan-Manshadi A, Venezuela J, Demir AG, Ye Q, Dargusch MS (2022) Additively manufactured Fe-35Mn-1Ag lattice structures for biomedical applications. J Manuf Process 80:642–650
- 58. Gao C, Zeng Z, Peng S, Shuai C (2022) Magnetostrictive bulk Fe-Ga alloys prepared by selective laser melting for biodegradable implant applications. Mater Des 220:110861
- 59. Dvorský D et al (2021) The effect of powder size on the mechanical and corrosion properties and the ignition temperature of WE43 alloy prepared by spark plasma sintering. J Magnes Alloy 9(4):1349–1362
- Kalb H, Rzany A, Hensel B (2012) Impact of microgalvanic corrosion on the degradation morphology of WE43 and pure magnesium under exposure to simulated body fluid. Corros Sci 57:122–130
- 61. Lovašiová P et al (2022) Biodegradable WE43 magnesium alloy produced by selective laser melting: mechanical properties, corrosion behavior, and in-vitro cytotoxicity. Metals 12(3)
- 62. Xie K et al (2022) Additively manufactured biodegradable porous magnesium implants for elimination of implant-related infections: an in vitro and in vivo study. Bioact Mater 8:140–152
- 63. Zheng YF, Gu XN, Witte F (2014) Biodegradable metals. Mater Sci Eng R Rep 77:1–34
- 64. Wang C, Hu Y, Zhong C, Lan C, Li W, Wang X (2022) Microstructural evolution and mechanical properties of pure Zn fabricated by selective laser melting. Mater Sci Eng A 846:143276

- 65. Shuai C et al (2021) Mechanically driving supersaturated Fe–Mg solid solution for bone implant: preparation, solubility and degradation. Compos Part B Eng 207:108564
- Liu L, Ma H, Gao C, Shuai C, Peng S (2020) Island-to-acicular alteration of second phase enhances the degradation resistance of biomedical AZ61 alloy. J Alloys Compd 835:155397
- 67. Yang Y et al (2021) Rare earth improves strength and creep resistance of additively manufactured Zn implants. Compos Part B Eng 216:108882
- Jamshidi P et al (2022) Development, characterisation, and modelling of processability of nitinol stents using laser powder bed fusion. J Alloys Compd 909:164681
- 69. Chaudhary R, Fabbri P, Leoni E, Mazzanti F, Akbari R, Antonini C (2022) Additive manufacturing by digital light processing: a review. Prog Addit Manuf
- Germaini M-M, Belhabib S, Guessasma S, Deterre R, Corre P, Weiss P (2022) Additive manufacturing of biomaterials for bone tissue engineering—a critical review of the state of the art and new concepts. Prog Mater Sci 130:100963
- 71. Zhou T et al (2020) SLA 3D printing of high quality spine shaped β -TCP bioceramics for the hard tissue repair applications. Ceram Int 46(6):7609–7614
- 72. Chen F et al (2020) Preparation and biological evaluation of ZrO₂ all-ceramic teeth by DLP technology. Ceram Int 46(8), Part A:11268–11274
- Oladapo BI et al (2021) 3D printing of PEEK–cHAp scaffold for medical bone implant. Bio-Design Manuf 4(1):44–59
- 74. Yang Y et al (2022) 3D-printed polycaprolactone-chitosan based drug delivery implants for personalized administration. Mater Des 214:110394
- Lotfizarei Z, Mostafapour A, Barari A, Jalili A, Patterson AE (2023) Overview of debinding methods for parts manufactured using powder material extrusion. Addit Manuf 61:103335
- Rane K, Strano M (2019) A comprehensive review of extrusion-based additive manufacturing processes for rapid production of metallic and ceramic parts. Adv Manuf 7(2):155–173
- 77. Nötzel D, Eickhoff R, Hanemann T (2018) Fused filament fabrication of small ceramic components. Materials 11(8)
- Dairaghi J et al (2022) 3D printing of human Ossicle models for the biofabrication of personalized middle ear prostheses. Appl Sci 12(21)
- 79. Slámečka K et al (2023) Fatigue behaviour of titanium scaffolds with hierarchical porosity produced by material extrusion additive manufacturing. Mater Des 225:111453
- Shaikh MQ et al (2021) Investigation of patient-specific maxillofacial implant prototype development by metal fused filament fabrication (MF(3)) of Ti-6Al-4V. Dent J 9(10)
- Antoniac I, Popescu D, Zapciu A, Antoniac A, Miculescu F, Moldovan H (2019) Magnesium filled polylactic acid (PLA) material for filament based 3D printing. Materials 12(5)
- Xu C, Yu S, Wu W, Liu Q, Ren L (2022) Direct ink writing of Fe bone implants with independently adjustable structural porosity and mechanical properties. Addit Manuf 51:102589

Chapter 12 Applications of Additive Manufacturing in Construction and Building Industries



B. Mallikarjuna, M. N. S. Hareeswar, and P. C. Sharath

Abstract The construction and building sectors are labor intensive, have a shortage of skilled people, and face low productivity. The automation and digitalization of all relevant steps in construction and building may appear to resolve the issues. Additive manufacturing (AM), also known as three-dimensional (3D) printing, uses computeraided design data to build complex physical objects by adding material layer-by-layer without using dies, tools, jigs, and fixtures. AM is used in various sectors, including aerospace, biomedical, space, automotive, and others. More recently, AM has gained popularity in construction and building due to its tremendous benefits, such as design freedom, material saving, mass customization, fast prototype, and functional parts. In the construction industry, extrusion-based additive manufacturing processes, commonly known as 3D concrete printing (3DCP) are used. This chapter describes the 3DCP process, process parameters, materials and focuses on the construction applications. The challenges and prospects of 3DCP in construction and building fields are highlighted.

Keywords Digital construction • Extrusion-based 3D concrete printing • Concrete • Construction and building

B. Mallikarjuna (⊠) Department of Production Engineering, National Institute of Technology, Tiruchirappalli, Tamil Nadu 620015, India

e-mail: mallubalichakra@gmail.com

M. N. S. Hareeswar Department of Mechanical Engineering, Amrita School of Engineering, Amrita Vishwa Vidyapeetham, Coimbatore, India

P. C. Sharath Department of Metallurgical and Materials Engineering, JAIN Deemed to Be University, Bengaluru 562112, India

251

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2024 S. Rajendrachari (ed.), *Practical Implementations of Additive Manufacturing Technologies*, Materials Horizons: From Nature to Nanomaterials, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-5949-5_12

1 Introduction

Global population is expected to reach 8.9 billion by 2050. Annually the demand for construction materials persists to increase by more than 23 trillion kg of concrete. The construction and building sectors contribute around 30% of global greenhouse gas emissions annually [1]. This is directly/indirectly contributing to global warming and climate change. Construction and building sectors are labor intensive for potentially dangerous tasks [2, 3]. Hence the effective use of resources of construction materials is optional. Researchers are working on finding new construction routes. Towards this end, additive manufacturing (AM) technology has been developing since the 1980s [4, 5]. It was the result of the development of technologies such as computeraided drafting (CAD), computer-aided manufacturing (CAM), robotics and control systems [5, 6]. It was initially proposed for the fabrication of aesthetic prototypes and therefore came to be known as Rapid Prototyping (RP). Geographically, technology was called different names, such as layer manufacturing, digital fabrication, desktop manufacturing, and freeform fabrication [5, 7]. In 2009, the ASTM F42 Committee was standardized, and all the names fall under additive manufacturing [7, 8]. Additive manufacturing is commonly called 3D printing. AM processes start with a computeraided design (CAD) file and then convert it to a standard triangulation language (STL) file. In this process, the CAD drawing surface is represented with triangles. Then STL file is sliced into tool path, containing the information for each layer to be printed [5,9]. The initial use of materials was primarily polymer, liquid, and filament forms. Later, it expanded to several materials, including metals, ceramics, composites, biopolymers, etc., [6, 10-12] for aerospace, automobiles, marine, military, and healthcare [13, 14]. There are seven families of additive manufacturing according to ASTM/ISO standards such as Vat photo-polymerization, material extrusion, powder bed fusion, sheet lamination, material jetting, binder jetting, and directed energy deposition [15]. Each machine is capable of processing specific materials [6, 16].

Cement-based additive manufacturing processes are often called 3D concrete printing (3DCP) [19]. The 3DCP comes under the material extrusion-based additive manufacturing process because of concrete extrusion through the nozzle, alike fused deposition modeling (polymer and composite materials filaments) [3, 20, 21]. Binder jetting additive manufacturing is also used for 3DCP of small-size components in the construction industry (powder and binder as feedstock materials) [22]. Several researchers have reported the fabrication of various construction and building applications such as concrete arches and vaults, concrete formwork, rain collection tank, and formwork for stairs and buildings [23-28]. Since its inception in 1997, this technology has been rising swiftly in large-scale construction [24, 26, 28–30]. Buswell et al. [17] 2018 reported that the 3DCP in construction and building growth is exponential, as shown in Fig. 1a. The number of projects that have been completed by academia and industries has increased. The cumulative projects increased by 60% between 2012 and 2018 [17]. The global market research trend shows that the 3DCP market growth rate is 14.05% between 2017 and 2019 Fig. 1b. The actual market is even more significant, expected with technological advancement, the way of understanding the processes, materials, and digital planning and building information modeling (BIM). Therefore, the aspects like extrudability, printability, and buildability are studied to print various materials such as concrete, geo polymer, and clays [3, 31, 32]. Using 3DCP in construction and building has many advantages: time, cost, geometric freedom, sustainability, and safety. 3D Printing can reduce the construction time considerably as compared to conventional construction methods. Cost reduction can also be a huge advantage. Ibrahim et al. 2022 [27] the construction time of an office in Dubai was 60% lower when compared to buildings of the same size built conventionally. Geometric freedom is also a considerable advantage when compared to conventional methods. The conventional methods were limited to generic shapes, but with the help of 3D printing, it is possible to achieve the architect's visual spectacle. Using 3D printing for construction can also be sustainable for the environment. It reduces the formwork involved in conventional methods and minimizes the waste of materials. Wu et al. 2016 [33] 3D printing eliminates unnecessary waste, reducing the impact on the environment and construction process by reducing the formwork needed, less wood is used, and saving trees from being cut down. 3D printing can also increase workplace safety and reduce injuries and fatalities, since it reduces hazardous work.

This chapter's motto is to shed light on the potential 3D concrete printing (3DCP) processes in construction and building applications. Mainly focused on the material extrusion-based 3DCP basics and its principle of deposition, concrete materials (mortar) and new future materials for construction applications, process parameters and their importance in 3DCP, applications of 3DCP in construction and building industries.



Fig. 1 a 3DCP projects growth in construction and building [17] and b Forecast of construction AM market revenue [18]



Fig. 2 a Illustration of various segments of the material extrusion system of a 3DCP (Reproduced from [34]) and b types of 3DCP

2 Material Extrusion-Based 3D Concrete Printing

The illustration of the material extrusion-based 3D concrete printing process is shown in Fig. 2a. The 3DCP comprises several segments, such as a hopper, pipes, pump, nozzle, and gantry. The concrete is poured into the hopper and pumped via a pipe to the nozzle. The large diameter nozzle extrudes material in the required amount [34]. The material is deposited on the substrate followed by the previous layer from a nozzle as G-code is generated layer-by-layer until the building or component is finished. Followed by post-curing and finishing processes. The 3DCP is classified into two types, as shown in Fig. 2b. The first type of 3DCP is binder jetting additive manufacturing, in which the powder and binder are used as feedstock material. The powder is fed to the table by a roller, and via a nozzle, a binder is applied selectively to build the layer. The second type of 3DCP can be classified based on the coordinate system (Cartesian, polar, robotic arm) [35, 36]. The first 3DCP was reported by the University of Loughborough for the feasibility of concrete printing and assessed the mechanical properties [37, 38]. The next by the Eindhoven University of Technology further explored the possibilities of 3DCP [39].

3 Gantry and Material Extrusion System

The gantry is a multi-axis (x, y, z) overhead bridge structure used in 3DCP [39]. Chandra et al. [3] analyzed various monolithic 3D printer gantry systems. It was observed that with the ability to produce versatile prints, superior dimensional accuracy, and fast printing speed, the 3-axis or 4-axis Cartesian gantries are better than the polar or robotic arm gantry systems for 3D printing. Betina et al. [35] analyzed the two types of gantries, Core-XY and the Delta, as depicted in Fig. 3a. The Core-XY is a sub-type among the 3-axis gantries. In the Core-XY gantry, the deposition nozzle,

i.e., the printhead, moves on the X and Y axes while the build platform moves from top to bottom on the z-axis. Whereas the Delta gantry, the build platform is fixed, and the printhead moves spatially in a tetrahedral volume. It was found that the Core-XY gantry-produced parts have better dimensional accuracy and print quality than the Delta gantry. Kopets et al. [41] Conducted a vibrations analysis on a Core-XY gantry using the finite element analysis software. The simulation analysis was verified by having their printhead move with speeds ranging from 50 to 150 mm/s, which shall cause vibrations in the gantry ranging from 50 to 500 Hz. The selection of the gantry size is based on the building and architecture [37]. Similarly, several researchers have reported on the design and development of the gantry [39, 43].

The gantry carries the printhead/extrusion head. Generally, extrusion systems can be classified into three types, as shown in Fig. 3b. Netto et al. 2021 [40] reviewed the application of screw-based extrusion on various materials. Concepts of screw-based extrusion systems and their combinations are illustrated. The analysis emphasizes that the screw extrusion system at the nozzle gives more precise control. Archimedes Screw, auger drill bit, and pressure profile screw are the various readily available options for screw-based extrusion, as shown in Fig. 3c, d and e. Auger drill bit provides the maximum amount of volume flow through it. The issues such as clogging in the screw, inconsistent layer bonding, and improper filling were faced when using the other two mechanisms. Sean et al. 2017 [44] developed a screw-based extrusion system for a printhead to deposit polymer material that feeds in the form of pellets. Leng et al. 2020 [45] developed a conical screw for a nozzle which was utilized to extrude polymer material which was fed in the form of pellets. However, the inlet feed for the nozzle must be designed. Either a screw-based system or a plunger feed could be utilized for this purpose. Chaari et al. [46] have experimentally validated the use of a plunger feed system for the screw-based extrusion nozzle as the extrusion mechanism shown Fig. 4. The extrusion mechanism was based on Archimedes screw. This screw was incorporated into a Delta gantry and the aspects such as layer adhesion in print along with the extrudability of clay and materials alike were tested.

Jackson et al. 2019 [48] designed and developed a print head for asphalt deposition. Archimedes' screw mechanism was utilized for the extrusion at the nozzle. This mechanism was 3D printed using ABS polymer filament. It was experimentally verified that the 3D printed screw mechanism could be effectively utilized for extrusion at the nozzle for the pastes. Zeleny et al. 2017 [42] developed a plunger-based extrusion system, which was 3D printed, tested, and validated during experimentation. It was validated that the 3D printed gear mechanisms can be utilized for plunger systems as the replacement for the expensive NVRM gear mechanism. Li et al. 2015 [47] investigated the effect of a nozzle cap and its influence on the quality of layer deposition. It was observed that the nozzle cap enabled the printing of flat-layer beads and resulted in better layer adhesion (refer to Fig. 4b). Also, the improved adhesion between layers improves the print quality and mechanical properties. Rane et al. 2018 [43] systematically reviewed the various extrusion systems which were employed for the ceramic pastes. The work provides mathematical equations related to the nozzle diameter to nozzle moving speed, that is:



Fig. 3 a Schematic of Cartesian and delta printers (Reproduced from [35]). b Classification of the existing material extrusion systems in 3D concrete printers (Reproduced from [40]) and types of screw-based extrusion mechanisms. c Auger drill bit. d Multi inlet screw extruder. e Conical screw extruder (Reproduced from [40])



Fig. 4 a Illustration of plunger input for the screw-based extrusion nozzle (Reproduced from [46]) and **b** nozzle without a nozzle cap or its equivalent (left) and with a nozzle cap (right) (Reproduced from [47])

$$V_n \times h_c = D_n \times V_d \tag{1}$$

where V_n is the velocity of the nozzle, h_c is the critical layer height, D_n is the diameter of the nozzle, and V_d is the rate of extrusion from the nozzle. For a higher extrusion rate, a larger diameter of the nozzle can be adapted because these two parameters are directly proportional.

4 Materials

Concrete is a commonly used material in the construction and building industry [49]. Concrete can be obtained by mixing cement, sand, water, and aggregate in the right proportion. For example, the mixing of cement, sand, and water is called mortar. Therefore, material with the right properties is required in 3DCP, so that proper extrudability, printability, and hardenability can be achieved [50, 51]. The various concrete/mortar materials used in 3D printing, such as calcined clay cement, geopolymer, Portland cement, cement, silica fume, superplasticizer, and Calcium aluminate cement with ordinary Portland cement, [38, 52, 53]. Yuan et al. 2021 [54] developed a modified limestone calcined clay cement (LC3) composite for 3D printing by introducing silica fume (SF) and particle packing theory. Results show that when composites contain 33.33 Wt% calcined clay, 16.67 Wt% limestone powder, and 5 Wt% SF with a sand to binder ratio (S/B ratio) of 2.5. The dynamic yield stress, static yield stress, and structural recovery are significantly improved. The proposed mortar was extruded continuously with minimum defects and exhibited excellent shape retention during the printing process. Marczyk et al. 2021 [55] conducted a study on the development of hybrid materials based on a geopolymer or regular cement matrix for 3D printing. The raw materials were mixed with commercial quartz sand with a chemical composition: of 90.0–90.3% SiO₂, max. 0.2% Fe₂O₃, 0.08–0.1% TiO₂, 0.4–0.7% Al₂O₃, 0.17% CaO, 0.01% MgO. Chen et al. 2021 [56] investigated the effects on the flowability and buildability of blended Portland cement with calcined clay (CC) and limestone (LF). The percent of LF and CC can lower the flowability but increase viscosity modifying admixtures percentage (VMA%), which improves water retention capacity and shape retention property. Revelo et al. 2019 [57] Kaolinite clay-based ceramics and several low-cost ceramic powders, including talc, fly ash, and lime, have been tried in the extrusion additive manufacturing process. The water-to-clay ratios (W/C) used to create the samples ranged from 0.68 to 0.72. In terms of the clay contents, the additions were evaluated at 3.0, 5.0, and 7.0 Wt%. The samples with a 0.70 W/C ratio and fly ash addition, resulted in good workability, mechanical properties, and surface finishing. Long et al. 2021 [54] in this study produced a modified limestone calcined clay cement (LC3) composite with raw materials such as calcined clay, sand, silica fume, limestone, and cement. The dynamic yield stress, static yield stress, and structural recovery of composites may be greatly enhanced (containing 33.33 Wt% calcined clay, 16.67 Wt% limestone powder, and 5 Wt% SF with an S/B ratio of 2.5). Mortar flowability slightly decreased with the addition of supplementary cementitious materials (SCMs) such as calcined clay, limestone powder, and silica fume. However, the compressive strength continued to increase with an increase in the S/B ratio up to 2.5%. Panda et al. 2019 [21] This study looked into adding nano-attapulgite clay (NC) to high-volume fly ash (HVFA) and its effects on hardened and microstructural properties. As a result, utilizing NC improved the material's flocculation strength, which in turn led to greater yield stress without significantly affecting viscosity. The improved buildability and less distortion of the prepared mixes throughout the 3D printing process were noticed. Wi et al., 2020 [58] conducted the study on characterizing cement mixtures for concrete 3D printing. A mixture of cement, silica fume and superplasticizer were used with the Wt% of each of the constitute being as follows 97.5%, 2.5%, 1.5% respectively. Various samples were made with different Wt% and the mechanical properties of each sample was tested. It was observed that the silica fumes and superplasticizer improvised the yield stress and maintained the desired viscosity of the concrete mixture. Shakor et al. 2017 [22] analyzed the two specific cement mixtures, the first mixed in the print head and the second manually mixed. The cement mixture consists of calcium aluminate cement is 32.2% with 67.8% ordinary Portland cement. The porosity was low and compression strength was better for the manual mixture. The porosity level of composition without lithium carbonate is 62.292% (S170-C340), and with lithium carbonate at the same saturation level, the compressive strength increased. Tregger et al. 2010 [59] examined the rheological impact of clay mixtures on the microstructure of cement pastes. A cement control mix (CM), a cement-fly ash mix (FA), and a cement-high-range water-reducing mix (HW) were evaluated. Experiments on cement paste and concrete with the same matrix that measure shear and compressive rheology as well as green strength. It was found that the pure magnesium aluminium silicate clay, known as nano clay, was the most successful in enhancing stability. Similarly many researchers reported on concrete materials in the literature for the 3DCP [52, 60-63]. Also, sustainable materials development is under consideration for the 3DCP [50]. The following section discusses the influence of process parameters while building.

Process Parameters

Process parameters play a significant role in additive manufacturing processes to build defect-free parts [64, 65]. Hence, influence of the process parameters in 3DCP may hinder the quality of the structure. The primary process parameters used in 3DCP are shown in Fig. 5 [66]. Several researchers reported on the effect of process parameters on structural properties. Putten et al. 2018 [67] reported that 3D printing of Cementous material with equal and zero time gap of layers printing between the layers. In the case of zero-time gap between layers results in an equal distribution of porosity. In contrast, increasing the delay time (10–60 min) results in larger pores in the lower and center of the printed specimens. This can be attributed to the fact that the second layer induces less compaction on the layer underneath it, as its already hardened due to the influence of a 10–60 min of time gap. The zero-time gap and time gap effects on pores size are reported in Fig. 6. The specimens printed at a higher printing speed generated lower surface roughness than that of specimens produced at a lower printing speed. Hence, achieving a balance between the printing speed and surface roughness was specified to be the critical aspect.

Wolfs et al. 2019 [68] and Sanjayan et al. 2018 [2] reported the effect of surface moisture on interlayer bond strength via three different gap times (10, 20, and 30 min). It was found that the 3D printed layers of moisture decrease then increase, as shown in Fig. 7. However, the moisture level of the layers depends on the bleeding rate, evaporation rate, and printing process parameters. If the surface of the layer is dry, it results in poor interlayer bonding because of poor malleability.

Zareiyan and Khoshnevis 2017 [70] stated that interlocking layers increased bond strength by an average of 17% due to an increase in the contact surface. Kloft et al. 2020 [38] studied the inflence of interlocking of layers on the bond strength of







Fig. 6 The variation of pore size at zero and with different time gaps (Reproduced from [67])

structures. Contour-crafted specimens show that the bond strength is sensitive to the interlocking of layers. Tay et al. 2019 [69] studied the viability of changing the print parameters. The nozzle travel and volume flow rate significantly impacted the solidity ratio. The effects of flow rate and travel speed on print quality was observed. Senff et al. 2020 [71] reviewed the printing parameters' effect on the prints' quality. They concluded that a smaller nozzle could deliver good quality prints if the mixture has greater fluidity (avoids the clog in the system). Kruger et al. 2020 [72] developed a numerical model for determining the print speed and layer height combination, which gives a faster building rate and achieves the object's successful build. A case study has been done, and the optimal parameters determined a print speed of 87 mm/ s and a layer height of 8 mm. The vertical building rate and time taken to print were determined to be 17.56 mm/min and 28.7 min, respectively.



Fig. 7 3D printed and conventional mold-cast samples moisture level at different time gaps (Reproduced from [2, 68]) and effects of process parameters on prints (Reproduced from [69])

Sanjayan et al. 2021 [73] studied the effects of vibration on the print quality of concrete printing. It was found that the vibrations involved improved the material's extrudability, reduced the extrusion pressure, and improved the print quality by reducing voids and entrapped air. Babafemi et al. 2021 [74] researched to enhance bond strength in 3DCP. It was concluded that interlocking patterns recorded a 26% improvement in bond strength. An increase in the effective bond area increased the bond strength by 60%. Comminal et al. 2020 [75] conducted a computational fluid dynamics analysis of concrete printing. Layers were printed using a 25 mm diameter nozzle in an articulated robot system. It was found that the geometrical aspect ratio and the speed ratio significantly influenced the geometry. The printed layers varied from circular profiles to rectangular cross-sections with rounded corners. The side flow of the material is caused by the pressure applied on the extruder, leading to challenges in multi-layer printing. It can be concluded that the process parameters play a significant role in determining the quality of components. Optimum process parameters must be obtained prior to deposition via computational modeling or experimentally. The following section discusses the applications of 3DCP.

5 Applications of 3DCP

The first exploratory application of 3DCP was reported by Pegna in 1994 [26]. Later 2004, Prof. Behrokh Khoshnevis of the University of Southern Carolina demonstrated the first 3D-printed wall [76]. After that, 3DCP was revered in many construction and building applications, including relief shelters, canals, living houses, metal frames for solid structures, micro homes, cyclists bridges, NASA outer space applications, asphalt roads, complex structures, and others [26, 27, 31, 71, 76–78]. Table 1 presents the applications in architecture, construction, and building sector.

Tuble I Applications of	SBCI in construction an	a building maasa j	
Authors name, reference, and journal	Applications/materials	Methods	Products/components/ samples
Joseph Pegna 1997 [26] Automation in Construction	Construction, large structures, multimodal structures/sand and Portland cement	Additive manufacturing, rapid prototyping, solid freeform fabrication	Steamed cement-silica of HO-scale block-house
Paolini et al. 2019 [66] Additive Manufacturing Journal	Construction, bicycle bridge, building components, footbridge/ aggregate-materials, reinforced steel, carbon fiber-reinforced ABS components and	Concrete extrusion, powder bed processes Wire arc additive manufacturing (WAAM)	Massachusetts Institute of Technology construction printer
Valente et al. 2019 [31] Journal of Composites Science	Architectural and construction sectors/ cement-based sandwich-waste tire rubber aggregates, rubber-concrete	Robotic arm, gantry systems, contour crafting	3DCP of bathtub
Dezeen 2017 [78]	Concrete bridge-cyclists/ concrete	Extrusion-based robotic arms	Concrete bridge

 Table 1
 Applications of 3DCP in construction and building industry

Authors name, reference, and journal	Applications/materials	Methods	Products/components/ samples
Ramakrishnan et al. 2021 [79] Cement and Concrete Composites	Construction industry/ ordinary portland cement (OPC) with cement (AS 3972-Type GP) and fine/TGS silica sand	Filament extrusion technology	3D printed wall (i) Hollow core (ii) Solid core (iii) U-shape
Khoshnevis et al. 2006 [30] International Journal Industrial and Systems Engineering	Residential housing units and civil structures/polymer, ceramic slurry, cement	Contour crafting	Contour crafted
Ingrid Paoletti 2017 [80] Procedia Engineering	Multi-performative building components/ clay	Robotic arms-based 3D printer	components
Carlos et al. 2019 [57] Processing and Application of Ceramics	Construction/kaolinite clay with small additions of lime, fly ash and talc ceramic powders	Direct ink writing (DIW) 3D printing technique	DIW printed with clay wall with fly ash of different geometries

Table 1 (continued)

Authors name, reference, and journal	Applications/materials	Methods	Products/components/ samples
Amy Fearson 2016 [81] Dezeen	Micro home/bioplastic	Extrusion based FDM	3D printed migrohome
Perrot et al. 2020 [53] Materials	Concrete structures/ cement CEM I 52, limestone, kaolin clay, river sand	Extrusion-based 3D printer	Screw extrusion fabricated bending samples
Jackson et al. 2018 [48] Materials and Design	Roads, pothole repairs/ Asphalt, Bitumen	Extrusion-based 3D printer	Printed pyramid
Manikandan et al. 2020	Civil infrastructures/ clay	Direct ink writing (DIW)	Cast Square Cast Orduar Nozze Sample Nozzie Sample Printed Sample Printed various parts
Tay et al. 2017 [3] Virtual and Physical Prototyping	Building and construction/clay, cement, ceramic, chopsticks, cementitious, viscous materials	Contour crafting, 3D concrete printing (gantry 4 axis/6 axis), Binder jetting	3DCP of various prototypes

 Table 1 (continued)

Authors name, reference, and journal	Applications/materials	Methods	Products/components/ samples
Bester et al. 2019 [72] Proceedings of the fib Symposium 2019 Concrete—Innovations in Materials, Design and Structures	Construction industry/ 579 kg of Cem II/A-L 52.5 cement, 165 kg of fly ash, 83 kg silica fume, 1167 kg of local, natural sand, and 261 kg of water per cubic meter	Gantry-type 3D concrete printer	3D printed benchmark structures
Muthukrishnan et al. 2021 [32] Cement and Concrete Composites	Construction/concrete, geopolymer	3D concrete printing	Articulated complex column
Mechtcherine et al. 2019 [29] Automation in Construction	Construction, building and architecture/ concrete or mortar	On-site extrusion-based digital construction (EBDC)	Extruded coarse and fine layers
Buswell et al. 2018 [17] Cement and Concrete Research	Large-size construction/concrete or mortar	3D concrete printing	In-situ printed columns and walls

Table 1 (continued)

Table 1 (continued)		-	
Authors name, reference, and journal	Applications/materials	Methods	Products/components/ samples
Jipa et al. 2019 [25] SCF'19: Symposium on Computational Fabrication	Formwork for stairs/ concrete	Extrusion based 3D-printer	A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A
			case
Gaudillière et al. 2019 [24] 3D Concrete Printing Technology	Lost formworks structures, pillars, and an interior separation wall for the house, rain collection tank/ concrete	Large scale extrusion based 3D-printer	Assembled 3D-printed concrete formwork filled with UHPC casting
Lin et al. 2022 [23] Automation in construction	Concrete arches and vaults/concrete	3DCP robotic arm and a reconfigurable print bed	Assembled 3D printed Concrete arch
Ishan Patra The Hindu 2022 [77]	Metal bridge-pedestrians and cyclists/stainless steel	Six axis robotic arm equipped with welding gear	Metal bridge

 Table 1 (continued)

6 Challenges and Prospects

The based on the available literature on construction and building applications of 3DCP. The following challenges and prospects are identified:

- 3DCP offers design freedom and automation of the entire construction process. However, large build volume, hardware, equipment's related issues need to the investigated;
- 3DCP is building the houses layer-by-layer. Therefore, real-time build monitoring systems (using a real-time video camera, pyrometer, thermal camera, etc.) for human safety, bead size, and deformation analysis are to be developed or innovated;
- Large-scale construction is enabled via 3DCP without the use of formwork. However, layer-by-layer deposition of concrete results in voids and dwell time between layers hinders mechanical properties, especially the durability of materials;
- The computational modeling of the concrete printing process for concrete, metals, polymers, and composites has been reported to understand and prevent build failures due to large deformation and residual stresses. However, computational methods are expensive and time-consuming as they involve multi-scale and multi-physics mechanisms. The significant opportunities to address comprehensive building process simulation and validation against the experimental data of 3DCP parts;
- Presently 3DCP have work envelope constraint, hence challenging to build a multi-story building simultaneously;
- The complete construction and building project involve foundation, building, postprocessing, and maintenance stages. Therefore, its mandate is to assess the cost estimation and building performance with respect to the lifecycle of the 3DCP project; and
- The cybersecurity and intellectual property right of CAD files of buildings/ products is a cause of concern. Otherwise, since reprography is easy, it would be resold to others; therefore, the high potential of framing the standard practices for the construction and building via 3DCP is essential.

7 Conclusions

Three-dimensional concrete printing (3DCP) is an automated construction process. It would eliminate the labor necessary for building and construction. Concrete is a commonly used material in the construction and building industry. Concrete material with suitable properties is required in 3DCP, leading to proper extrudability, print-ability, and hardenability. The process parameters play a significant role in building defect-free components/walls. Hence, process parameters in 3DCP may hinder the

quality of the structure. The process parameter optimization was carried out via experimentation or computational modeling. The 3DCP is revered into constructions and building applications, including relief shelters, canals, living houses, metal frames for solid structures, micro-homes, cyclist's bridges, NASA outer space applications, asphalt roads, and complex structures. Therefore, 3DCP has a lot of latent in building and construction applications. Presently research/experimentations are going on, and it requires widespread interest to develop the technology for the full fledge building capability.

References

- Valente M, Sambucci M, Sibai A, Iannone A (2022) Novel cement-based sandwich composites engineered with ground waste tire rubber: design, production, and preliminary results. Mater Today Sustain 20:100247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mtsust.2022.100247
- Sanjayan JG, Nematollahi B, Xia M, Marchment T (2018) Effect of surface moisture on interlayer strength of 3D printed concrete. Constr Build Mater 172:468–475. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.conbuildmat.2018.03.232
- Wei Y, Tay D, Panda B, Paul SC, Noor NA, Tan MJ, Leong KF (2017) 3D printing trends in building and construction industry: a review. Virtual Phys Prototyp 12:261–276. https://doi. org/10.1080/17452759.2017.1326724
- 4. Wohlers T, Gornet T (2014) History of additive manufacturing
- 5. Chua CS, Kai C; Leong KF, Lim (2003) Rapid prototyping: principles and applications, 2nd ed
- Gibson I, Rosen DW, Stucker B (2010) Additive manufacturing technologies. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-1-4419-1120-9
- Mallikarjuna (2020) Effect of process variables on residual stress and microstructure in laser additive manufacturing of γ-TiAl alloy
- 8. Ding X, Koizumi Y, Wei D, Chiba A (2019) Effect of process parameters on melt pool geometry and microstructure development for electron beam melting of IN718: a systematic single bead analysis study. Addit Manuf 26:215–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addma.2018.12.018
- Wong KV, Hernandez A (2012) A review of additive manufacturing. Int Sch Res Netw 2012:1– 10. https://doi.org/10.5402/2012/208760
- Markusson L (2017) Powder characterization for additive manufacturing processes. Luleå University of Technology. https://research.utwente.nl/en/publications/powder-characteriza tion-and-optimization-for-additive-manufacturi
- Chesnutt JC (1992) Titanium aluminides for aerospace applications. In: Antolohch DLKSD, Stusrud RW, Ma&Cay RA, Anton DL, Khan T, Kissinger RD (eds) The minerals, metals and materials society, Ohio, pp 1–9
- Wasti S, Adhikari S (2020) Use of biomaterials for 3D printing by fused deposition modeling technique: a review. Front Chem 8:1–14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fchem.2020.00315
- Liu R, Wang Z, Sparks T, Liou F, Newkirk J (2017) Aerospace applications of laser additive manufacturing. In: Brandt M (ed) Laser additives manufacturer. Woodhead Publishing, pp 351–371. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-100433-3.00013-0
- Gao W, Zhang Y, Ramanujan D, Ramani K, Chen Y, Williams CB, Wang CCL, Shin YC, Zhang S, Zavattieri PD (2015) The status, challenges, and future of additive manufacturing in engineering. Comput Aided Des 69:65–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cad.2015.04.001
- Mallikarjuna B, Reutzel EW (2022) Reclamation of intermetallic titanium aluminide aeroengine components using directed energy deposition technology. Manuf Rev Na 1–22. https:// doi.org/10.1051/mfreview/2022024

- Debroy T, Wei HL, Zuback JS, Mukherjee T, Elmer JW, Milewski JO, Beese AM, Wilson-heid A, De A, Zhang W (2018) Additive manufacturing of metallic components-process, structure and properties. Prog Mater Sci 92:112–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmatsci.2017.10.001
- Buswell RA, De Silva WRL, Jones SZ, Dirrenberger J (2018) Cement and concrete research 3D printing using concrete extrusion: a roadmap for research. Cem Concr Res 112:37–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cemconres.2018.05.006
- Jamie D (2023) The 3D printing construction market is booming. 3Dnatives. 1–10. https://www. 3dnatives.com/en/3d-printing-construction-240120184/. Accessed on 07–12–2022 (accessed December 11, 2022)
- Valkenaers H, Jansen D, Voet A, Van Gysel A, Ferraris E (2014) Additive manufacturing for concrete: a 3D printing principle. In: Proceedings of the 14th Euspen international conference – Dubrovnik, pp 14–17
- Olsson NOE, Shafqat A, Økland A (2019) 3D-printing technology in construction: results from a survey. In: 10th Nordic conference on construction economics and organization, pp 349–356. https://doi.org/10.1108/S2516-285320190000002044
- Panda B, Ruan S, Unluer C, Jen M (2019) Improving the 3D printability of high volume fly ash mixtures via the use of nano attapulgite clay. Compos Part B 165:75–83. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.compositesb.2018.11.109
- Shakor P, Sanjayan J, Nazari A, Nejadi S (2017) Modified 3D printed powder to cement-based material and mechanical properties of cement scaffold used in 3D printing. Constr Build Mater 138:398–409. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2017.02.037
- Lin A, Goel A, Alwin DH, Yeo C, Chung J, Dai S, Wang C, Taylor H, Wei H (2022) Automation in construction compressive load-dominated concrete structures for customized 3D-printing fabrication. Autom Constr 141:104467. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.autcon.2022.104467
- Gaudillière N, Duballet R, Bouyssou C, Mallet A, Roux P (2019) Building applications using lost formworks obtained through large-scale additive manufacturing of ultra-high-performance concrete. In: 3D concrete printing technology, Elsevier Inc., pp 37–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/ B978-0-12-815481-6.00003-8
- Jipa A, Giacomarra F, Giesecke R, Chousou G, Pacher M, Dillenburger B, Lomaglio M, Leschok M (2019) 3D-printed formwork for bespoke concrete stairs from computational design to digital fabrication. In: SCF-19 symposium on computational fabrication, pp 1–12
- Pegna J (1997) Exploratory investigation of solid freeform construction. Autom Constr 5:427– 437
- Ibrahim I, Eltarabishi F, Abdalla H, Abdallah M (2022) 3D printing in sustainable buildings: systematic review and applications in the United Arab emirates. Buildings 2:1703
- 28. Bhattacherjee S et al (2020) 3D printing-progress worldwide. Indian Concr J 8-25
- Mechtcherine V, Naidu V, Will F, N\u00e4ther M, Otto J, Krause M (2019) Automation in construction Large-scale digital concrete construction—CONPrint3D concept for on-site, monolithic 3D-printing. Autom Constr 107:102933. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.autcon.2019.102933
- Khoshnevis B, Hwang D, Yao K-T, Yeh Z (2006) Mega-scale fabrication by contour crafting. Int J Ind Syst Eng 1:301–320
- Valente M, Sibai A, Sambucci M (2019) Extrusion-based additive manufacturing of concrete products: revolutionizing and remodeling the construction industry. J Compos Sci 3:88
- Muthukrishnan S, Ramakrishnan S, Sanjayan J (2021) Technologies for improving buildability in 3D concrete printing. Cem Concr Compos 122:104144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cemcon comp.2021.104144
- Wu P, Wang J, Wang X (2016) A critical review of the use of 3-D printing in the construction industry. Autom Constr 68:21–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.autcon.2016.04.005
- Struct JC, Jo JH, Jo BW, Cho W, Kim JH (2020) Development of a 3D printer for concrete structures: laboratory testing of cementitious materials. Int J Concr Struct Mater. https://doi. org/10.1186/s40069-019-0388-2
- Schmitt BM, Zirbes CF, Bonin C, Lohmann D, Lencina C, Catarina FDS (2017) A comparative study of Cartesian and delta 3D printers on producing PLA parts. Mater Res 20:883–886

- Barjuei ES, Courteille E, Rangeard D, Marie F, Perrot A (2022) Real-time vision-based control of industrial manipulators for layer-width setting in concrete 3D printing applications. Adv Ind Manuf Eng 5:100094
- Lim S, Buswell RA, Le TT, Austin SA, Gibb AGF, Thorpe T (2012) Developments in construction-scale additive manufacturing processes. Autom Constr 21:262–268. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.autcon.2011.06.010
- Mohan MK, Rahul AV, De Schutter G, Van Tittelboom K (2021) Extrusion-based concrete 3D printing from a material perspective: a state-of-the-art review. Cem Concr Compos 115:103855. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cemconcomp.2020.103855
- Bos F, Wolfs R, Ahmed Z, Salet T (2016) Additive manufacturing of concrete in construction: potentials and challenges of 3D concrete printing. Virtual Phys Prototyp 11:209–225. https:// doi.org/10.1080/17452759.2016.1209867
- Manoel J, Netto J, Idogava HT, Eduardo L, Santos F, Silveira ZDC, Romio P, Alves JL (2021) Screw-assisted 3D printing with granulated materials: a systematic review. Int J Adv Manuf Technol 115:2711–2727
- Kopets EE, Karimov AI (2021) Mechanical vibration analysis of a gantry 3D printer. In: 2021 IEEE Conference on Russian young researchers in electrical and electronic engineering, pp 956–960
- Zeleny P, Ruzicka V (2017) The design of the 3D printer for use in gastronomy. MM Sci J 1744–1747. https://doi.org/10.17973/MMSJ.2017
- Rane K (2019) A comprehensive review of extrusion-based additive manufacturing processes for rapid production of metallic and ceramic parts. Adv Manuf 7:155–173. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s40436-019-00253-6
- 44. Whyman S, Mahmood K, Johan A (2018) Design and development of an extrusion system for 3D printing biopolymer pellets. Int J Adv Manuf Technol 96:3417–3428
- 45. Leng J, Wu J, Chen N (2020) The development of a conical screw-based extrusion deposition system and its application in fused deposition modeling with thermoplastic polyurethane. Rapid Prototyp J 2:409–417. https://doi.org/10.1108/RPJ-05-2019-0139
- 46. Zied M, Mohamed C, Christopher A (2022) A trial to convert a polymer FDM 3D printer to handle clay materials. SN Appl Sci 4:68. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42452-022-04937-w
- Li W, Ghazanfari A, Ming A, Leu C, Landers RG (2015) Methods of extrusion on demand for high solids loading ceramic. In: Solid freeform fabrication symposium, Texas, pp 332–345
- Jackson RJ, Wojcik A, Miodownik M (2018) 3D printing of asphalt and its effect on mechanical properties. Mater Des 160:468–474. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matdes.2018.09.030
- 49. Gagg CR (2014) Cement and concrete as an engineering material: an historic appraisal and case study analysis. Eng Fail Anal 40:114–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.engfailanal.2014.02.004
- Bhattacherjee S, Basavaraj AS, Rahul AV, Santhanam M, Gettu R, Panda B, Schlangen E, Chen Y, Copuroglu O, Ma G, Wang L, Abdul M, Beigh B, Mechtcherine V (2021) Sustainable materials for 3D concrete printing. Cem Concr Compos 122:104156. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.cemconcomp.2021.104156
- Panda B, Tan MJ (2018) Experimental study on mix proportion and fresh properties of fly ash based geopolymer for 3D concrete printing. Ceram Int 44:10258–10265. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ceramint.2018.03.031
- 52. Manikandan K, Jiang X, Singh , Li B, Qin H (2020) Effect of nozzle geometrics on 3D printing of clay constructs. Procedia Manuf 678–683
- 53. Perrot A, Jacquet Y, Rangeard D, Courteille E (2020) Nailing of layers: a promising way to reinforce concrete 3D printing structures. Materials (Basel) 13:1518
- Long W, Lin C, Tao J, Ye T, Fang Y (2021) Printability and particle packing of 3D-printable limestone calcined clay cement composites. Constr Build Mater 282:122647. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2021.122647
- 55. Korniejenko K, Łach M, Marczyk J, Ziejewska C, Szymon G (2021) Hybrid Materials based on fly ash, metakaolin, and cement for 3D printing. Materials (Basel) 14:6874
- 56. Extrusion-based CM, Veer F, Schlangen E (2019) The effect of viscosity-modifying admixture on the extrudability of limestone and calcined clay-based. Materials (Basel) 12:1374

- 57. Revelo CF, Colorado HA (2019) 3D printing of kaolinite clay with small additions of lime, fly ash and talc ceramic powders. Process Appl Ceram 13:287–299
- Manikandan K, Wi K, Zhang X, Wang K, Qin H (2020) Characterizing cement mixtures for concrete 3D printing. Manuf Lett 24:33–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mfglet.2020.03.002
- Tregger NA, Pakula ME, Shah SP (2010) Influence of clays on the rheology of cement pastes. Cem Concr Res 40:384–391. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cemconres.2009.11.001
- Nerella VN, Mechtcherine V (2019) Studying the printability of fresh concrete for formworkfree concrete onsite 3D printing technology (CONPrint3D). In: Sanjayan JG, Nazari A, Nematollahi B (eds) 3D concrete printing technology, Butterworth-Heinemann, pp 333–347. https:// doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-815481-6.00016-6
- Rahul AV, Santhanam M (2020) Evaluating the printability of concretes containing lightweight coarse aggregates. Cem Concr Compos 109:103570. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cemconcomp. 2020.103570
- Kruger J, Zeranka S, Van Zijl G (2019) Automation in construction 3D concrete printing: a lower bound analytical model for buildability performance quantification. Autom Constr 106:102904. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.autcon.2019.102904
- Ma G, Li Z, Wang L (2018) Printable properties of cementitious material containing copper tailings for extrusion based 3D printing. Constr Build Mater 162:613–627. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.conbuildmat.2017.12.051
- 64. Balichakra M, Bontha S, Krishna P, Balla VK (2019) Prediction and validation of residual stresses generated during laser metal deposition of γ titanium aluminide thin wall structures. Mater Res Express 6:106550. https://doi.org/10.1088/2053-1591/ab38ee
- 65. Balichakra M, Bontha S, Krishna P, Das M, Balla VK (2016) Understanding thermal behavior in laser processing of titanium aluminide alloys. In: Proceedings of the 6th international and 27th all India manufacturing, technology, design and research conference, pp 73–77
- Paolini A, Kollmannsberger S, Rank E (2019) Additive manufacturing in construction: a review on processes, applications, and digital planning methods. Addit Manuf 30:100894. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.addma.2019.100894
- 67. Van Der Putten J, De Schutter G (2019) The effect of print parameters on the (micro)structure of 3D printed cementitious materials. In: First RILEM international conference on concrete and digital fabrication digital concrete, pp 234–244. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-995 19-9
- Wolfs RJM, Bos FP, Salet TAM (2019) Cement and concrete research hardened properties of 3D printed concrete: the influence of process parameters on interlayer adhesion. Cem Concr Res 119:132–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cemconres.2019.02.017
- Tay YWD, Li MY, Tan MJ (2019) Effect of printing parameters in 3D concrete printing: printing region and support structures. J Mater Process Tech 271:261–270. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jmatprotec.2019.04.007
- Zareiyan B, Khoshnevis B (2017) Automation in construction effects of interlocking on interlayer adhesion and strength of structures in 3D printing of concrete. Autom Constr 83:212–221. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.autcon.2017.08.019
- De Moraes G, Senff L, Tramontin M, Maia I, Pedro A, De Oliveira N (2020) 3D printed concrete for large-scale buildings: an overview of rheology, printing parameters, chemical admixtures, reinforcements, and economic and environmental prospects. J Build Eng 32:101833. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jobe.2020.101833
- Bester FA, Van Den Heever M, Kruger PJ, Zeranka S, Van Zijl GPAG (2019) Benchmark structures for 3D concrete printing. In: Proceedings of the fib symposium 2019 concrete innovations in materials, design and structures, pp 305–312
- Sanjayan JG, Jayathilakage R, Rajeev P (2021) Vibration induced active rheology control for 3D concrete printing. Cem Concr Res 140:106293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cemconres.2020. 106293
- Babafemi AJ, Kolawole JT, Miah J, Paul SC, Panda B (2021) A concise review on interlayer bond strength in 3D concrete printing. Sustainability 13:7137

- Comminal R, Ricardo W, Andersen TJ, Stang H, Spangenberg J (2020) Cement and concrete research modelling of 3D concrete printing based on computational fluid dynamics. Cem Concr Res 138:106256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cemconres.2020.106256
- Ennomotive (2022) 3D printing and its application in the construction industry. Ennomotive, pp 1–8. https://www.ennomotive.com/3d-printing-and-its-application-in-the-construction-ind ustry/
- Patra I (2022) World's first 3D-printed steel bridge opens to public in Amsterdam. The Hindu, pp 1–7. https://www.thehindu.com/sci-tech/technology/worlds-first-3d-printed-steelbridge-opens-to-public-in-amsterdam/article35462853.ece
- Dezeen (2022) "World's first" 3D-printed concrete bridge opens in the Netherlands India, Dezeen, pp 1–10. https://www.dezeen.com/2017/10/27/worlds-first-3d-printed-concrete-bridge-bicycles-bam-infra-netherlands/
- Ramakrishnan S, Muthukrishnan S, Sanjayan J, Pasupathy K (2021) Concrete 3D printing of lightweight elements using hollow-core extrusion of filaments. Cem Concr Compos 123:104220. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cemconcomp.2021.104220
- Paoletti I (2017) Mass customization with additive manufacturing: new perspectives for multi performative building components in architecture. Procedia Eng 180:1150–1159. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.proeng.2017.04.275
- Frearson A (2016) DUS architects builds 3D-printed micro home in Amsterdam, Dezeen, pp 1–32. https://www.dezeen.com/2016/08/30/dus-architects-3d-printed-micro-home-amster dam-cabin-bathtub/

Chapter 13 Applications of Additive Manufacturing in Biomedical and Sports Industry



Shrishail B. Sollapur, P. C. Sharath, and Pratik Waghmare

Abstract The fabrication of fully functional active components via additive manufacturing, also known as 3D printing, has progressed beyond mere prototype. With composites, metals, ceramics, concrete, and polymers, it is a flexible production technique. This article focuses on the evolution of additive products in the biomedical and sports industries. Additionally, a number of instances of additive manufacturing techniques used in the creation of unique goods are provided. The use of additive manufacturing as a collaborative tool with the idea of innovative problem-solving techniques in the creation of new items has also been given a conceptual framework.

Keywords 3D printing \cdot Titanium \cdot Cobalt \cdot Shape memory alloy \cdot Biomedical and sports industries

P. C. Sharath e-mail: pc.sharath@jainuniversity.ac.in; pcsharath1988@gmail.com

S. B. Sollapur IIAEM, Jain Deemed to be University, Bengaluru, India

P. C. Sharath Electronics and Communication Engineering, Jain Deemed to be University, Bengaluru, India

P. Waghmare Mechanical Engineering, Savitribai Phule Pune University, Maharashtra, India e-mail: pratiik.waghmare@gmail.com

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2024 S. Rajendrachari (ed.), *Practical Implementations of Additive Manufacturing Technologies*, Materials Horizons: From Nature to Nanomaterials, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-5949-5_13

```
273
```

S. B. Sollapur (🖂) · P. C. Sharath

Mechanical Engineering, Jain Deemed to be University, Bengaluru, India e-mail: bs.shrishail@jainuniversity.ac.in; shrishail.sollapur@gmail.com

1 Introduction

A novel approach to traditional manufacturing techniques is additive manufacturing (AM). In traditional manufacturing methods, parts are created by eliminating undesired components from raw materials before converting them into finished products. The amount of material wasted with this process is substantial, and fabricating complex pieces is challenging or time-consuming. AM is frequently referred to as 3D printing, a process that overhauled the manufacturing sector. In this method, which is known as additive manufacturing, parts are created by putting a layer on top of another [1]. Rapid prototyping, on-demand manufacturing, digital fabrication, desktop manufacturing, layer manufacturing, direct manufacturing technology, and 3D printing are other names for additive manufacturing [2]. Stereolithography (SLA), digital light processing (DLP), selective laser sintering (SLS), electron beam melting (EBM), fusion deposition modelling (FDM), multijet/polyjet 3D printing (M/P 3D printing), selective laser melting (SLM), and laminated object manufacturing are a few examples of additive manufacturing processes (LOM). These procedures involve the utilisation of a wide variety of materials, including ceramics, plastic, metal, liquid, powder, and even live cells [3].

It has drawn attention because of its simplicity in fabrication, limitless design potential, low level of complexity, decreased part count, weight reduction, and increased system effectiveness. With such a response, AM revenue was previously anticipated to be \$2.7 billion; nevertheless, it will increase to almost \$100 billion over the next twenty years [4]. It has demonstrated promising results in the biological sciences, industrial applications, aeronautical technology, and academic research. This technique is applied to the aerospace industry to boost system efficiency overall, reduce part weight by reducing the number of parts, and increase fuel efficiency, which in turn affects cost [5].

Additive manufacturing, which enables the printing of customised body parts with intrinsic geometry and offers each patient a unique set of treatments, is quickly revolutionising the medical sectors. AM has developed over the last few decades into a flexible and useful technique for creating geometrically challenging structures in the medical sector. Dental implants, heart valves, joint replacements, cranial plates, spinal fusion cages, valve, stent, and knee implant pieces have all been created using additive manufacturing technology. However, in the medical field, 2D radiographic pictures from CT scans, MRIs, and X-rays can be transformed to 3D digital print files, enabling the construction of specialised anatomical, intricate, and clinical structures [6].

To create a computer-aided design (CAD) model, software is used. The model is then transferred via slicing software in the subsequent step to produce a format for its layered representation known as Standard Tessellation Language (STL) [7]. To begin printing, the STL file is loaded onto a 3D printer. Immediately following printing, the part is sent for post-processing, where it is essential to clean it, remove it from the build plate using electric discharge machining (EDM) [8], and then heat



Fig. 1 Schematic of processing steps in AM [9]

the substrate in a furnace to relieve internal stresses. The numerous manufacturing processes stages are shown in Fig. 1.

Objects made from a variety of metals, polymers, ceramics, photopolymer resins, and wax grades have been created via 3D printing. Because raw materials are handled substantially differently than they would be in a regular production method, materials are crucial to the additive manufacturing process. As a result, it is now easy to transition from traditional to additive manufacturing. The seven primary approaches used in the AM process were categorised by the American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM F42). Fused deposition modelling, often known as material extrusion (ME), is a method that employs plastic and polymer-based wire filament as its raw material (FDM). The form of the spool-wrapped wire serves as the primary raw material for this technique. Fused layer manufacturing (FLM) and fused filament fabrication are other names for the FDM process (FFF) [9]. Binder Jetting (BJ), also known as 3D inkjet technique, adheres one layer of a particle on top of another using liquid binders. To create different grade objects, multi jetting (MJ) sprays a liquid photo-reactive chemical over a construction platform [10]. In order to make a polymer product (DLP), stereolithography (SLA) and digital light processing (DLP) both used a vat of liquid photopolymer [11]. Sheet lamination is the mechanical bending of sheets or foils to join or laminate them (SL) [12]. A technique called direct energy deposition (DED) uses a laser beam and powder to construct structures at the same time. Typically, wire-feed and powder-fed systems are the foundation of the DED process [13]. Powder bed fusion (PBF), the fourth frequently employed technique, involves inserting material in the form of powder into a platform that has been built using a powder recoater system. The energy source used to scan the geometry for the melting of the powder is a laser beam.

Healthcare is expected to alter as a result of additive manufacturing, which has recently shown tremendous potential in the medical sector. Some of the most frequently used applications of additive manufacturing include the creation of tissue and organs, anatomical models, the development of specialised prosthetics and implants, advancements in the pharmaceutical industry, particularly with regard to drug dosage forms, discovery and delivery, and other biomedical applications [14]. Due to its many benefits, including the ability to customise and personalise medical products, biocompatibility, cost effectiveness, increased productivity, accessibility, quick production times, simple assembly, collaboration, and democratisation, additive manufacturing is still not widely used due to its slow uptake in industrial production [5].

But in the medical industry, where highly precise and tailored products are needed in smaller quantities, this limitation is seen as a benefit. This is because each patient has different needs for medication and individualised treatment. As a result, clinical and biomedical applications are where additive manufacturing is best suited and most frequently used [16]. Researchers are now exploring for bio-comparable materials to produce vascularized people after several have attempted to map human organs and transform them into virtual three-dimensional creations. There are still certain regulatory and scientific challenges to be solved, nevertheless [15]. Figure 2 depicts the distinct stages needed to build the 3D medical models. Images are acquired, or the structural target area is chosen, three-dimensional geometry is evolved through processing of the medical images, materials and three-dimensional printing equipment are chosen for implants, post-processing is applied as needed, testing is done, and finally the implant body is implemented. A better grasp of diseases, their costs, the surgical procedure, the use of surgical instruments, and the design of implanted devices that are patient-specific are just a few examples of how medical models can improve a surgeon's knowledge and skill [17]. Custom fit masks, the development of novel organs, and surgical practise, among other things, are best served by medical additive manufacturing [18].

The market for sporting goods is now utilising additive manufacturing. Due to the market's strong emphasis on customer perception, the advantages of unique items and customisation made available by additive manufacturing may be crucial. Because every human's anatomy is programmed differently, each person has different preferences for fit and form. The equipment that players often use in sports, such as a racket with greater grip, a suit with better aerodynamics, or a cleat with higher traction, has a significant effect on their performance. In addition, the right equipment can prevent accidents, whereas the wrong equipment can easily result in injuries. Companies are continuously challenged to develop new goods that surpass those of the competition and offer a good fit and performance in the fast-moving sports market. However, many goods in the sports equipment sector are now mature and hardly have room for improvement.

AM provides the chance to create products that are fully tailored to match individual structure and performance needs, potentially enhancing comfort, reducing injuries (especially overuse problems), and enhancing performance. Notably, the



Fig. 2 AM used for orthopaedic implants [19]

sparse amount of sports AM research that is now available rarely provides goods with thorough case studies or statistics, despite the fact that [20] claim that the acceptance of sports business is just in the "initiating phase." The 2019 research by Meier et al. on AM awareness in the sports industry Despite signs that additive manufacturing is being more widely used in other sectors, the aforementioned restrictions—such as a scarcity of usable materials, a lack of expertise in designing products for additive manufacturing, and expensive equipment costs—remain obstacles. The study also found that, although rapid prototyping, a term used to describe the application of AM technologies for producing prototypes rather than finished products, helps to drive innovation in product design, it is not being significantly used to enhance the production of new products. This is because the sports industry lacks a general understanding of additive manufacturing (AM) technology.

The sporting uses of 3D printing that have received a lot of attention recently include shoes by Nike, Adidas (such as Future craft 4D14) [20], and New Balance (such as Zante Generate), as well as shin pads, bicycle helmets, Olympic speed skating gloves, prosthetics used in the Paralympics [21] and countless other examples. Carbon (Redwood City, CA, USA), the inventor of Continuous Liquid Interface Production (CLIP) technology, has created three famous sports products that are either already on the market or will be in the near future [22]. These products include the S-Works cycling seat, the Adidas Future Craft 4D footwear, and a football helmet liner that can be customised (Des Plaines, IL, USA). The Power Saddle for Specialized has a lattice construction with more than 14,000 struts (Specialized Bicycle Components, Morgan Hill, CA, USA) [23]. Although it's possible that these instances of AM acceptance in the sports sector are the exception rather than the rule, their popularity online and rising consumer awareness do point to a growing market readiness to accept new performance-driven features.

Due to the rapid rate of AM invention, information regarding new shoes and other AM-produced products is frequently only accessible through company media releases and websites for mainstream news outlets rather than more established academic sources. This issue has been highlighted, especially within formal AM education, where project-based learning and flipped classroom formats encourage the use of numerous digital resources to support learning that is up-to-date and industry-aligned [24]. Given these disparate depictions of AM in sports, this study looked for any accessible scientific proof that AM results in better sporting goods. The main objectives were to describe the various AM-related digital technologies, materials, software, and equipment used, to document the scope of research investigations, to summarise the prospects and constraints of AM from the literature, and to list the different sports and products that use AM.

The objective of review paper is to compile work of numerous research's in the field of additive manufacturing, with a particular emphasis on applications in the medical and sporting industries that make use of diverse AM technologies and materials. This review article might end up carrying the research in this field into the future.

2 Manufacturing Methods for Biomedical and Sports Industry Using Additive Manufacturing

2.1 Biomedical Applications Using Additive Manufacturing

The primary materials used in the production of contemporary medical implants are ferrous alloy steel, cobalt-chromium-based materials, and titanium-based materials. Additive manufacturing (metal-AM) is one of the modern fabrication processes used to provide bespoke characteristics that satisfy structural requirements. Figure 3 illustrates the usage of biomaterials manufactured by additive manufacturing technology used in different parts of human body.

Currently, Metallic biomaterials are currently used in the production of various biomedical devices. This section discusses the use of various AM techniques and the impact of different processing parameters.

2.1.1 Titanium Alloys

AM of individual materials is popular in the titanium market titanium metal matrix composites and titanium-based structures for use in biomedical applications. The titanium metal matrix composites are given special attention in a distinct subsection



Fig. 3 The schematic depiction of the biomedical application of additive manufacturing of biometals includes the cranial prosthesis, dental implants, acetabular cup, interbody fusion cage, hip prosthesis, and knee prosthesis [25]

because to their significance. Ti-based materials have shown to be very biocompatible. They also exhibit outstanding resilience to corrosion and fatigue stress. Additionally, Ti-based alloys are lighter than other metallic materials due to an inherent high strength to weight ratio.

Furthermore, there are a number of drawbacks to materials made of titanium. Tribology-wise, Ti-based materials perform poorly. The limitations of Ti-based materials' mechanical properties are the cause of this issue. Ti-based alloys are frequently utilised for implants that must support weight, including total hip or total knee replacements. A strong bond between the new implant and the human tissue is crucial in these conditions. It has been shown that a layer of hard tissue slowly develops on the Ti implant. In light of this, there are still problems that need to be resolved even though Ti-based materials are a well-established materials system for use in biomedical implants. Utilizing additive manufacturing techniques can aid in

resolving some of these problems. These options include creating porous or structurally graded components to promote bone regeneration as well as altering the surface of Ti-based materials to enhance their wear performance.

Kelly et al. used the Laser Additive Manufacturing (LAM) system of AeroMet Corporation to explore the micro-structural and thermo modelling of laser-produced Ti64 alloy [26]. Similar to earlier finds, researchers found -Ti laths with -Ti grains around them. There were many of equiaxed -Ti grain colonies in each of these bands. The LAM-deposited Ti64 alloy tested by Vicker as a microhardness sample has a hardness of roughly 350 HV. Porous Ti structures were shown using LENSTM by Balla et al. and Xue et al. [27]. The key to producing porous Ti components in this work was partial feedstock powder melting, in contrast to other attempts at processing Ti-based materials, which employed whole feedstock particle melting and solidification.

According to this theory, the central cores of the powder remained unaltered and only the exterior surfaces were melted, creating the porous structures depicted in Fig. 4 [28]. Particles bonded to one another as a result of these melted surfaces, and any remaining porosity was also created. Additionally, finished components displayed a Young's Modulus that was comparable to that of genuine bone [29]. The porous Ti produced by LENSTM has better biological characteristics than bare Ti plate, as illustrated in Fig. 4, according to in vitro analyses [27].

Direct Electron Beam Melting was used by Heinl et al. to fabricate cellular Ti structures [30]. Ti64 powder was used to create the structures, which were then vacuum-fabricated at a pressure between 10–4 and 10–5 mbar to eliminate any potential oxygen or nitrogen contamination. Samples with three distinct porosities—25%, 38%, and 60% by volume—were effective in each of the three attempts to generate connected porous structures.

Harrysson et al. demonstrated how to employ EBM to produce Ti64 structures with densities ranging from 4 to 40%, and then used the 3P bend technique to assess their flexural and compression strength. It was shown that the compressive strength dropped when cell size or structural porosity increased. A few examples of these EBM-processed structures are shown in Fig. 5 [31]. Structures with a cell size of 3 mm and a relative density of 0.41 had a compressive strength of 85.72 MPa, whereas structures with a cell size of 12 mm and a relative density of 0.04 had a compressive strength of 0.84 MPa.

Ti-based materials that are dense and porous have been processed using selective laser sintering (SLS) or selective laser melting (SLM) for use in biomedical applications. Hot isostatic pressing (HIP) and SLS were used by Das et al. to manufacture net forms of Ti64 alloy [32]. To create a 92% dense component, Ti64 powder was first selectively sintered with a laser source. The part's density was greatly raised during HIP post-processing. Since the pieces made in this way were almost net-shaped, more machining was required. From the exterior to the interior, the micrographs of SLS/HIP treated products apparently change. While the bulk microstructure was made up of coarser grains, the skin or outer walls displayed a fine Widmanstatten structure with a high aspect ratio of the lamellar phase. A temperature gradient created by the surface melting of powders was thought to be the cause of the disparity in



Fig. 4 a The Ti-6Al-4V alloy's general microstructure, produced by laser additive manufacturing [29]. b Porous Ti structures that have undergone LENSTM processing; c-a the impact of density on 0.2% proof strength; and c-b a study of the porous Ti samples' effective moduli as calculated empirically and theoretically [27]. d Ti plate and porous Ti were seen using confocal microscopy on days 10 and 21 as well as during MTT assays on days 3, 10, and 21

microstructure. A sub-scaled replica of an AIM-9 Sidewinder missile housing component was produced to show the viability of the SLS/HIP process. This component's microstructure was completely dense.

Fisher et al. also demonstrated the sintering of Ti powder. Ti64 components were produced by Hollander et al. using SLS or DLF (Direct Laser Forming) technology, and they were then tested on vitro with consideration of human primary osteoblast cells. Figure 5 [33] shows the procedure the authors used to verify the feasibility of SLS/DLF component manufacturing. The DLF pieces' unpolished surfaces had a granulated appearance, necessitating finishing work. Nominal pore


Fig. 5 Shows various Ti-6Al-4V assemblies created using the E-grin melting method [31] in (**a**) and mesh Ti64 alloy assemblies and a model of a human vertebrae created using the SLS/DLF approach (**b**)

sizes for porous components ranged from 500 to 700 m, and most pores were cylindrical in character. The SLS/DLF items' mechanical characteristics considering the strength of 1200 MPa tensile & an 6.5% deflection. Elongation at failure doubled to 13.0% following post-process annealing heat treatment, which also decreased tensile strength to 1042 MPa.

Results from in vitro tests showed that the materials were not harmful. The authors cultured cells in vitro on porous materials with 500 m, 700 m, and 1000 m average pore sizes. After 14 days, samples with 500 m hole diameters demonstrated the best interactions between cells and materials. Kruth et al. worked on the comparative wear characteristics for several materials created using the SLS/SLM process. Several materials tested on fretting wear tests with weights of 2 N and 6 N, and damages on the wear was calculated as mm³ of material lost over 10×10^3 cycles [34]. At 2.1 N load, Ti64 alloy has a wear volume of 7.362×10^3 mm³, while at 6 N load, it has a wear volume of 9.337×10^3 mm³. For 2 N and 6 N stresses, the damages for the CoCrMo alloy were 1.474×10^3 mm³ and 2.252×10^3 mm³.

Three-dimensional (3D) fibre deposition, which was initially intended for 3D manufacture of polymeric components, is another technique for treating porous Tibased materials. In the scaffolds created by 3D fibre deposition, Li et al. revealed the aspect of bonematerial interaction [35]. A slurry was pumped via a syringe in a Bioplotter device using Ti64 alloy powder and 0.6% aqueous methylcellulose solution. A complete 3D scaffold is created through such layer-by-layer deposition and is afterwards sintered for two hours at 1200 °C. These samples ranged in porosity from 39 to 68%, while the diameters of the square and rectangular pores ranged from 200 to 800 m. After that, samples were placed inside the lumbar goat spines for in vivo testing. After a year, animals were sacrificed.

No sign of toxicity or inflammation were present. Even when the implant's porosity and pore size grew, the amount of new bone formation increased. Additionally, Ryan et al. used wax models manufactured on a Thermojet 3D printer to create porous Ti scaffolds [36]. The wax mould was filled with a Ti powder and ethylene glycol slurry, which was then dried. The Ti structure was sintered between 1100 and 1300 °C in a vacuum after the wax had been removed. These sintered Ti scaffolds were used to cultivate SAOS-2 pre-osteoblast cells for more than 3 weeks without any issues of toxicity. These have a average pore size of 465 170 m and a porosity of 45%. Additionally, scaffolds with pore diameters of 200, 300, and 400 m with a porosity of up to 66.9% were created.

LENSTM was used to treat Ti-TiO₂ compositionally graded structures [37]. TiO₂ content was raised from 50 to 90%. The inclusion of 50% TiO₂ in Ti led to a hardness of 1100 HV. LENSTM has also been used to strengthen SiC in Ti [38, 39]. With a hardness of up to 1000 HV, the Ti substrate's tribological performance was increased by more than an order of magnitude. Through nitrogen injection in the oxygen free-argon rich chamber with LENSTM operation, Zhang et al. demonstrated the formation of nitrides of Ti and Si on Ti substrates. This technique is a relatively new way to create an in-the-moment ceramic phase [40]. The surface of Ti was then coated after being fed a combination of Ti and Si powders. The resultant structures had an alpha Ti matrix and were composed of dendrites of TiN and Si3N4. These in-situ produced ceramic coatings ranged in hardness from 1300 to 2100 HV and were 200 times more resistant to wear damage than a Ti substrate.

2.1.2 Cobalt Alloys

Understanding the viability of these materials in bulk form is crucial from the perspective of biomedical applications. Medical grade CoCrMo alloy was demonstrated by Janaki Ram et al. using LENSTM-based additive manufacturing [41]. LENSTM 285 W laser power was used to treat samples that were 6 mm thick. Each layer's microstructure was made up of very small equiaxed dendrites and slightly coarser columnar dendritic phase. These changes in the solidification circumstances led to these microstructural variances. It was also noted that the equiaxed and columnar dendritic sections contained carbide phase. The carbide layer was either solitary particles or a resilience network in the interdendritic zones. The CoCrMo alloy utilised in LENSTM technology has a hardness of 40 HRC, which is comparable to the hardness of 41 HRC of the wrought base. The abrasive wear resistance was found to be below that of the substrate. The peculiar morphology of the carbide phase, which was predominantly present as thin and long connected particles rather than being noticeably more regular, spherical, and equally dispersed across the treated substrate, is credited by the researchers as the cause of this. E-beam melting has also been used to create dense, porous co-based alloys [42]. Figure 6 displays a number of test specimens and joint replacement components made utilising the E-beam technique. CoCrMo alloys having a density of 8.4 g/cm³ were treated to produce completely dense components. Additionally, components for open cellular mesh and femoral knee implants were produced utilising an electron beam-based additive manufacturing technique. The usual ASTM F75 CoCr alloy treatment and annealing heat treatment were also applied to the components of the femoral knee implant as they were being manufactured. The microstructure of fully dense components revealed columnar grains, arrays of carbides, and zigzag carbide phases.

The average hardness in the horizontal plane was 4.4 GPa for a rectangular shape of fully dense CoCrMo alloy treated in an E-beam and 4.7 GPa for a cylinder specimen. These specimens were made with CoCrMo powder, which is around 30% harder than these hardness ratings. The prototype femoral knee component's microstructure was made up of columnar carbides and arrays of carbides that ranged in size from 2 to 3 m. As demonstrated in Fig. 7, the microstructure of polished and annealed femoral components revealed an intergranular fcc structure with observable annealing twins and finer carbide phases. The CoCrMo alloy's struts in the reticulated mesh structure resembled totally dense block and cylinder samples in terms of their microstructure. The hardness of the struts was 6.8 GPa in the horizontal plane and 5.6 GPa in the vertical plane, which was about 25% greater than that of the dense structures.



Fig. 6 E-beam treated porous femoral knee replacement component and dense CoCrMo alloy [42]



Fig. 7 Microstructure following E-beam processing and annealing [42] depicts annealing twins in CoCrMo

2.1.3 Shape Memory Alloys

Recently, there has been an increasing interest in using these smart materials in the biomedical sectors of tissue engineering, drug delivery, endovascular surgery, orthodontics, and orthopaedics. Biomedical polymers must be produced from highly biocompatible and nontoxic components in order to function without inducing immune-inflammatory responses. Their biodegradability/biostability, mechanical characteristics, and activation processes are additional factors to be taken into account while constructing biomedical SMPs. The high-temperature SMPs, which have transition temperatures close to that of the body (37 C), are the activation methods that have generated the greatest study on polymers for biological uses [43]. Medical implants won't perform as well if biomedical SMPs are used at varying temperatures above or below body temperature. In order to circumvent this issue, the SME may also be activated remotely utilising apparatus such as infrared (IR), laser, ultrasound, etc. [44]. Other strategies exist, such as adding magnetic nanoparticles and functional fillers to the polymer matrix, which enables the implanted device to be activated inside the human body at the right temperature and position with the help of an external magnetic field.

According to their adaptable physical and mechanical qualities, aliphatic polyester-based SMPs are frequently utilised for a variety of biomedical applications, including resorbable implants, sutures, and wound closures [45]. SMPs are used in biodegradable smart sutures, which are used to close wounds (Fig. 8a) [46]. The right amount of stress must be applied to the wound margins for optimal primary wound closure, which has long been a major challenge in endoscopic suturing [47]. Applying larger strains will cause the knot of the suture to be secured by tissue necrosis, whilst employing weaker forces would cause the formation of scar tissue and possibly hernias. Lendlein and Langer [48] were the first to propose a disposable smart thermo-plastic suture based on oligo(e-caprolactone) diol as a viable remedy for attaining optimal wound healing in endoscopy treatment. This suture can be tied inside the wound, then extended outward with controlled force before being shrunk and tightened inside the body (Fig. 8a).

Self-fitting tissue scaffolds might be developed to treat abnormally shaped bones because of the special properties of SMPs. A PCL diacrylate-based SMP scaffold that can accommodate a craniomaxillofacial bone abnormality was created by Zhang et al. [49] (Fig. 9). When heated over Trans, the scaffold initially became pliable and mushy (55 C). Next, a model defect was hand jammed into the scaffold. The structure was enlarged to accommodate the crooked shape once the force had been released. After cooling, the scaffold became firm once more, and it was eventually sealed inside a typical flaw.



Fig. 8 Examples of typical NiTi biomedical applications: **a** orthodontic NiTi archwires (1) before and (2) after bracket engagement [46]; **b** NiTi self-expandable neurosurgical stent; **c** NiTi plate for mandible fracture; and **d** NiTi palatal expander [47]



Fig. 9 Uses of medical devices based on SMP include: **a** tightening the biodegradable suture at 40C; **b** the malleability of self-fitting foam at its Ttrans; **c** the fitting of the foam into the irregular defect model; **d** the removal of the foam from the defect area after cooling; and **e** SMP foam before and after exposure to air [50]

3 Applications of Additive Manufacturing in Sports Industry

The first company to apply AM technologies to sports was Nike. Nike was able to decrease the sampling process from weeks to days by prototyping 30 alternative plate variations for its Zoom Superfly Fly knit. By utilising AM to create a running shoe midsole, Adidas was able to reduce weight and increase durability without compromising stability. Adidas intends to make custom shoes quickly and in-store using digital foot measurements and foot scanning technologies to deliver the most personalised shopping experience possible. In order to create a 3D model of a running shoe, New Balance works with athletes to gather mechanical data [51]. AM is used to make a biathlon rifle support. In order to create a rifle support that would fit the athlete's body and allow for a steady firing action, a 3D scan of the athlete's body

was performed. Then, in order to reduce component weight while also providing structural protection and stiffness, topology optimization was paired with a FE review. It was discovered that the printed rifle support could sustain a force of 13.92 KN, or 14,294 times its weight (99.4 g). This outcome shows a 40% improvement over the original design, proving the viability of the suggested topology optimization plan. The printable rifle support can be utilised in biathlon because it weighs less than 100 g [52].

Using the fused filament fabrication (FFF) process, Aferdita et al. created a novel, precise approach for incorporating shock sensors in the interior of sports helmets [53]. Figure 10 demonstrates FFF printed PLA and TPU blocks with silica-coated fibres implanted in them. The use of FFF to incorporate Fiber Bragg grating sensors (FBGs) inside intricate polymer constructions, such as padding components for American football helmets, was reported and validated. Additionally, the possibility for embedding FBGs with FFF was validated, and a novel technique was presented employing stereolithography equipment (SLA). SLA produces prints of higher quality than FFF, however it cannot be used to embed polyimide fibres because of how they react chemically with the SLA resin. Depending on the application use-case, the higher quality prints produced by SLA must be weighed against SLA's greater cost and longer print time.



Fig. 10 Flexible TPU and rigid PLA sections with optical fibre implanted in them are modelled after the padding of a helmet. Without suffering damage or slippage, the fibre can flex and bend with the material

4 Customizing Surfboard and Stand-Up Paddle Board Fins Using a Parametric Method for Additive Manufacturing

Fins for stand-up paddle (SUP) and surfboards are made using 3D printing [54]. Figure 11 depicts the 3D printing of two fin designs, one of which was created using SLS and the other using a desktop FFF machine (Wanhao Duplicator i3, Acrylonitrile Butadiene Styrene material). The fins were affixed on a 2016 G-Whiz 9'4" SUP board from Slingshot Sports. Ocean paddling on flat water was successful with both fins.

In order to build the cam systems for a compound bow, Serena Graziosi and colleagues considered the functional, manufacturing, and assembly limitations as well as the techniques used to assure the object's printability. The manufacturing method used the selective laser melting technology. The absence of integrated design techniques and the sizeable number of factors that need to be taken into account when making design decisions were recognised as the challenges faced by practitioners while designing for additive manufacturing. Figure 12a shows the redesigned geometry with the supports highlighted in red, and Fig. 12b displays the printed result as it was designed to be. Supports were needed to disperse heat, enabling a straightforward separation of the item from the platform, and support overhanging surfaces that were below the 45° limit. About half of the initial value will need to be sustained in terms of surfaces (Fig. 12a). Last but not least, Fig. 12c displays the sandblasted and support-free printed item [55].

Particularly in the field of athletics, orofacial injuries are a frequent cause of impairment. The main contributing factors to this injury occurrence are physical contact and a lack of protection. The hard and soft tissues of the mouth are protected by polymeric mouth protectors, commonly referred to as mouthguards, which are devices designed to be worn in the athlete's mouth while engaging in physical activity. A range of steps are involved in this paper manufacturing technique for creating personalised mouthguards, including preparing the mouth prototype, manipulating



Fig. 11 Comparison of the 2016 G-Whiz Slingshot SUP's original centre fin with versions made similarly using desktop FFF (second), and selective laser sintering (third) (3rd). One of the fins installed on the SUP board is shown in the right image [54]



Fig. 12 a A summary of the supports required to ensure the object may be printed (in red); b the printed cam; and c the new cam following support removal and sandblasting [55]

the chosen thermoplastic sheet, and the final forming process as show in Fig. 13. A PEEK-based mouthguard might be designed using digital software, according to a study by Li and colleagues [56]. The finished produced devices and other guards made using conventional techniques showed no discernible differences in retention (vacuum-pressure forming). The dental design of 3-D printed mouthguards has to be improved in order to maximise impact attenuation. According to a separate study that used digital technology to build a high-elastic silicone rubber mouthguard, this strategy can help to enhance fit accuracy [57].



Fig. 13 Pressure equipment and moulding circumstances (condition MP) [58]

5 Challenges in Production for Biomedical and Sports Industry Using Additive Manufacturing

- Given the lack of longitudinal evaluations and small sample numbers in the majority of research, the long-term durability of AM materials for sporting applications is unknown.
- Compared to conventional production methods, additive manufacturing is often slower.
- Postprocessing might take a lot of time and effort.
- Many AM-produced pieces still need to work with traditional parts to complete products, which restricts geometry.
- Manual involvement and an understanding of design for are still needed when using optimization software.
- New items created with AM might not adhere to athletic laws.
- The results of laboratory testing might not apply to real-world situations.

6 Conclusion

Particularly in the medical industry, additive manufacturing is a powerful, innovative, ground breaking, and quickly expanding technology. Patient-specific surgical models, surgical equipment, and personalised prostheses are the four main fundamental applications of additive manufacturing (AM) in the medical industry that are linked to recent advances. AM has recently offered a variety of applications in medicine, including prosthetic dentistry, the creation of various surgical cutting and drilling instruments, and the use of craniofacial implants for hip, knee, and spinal implants.

Due to its outstanding manufacturing methodology, additive manufacturing (AM) has significantly increased growth in the biomedical and sports industries. It has completely changed the tested testing procedures and methods. The biomedical industry can now approach implants in a different way because some places were beyond the capabilities of conventional production techniques. However, with additive manufacturing, more complicated implant designs like cranial plates, stem implants, and knee joint implants may be quickly created. Since these implants are individually-specific and cannot be produced similarly for every patient, patient specification is strongly advised. Similar to other industries, the sport industry has profited from additive manufacturing in terms of lightweight, part customisation, and sophisticated design solutions. For a spacecraft or communication satellite, reducing weight is frequently a top concern because it increases system effectiveness and uses less fuel.

References

- De Krijger J, Rans C, Van Hooreweder B, Lietaert K, Pouran B, Zadpoor AA (2017) Effects of applied stress ratio on the fatigue behavior of additively manufactured porous biomaterials under compressive loading. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater 70:7–16
- Afshar M, Anaraki AP, Montazerian H, Kadkhodapour J (2016) Additive manufacturing and mechanical characterization of graded porosity scaffolds designed based on triply periodic minimal surface architectures. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater 62:481–494. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jmbbm.2016.05.027
- Pecci R, Baiguera S, Ioppolo P, Bedini R, del Gaudio C (2020) 3D printed scaffolds with random microarchitecture for bone tissue engineering applications: Manufacturing and characterization. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater 103:103583. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmbbm.2019. 103583
- 4. Liu YJ, Li SJ, Hou WT, Wang SG, Hao YL, Yang R et al (2016) Electron beam melted beta-type Ti-24Nb-4Zr-8Sn porous structures with high strength-to-modulus ratio. J Mater Sci Techno 32(6):505–508
- Zhang LC, Attar H, Calin M, Eckert J (2016) Review on manufacture by selective laser melting and properties of titanium based materials for biomedical applications. Mater Technol Adv Perform Mater 31(2):66–76
- Zhang LC, Xu J, Ma E (2002) Mechanically alloyed amorphous Ti50(Cu0.45Ni0.55) 44–xAl xSi4B2 alloys with supercooled liquid region. J Mater Res 17(07):1743–1749
- Zhang LC, Shen Z, Xu J (2003) Glass formation in a (Ti, Zr, Hf)–(Cu, Ni, Ag)–Al high-order alloy system by mechanical alloying. J Mater Res 18(9):2141–2149
- Rayegani F, Onwubolu GC (2014) Fused deposition modelling (FDM) process parameter prediction and optimization using group method for data handling (GMDH) and differential evolution (DE). Int J Adv Manuf Technol 73(1–4):509–519
- 9. Pant M, Singari RM, Arora PK, Moona G, Kumar H (2020) Mater Res Express 7:11
- 10. Melchels FP, Feijen J, Grijpma DW (2010) Biomaterials 31:6121
- Gibson I, Rosen D, Stucker B, Khorasani M (2014) Additive manufacturing technologies, 3rd ed. Springer, New York, p 675. ISBN: 978-3-030-56126-0
- 12. Lee H, Lim CHJ, Low MJ, Tham N, Murukeshan VM, Kim YJ (2017) Int J Pr Eng Man-Gt 4:307
- Tofail SA, Koumoulos EP, Bandyopadhyay A, Bose S, Donoghue L, Charitidis C (2018) Mater Today 21:22
- 14. Ronga M, Fagetti A, Canton G, Paiusco E, Surace MF, Cherubino P (2013) Clinical applications of growth factors in bone injuries: experience with BMPs. Injury 44:S34–S39
- Zhang LC, Attar H (2016) Selective laser melting of titanium alloys and titanium matrix composites for biomedical applications: a review. Adv Eng Mater 18(4):463–475
- Lu H, Poh C, Zhang LC, Guo Z, Yu X, Liu H (2009) Dehydrogenation characteristics of Ti-and Ni/Ti-catalyzed Mg hydrides. J Alloys Compd 481(1):152–155
- Ehtemam-Haghighi S, Prashanth KG, Attar H, Chaubey AK, Cao GH, Zhang LC (2016) Evaluation of mechanical and wear properties of Ti–xNb–7Fe alloys designed for biomedical applications. Mater Des 111:592–599
- Liu X, Shen Y, Yang R, Zou S, Ji X, Shi L et al (2012) Inkjet printing assisted synthesis of multicomponent mesoporous metal oxides for ultrafast catalyst exploration. Nano Lett 12(11):5733–5739
- Ehtemam-Haghighi S, Liu Y, Cao G, Zhang LC (2016) Phase transition, microstructural evolution and mechanical properties of Ti–Nb–Fe alloys induced by Fe addition. Mater Des 97:279–286
- 20. Wohlers T, Campbell I, Huff R et al (2019) Wohlers report 2019: 3D printing and additive manufacturing state of the industry. Wohlers Associates, Fort Collins, CO
- 21. Gibson I, Rosen D, Stucker B (2015) Additive manufacturing technologies: 3D printing, rapid prototyping, and direct digital manufacturing, 2nd edn. Springer, New York

- 22. Murray CJ (2015) 3D Systems going mainstream in heathcare: 3D printing is becoming a go-to for customized healthcare solutions. Des News 70:27–28
- 23. Quinlan HE, Hasan T, Jaddou J et al (2017) Industrial and consumer uses of additive manufacturing: a discussion of capabilities, trajectories, and challenges. J Ind Ecol 21:S15–S20
- Sandström CG (2016) The non-disruptive emergence of an ecosystem for 3D printing—insights from the hearing aid industry's transition 1989–2008. Technol Forecast Soc Change 102:160– 168
- Jang TS, Kim D, Han G et al (2020) Powder based additive manufacturing for biomedical application of titanium and its alloys: a review. Biomed Eng Lett 10:505–516. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s13534-020-00177-2
- Kelly SM, Kampe SL (2004) Microstructural evolution in laser-deposited multilayer Ti-M-4V builds: Part I. Microstructural characterization. Metall Mater Trans-Phys Metall Mater Sci 35A:1861–1867
- 27. Xue W, Krishna BV, Bandyopadhyay A, Bose S (2007) Processing and biocompatibility evaluation of laser processed porous titanium. Acta Biomater 3:1007–1018
- Krishna BV, Bose S, Bandyopadhyay A (2007) Low stiffness porous Ti structures for loadbearing implants. Acta Biomater 3:997–1006
- 29. Kobryn PA, Semiatin SL (2001) The laser additive manufacture of Ti-6Al-4V. JOM 53:40-42
- Heinl P, Rottmair A, Körner C, Singer RF (2007) Cellular titanium by selective electron beam melting. Adv Eng Mater 9:360–364
- Harrysson OLA, CansiZoglu O, Marcellin-Little DJ, Cormier DR, West HA (2008) Direct metal fabrication of titanium implants with tailored materials and mechanical properties using electron beam melting technology. Mater Sci Eng C-Biomim Supramol Syst 28:366–373
- Das S, Wohlert M, Beaman JJ, Bourell DL (1999) Processing of titanium net shapes by SLS/ HIP. Mater Des 20:115–121
- Hollander DA, Von Walter M, Wirtz T, Sellei R, Schmidt-Rohlfing B, Paar O et al (2006) Structural, mechanical and in vitro characterization of individually structured Ti–6Al–4V produced by direct laser forming. Biomaterials 27:955–963
- Kumar S, Kruth J-P (2008) Wear performance of SLS/SLM materials. Adv Eng Mater 10:750– 753
- 35. Li JP, Habibovic P, van Den Doel M, Wilson CE, de Wijn JR, van Blitterswijk CA et al (2007) Bone ingrowth in porous titanium implants produced by 3D fiber deposition. Biomaterials 28:2810–2820
- Ryan GE, Pandit AS, Apatsidis DP (2008) Porous titanium scaffolds fabricated using a rapid prototyping and powder metallurgy technique. Biomaterials 29:3625–3635
- Balla VK, Devasconcellos PD, Xue W, Bose S, Bandyopadhyay A (2009) Fabrication of compositionally and structurally graded Ti–TiO₂ structures using laser engineered net shaping (LENS). Acta Biomater 5:1831–1837
- Das M, Balla VK, Basu D, Bose S, Bandyopadhyay A (2010) Laser processing of SiC-particlereinforced coating on titanium. Scr Mater 63:438–441
- Das M, Bysakh S, Basu D, Sampath Kumar TS, Balla VK, Bose S et al (2011) Microstructure, mechanical and wear properties of laser processed SiC particle reinforced coatings on titanium. Surf Coat Technol 205:4366–4373
- Zhang Y, Sahasrabudhe H, Bandyopadhyay A (2015) Additive manufacturing of Ti-Si-N ceramic coatings on titanium. Appl Surf Sci 346:428–437
- Janaki Ram GD, Esplin CK, Stucker BE (2008) Microstructure and wear properties of LENS deposited medical grade CoCrMo. J Mater Sci Mater Med 19:2105–2111
- 42. Gaytan SM, Murr LE, Martinez E, Martinez JL, Machado BI, Ramirez DA et al (2010) Comparison of microstructures and mechanical properties for solid and mesh cobalt-base alloy prototypes fabricated by electron beam melting. Metall Mater Trans A 41:3216–3227
- Chan BQY, Low ZWK, Heng SJW, Chan SY, Owh C, Loh XJ, Appl ACS (2016) ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 8:10070
- 44. Small W IV, Wilson TS, Benett WJ, Loge JM, Maitland DJ (2005) Opt Express 13:8204
- 45. Peterson GI, Dobrynin AV, Becker ML (2017) Adv Healthc Mater 6

- 46. Fernandes DJ, Peres RV, Mendes AM, Elias CN (2011) ISRN Dent 2011:1
- 47. Petrini L, Migliavacca F (2011) J Metall 2011
- 48. Lendlein A, Langer R (2002) Science (80-):296, 1673
- Zhang D, George OJ, Petersen KM, Jimenez-Vergara AC, Hahn MS, Grunlan MA (2014) Acta Biomater 10:4597
- 50. Jung YC, Cho JW (2010) J Mater Sci Mater Med 21:2881
- Paolini A, Kollmannsberger S, Rank E (2019) Additive manufacturing in construction: a review on processes, applications, and digital planning methods. Addit Manuf 30(July):100894. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.addma.2019.100894
- 52. Yuan L (2019) Solidification defects in additive manufactured materials. Jom 71(9):3221–3222. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11837-019-03662-x
- Xhameni A, Cheng R, Farrow T (2022) A precision method for integrating shock sensors in the lining of sports helmets by additive manufacturing. IEEE Sens Lett 6(10):1–4. Article number 5000704. https://doi.org/10.1109/LSENS.2022.3205249
- Novak JI (2020) A parametric method to customize surfboard and stand up paddle board fins for additive manufacturing. Comput Aided Des Appl 18(2):297–308. https://doi.org/10.14733/ cadaps.2021.297-308
- Graziosi S, Rosa F, Casati R, Solarino P, Vedani M, Bordegoni M (2017) Designing for metal additive manufacturing: a case study in the professional sports equipment field. Procedia Manuf 11:1544–1551. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.promfg.2017.07.288
- Li Z, Wang S, Ye H, Lv L, Zhao X, Liu Y, Zhou Y (2020) Preliminary clinical application of complete workflow of digitally designed and manufactured sports mouthguards. Int J Prosthodont 33:99–104
- 57. Yanagi T, Kakura K, Tsuzuki T, Isshi K, Taniguchi Y, Hirofuji T, Kido H, Yoneda M (2019) Fabrication of mouthguard using digital technology. Dentistry 9:1000531
- Takahashi M, Koide K, Mizuhashi F (2014) Optimal heating conditions for forming a mouthguard using a circle tray: effect of different conditions on the thickness and fit of formed mouthguards. J Prosthodont Res 58:171–176

Chapter 14 Additive Manufacturing: Environmental Impact, and Future Perspective



D. Narsimhachary and M. Kalyan Phani

Abstract Additive manufacturing (AM) are the latest fabrication techniques that has generated interest worldwide. As it allows to design any solid 3D object to be printed using computer-aided design (CAD) and analyzed using CAD. For complex geometries and material combinations, CAD is often further facilitated with highproductivity computing resources. This combination of hardware and software facilitates the manufacturing process to produce anything imaginable. In contrast to subtractive/conventional manufacturing, which creates an object by removing material, additive manufacturing (AM) uses the technique of combining materials, typically layer by layer. While rapid prototyping and end-use product manufacturing are the next steps for additive manufacturing applications, the effects of these manufacturing processes and associated material flows on the environment are yet to be discovered. Along with the energy and resource usage of the AM unit, it's important to consider the effects of producing (powder) materials and finishing parts. From the environmental point of view, it is obvious that the additional effects produced during production should be offset by functional upgrades during the part's use phase. The continuous growth of the various technologies of AM is an eye-opener for different fields. The technological advancements in AM can be a game changer in many areas like automobile, construction, medical, toy, and also in defense applications. This chapter provides details of the consequences of AM on the environmental and also provides the future prospectives in various industrial sectors.

Keywords Additive manufacturing \cdot 3D-Printing \cdot Environmental impact \cdot Future prospectives \cdot Life-cycle assessment \cdot Waste management

D. Narsimhachary (🖂)

M. Kalyan Phani

Department of Metallurgical Engineering, O P Jindal University Raigarh, Chhattisgarh, India

S. Rajendrachari (ed.), Practical Implementations of Additive Manufacturing

Technologies, Materials Horizons: From Nature to Nanomaterials, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-5949-5_14

School of Engineering and Technology, G H Rasoni University Saikedha, Borgaon, MP, India e-mail: narsimhachary.damanapeta@ghru.edu.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2024

1 Introduction

Additive manufacturing technology (AM) has revolutionized the way products are designed, developed, and manufactured in the twenty-first century. The technology has enabled manufacturers to fabricate complex structures and parts with a high degree of precision, accuracy, and efficiency. While AM has many advantages for industry, it also has a number of implications for the environment. In this chapter, we will discuss the environmental impact of AM, analyze the environmental benefits of the technology, and consider ways to minimize it.

AM is built through layer by layer using 3D printing, a process that has gained popularity due to its ability to produce complex parts rapidly with minimal waste. Although this technology has the potential to reduce waste by 30–60%, increase efficiency, and provide greater design flexibility, it also comes with a number of potential environmental impacts. For instance, the use of certain materials, such as plastics/polymeric, and ultra-fine powders, may have a both positive as well as negative impact on the environment.

Additive Manufacturing (AM) technology has been found to have substantial environmental benefits over traditional manufacturing technologies. AM technology can reduce energy consumption, water use, and the amount of material waste that is associated with the production of components, tools, and consumer goods. Furthermore, AM technology can reduce the number of hazardous materials that are used in the production of components and consumer goods. Additionally, AM technology can reduce transportation costs, as components can be produced closer to the point of use.

Additive Manufacturing (AM) technology can emerge as a cost-effective and efficient means of producing parts and components for a wide range of industries. However, this technology is not without its environmental impacts.

In recent years, the environmental impact of additive manufacturing (AM) technology has emerged as a critical issue. The capacity to reduce waste, operate with fewer raw materials, and assess the environmental impacts of production using 3D printing has caused increased interest in AM among manufacturers who are looking for more sustainable and efficient processes. This chapter focuses on resources and their consumption and waste management, pollution and life cycle assessment, and the future prospects of additive manufacturing and its application in different fields.

2 AM Industry Resource Consumption

In additive manufacturing resource consumption can be categorized in two i.e., (1) Direct and (2) Indirect resource consumption, and the degree of its consumption may vary with respect to the additive manufacturing technique and the industry (eg. DED, PBF, SLM, SLS, Plasma arc and gas metal arc, stereo-lithography, binder jetting),

The Direct resource consumption is (1) power/energy (laser, electric arc, electron beam, ultrasonic vibration) (2) material/Feed (metal powder, filler wire, sheet, polymer filament). (3) Shielding gas (Helium, Argon, Nitrogen) which is used to protect the molten structure to avoid metallurgical defects such as porosity and hydrogen cracking in the printed structure is considered a direct resource. While the coolant (water, lubricant) and support structure are considered as the indirect resource.

Most of the AM-produced parts require post-processing to some degree i.e., either heat treatment or machining process these can be considered as indirect resources as it depends on the type of quality metallurgical properties and the finishing required. Even though additive manufacturing is considered as 97% material efficient theoretically, in practice energy consumption is comparatively high as it produces design-specific and low-volume products. It has been observed that, data related to energy consumption is varying with respect to the geometrical dimension of the build part, machine, processing parameters, and material. However, the energy consumption is far lower than compared to conventional processes and it reduces the material waste.

2.1 Waste Management

The additive manufacturing process produces a lesser amount of waste compared to subtractive manufacturing techniques, and it can reduce up to 90%. However, this doesn't imply that AM doesn't create waste, but it may occur due to human and machine errors. Metal AM parts often require post-processing before they can be used in the market, which can include machining to improve aesthetics, reduce friction, and remove imperfections. However, the environmental impacts of these steps are often overlooked.

Post-processing can affect the performance and appearance of AM parts due to factors such as porosity, surface roughness, anisotropy, residual stress, and complex geometries. Parts produced through conventional manufacturing have high static and dynamic strength than those produced without post-processing. While the parts AM produced through EBM parts have minimal residual stresses, which is an advantage over SLM and DED, but often require more post-processing due to their rougher surface finish. To accurately measure the environmental impacts of metal AM, standardized methods should take post-processing into account.

In the case of wire-based additive manufacturing the rate of depositions is higher than compared to powder bed fusion. Typically, it requires to have large machining allowances to achieve desired design and shape. the cost per kilogram saved is offset by a wasteful material loss from the machining process. Additionally, the residual material from partially used spools may not be suitable for reuse, unlike the ability to reuse and recycle un-melted PBF process powder. It has been suggested that waste generated by laser sintering powders (polyamide) can be used as filaments for the FDM process. In the case of SLM, PBF generates waste through support structures for overhanging which are often removed and are non-usable. Researchers need to focus on reducing on use of support structures. In the case of PDF, EBM powders can be recycled but up to a certain limit, as it modifies the powder characteristics i.e., compositional change and property deterioration. Feeding of multiple powders to build a desired product but these mixed powders become unusable because of the mixture of multiple powders. AM technologies use a wide range of powder to fabricate solid objects, but data is missing to show the total amount of waste generated. During the process, semi-fused powders and support structures are created for overhanging parts can also be considered as waste as they are unusable for further processing.

The FDM market has seen a rise in development, leading to the manufacture of various filaments to improve performance. However, this has caused environmental concerns due to plastic waste. To address this, biodegradable or biocompatible filaments are being developed, but they are not as strong or resistant to moisture as traditional filaments. Limited research has been done to optimize FDM printing paths, and support structures for material reduction, and few efforts have been made to evaluate metal and ceramic scrap for this process. The current AM industry has a small share of the market, which may be why no action has been taken to investigate waste management and promote sustainable manufacturing.

2.2 Pollution Control

Additive Manufacturing (AM) is a rapidly growing technology that has the potential to revolutionize the way products are designed and manufactured. However, with the increased use of AM, there is a need to understand the potential environmental impacts associated with this technology. One of the most important environmental concerns associated with AM is the potential for pollution. Pollution can come in many forms, including gas, liquid, solid, and sound. The toxicity of these effects on the environment is rarely studied.

Gas pollution is a major concern with AM, as the process involves the use of various compositions of Filaments such as., Acrylonitrile butadiene styrene (ABS), Acrylonitrile butadiene styrene +0-3% polycarbonate Acrylonitrile styrene acrylate, High impact polystyrene, Polyethylene terephthalate glycol, 80% PETG + 8-12% fiberglass filings, 30-35% polycarbonate + 55-65% ABS, PETG + carbon-based conductive additives, melting of these tend to release volatile organic compounds (VOCs) into the atmosphere. From the available literature, it was observed that there is a large variation in volatile organic compounds and it is significant to mention that ABS filaments are expected to pollute more than compare to other filaments.

As these VOCs react with the atmosphere can have a negative impact on air quality and can contribute to skin irritation, and cardiovascular problems if exposed for longer periods of time and temperatures. It is suggested to use 3D printers in fully vented rooms to avoid problems associated with it. However, studies also suggest that the threshold limit is lower of when compared to the conventional manufacturing process. The process needs to be optimized in these areas for a better understanding of the results. Only a few countries in the globe have proper legislation on tolerance threshold limit is defined regarding VOCs.

Liquid pollution is also a concern with AM, as the process involves the use of various liquids, such as coolants and lubricants, to create the desired product. These liquids can be released into the environment, leading to water pollution. Additionally, the use of certain materials, such as metals, can lead to the release of heavy metals into the environment. Heavy metals can have a negative impact on water quality and can lead to the contamination of drinking water sources.

Ultra-Fine dust pollution is also a concern with AM, as the process involves the use of various solids, such as powders, and resins, are used to create the desired product. These solids can be released into the environment, leading to land pollution. Additionally, the use of certain materials, such as plastics, can lead to the release of microplastics into the environment. Microplastics can have a negative impact on land quality and can lead to the contamination of soil and other land resources.

Given the potential for pollution associated with AM, it is important to conduct studies on particulate matter formation during printing and the explosive hazard of material powders during handling and use. These studies can help to identify potential sources of pollution and can provide valuable information on how to reduce or eliminate these sources. Additionally, these studies can help to identify potential safety hazards associated with AM and can provide valuable information on how to reduce or eliminate these hazards.

The AM process reduces the consumption of raw material when compared to traditional manufacturing techniques and moreover, it reduces the different cycles of manufacturing steps which in turn reduces the pollution and waste into the atmosphere i.e., improved carbon footprint.

2.3 Safety and Health Hazards

It is important for the operator to take precautions when handling raw materials (powders), and feedstock, and operating the printing machines. As the use of ultrafine powders in the AM process it can be a potential source of fire or explosion. In addition, ultra-fine powders tend to agglomerate easily, and oxidation. Dust may accumulate in the feedstock; this includes regularly cleaning and maintenance of machines and the use of appropriate dust collection systems.

The most hazardous substance is the condensate that results from this process is the evaporation and expulsion of liquid metal, which makes filter replacement, as it is considered as the most dangerous part of the printing operation/step. The use of high-power-density heat sources can result in the formation of spatters, which can deposit fine metal particles within the chamber.

These heat sources, such as the laser, electron beam, or electric arc, can be dangerous due to their high energy density. Operators should take the necessary safety precautions. This includes wearing eye protection when working with lasers and other high-power-density heat sources, as well as wearing a respirator when handling ultrafine alloy powder feedstock used in Direct Energy Deposition (DED) processes. This is because these powders can be hazardous to the eyes and respiratory system, potentially leading to diseases such as asthma. The health risks are similar to those associated with welding, and operators should be aware of the potential dangers.

In addition to the potential health risks posed by powders, fumes, and volatile Particulate matter can also be hazardous. Fumes are a mixture of gases and particles that are released during the AM process. These fumes can contain a variety of metals, that are hazardous. Inhaling these fumes can cause a variety of health issues, including immune system dysfunction and upper and lower respiratory tract infections. It is important for an operator to wear protective clothing and respirators, as well as ensure that the work area is well-ventilated. Additionally, it is important to ensure that all AM equipment is properly maintained, and follow all the safety protocols are followed. By taking these precautions, workers can reduce their risk of exposure to hazardous substances and protect their health.

2.4 Life Cycle Assessment of AM Process

The eco-efficiency of actual production processes is a major area of research in engineering, and it is important to consider the environmental impacts of production equipment, technical building services, and energy supply. Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) is an established method used in sustainability management to calculate the environmental impacts from all life cycle stages of a product or system. This section will explore the benefits, impacts, and challenges of life cycle assessment in manufacturing processes. Specifically, it will discuss the benefits of life cycle assessment, the impact of life cycle assessment on additive manufacturing efficiency, and examine the challenges of implementing life cycle assessment in manufacturing processes.

This tool is used to evaluate the environmental impact of a product or process throughout its life cycle, from raw material procurement to end-of-life management. However, this is difficult to scale the complete life cycle assessment of the additive manufacturing process, as it requires a wide range of data in order to evaluate. Knowledge of materials, mechanics, physics, and chemistry, and technologies in information, manufacturing, mechanical, and energy engineering is required, this tool can be used to identify areas in a manufacturing process that are most environmentally damaging, enabling manufacturers to make changes to reduce their environmental footprint. The LCA can be used to determine the most cost-effective and sustainable solutions for manufacturers, as well as how it can be used to meet corporate social responsibility goals.

LCA is an effective way to understand the environmental and economic impacts of the product life cycle. It was observed that energy consumption is reduced in AM process, and this particular technique removed the cost of inventory and reduced the usage of raw materials by creating customized products with high design accuracy. When compared to traditional processes AM majorly cut down the transportation cost as it can be printed onsite and delivery the item to the customer. efficiency and the results indicated that LCA can lead to considerable cost savings and environmental benefits. The research found that data on LCA of AM is marginally low, to provide both quantitative and qualitative data to help companies assess their production processes and identify areas for improvement. Additionally, the findings showed that LCA can enable companies to optimize their operations, reduce their environmental footprint, and create more sustainable production methods. By incorporating LCA into their manufacturing processes, companies can gain greater insight into their operations and become more efficient and environmentally friendly.

It has been identified three primary considerations for minimizing the environmental impact of AM. First, they suggest that the use of recycled materials should be maximized. By doing so, the consumption of resources is minimized, thereby reducing the amount of waste generated. Second, they recommend that energy efficiency should be taken into consideration when selecting materials and processes for AM. The use of energy-efficient processes and materials can significantly reduce the carbon footprint of AM. Finally, they propose that the use of environmentally friendly materials should be prioritized. By utilizing materials that have a lower environmental impact, the amount of waste produced by AM processes can be minimized. Taking these considerations into account can help to ensure that AM processes are as eco-friendly as possible.

3 Traditional Supply Chain and the Competitive Dynamics of Economies of Scale

For years, traditional manufacturing techniques have relied on a design-build delivery model. In the market, the roles and responsibilities among the various participants are clear. Designers translate customer needs into viable products. Producers, on the other hand, have facilities that emphasize on efficiency and low-cost production. Over the past four decades, these producers have increasingly relied on distributed and extended supply chains, scouring the globe for the lowest-cost suppliers to manufacture components and sub-assemblies. The production methods employed by the manufacturers are mostly subtractive manufacturing methods that start with a solid physical form followed by grind, cut, drill, mill, lathe, and other material removal processes to manufacture and build desired components, sub-assemblies, and final finished products.

In this model, minimizing variations to enable the repetitive production of interchangeable parts provides a competitive advantage. In the 1990s, companies were built on this model by pursuing design for manufacturing (DFM) strategies (see for example, Ulrich and Eppinger 1995; Boothroyd et al. 2002), emphasizing on designing parts that could be built cost-effectively using traditional manufacturing processes. This model, which changed the object of design from creative expression to cost-effective production and assembly, required simplified designs developed according to a series of design rules that favored reproducible parts optimized for high-volume manufacturing and material-handling methods. Several generations of designers and engineers have been schooled in this approach; many now view design as a creative process of circumnavigating the constraints imposed by traditional manufacturing processes.

3.1 Future Prospectives of Additive Manufacturing

Additive manufacturing is a manufacturing method which proceeds through layer by layer. The source of the manufacturing method could be either Computer Aided Manufacturing (CAM), Electron beam, Laser beam, Computer Numerical Control (CNC), Computer-Aided Design (CAD) or Laser Scanning [1]. Although the maturity of the techniques was in the late 1980s, the technologies have emerged as promising in the last decade only. The evolution of the AM and the timelines of the industrial revolution is depicted in Fig. 1 [1].

In AM process involves continues supplying of heat on build-layers resulting in high residual stresses which affect the quality of microstructure, and lead to directional mechanical properties. Macro defects such as porosity and areas of unmelted powder, are distinctive characteristics of AM technologies. In addition to these defects, unwanted phases can emerge during AM, which altogether can have a detrimental effect on mechanical properties. As a result, this microstructure control becomes a primary challenge in AM, particularly in complex alloy systems. To avoid



Fig. 1 Evolution of additive manufacturing: the timelines of industrial revolution [1]



% Of Usage Of Additive Manufacturing In Different Sectors

Fig. 2 Applications of the AM in various sectors [4]

these aforementioned problems researchers have to optimize the process parameters to design and build the customized product.

The emerging AM techniques have potential applications in various sectors. For e.g: 17% of Medical tools are designed and manufactured by AM, Construction companies have initiated to use of AM as a tool and it occupies around 3%, While Engineering components such as automobile, Space, and defense industries consume AM-built products i.e., about 70% of the total market share. Moreover, these AM techniques require extensive research and development to resolve challenges in material selection, built speed, Processing parameters, high initial cost, and non-linear behavior in the design of the additive manufacturing systems. Sector-wise applications data of AM is shown in Fig. 2.

3.1.1 Aerospace Sector

AM registered an annual growth rate of more than 30% in the present decade in the aerospace sector. Showcasing the fastest growth of the technology it is obvious to have limitations in many parameters for the manufacturing of the component. AM has reported an increase from 8 to 10% recently by application. AM Gradient materials or design being a solution to solve the challenges of the aerospace industry [6]. Materials having various properties can be chosen as per the design requirement could be one of the options to resolve various issues in the aerospace design. By selecting processing parameters judiciously, ceramic materials with different dielectric, magnetic, or electrical properties could be created as a graded structure. The creation of novel functional geometries, such as biomaterial flexures or constructions with rigid surfaces and a ductile core, that are expensive or difficult to fabricate otherwise is another application [5]. 3D printing has opened doors for multi-material design and potential applications in the Boeing Airbus [6]. Many 3D printing techniques can be modified to 4D techniques but with few challenges. Another area of

perspective in AM technologies is 4D printing where the fourth dimension, describes how geometry changes over time as a result of active functionalities [5]. The use of AM in the aircraft industry leads to reducing inventory levels as well as the costs of logistics. The major future impact of 4D printing will be in military and defense, automotive, clothing, healthcare, construction, and aerospace [6]. Often used forms of 4D printing constitutes, Polyjet and syringe printing. In order to give assurance for numerous quality issues in the aerospace sectors, smart material (like Shape Memory Alloys (SMA) and Shape Memory Polymers (SMP)) development processes must be urgently established and integrated into aerospace applications. For large-scale components especially made of Inconel alloys, hybrid printing could be an option [2]. Incorporation of techniques like Selective Laser Melting (SLM) and DED also known as Laser Metal Deposition (LMD) is crucial as it facilitates the production of sufficiently larger parts with complex geometries. Combining the benefits of both AM technologies to create complex structures would be of great interest. This can be beneficial in the production of large components with precise geometries and good mechanical properties. For the hybrid part to be strong, there must be strong bonding between the pieces. Additionally, proper DED process execution and post-solution annealing customization to the DED microstructure, notably the dissolution of the complex phases in the Inconel structures, are essential.

Laser Metal Deposition (LMD) is one of the AM processes that qualify for relatively greater build rates, which can speed up the process and cut downtime, making it possible to manufacture large components. Materials that can be worked with LMD include titanium alloys, alloys based on nickel and cobalt, carbides, stainless steel, and nickel-based alloys [7]. Other possible future prospectives include design Verification of an Airline Electrical Generator, Engine Components for a Fanjet Engine, Prototyping Air Inlet Housing for Gas Turbine Engine Fabrication of Flight Certified Production Castings [8]. Apart from the new technologies, proper material selection for the end product is another major concern. In the case of aerospace components, properties such as surface roughness and fatigue behaviour of the materials working in extreme environments would be more of more focus [9].

3.1.2 Medical Sector

A few very important and future prospective applications in the medical sector are the world's first Jawbone transplantation, the Manufacturing of prosthetics sockets, tissue regeneration, artificial blood vessel, and many more [9]. During the manufacturing of medical implants by AM, well-recognized standards need to be maintained. But some of these implants made by AM don't follow these standards and may lead to failure [10]. The shape recovery hydrogels made out of 3D printing are one of the main applications in the pharmaceutical industry [11].

The most widely used 3D printing technologies in pharmaceutics and drug delivery are FDM and inkjet printing. Despite the fact that these technologies offer fast drug release, patient-customized pharmaceuticals, and large dosage loading of

drugs, they are comparatively less productive than conventional techniques. Furthermore, only a few technologies, including direct ink writing for intravenous drug delivery systems, are used for 4D printing in the pharmaceutical business [11].

Titanium and its alloys have attracted a lot of attention for biomedical applications due to their superior mechanical characteristics and biocompatibility such as orthopedic implants. Their construction, structural design, and composition can be further customized to enhance critical features like composition, structural design, and fabrication. Further tailoring can be imposed to improve key properties which allows them to become more compatible with the human body and lowering their cost. Fabrication of titanium-based composites is still a challenging task. So, new technologies need to be developed for producing low-cost porous titanium matrix composites for various medical applications. Apart from the bio- implants, AM can be used for bone regeneration [12]. The ability of these AM techniques could rise till the numerical model design of the choice material has the capabilities of tailoring the properties and robocasting the structure mainly the architecture which can be controlled as per the specifications. Heat treatment-free materials can be developed for the best use of the technology in driving the new materials input in the human body. More accurate result-oriented technology ensuring best-in-class medical solutions could be possible in the coming days, intensive, and expensive process. AM technology also supports the automated, fast, and inexpensive development of microfluidic devices, with a more regenerative and repetitive way of approach. These fluids are potentially biocompatible and transparent materials that allow both unhindered cell culture and imaging [12]. Despite of extensive research on topological optimization based on continuum models, the topological design of lattice structures that can be easily produced by AM which can exhibit anisotropic mechanical properties similar to human bones.

3.1.3 Defence Sector

According to aerodynamic theory, an elliptical wing with an elliptical span-wise lift distribution has the lowest induced drag. This shape, however, is difficult to manufacture using traditional techniques but can be easily printed using AM techniques. Additive manufacturing technologies have found applications in the defense industry, where they are used to create lightweight parts with geometric and material complexities. To fully utilize the advantages of this technique, Electron Beam (EBM) is used to manufacture complex aerospace components such as the Ti-6Al-4V Bleed Air Leak Detect bracket [13–15]. High-performance polymers and their composites for powder-based AM to create strong, lightweight parts with intricate geometries to meet demanding specifications in automotive, aerospace, and military applications Printable composites have multiple capabilities, including mechanical, thermal, and electrical properties, thanks to the reinforcements they contain [16]. Advanced Composite Structures (ACS), a US-based company, manufactured a camera fairing that is used by military aircraft in forward-looking infrared cameras.

Hindustan Aviation Limited employed 3D printing technology to create a prototype model for a 25-kN aviation engine [17].

3.1.4 Automobile Sector

Building prototypes, jigs, and fixtures, tooling, low volume end-user goods and concept models, as well as reproducing parts, are all examples of 3D printing's uses in the automobile sector. Innovations made possible by 3D printing include variable turbo technology for Koenigsegg. Safe, intelligent, and environmentally friendly LM3D 3D printed car series from local motors, on-demand 3D printing of Audi replacement parts, new Blade supercar chassis construction by Divergent Microfactories, race-ready Williams-F1 parts, thumb tool for BMW, etc. [14]. Apart from these the various AM technologies can showcase more in development of automobile sectors [19]. Recent innovations in AM show that researchers have started exploring the design of compositions concept of material to build AM products that can have promising metallurgical and mechanical properties than the traditional counterparts.

3.1.5 Other Sectors

Decentralization may be made possible in the future by dispersing the workload among factories and equipment with the help of efficient cloud service use [18]. Another future area for AM is the sustainability issue. By utilizing just-in-time production, AM may significantly contribute to decreasing waste resources and lowering energy use. Furthermore, it is possible that 3D printing and digital manufacturing will have an impact on society. The first step is to redefine the function of the employee in the industry so that they work on management, design, and analysis tasks rather than serving as the labor force. Second, user participation in the design and manufacturing phases is facilitated through platforms like the maker movement and do-it-yourself.

For instance, by converting the classroom into a miniature hands-on factory, students/researchers can create their own products. Processing functionally/ structurally-graded components utilizing either bimetals or metal-ceramic composite combinations is a developing topic that is receiving more attention in regard to future growth. By altering the composition and structure of a component inside a single part, these structures combine the finest qualities of many materials. They occasionally use different metals or ceramics for site-specific features. DED is the predominant technology for their construction due to the multi-material makeup of these structures [20]. Despite the growing prospectives for alloy design utilizing LAM in the field of materials engineering, there are still issues that must be resolved to attain full utilization. For some applications, these difficulties are primarily technical in nature and depend on factors like the high cooling rate of additive manufacturing (AM) and material compatibility, both of which pose serious difficulties for the processing dependability of some of the main metallic materials used in AM. However, in other

application areas that have not yet caught up with the demand for alloy design in AM, the availability of material in the form of powder or wire feedstock can cause problems in the process chain. These issues are finally resolved by the venerable issues of property confidence and dependability, which can only be resolved through rigorous testing and characterization. More extensive research is also going on in biodegradable materials [21], nanomaterials [22], advanced material data analysis and approaches [23], future foundation building.

4 Conclusion

- 1. AM has revolutionized the manufacturing industry by enabling the production of complex structures with precision and efficiency.
- 2. AM presents numerous advantages, but it is important to consider its environmental implications. These include resource consumption, waste generation, and pollution.
- 3. AM technology has the potential to reduce energy consumption, water use, and material waste compared to traditional manufacturing methods. It can also decrease the use of hazardous materials and lower transportation costs through localized production.
- 4. Effective waste management strategies are essential to minimize the environmental impact of AM. Post-processing, proper disposal of unused materials, and recycling efforts should be considered to reduce waste generation.
- 5. Pollution control is another important aspect to address. Measures should be taken to mitigate gas, liquid, and solid pollution associated with AM, including the release of volatile organic compounds, heavy metals, and microplastics into the environment.
- 6. In conclusion, while AM offers significant benefits for the manufacturing industry, it is crucial to adopt sustainable practices and minimize its environmental impact. By addressing resource consumption, waste management, and pollution control, we can ensure that AM technology is used responsibly and contributes to a more sustainable future.

References

- 1. Korpela M, Riikonen N, Piili H, Salminen A, Nyrhilä O (2020) Additive manufacturing past, present, and the future. Technical, economic and societal effects of manufacturing 4.0: automation, adaption and manufacturing in Finland and beyond, pp 17–41
- Godec M, Malej S, Feizpour D, Donik Č, Balažic M, Klobčar D, Pambaguian L, Conradi M, Kocijan A (2021) Hybrid additive manufacturing of Inconel 718 for future space applications. Mater Char 172:110842
- 3. Negi S, Dhiman S, Sharma RK (2013) Basics, applications and future of additive manufacturing technologies: a review. J Manuf Technol Res 5(1/2):75

- Jiménez M, Romero L, Domínguez IA, del Mar Espinosa M, Domínguez M (2019) Additive manufacturing technologies: an overview about 3D printing methods and future prospects. Complexity 2019
- Shapiro AA, Borgonia JP, Chen QN, Dillon RP, McEnerney B, Polit-Casillas R, Soloway L (2016) Additive manufacturing for aerospace flight applications. J Spacecraft Rockets 952–959
- Liu P, Huang SH, Mokasdar A, Zhou H, Hou L (2014) The impact of additive manufacturing in the aircraft spare parts supply chain: supply chain operation reference (scor) model based analysis. Prod Planning Control 25(13–14):1169–1181
- Vashishtha VK, Makade R, Mehla N (2011) Advancement of rapid prototyping in aerospace industry-a review. Int J Eng Sci Technol 3(3):2486–2493
- Liu R, Wang Z, Sparks T, Liou F, Newkirk J (2017) Aerospace applications of laser additive manufacturing. In: Laser additive manufacturing. Woodhead Publishing, pp 351–371
- 9. Javaid M, Haleem A (2018) Additive manufacturing applications in medical cases: a literature based review. Alexandria J Med 54(4):411–422
- 10. Ghomi ER, Khosravi F, Neisiany RE, Singh S, Ramakrishna S (2021) Future of additive manufacturing in healthcare. Curr Opin Biomed Eng 17:100255
- Attar H, Ehtemam-Haghighi S, Soro N, Kent D, Dargusch MS (2020) Additive manufacturing of low-cost porous titanium-based composites for biomedical applications: advantages, challenges and opinion for future development. J Alloy Compd 827:154263
- 12. Goh GD, Agarwala S, Goh GL, Dikshit V, Sing SL, Yeong WY (2017) Additive manufacturing in unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs): challenges and potential. Aerosp Sci Technol 63:140–151
- Paritala PK, Manchikatla S, Yarlagadda PKDV (2017) Digital manufacturing-applications past, current, and future trends. Procedia Eng 174:982–991
- Klippstein H, Hassanin H, De Cerio Sanchez AD, Zweiri Y, Seneviratne L (2018) Additive manufacturing of porous structures for unmanned aerial vehicles applications. Adv Eng Mater 20(9):1800290
- 15. Yuan S, Shen F, Chua CK, Zhou K (2019) Polymeric composites for powder-based additive manufacturing: materials and applications. Progress Polym Sci 91:141–168
- Kumar LJ, Nair K (2017) CG current trends of additive manufacturing in the aerospace industry. In: Wimpenny DI, Pandey PM, Kumars LJ (eds) Advances in 3D printing & additive manufacturing technologies, pp 39–54
- Dilberoglu UM, Gharehpapagh B, Yaman U, Dolen M (2017) The role of additive manufacturing in the era of industry 4.0. Procedia Manuf 11:545–554
- Huang Y, Leu MC, Mazumder J, Donmez A (2015) Additive manufacturing: current state, future potential, gaps and needs, and recommendations. J Manuf Sci Eng 137(1)
- 19. Bandyopadhyay A, Traxel KD, Lang M, Juhasz M, Eliaz N, Bose S (2022) Alloy design via additive manufacturing: advantages, challenges, applications and perspectives. Mater Today
- Qin Y, Wen P, Guo H, Xia D, Zheng Y, Jauer L, Poprawe R, Voshage M, Schleifenbaum JH (2019) Additive manufacturing of biodegradable metals: current research status and future perspectives. Acta Biomaterialia 98: 3–22
- 21. Challagulla NV, Rohatgi V, Sharma D, Kumar R (2020) Recent developments of nanomaterial applications in additive manufacturing: a brief review. Curr Opin Chem Eng 28:75–82
- Qi X, Chen G, Li Y, Cheng X, Li C (2019) Applying neural-network-based machine learning to additive manufacturing: current applications, challenges, and future perspectives. Engineering 5(4):721–729
- 23. Camacho DD, Clayton P, O'Brien W, Ferron R, Juenger M, Salamone S, Seepersad C (2017) Applications of additive manufacturing in the construction industry–a prospective review. In: ISARC. Proceedings of the international symposium on automation and robotics in construction, vol 34. IAARC Publications

Chapter 15 The Economic Impact of Additive Manufacturing Industries



Krutika L. Routray D and Sunirmal Saha D

Abstract Additive manufacturing, colloquially referred as 3D printing, is currently considered as an approaching mainstream adoption for highly flexible processing technology to be implemented by manufacturing industries. Moreover, additive manufacturing technology can be applied to design customized products without cost penalty and applied on any kind of plastic, metal, ceramic, concrete materials. Additionally, additive manufacturing facilitates the manufacture of complex and integrated functional designs in a single step, thereby potentially reducing the need of molds, shapes, and assembly work. Our findings show the five key principles relevant to manufacturing industries contributing to the economies of scale on incorporating to additive manufacturing technology. Furthermore, we have analyzed that once additive manufacturing technology is utilized at full capacity, no implications on increased volume on unit cost is found. In so doing, we have provided implications of additive manufacturing technology on profitable basis which provides motivation for future research. Meanwhile, it is seen that there is a demand for additive manufacturing in competitive markets as it reduces the barriers to market entry and paves a way to provide multiple markets at a single time. This ultimately result in lowering prices for the demand of consumers.

Keywords Additive manufacturing · Manufacturing industries · Flexible manufacturing · Integrated functional designs · Economic modeling

K. L. Routray (🖂)

S. Saha

C.V. Global University, Bhubaneswar, India

S. Rajendrachari (ed.), Practical Implementations of Additive Manufacturing

Technologies, Materials Horizons: From Nature to Nanomaterials, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-5949-5_15 309

C.V. Raman Polytechnic, C V Raman Global University, Bhubaneswar, India e-mail: rkruttika@gmail.com

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2024

1 Introduction

Additive manufacturing (AM), commonly recognized as 3-D printing, encompasses manufacturing a material by depositing material layer-by-layer approach based on a computer-controlled fabrication process [1-3]. Additionally, AM allows the manufacture of complex and integrated functional designs through a single step process which potentially reduces the need for assembly work [4, 5]. It is anticipated to reconsider design, digitalize industrial manufacturing, claim to meet the demands, and modify the material or the desired products for least cost [3, 6]. Various strategies and agendas are being used by the state economic development programs regarding the performance of their manufacturing industries [7]. To date, most manufacturing industries have adopted the use of additive AM technology since 1980s when it was initially used for prototyping applications only [2, 8–10]. While it is not economical for AM technology as a feasible approach to manufacturing industries which provide high value and customized products at low values to obtain substantial benefits such as aerospace and medical industries [5, 11–15].

Innovators have demonstrated potential benefits of AMs for firms in various manufacturing markets. For example, in the shoe industry, manufacturers have adapted AM technology since years to test new designs at a speeder rate and quicken the designing process [16, 17]. Not only complex geometrical designs but also manufacturing industries based on customizable material properties have also adapted AM such as Nike in 2013 offered a customizable football cleat produced via. AM [18]. Simultaneously, AM also offers an ideal alternative to industries by enabling them to streamline market entry into a relatively mature industry [2, 4]. For example, currently, the AM technology is being used to create hip and knee joint replacements, cranial reconstruction implants and spinal implants. As of 2019, over 600,000 implants are estimated to be produced with the help of 3D printing. By 2027, this number is set to top 4 million. Further industrial applications of AM are common in aerospace industries, defense, medical markets, automotive and machinery components [19-22]. The prime advantage for manufacturing industries to include AM technology in the manufacturing process is that it enables the flexible production of complex geometrical designs with customized products without cost penalties [23–27]. For designing physical models' layer-by-layer, various AM approaches can shape complex geometries with less cost penalty viz. machining, molding, casting, and specially made tooling [28-30]. Consequently, AM includes several methods such as material selection, printing accuracy, speed, price of equipment, and finishing quality amongst others which has created spark in a new industrial revolution, hence reducing the need for assembly activities. Thus, AM technology significantly affects the costs of flexibility, individualization, capital costs, and marginal production costs [23, 31, 32]. Majority of the manufacturing industries have adapted AM as a new generation of manufacturing but concurrently specified it as highly strategic regarding the economic scenario.

Firms provide information on opportunities and challenges about markets. This creates a probability to know the market conditions and create modernizations that

can meet market demands and provide profit to the makers. Hence, AM technology directly affects the market structure by affecting a single firm's production processes. Innovators are continuously developing and sharing 3D models which are being developed for selling purposes in marketplaces [31-36]. Furthermore, innovators are even developing and providing their own 3D printers for home usage and industrial usage extending the scale and scope of manufacturing options. Gartner in 2014 rightly predicted that use of AM technology in industries will reach a level of mainstream adaptation between 2016 and 2020 and now-a-days the most important aspects of Industry 4.0 is 3D printing [37]. AM is now a leading technology in almost all industrial and manufacturing sector owing to the wide range of institutional push and possibilities offered due to 3D [4, 38]. According to reports, AM will impend the futuristic production systems, and manufacturing industries will control its potential to reach essential goals. AM now has been used in variety of industrial applications including aerospace and health care to consumer goods. Boeing has numerous hundred components on its 787 aircraft prototype and, also, customs some thermoplastic components produced with Selective Laser Sintering technology on commercial 737, 747 and 777 programs [23, 39-42]. In addition, industries have AM technology in in medical markets, defense, automotive and machinery components.

This chapter outlines the economic implications of AM on manufacturing markets. Despite the current research interest of AM technology, effects of AM technology on economy are still unusual. AM is considered to be gradual developing in niches with limited and small markets and more likely to be engaged in large scale industries in the upcoming years as it has demonstrated great flexibility in adapting to the requirements of different functions. This is possible as AM uses computerized manufacturing process which directly transforms 3D data into physical parts, without the help of any casts, shapes, or tools [43]. In addition, AM technology can produce functionally integrated parts in a single production step. This reduces the requirement of assembly activities thereby affecting individualization, the costs of flexibility, marginal production, and capital costs [25, 31]. AM is an emerging technology that reflects the nature and stage of maturity of the innovation system and has viability of high-end niche manufacturing industries in different directions, but this doesn't indicate that small markets can bring new technology to maturity and infiltrate the larger audio market sections. Hence, there is a need of economic assessment and evaluation of AM technology in manufacturing industries [44, 45]. Manufacturing industries willing to practice this emerging technology are not only engrossed on obtaining economic benefits but focused on competitive advantages to stand out in the market along with economic benefits. There are five key principles related to economic impacts of AM in manufacturing industries. The first key principles of AM are pertinent to manufacturing industries and their potential effects on an industries' payment role in a monopolistic setting. AM technology promotes autonomous interoperability, flexibility, efficiency, and cost reductions so the second key principle comprises of models on manufacturing sector that assess advancements in the interoperability and flexibility of manufacturing systems [10, 41, 46]. This includes all the dimensions of AM technology and its effect on competition at industry level. Thirdly,

the economic impact of AM focuses on the future use of this technology in manufacturing industries and adopting it at firm level. Using AM technology will affect the opportunities, applications, and constraints. Hence lastly, this chapter focuses on the consequences of industrial practitioners for market structure at industry level.

2 Key Principles for Manufacturing Firms and AM

2.1 Technological Background

Owing to the demand for customization of complex designs and higher transportation costs for the delivering the final products, AM technology plays the vital role in manufacturing industries characterized by its flexibility and no cost penalty. AM enables product innovation as design iterations are low-cost and required parts can be produced rapidly. Also, AM technology is used to produce any part of physically feasible product design assembled in a 3D model, as products are manufactured layer by layer [2, 3, 47, 48]. This provides solution space for product designs, in essence solely limiting it to designers' creativity and physical laws. Theoretically, any physically feasible product design can be produced by using AM technology based on a 3D model [25, 49, 50]. Consequently, complex designed products designs can be modified according to their desired function rather than the constraints that has limited the performance of supply chain. Also, manufacturing industries can produce highly customized products owing to the preferences of the costumers. This in turn increases the costumer's readiness to pay for the product according to their demand, and the manufacturer charge the costumers a premium price instead. Nowa-days, various websites are intended in such a way that allows the costumers to design their personalized products by the help of 3D product configurator and after finalizing the product preview, AM technology can be used to produce the same desired product. This not only avoids the additional manufacturing cost but also produces a potentially strong product that meets the costumer's requirement as other technologies entail modular product architectures by recombining pre-assembled parts which produces different variants of a same product [51]. Hence AM is capable to resolve the scale scope dilemma of the manufacturing industries and supply the better product as other technologies involves multiple production steps and additional costs for inventories of semi-finished and finished goods. Manufacturing industries can obtain the profit by AM as the makers can tailor their products to meet the unique needs of the costumers without cost penalty [19, 40, 52, 53].

Though location decisions are made infrequently for most manufacturing industries, they can have a long-term impact on the market profitability and success from economic point of view. Considering the basic calculations, the actual fixed costs include overhead costs, the ongoing expenses required to operate the industries and cost of marketing the service. This enables the local production near or even at the point of use. If the delivery of the final products exceeds the cost of transportation of raw materials, then cost advantages of producing might get reduced. New ventures are exploring niches and are continuously developing the AM ecosystem by facilitating the local AM manufacturing capacities that drops the barriers to access to market [54, 55].

Logistics management includes the flow of goods, services, information, and money from raw resources to the end user and holds a small part in the manufacturing industry while supply chain is a wider term that refers to the sourcing of raw materials, the procurement of consumer requirements, the processing of raw materials into finished products, and timely delivery to consumers [56, 57]. But both the teams are based on innovation and for this they need to be equipped with AM technology. Startups such as Shiprocket Cogoport StackBOX are expanding their horizons by implementing AM technology [58, 59]. Some manufacturing industries also pay penalty for not delivering before the stipulated time and this hampers the cost production thereby impacting the economy. However, these perspectives are remunerated with several limitations. According to economic theory, a firm should expand production until the point where marginal cost is equal to marginal revenue [60, 61]. At each manufacturing level, marginal cost includes all costs such as material costs and energy intensity that vary with the different levels of production. However, the marginal cost lessens owing to the availability of additional suppliers in the markets or firms and low production speed. AM is unable to exploit economies of scale when the product varieties can be increased without additional costs as it is unlikely to manufacture the standardized parts [62-65]. AM does not guarantee the product qualities more often and this also leads to dissatisfaction of buyers, thereby discontinuation of potential buyers. These factors indirectly possess severe risk to the AM technology. Another factor which plays a vital role is the issuing of property rights as AM is based on computerized digital product designing where a simple 3D data can be transformed into a physical product just like the document getting printed from a computer consequently affects the economy of AM technology and should be taken into consideration [3, 5]. As AM technology uses a blueprint as a non-material entity for printing, it is considered as the vital component in the overall AM technique. Hence, safeguarding the designs involve extensive and costly actions.

Considering the above, one can reasonably state that the AM is not a "one size fits all"—solution, when it comes to deciding the most suitable method of manufacturing on a technical process level.

2.2 AM's Key Principles for Manufacturing Firms

It is a fact that AM technology can convert any simple 3D data into a physical product, hence can be considered as a versatile manufacturing unit. This has huge contribution to manufacturing industries in all levels and mostly AM offers the flexibility to customize a product without the need of tools and mold reducing the sunk costs [66–68]. AM technology modifies the product sequence and volume without cost penalty during the manufacturing process and offers complex designs for less cost i.e., large

scale of products can be manufactured without involvement of more work and costs [69]. Lastly, AM reduces the requirement of assembly works during the production of a step by step integrated functional design [70, 71]. As there are other technologies available with the manufacturing industries and all of them have advantages and disadvantages, it is always important to prefer the technology on basis of strategy of production. From the economic perspective, till date only a few manufacturing industries have implemented AM technology and to examine the economic impacts certain models are recognized and proven [72]. It can be noted that contrary to conventional manufacturing, the economies of scale in AM technology are most often limited, as the cost of raw materials typically have a direct relationship with the production volume [73, 74].

One such model which can illustrate the economic impact of AM technology on manufacturing industry is Disruptive Business Model Development. Whenever a manufacturing industry is set up the idea behind it is to apply some technologies to gain the highest business value potential and these are more likely to be comprised in printing the assembled or the complete part of the whole product [75–77]. This is where the economy lags owing to the rapid manufacturing of the applications. Hence, if a manufacturing industry must implement AM technology, it has to be universally accepted and applied in all fields of that industry so that a large portion of manufacturing has to be focused on the AM technology itself. Analyzing any model will help markets to improve their responsiveness and quality through advanced technologies in the manufacturing process but to have a successful firm will only be possible if the market industry has a proper and strong business strategy [67]. To counter the continuous changing business environment, manufacturing industries must take decisions to keep all the values and functions organized and updated. complementary effects of AM technology with manufacturing, marketing, design, and organization make it highly profitable.

2.3 AM's Impact on Manufacturing Technology in Job Creation

The next thing to examine is the impact of AM technology on a manufacturing industry in job creation. This allows us to investigate the rising demand for western made manufacturing and the major factors that contribute to the economic aspect for job creation are (i) advent of AM technology in western economies, (ii) rising wage-levels in emerging economies, (iii) falling quality of business milieu in emerging economies, and (iv) rising demand for western-made manufacturing [17, 78–80].

The cost of producing much smaller batches of a wider variety, with each product tailored precisely to each customer's whims is falling. Manufacturing industries are now entering a new phase of customization-oriented production that is less concerned on traditional mass-production. This paves a way for cost advantages on economies of scale via efficient production due to cheap suppliers. This has also led to increasing

manufacturing in western countries and growth of manufacturing industries. AM technology has shown its impact both in prototyping (faster and less waste) and also in production phase (especially in low volume and extremely complex products) [81, 82]. In addition, AM technology has always been profitable when it comes to the production cost and cost penalty. Also, incorporating this technology along with faster delivery will be beneficial for local suppliers over the foreign competitors [4, 5]. AM technology is also capable of generating lesser waste as compared to other conventional methods and this plays a key role in production process and growth. Another factor which contributes to the expense is the transportation cost [3]. Research shows that a lot of problems arise due to the transportation cost and emergence of technologies such as AM technology which involves a comparatively less labor as well as transportation costs. This results in profitable productivity. Employing people to meet the requirement due to AM technology towards customized products in large scale adds to the economy [10, 83, 84]. Hence, AM creates more opportunities for employment of people with different skills by boosting service provider jobs in manufacturing industries as AM needs highly skilled labor owing to its advanced machinery. The thrust areas where AM technology needs to be considered are the pre-production and post-production stage. The former one deals with the designing of a product and its manufacturing implementing the AM technology and the later one deals with the quality control and to what extent the repeatability of a fabricated part can be carried out. Manufacturing industries contribute to the job creation in several fields and implementation AM has created a lot of business opportunities [85, 86].

2.4 AM's Key Principles Applied to the Payoff Function

A payoff function usually is a visual representation of all the possible outcomes that can occurs when two people or groups must make a strategic decision and this decision affects the outcome of opponent's choice [87]. The payoff function was presented by Milgrom and Roberts in 1990 and deals with the production flexibility on manufacturing industries. Milgrom and Roberts assumptions on reducing the order receipt, lessening the production time, faster delivery, marginal cost production and extra setup costs for new designs might not lead to increased capital costs which was contrary to AM technology as it disconnects with various decision variables from primary cost constraints [88, 89]. Engaging AM in manufacturing industries allow the flow of digital information along the value chain from product design to production thereby reducing the time and setup costs. However, if a manufacturing industry prefers to implement better and advanced AM technology then it will involve a higher capital [90].

Alternatively, the economy that is envisioned consists of one industry. Forgetting the entry threat by a manufacturing industry by using additive manufacturing for the moment, at first the impact of AM is a monopoly with an incumbent that can offer customized and differentiated products [78]. But according to the aforementioned

model, AM will never produce monopolistic markets, and this helps to focus on the effects of AM on market structure considering the industry level perspective.

2.5 AM's Impact on Market Structure Models

The new advancements in the technologies have affected the economy of the manufacturing industries by increasing the flexibility and this has been profitable strategically [91]. Flexibility generally includes product, volume, new product design, and faster delivery whereas product flexibility indicates the capability of manufacturing industry to efficiently shift capacity from the production of one product to another. Flexibility in terms of volume refers to a firm's ability to effortlessly change production output at minimum cost penalties. New designs in product flexibility facilitates rapid and efficient change of machinery setups when we modify the product specifications [92-95]. Studies indicate that the flexibility of manufacturing industries has varied its dimensions and has balanced it completely. As mentioned earlier AM being a versatile manufacturer allows the direct manufacturing of digital 3D models [92]. In addition, it offers flexibility in manufacturing by fulfilling the demands of products to meet the individual's customized needs. From the economic aspect, flexibility in modifications, product design and manufacturing lessens the modification costs [92–94]. This enables the manufacturing industries to understand and recognize the scope for economy in differentiating the product. While developing a new product, usage of AM technology not only reduces the sunk cost but also lessens the iteration cost during the development of new product [95].

Generating a firm involving AM technology requires a marginal production cost which is greater than the other flexible manufacturing technologies. So when this firm is created it includes onetime sunk cost to manage the resources and development whilst the production costs for the AM firm are chosen in such a way that the firm can serve certain market segments. Therefore, in case of AM the marginal production costs are lower than the costs of modifying a base product. So, the firm is now able to sell the product in these segments at a price between its own marginal cost of production and the second-smallest marginal cost of producing that product. Now when generating or involving of AM technology happens in a manufacturing industry, profits exceed the sunk cost and there is decrease in market prices. This is due to the marginal cost of production in AM technology and reduced price between the mergers and incumbents. Industries or firms which do not involve AM technology can increase market shares by producing extra products and decreasing the price of base products. This solely reduces the profit and reduced market prices. Motivations to include AM technology can lead to advancement in technology, low marginal costs, and reduced market prices [96]. When the marginal cost is low, other costs like supply a delivery cost will be predominant. Also, another cost factor which adds to the feature of AM technology is the cost of re-anchoring products. As AM involves flexibility in customization of products without cost penalty, so infinite variety of products and designs can be processed by the manufacturing industries which will reduce the re-anchoring costs [97, 98].

3 Conclusion

Hence, we can conclude that AM technology will lead to higher marginal cost of production as compared to other conventional technologies. Even if manufacturing industries implement the AM technology, there will be certainly some space for the emerging firms that produce niche products using other manufacturing technologies. The manufacturing industries should however assess the market structure by incorporating AM technology and consider strategies and processes to build profit from the continuously changing markets.

George Stigler known for the leading authority in price theory has suggested that flexibility is not a free good but also does not require that economies [99]. As mentioned earlier allowing flexibility by implementing AM in manufacturing industries is inadequate, and since markets are inevitably structural, it can never be structure-free when based on role playing. Economy is one of the human society's most basic arrangement of institutions whereby human beings in a society interact and live and solution to scarcity or any kind of shortage is solely based on economic policies and require proper strategies. Flexibility in social structures does not let economy to evade. This will deliver an effective natural order and there is no point to enhance the flexibility in manufacturing process if the demands are certain and sufficient similar products are created. However, it depends on how advanced manufacturing technologies are engaged in the firms or industries as the growth or decline in the manufacturing industries are dependent on better product variety, demands of costumer for desired products and uncertainty. Hence it is necessary to distinguish the applications which are expected or proven to be profitable for AM technology considering the perspectives of producers and costumers. To make profit by implementing AM, manufacturing industries should reduce the development costs, lessen delivery time, and shorten the capital intensity. Manufacturing industries should also focus on rapid manufacturing. In more detail, AM technology is the recent revolution in the manufacturing industries and using the manufacturing skills with novel technologies add to the economic competitiveness. Its fundamental concepts are associated with five key principles that depict the opportunities in manufacturing, and expanding the key characteristics of implementing AM. Firstly, AM is a versatile Technology that transforms any digital 3D model to a physical product layer by layer without the use of tools and molds. Secondly, the flexibility in manufacturing and customization according to the requirements of the costumers do not bear cost penalty. Next the complexity in manufacturing the product is free, reusing the customizable production is possible and this doesn't involve any additional costs. Lastly, the fifth key point that adds to the aspect of economy in manufacturing industries is the production of functionally integrated products. We have further analyzed that manufacturing industries with AM have higher flexibility and greater potential of manufacturing more variety
of products. Owing to the capital investment for manufacturing a product market barrier also perform a major part. This leads to overall contestable markets.

Product attribute models sets out for strong scope of economy in differentiation of products involving AM technology. This is indicative of the fact that AM is efficient of producing fully functional parts in a wide range of materials including metallic, ceramic, polymers and their combinations in the form of composites, hybrid, or functionally graded materials as soon as it enters the market. This provides the costumers the product on basis of their choice or to choose amongst varied products. However, provided the low probability of mergers or cartel, prices are lowered accordingly. Game theoretical approaches usually are based on the combination of blockchain with other technologies and this shows that AM is capable to serve numerous market segments and hence, hindrance due to mobility reduces owing to the technological advancement of AM in manufacturing industries. These industries are also capable of serving preferences of costumers and deliver the products in stipulated time. Contemplating this manufacturing industries should adopt AM to increase their flexibility to get potential economic effects. Besides, the benefits of AM, there are several cost factors associated with AM technology. To setup the technology requires capital and this increases with installation of advancement in technology. Also, different element contributes to the firm's payoff function. If a firm is based on per unit production cost, then economy will be less as compared to large scale production. To meet the varying costumer's requirement, adjustments and strategies must be planned to get maximum benefits. Some technical constraints also prevent manufacturing industries to engage AM technology, and this will restrict the industries to make profits. And also, industries need to make decisions to invest more capital to meet the required varying taste of the costumers.

Taking all these key points we can suggest that manufacturing industries should efficiently leverage AM as a new source of modern manufacturing. Apart from the existing production management system, AM effects certain adjoining fields such as innovation management, marketing, business policy and strategy. Challenges for multidisciplinary research, will have strong potential effect on the impact of AM technology on producers and markets. Therefore, one should quantify AM technology implications on production-related costs including upward and downward transactions in the supply chain. The ability of costumers to produce themselves is another demand in the field of AM technology as they have access to digital designs of the customized products and AM technology allows to transform the designs to reality. This disrupts the market structure and affects the economy. Therefore, both manufacturing industries as well as consumers should do sufficient research before implementing AM technology.

References

1. Abdel-Wahab MS, Dainty AR, Ison SG, Bowen P, Hazlehurst G (2008) Trends of skills and productivity in the UK construction industry. Eng Constr Arch Manage

- 15 The Economic Impact of Additive Manufacturing Industries
- 2. Arthur A, Dickens PM, Cobb RC (1996) Using rapid prototyping to produce electrical discharge machining electrodes. Rapid Prototyping J
- Arayici Y, Coates P, Koskela L, Kagioglou M, Usher C, O'Reilly K (2011) BIM adoption and implementation for architectural practices. Struct Surv 29(1):7–25
- 4. Weller C, Kleer R, Piller FT (2015) Economic implications of 3D printing: market structure models in light of additive manufacturing revisited. Int J Prod Econ 164:43–56
- Camacho DD, Clayton P, O'Brien WJ, Seepersad C, Juenger M, Ferron R, Salamone S (2018) Applications of additive manufacturing in the construction industry–a forward-looking review. Autom Constr 89:110–119
- 6. Holmström J, Holweg M, Khajavi SH, Partanen J (2016) The direct digital manufacturing (r) evolution: definition of a research agenda. Oper Manag Res 9(1):1–10
- Sun L, Zhao L (2017) Envisioning the era of 3D printing: a conceptual model for the fashion industry. Fashion Textiles 4(1):1–16
- 8. Gibson I, Rosen DW, Stucker B, Khorasani M, Rosen D, Stucker B, Khorasani M (2021) Additive manufacturing technologies, vol 17. Springer, Cham, Switzerland
- 9. Thymianidis M, Achillas C, Tzetzis D, Iakovou E (2012) Modern additive manufacturing technologies: an up-to-date synthesis and impact on supply chain design. In: 2nd Olympus international conference on supply chains. ICSC
- Baumers M, Dickens P, Tuck C, Hague R (2016) The cost of additive manufacturing: machine productivity, economies of scale and technology-push. Technol Forecast Soc Chang 102:193– 201
- Reiher T, Lindemann C, Jahnke U, Deppe G, Koch R (2017) Holistic approach for industrializing AM technology: from part selection to test and verification. Progress Additive Manuf 2(1):43–55
- 12. Vaneker THJ (2017) The role of design for additive manufacturing in the successful economical introduction of AM. Procedia Cirp 60:181–186
- 13. Lindemann C, Reiher T, Jahnke U, Koch R (2015) Towards a sustainable and economic selection of part candidates for additive manufacturing. Rapid Prototyping J
- Zocca A, Colombo P, Gomes CM, Günster J (2015) Additive manufacturing of ceramics: issues, potentialities, and opportunities. J Am Ceram Soc 98(7):1983–2001
- 15. Leary M (2019) Design for additive manufacturing. Elsevier
- Hurff S (2015) Designing products people love: how great designers create successful products. O'Reilly Media, Inc
- 17. Jopson B (2013) New stamping ground for Nike and Adidas as 3D shoes kick off. Financial Times 9:2013
- Vanderploeg A, Lee SE, Mamp M (2017) The application of 3D printing technology in the fashion industry. Int J Fashion Des Technol Educ 10(2):170–179
- Bhasin V, Bodla MR (2014) Impact of 3D printing on global supply chains by 2020. Doctoral dissertation, Massachusetts Institute of Technology
- Maxson EL, Young MD, Noble C, Go JL, Heidari B, Khorramirouz R, Morse DW, Lerman A (2019) In vivo remodeling of a 3D-Bioprinted tissue engineered heart valve scaffold. Bioprinting 16:e00059
- Zhai Y, Lados DA, LaGoy JL (2014) Additive manufacturing: making imagination the major limitation. Jom 66(5):808–816
- 22. Gupta N, Weber C, Newsome S (2012) Additive manufacturing: status and opportunities. Science and Technology Policy Institute, Washington
- Gibson I, Rosen D, Stucker B (2015) Design for additive manufacturing. In: Additive manufacturing technologies. Springer, New York, pp 399–435
- 24. Niaki MK, Torabi SA, Nonino F (2019) Why manufacturers adopt additive manufacturing technologies: the role of sustainability. J Clean Prod 222:381–392
- Gisario A, Kazarian M, Martina F, Mehrpouya M (2019) Metal additive manufacturing in the commercial aviation industry: a review. J Manuf Syst 53:124–149
- 26. Khorasani M, Ghasemi A, Rolfe B, Gibson I (2021) Additive manufacturing a powerful tool for the aerospace industry. Rapid Prototyping J

- 27. Gibson I (2017) The changing face of additive manufacturing. J Manuf Technol Manage
- Rathee S, Srivastava M, Pandey PM, Mahawar A, Shukla S (2021) Metal additive manufacturing using friction stir engineering: a review on microstructural evolution, tooling and design strategies. CIRP J Manuf Sci Technol 35:560–588
- 29. Manda VR, Kampurath V, Msrk C (2018) 3D printing and its effect on outsourcing: a study of the Indian aircraft industry. J Aerosp Technol Manage 10
- Goh GD, Agarwala S, Goh GL, Dikshit V, Sing SL, Yeong WY (2017) Additive manufacturing in unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs): challenges and potential. Aerosp Sci Technol 63:140–151
- Piller FT, Weller C, Kleer R (2015) Business models with additive manufacturing—opportunities and challenges from the perspective of economics and management. Adv Prod Technol 39–48
- 32. Dachs B, Kinkel S, Jäger A (2019) Bringing it all back home? Backshoring of manufacturing activities and the adoption of Industry 4.0 technologies. J World Bus 54(6):101017
- 33. Kleer R, Piller FT (2019) Local manufacturing and structural shifts in competition: market dynamics of additive manufacturing. Int J Prod Econ 216:23–34
- 34. Rayna T, Striukova L (2016) From rapid prototyping to home fabrication: how 3D printing is changing business model innovation. Technol Forecast Soc Chang 102:214–224
- Wirtz BW, Schilke O, Ullrich S (2010) Strategic development of business models: implications of the Web 2.0 for creating value on the internet. Long Range Plann 43(2–3):272–290
- 36. Jiang R, Kleer R, Piller FT (2017) Predicting the future of additive manufacturing: a Delphi study on economic and societal implications of 3D printing for 2030. Technol Forecast Soc Chang 117:84–97
- Gartner JE, Cannon SH, Santi PM (2014) Empirical models for predicting volumes of sediment deposited by debris flows and sediment-laden floods in the transverse ranges of southern California. Eng Geol 176:45–56
- Buchanan C, Gardner L (2019) Metal 3D printing in construction: a review of methods, research, applications, opportunities and challenges. Eng Struct 180:332–348
- Kagermann H (2015) Change through digitization—value creation in the age of Industry 4.0. In: Management of permanent change. Springer Gabler, Wiesbaden, pp 23–45
- Attaran M (2017) The rise of 3-D printing: the advantages of additive manufacturing over traditional manufacturing. Bus Horiz 60(5):677–688
- 41. Shahrubudin N, Lee TC, Ramlan R (2019) An overview on 3D printing technology: technological, materials, and applications. Procedia Manuf 35:1286–1296
- 42. Kothari P, Parate G, Kulkarni C, Soitkar N, Khot G. Review on 3D printing and its applications in engineering
- 43. Yap YL, Yeong WY (2014) Additive manufacture of fashion and jewellery products: a mini review: this paper provides an insight into the future of 3D printing industries for fashion and jewellery products. Virtual Phys Prototyping 9(3):195–201
- Lezama-Nicolás R, Rodríguez-Salvador M, Río-Belver R, Bildosola I (2018) A bibliometric method for assessing technological maturity: the case of additive manufacturing. Scientometrics 117(3):1425–1452
- 45. Stornelli A, Ozcan S, Simms C (2021) Advanced manufacturing technology adoption and innovation: a systematic literature review on barriers, enablers, and innovation types. Res Policy 50(6):104229
- 46. Peng T, Kellens K, Tang R, Chen C, Chen G (2018) Sustainability of additive manufacturing: an overview on its energy demand and environmental impact. Addit Manuf 21:694–704
- 47. Petrick IJ, Simpson TW (2013) 3D printing disrupts manufacturing: how economies of one create new rules of competition. Res Technol Manag 56(6):12–16
- Wang J, Zhang Y, Aghda NH, Pillai AR, Thakkar R, Nokhodchi A, Maniruzzaman M (2021) Emerging 3D printing technologies for drug delivery devices: current status and future perspective. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 174:294–316
- 49. Vaezi M, Chianrabutra S, Mellor B, Yang S (2013) Multiple material additive manufacturingpart 1: a review: this review paper covers a decade of research on multiple material additive manufacturing technologies which can produce complex geometry parts with different materials. Virtual Phys Prototyping 8(1):19–50

- 50. Zawadzki P, Żywicki K (2016) Smart product design and production control for effective mass customization in the Industry 4.0 concept. Manage Prod Eng Rev
- Huang SH, Liu P, Mokasdar A, Hou L (2013) Additive manufacturing and its societal impact: a literature review. Int J Adv Manuf Technol 67(5):1191–1203
- 52. Kara A, Kaynak E (1997) Markets of a single customer: exploiting conceptual developments in market segmentation. Eur J Market
- Schultmann F, Zumkeller M, Rentz O (2006) Modeling reverse logistic tasks within closed-loop supply chains: an example from the automotive industry. Eur J Oper Res 171(3):1033–1050
- 54. Kaplan RS, Cooper R (1998) Cost & effect: using integrated cost systems to drive profitability and performance. Harvard Business Press
- Hall RE, Blanchard OJ, Hubbard RG (1986) Market structure and macroeconomic fluctuations. Brook Pap Econ Act 1986(2):285–338
- 56. Moore JF (2006) Business ecosystems and the view from the firm. Antitrust Bullet 51(1):31-75
- 57. Stevens GC (1989) Integrating the supply chain. Int J Phys Distrib Mater Manage
- Jordan JM (2019) Additive manufacturing ("3D printing") and the future of organizational design: some early notes from the field. J Organ Des 8(1):1–7
- 59. Strutynska O, Umryk M (2019) Learning startups as a project based approach in STEM education. E-learning, p 529
- 60. Clark JM (1940) Toward a concept of workable competition. Am Econ Rev 241-256
- Kolmar M (2022) Firm behavior under perfect competition. In: Principles of microeconomics. Springer, Cham, pp 377–397
- Michelfelder RA, Pilotte EA (2022) Climate change, extreme winter weather and electricity production costs. Electr J 35(3):107093
- Zilberman D, Reardon T, Silver J, Lu L, Heiman A (2022) From the laboratory to the consumer: innovation, supply chain, and adoption with applications to natural resources. Proc Natl Acad Sci 119(23):e2115880119
- 64. De Beule F, Van Assche A, Nevens J (2022) Additive manufacturing and production internationalization: an internalization perspective. J Int Manag 100952
- Davies P, Parry G, Alves K, Ng I (2022) How additive manufacturing allows products to absorb variety in use: empirical evidence from the defence industry. Prod Plann Control 33(2–3):175– 192
- Yang S (2022) Introduction and future outlook of the 3D printing technology. In: International conference on mechanical design and simulation (MDS 2022), vol 12261. SPIE, pp 240–246
- Abbas MZ (2022) The potential role of 3D printing technology in enabling local entrepreneurship: to what extent patent law poses a barrier. J Intell Prop Stud 5(2):67–82
- 68. Sun A (2022) 3D printing assisted development of bioinspired structure and device for advanced engineering. Doctoral dissertation, Northumbria University
- Jewell DO, Jewell SF, Kaufman BE (2022) Designing and implementing high-performance work systems: insights from consulting practice for academic researchers. Hum Resour Manag Rev 32(1):100749
- Jipa A, Dillenburger B (2022) 3D printed formwork for concrete: state-of-the-art, opportunities, challenges, and applications. 3D Print Additive Manuf 9(2):84–107
- Samal SK, Vishwanatha HM, Saxena KK, Behera A, Nguyen TA, Behera A, Prakash C, Dixit S, Mohammed KA (2022) 3D-printed satellite brackets: materials, manufacturing and applications. Crystals 12(8):1148
- Felsberger A, Qaiser FH, Choudhary A, Reiner G (2022) The impact of Industry 4.0 on the reconciliation of dynamic capabilities: evidence from the European manufacturing industries. Prod Plann Control 33(2–3):277–300
- Barbosa WS, Wanderley RF, Gioia MM, Gouvea FC, Gonçalves FM (2022) Additive or subtractive manufacturing: analysis and comparison of automotive spare-parts. J Remanuf 12(2):153–166
- 74. Verma A, Yadav H, Kumar K, Singh PK, Sharma M, Srivastava VS, Srivastava AK (2022) State of art on microstructural and mechanical characterization of wire and arc additive manufacturing (WAAM). Comput Exp Methods Mech Eng 93–104

- Cucculelli M, Dileo I, Pini M (2022) Filling the void of family leadership: institutional support to business model changes in the Italian Industry 4.0 experience. J Technol Transfer 47(1):213– 241
- Muhammad MS, Kerbache L, Elomri A (2022) Potential of additive manufacturing for upstream automotive supply chains. In: Supply chain forum: an international journal, vol 23, No. 1. Taylor & Francis, pp 1–19
- 77. Ghosh S, Hughes M, Hodgkinson I, Hughes P (2022) Digital transformation of industrial businesses: a dynamic capability approach. Technovation 113:102414
- Zerankeshi MM, Bakhshi R, Alizadeh R (2022) Polymer/metal composite 3D porous bone tissue engineering scaffolds fabricated by additive manufacturing techniques: a review. Bioprinting e00191
- Mughal N, Arif A, Jain V, Chupradit S, Shabbir MS, Ramos-Meza CS, Zhanbayev R (2022) The role of technological innovation in environmental pollution, energy consumption and sustainable economic growth: evidence from South Asian economies. Energ Strat Rev 39:100745
- Ma G, Buswell R, da Silva WRL, Wang L, Xu J, Jones SZ (2022) Technology readiness: a global snapshot of 3D concrete printing and the frontiers for development. Cem Concr Res 156:106774
- Madhavadas V, Srivastava D, Chadha U, Raj SA, Sultan MTH, Shahar FS, Shah AUM (2022) A review on metal additive manufacturing for intricately shaped aerospace components. CIRP J Manuf Sci Technol 39:18–36
- Thakar CM, Parkhe SS, Jain A, Phasinam K, Murugesan G, Ventayen RJM (2022) 3d printing: basic principles and applications. Mater Today: Proc 51:842–849
- Tsaramirsis G, Kantaros A, Al-Darraji I, Piromalis D, Apostolopoulos C, Pavlopoulou A, Alrammal M, Ismail Z, Buhari SM, Stojmenovic M, Tamimi H (2022) A modern approach towards an industry 4.0 model: From driving technologies to management. J Sens
- Johns J (2022) Digital technological upgrading in manufacturing global value chains: the impact of additive manufacturing. Global Netw 22(4):649–665
- Zuchowicz NC, Belgodere JA, Liu Y, Semmes I, Monroe WT, Tiersch TR (2022) Low-cost resin 3-D printing for rapid prototyping of microdevices: opportunities for supporting aquatic germplasm repositories. Fishes 7(1):49
- Sivaswamy V, Matinlinna JP, Rosa V, Neelakantan P (2022) 3D printing—a way forward. In: Dental implants and oral microbiome dysbiosis. Springer, Cham, pp 75–96
- 87. Abonyi G, Abonyi D (2022) Appropriate innovation for Asian emerging markets in a digital world: a strategic framework. Rev Bus Manage TMP 18(1):3–21
- Kasymov U, Ring I (2022) Exploring complementarity among interdependent pastoral institutions in Mongolia. Sustain Sci 1–17
- Chen L, Li S, Wei J, Yang Y (2022) Externalization in the platform economy: social platforms and institutions. J Int Bus Stud 1–12
- Liu D, Meagher KJ, Wait A (2022) Market conditions and firm morality: employee trust in the honesty of their managers. J Econ Behav Organ 204:89–106
- Sarkar B, Bhuniya S (2022) A sustainable flexible manufacturing-remanufacturing model with improved service and green investment under variable demand. Expert Syst Appl 202:117154
- Islam MK, Hazell PJ, Escobedo JP, Wang H (2021) Biomimetic armour design strategies for additive manufacturing: a review. Mater Des 205:109730
- Al Rashid A, Khan SA, Al-Ghamdi SG, Koç M (2021) Additive manufacturing of polymer nanocomposites: needs and challenges in materials, processes, and applications. J Market Res 14:910–941
- 94. Parmar H, Khan T, Tucci F, Umer R, Carlone P (2022) Advanced robotics and additive manufacturing of composites: towards a new era in Industry 4.0. Mater Manuf Process 37(5):483–517
- Saleh Alghamdi S, John S, Roy Choudhury N, Dutta NK (2021) Additive manufacturing of polymer materials: progress, promise and challenges. Polymers 13(5):753

- 96. Begović B, Gilbert Richard J (2022) Innovation matters: competition policy for the hightechnology economy. The MIT Press, Cambridge, Mass. & London
- Sarabia-Vallejos MA, Rodríguez-Umanzor FE, González-Henríquez CM, Rodríguez-Hernández J (2022) Innovation in additive manufacturing using polymers: a survey on the technological and material developments. Polymers 14(7):1351
- Khosravani MR, Haghighi A (2022) Large-scale automated additive construction: overview, robotic solutions, sustainability, and future prospect. Sustainability 14(15):9782
- 99. Mincer J (1983) George Stigler's contributions to economics. Scand J Econ 85(1):65-75



325

Chapter 16 General Job Opportunities for the Graduates, Post Graduates and PhD Graduates in Additive Manufacturing Industries

Rajashree Samantray, Manisha Priyadarshinee, and Shashanka Rajendrachari

Abstract Additive manufacturing (AM) or 3D printing process are varied from traditional manufacturing technique. The past decade has utilised this futuristic technique in a wide range of applications in industries. Starting from rapid prototyping in initial times to advanced end use customised products, 3D printing has grown really fast. It is believed by the researchers that AM is going to be as popular and revolutionary as cyberspace and healthcare. Added substance fabricating gives everyone such opportunities from a digital plan for making actual 3D items. While an innovation headway perspective is imperative for guaranteeing thriving, improvement in the monetary viewpoint offers the need for development. AM has shown its development in the two perspectives because of extraordinary expansion in private and modern applications. However, the uses of added substance fabricating innovation are still in an essential stage in non-industrial nations. This undertaking has presented the various chances of AM innovation for the non-industrial nations and conceivable outcomes utilization. A study was headed to identify the plans and prospects for the present generation and the upcoming one.

Keywords Additive manufacturing · Industries · Job opportunities · Graduates · AM professional

R. Samantray (🖂)

New Materials Development, Amara Raja Batteries Limited, Tirupati, Andhra Pradesh 517507, India e-mail: rubun9@gmail.com

M. Priyadarshinee Department of Materials Engineering, Indian Institute of Science Bengaluru, Bengaluru, India

Department of Mechanical Engineering, Lovely Professional University, Phagwara, Punjab, India

S. Rajendrachari Department of Metallurgical and Materials Engineering, Bartin University, 74100 Bartin, Turkey

S. Rajendrachari (ed.), Practical Implementations of Additive Manufacturing

Technologies, Materials Horizons: From Nature to Nanomaterials, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-5949-5_16

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2024

1 Introduction

A creation of a three-dimensional body with layer-by-layer form, through computeraided design (CAD) is called as rapid prototyping technique. The technology was well adopted and functionalized in 1980, helped technologists understand a 3D image before creating actual product. This is otherwise known as Additive manufacturing process (AM). The benefits that AM gave to the human being are, saving cost and time, better presentation of human thoughts and creativity and advancement of product and manufacturing. In the present era, with fast availability of better technologies day-by-day, the 3D printing has started to diminish in the manufacturing industry. However, the system is now widely used by the scholars, instructors, scientists, artists, clinicians, market investigators and so on [34]. The AM process helps students and researchers for preparing models and analysing them for a purpose of better knowledge theoretically and comprehensively. Doctors are using 3D printing to analyse patient's body to understand issues and finding out ways to solve them. The market analysers investigate about a new product and understand its review in market, which helps them understand the need of the customer and do modifications prior manufacturing the final product. In 3D printing, a prototype is prepared digitally with CAD software. There is no need to remove any materials, creating a model with layer over layers to get a final picture of the object. The AM helps making objects with complex structures and designs effortlessly at a short time in an inexpensive way.

2 Applications of Additive Manufacturing

The endless opportunities come across, when three major segments such as knowledge, imagination, expertise meet. AM is broadly used in dentistry, manufacturing, biomedical sectors, designing, architecture and so on. Among the several uses of AM, a few mentions by researchers are discussed here. In the field of construction, AM have been used in processes like contour constructing, concrete printing, polymers preparation, which all resulted efficient application, cost effective and time consuming [33]. Past few years have experienced a major breakthrough in manufacturing sector due to AM. With huge contribution in the field of science, research and technology, 3D printing technology have helped personally and industrially. As far as the benefits are concerned, it is broadly used in many countries. Yet, some under-developed or developing countries are not that benefited. The countries need to understand and explore AM to get its advantages. In order to explore the requirement of AM, there is a prerequisite of wide opportunities in the field. A study is presented here discussing the future scope of 3D printing or additive manufacturing.

3 Career Options in Additive Manufacturing

The AM demand is increased so high that the need of professionals in the domain is further amplified. The advancement of the subject has involved industries ranging aerospace to automotive sectors. There is no such specific career guideline for AM, while it is well adapted to people who learn using it. The newness of the technology has opened plenty of openings for people having grasp in it. The AM professionals need not have any particular career path, they can have any route in their career and opt for it. However, with the changed scenario and growing demand of AM, there is a specific type of career and several resources present, to prepare one to be a professional and get a job in huge options of job market.

4 Skills Needed to Be an AM Professional

Among the several expertise needed to be a professional, few highlighted skills are the most desired and asked in job sector. Starting from technical hold to grasp in soft skills, AM covers many more areas, because of its broad reachability in every sector. Few needs are included here [18]:

- A good knowledge in math, problem solving, trigonometric skills.
- Strong software skills, like design software, optimization techniques and so on.
- Few mostly used software like computer aided design (CAD), CNC Milling, design for additive manufacturing (DFAM) etc.
- Familiarity in material science, sound knowledge in metals and non-metals, along with common manufacturing skills like welding joints, casting, milling, drilling, turning and so on.
- Some of the supporting techniques for 3D printing such as lasers, 3D modelling etc.
- In addition to problem solving, troubleshooting skills, good communication, team player, prioritizing work, work life balance are few important skills one should have.
- One should possess curiosity and passionate to learn things, a positive willpower is a strong additive in job market.

5 Degrees and Certificates for Additive Manufacturing

Since there are no particular degrees are offered to be familiar in AM, yet there are some AM related programs that specify AM learnings through training programs. Some of the US based courses are, Additive manufacturing program by Westmoreland county community college [4], Master of science (MS) in additive manufacturing by college of engineering mechanical and aerospace engineering, Miami [26], Master of Engineering in AM by University of Cincinnati [23], Professional and distance education in AM provided by the Ohio state university [3], M.E. program on additive manufacturing and design by Penn State world campus [5] and so on.

There are various range of certificate programs, planned and prepared to improve skills of people, making them ready to implement AM to face the great demand of the subject. The programs include world class trainings to make the students ready for better problem solving with advanced technical skills. Basically, with overall AM and an understanding of industry-based AM are comprised in the entire course. To name a few programs [18], AM certificate program by ASTM centre of excellence, AM official certificate program provided by Central Connecticut state university, AM technician: 3D printing to industry, AM by Colorado school of mines, 3D digital design and AM technology, Purdue AM certificate and so on.

6 Jobs and Opportunities

With the increased AM demand, a wide range of additive manufacturing start-ups and businesses have grown in the last decade. In addition, some huge sectors have opened their AM wing due to popular market demand. The opportunities keep popping on job provider platforms LinkedIn, indeed etc. Apart from the above-mentioned media, there are a plethora of platforms that gets a candidate to apply through the websites directly. To name a few, ASME career centre [10], SME featured jobs in manufacturing [28], Women in 3D printing [31], WIM virtual career fair [32] etc.

On talking about what titles an AM professional can acquire in any field, the answer would be many. The topic of 3D printing can give a candidate many more options. Among the various listings, the image below provides plenty of job listings for an AM professional (see Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 List of job offers an AM can have [22]



Fig. 2 Additive manufacturing global market, top 20 countries to have huge contribution in AM (data in millions of US dollars) [2]

Additive manufacturing technology or 3D printing make huge profit for its reasonable and profitable features. As per research and forecast, AM global market, which was \$1.9 billion at 2016, is forecasted at \$20.9 billion for 2024. Improvised design, better technology implementation, optimum use of structural metal parts implies market growth [17]. Top countries that generate 65% of the revenues in the field of AM or 3D printing are, Germany, USA, China, France, Italy, UK, Japan, India, Spain and Benelux countries [2]. A figure presenting top 20 countries in the world, that contribute in a massive amount in AM, is provided in Fig. 2.

7 Additive Manufacturing Companies Across the World

The additive manufacturing technology is exponentially growing day by day in a multiple direction including health sector, locomotive, aerospace and so on. The technology is not limited to designing or prototyping anymore. It has further moved beyond that, considering the fast-growth of the manufacturing chain and demand. Some of the frontline companies in the AM field, recognized world-wide are as follows,

- 1. Stratasys Ltd. [20]
- 2. Materialise NV [25]
- 3. Autodesk [12]
- 4. HP [14]

- 5. Markforged [19]
- 6. Fast Radius [16]
- 7. Conformis [21]
- 8. GE Additive [6]
- 9. 3D Systems [1]
- 10. Canon [13]
- 11. Carbon [29]
- 12. Desktop Metal [15]
- 13. Made in space [24].

8 Additive Manufacturing Companies in India

The list of top emerging AM companies in India are provided below [30]. Among the printing services, the companies manufacture and distribute 3D printers, organize training programs and so on.

- 1. SolidCAM INDIA, Pune, Maharashtra
- 2. JGroup Robotics
- 3. Stratasys India
- 4. Think3D
- 5. Imaginarium
- 6. Novabeans
- 7. Altem
- 8. Brahma3
- 9. Divide by zero technologies.

With the diversified growth in additive manufacturing in industries, the educational institutes are now coping up to meet the level. Some of the opportunities are implemented for students to make them aligned with market prospects. The AM technology has now emerged up to a certain level where it is being used in health sectors as prosthetic advances, as well as in infrastructures and designs. In order to match with the market scenario, the technology is getting advanced day by day, with a target of mass production. Some of the educational institutes are implementing AM degrees to replicate the market demands. In addition, the academia is moving forward to collaboration with industries, to educate the students about the real time problems, implementations and applications in 3D printing technologies. The handson technology skill makes the graduates to understand and practice the technology with better experience.

9 Professional Bodies on Additive Manufacturing

There are associations or professional bodies, that aim to promote the AM technology or 3D printing further in India and all over the world. These communities support and encourage continual growth of the domain in industry as well as education aspect. Among a plethora of the active programs, to name a few, organizing seminars and conferences, educational curricula, initiating new market strategies and developing research in AM. They provide certain rules for people to join their community. One with certain level of experience in AM, involved with research in the segment can join the societies. The AM companies, market suppliers, industry professionals, researchers are encouraged to join such bodies. Some of the major societies include,

- 1. Additive Manufacturing Society of India (AMSI) [7]
- 2. Additive Manufacturer Green Trade Association (AMGTA) [8]
- 3. Association for Additive Manufacturing Technology (AMT) [11]
- 4. Additive Manufacturing-UK (AMUK) [9]
- 5. SME AM Technical Community [27].

The above-mentioned societies or communities help and support the additive manufacturing or 3D printing technology across the globe. The coming decade will experience a hike in the usage and applications in AM. With increasing demand, the academia will implement the AM-friendly programs or courses more and there will be much more industry collaborations, more job openings and increased technology awareness.

References

- Anon (n.d.) 3D printers, software, manufacturing & digital healthcare | 3D systems. https:// www.3dsystems.com/. Accessed 12 Dec 2022
- Anon (n.d.) 3dpbm-the additive manufacturing intelligence platform. https://www.3dpbm. com/. Accessed 12 Dec 2022
- Anon (n.d.) Additive manufacturing | Professional and distance education programs. https:// professionals.engineering.osu.edu/mgel-additive-manufacturing. Accessed 9 Dec 2022
- Anon (n.d.) Additive manufacturing | Westmoreland county community college, youngwood, pennsylvania. https://westmoreland.edu/academics/programs/additive-manufacturing. html. Accessed 9 Dec 2022
- Anon (n.d.) Additive manufacturing and design master's degree (M.Eng.) online-penn state world campus. https://www.worldcampus.psu.edu/degrees-and-certificates/penn-state-onlineadditive-manufacturing-and-design-masters-degree/overview. Accessed 9 Dec 2022
- Anon (n.d.) Additive manufacturing machines & materials | GE additive. https://www.ge.com/ additive/. Accessed 12 Dec 2022
- 7. Anon (n.d.) Additive manufacturing society of India. https://www.amsi.org.in/
- 8. Anon (n.d.) AMGTA: additive manufacturing green trade association. https://amgta.org/
- 9. Anon (n.d.) AMUK: additive manufacturing UK. https://am-uk.org.uk/
- 10. Anon (n.d.) ASME career center. https://careercenter.asme.org/?msessid=OxzHZYmlf57Bqes
- 11. Anon (n.d.) Association for manufacturing technology. https://www.amtonline.org/home

- 12. Anon (n.d.) Autodesk India | 3D design, engineering & entertainment software. https://www. autodesk.in/. Accessed 12 Dec 2022
- 13. Anon (n.d.) Cannon group | Worldwide, where you can find us. https://www.cannon.com/wor ldwide/. Accessed 12 Dec 2022
- Anon (n.d.) Design for additive manufacturing | HP® official site. https://www.hp.com/usen/printers/3d-printers/learning-center/additive-manufacturing-design.html. Accessed 12 Dec 2022
- Anon (n.d.) Desktop metal. Define the future. Make it real | Desktop metal. https://www.des ktopmetal.com/. Accessed 12 Dec 2022
- Anon (n.d.) Fast radius | Cloud manufacturing & digital supply chain. https://www.fastradius. com/. Accessed 12 Dec 2022
- 17. Anon (n.d.) Global-aerospace-metallurgy-additive-manufacturing-market-2017–2023 market-is-forecast to Reach \$20.9 Billion. https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/glo bal-aerospace-metallurgy-additive-manufacturing-market-2017-2023---market-is-forecast-toreach-209-billion-300561405.html#:~:text=Theglobalmarketformetallicadditivemanufacturi ngfor,Coherentdesignsmakea
- Anon (n.d.) How to pursue a career in additive manufacturing | Additive manufacturing. https://www.additivemanufacturing.media/articles/how-to-pursue-a-career-in-additive-man ufacturing. Accessed 9 Dec 2022
- Anon (n.d.) Industrial 3D printers: strong parts. Right now | Markforged. https://markforged. com/3d-printers. Accessed 12 Dec 2022
- Anon (n.d.) Industrial 3D printing & additive manufacturing-stratasys. https://www.stratasys. com/en. Accessed 12 Dec 2022
- 21. Anon (n.d.) IR home | ConforMIS. http://ir.conformis.com/. Accessed 12 Dec 2022
- 22. Anon (n.d.) Job listings for AM. https://d2n4wb9orp1vta.cloudfront.net/cms/brand/AM/2022-AM/0822-am-job-wordcloud.jpeg
- Anon (n.d.) M.Eng. in additive manufacturing degree | University of Cincinnati. https://ceas. uc.edu/academics/departments/aerospace-engineering-mechanics/degrees-programs/additivemanufacturing-master-of-engineering.html. Accessed 9 Dec 2022
- Anon (n.d.) Made in space (Redwire)-factories in space. https://www.factoriesinspace.com/ made-in-space. Accessed 12 Dec 2022
- 25. Anon (n.d.) Materialise | 3D printing innovators. https://www.materialise.com/en. Accessed 12 Dec 2022
- Anon (n.d.) MS in additive manufacturing. https://mae.coe.miami.edu/programs/ms-programs/ ms-in-additive-manufacturing/index.html. Accessed 9 Dec 2022
- 27. Anon (n.d.) SME: additive manufacturing. https://www.sme.org/engage/communities/add itive-manufacturing-community/
- 28. Anon (n.d.) SME manufacturing featured jobs. https://jobsconnection.sme.org/
- Anon (n.d.) The 7 types of additive manufacturing-carbon. https://www.carbon3d.com/resour ces/blog/the-7-types-of-additive-manufacturing. Accessed 12 Dec 2022
- Anon (2018) Top 8 3D printing companies in India. http://almostism.com/top-3d-printingcompanies-in-india/#:~:text=Top83DprintingcompaniesinIndia1,ByZeroTechnologies...88. Imaginarium
- 31. Anon (n.d.) Women in 3D printing. https://womenin3dprinting.com/jobs/
- 32. Anon (n.d.) Women in manufacturing. https://www.womeninmanufacturing.org/virtual-careerfair-
- 33. Al Rashid A, Khan S, Ghamdi SG, Koc M (2020) Additive manufacturing: technology, applications, markets, and opportunities for the built environment. Autom Constr 118
- 34. Wong KV, Hernandez A (2012) A review of additive manufacturing. ISRN Mech Eng 2012:1–10